Public Document Pack

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich
dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 /
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for: Democratic Services
Ein cyf / Our ref:
Eich cyf / Your ref:
Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 2 March 2022

Dear Councillor,
CABINET
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held remotely - via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 8 March 2022 at
14:30.
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for absence from Members.

2.

Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from
1 September 2008.

3.

Approval of Minutes
To receive for approval the Minutes of 08/02/22

5 - 18

4.

Strategic Equality Plan Annual Report 2020 - 2021

19 - 56

5.

Local Air Quality Management - Park Street Air Quality Action Plan Update

57 - 66

6.

Fraud Strategy and Framework 2022/23 to 2024/25

67 - 98

7.

Non-Domestic Rates: Discretionary Relief: Retail, Leisure and Hospitality
Rates Relief Scheme 2022-23

99 - 108

8.

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) Framework

109 - 112

9.

Disabled Facilities Grant Means Testing

113 - 118

10.

Housing Support Programme Strategy And Housing Support Grant Spend Plan

119 - 126

11.

Update On Refugee Resettlement Schemes

127 - 132

12.

Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration: Placemaking Strategy and Programme

133 - 208

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £12.40 in
printing costs

Update
13.

Porthcawl Harbour Byelaws

209 - 244

14.

Bridgend 2030 - Net Zero Carbon Strategy

245 - 298

15.

Bridgend Town Heat Network Project

299 - 304

16.

Bridgend County Economic Strategy

305 - 452

17.

Fostering Allowances Policy

453 - 478

18.

National Collaborative Arrangements for Welsh (Local Authority) Adoption and
Fostering Services National Adoption Service For Wales And Foster Wales –
Enhancing Governance, Leadership And Enabling

479 - 484

19.

Extending The Term Of The Current Section 33 Agreement For Adults And
Older People Services

485 - 488

20.

Family Group Conference Service

489 - 492

21.

School Admissions Policy 2023-2024

493 - 548

22.

School Modernisation Programme - Heronsbridge Special School

549 - 558

23.

Urgent Items
To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson
is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

24.

Exclusion of the Public
The following item is not for publication as it contains exempt information as defined in
Paragraph 12 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5, Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales)
Order 2007.
If following the application of the public interest test Cabinet resolves pursuant to the Act to
consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such
consideration.

25.

Parc Afon Ewenni

559 - 566

Note: Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held
at its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148.
Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy

Councillors:
J Gebbie
SE Baldwin

Councillors
HJ David
CE Smith

Councillors
HM Williams
D Patel

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD IN REMOTELY - VIA MICROSOFT
TEAMS ON TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022 AT 14:30
Present
Councillor HJ David – Chairperson
J Gebbie
D Patel

SE Baldwin

CE Smith

HM Williams

Apologies for Absence

Officers:
Carys Lord
Claire Marchant
Janine Nightingale
Kelly Watson
Julie Ellams
Mark Shephard
Andrew Rees
Lindsay Harvey
785.

Chief Officer - Finance, Performance & Change
Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing
Corporate Director - Communities
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services
Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Chief Executive
Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Corporate Director Education and Family Support

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor CE Smith - agenda item 10 - School Modernisation Programme: Outcome of
the Consultation on Schools’ Modernisation Proposal to Enlarge Mynydd Cynffig Primary
School - Personal interest as he has nephews and nieces who attend and will attend
Mynydd Cynffig Primary School.
Councillor J Gebbie - agenda item 10 - School Modernisation Programme: Outcome of
the Consultation on Schools’ Modernisation Proposal to Enlarge Mynydd Cynffig Primary
School - Prejudicial interest as Chair of Governors of Mynydd Cynffig Primary School
and withdrew from the meeting during consideration of the item.
Councillor D Patel – agenda item 8 – A Future Approach to Employability - Personal
interest as the officer referred to in the report is known to her and withdrew from the
meeting during consideration of the item.
Councillor HJ David – agenda item 8 – A Future Approach to Employability - Personal
interest as the officer referred to in the report is known to him.
Councillor HM Williams – agenda item 8 – A Future Approach to Employability Personal interest as the officer referred to in the report is known to him.

786.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
RESOLVED:

Page 5

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet of 18 January 2022
be approved as a true and accurate record subject to an
amendment being made by re-wording the following sentence in
minute number 770 - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-23
to 2025-26, paragraph 14 by deleting the following sentence “The
Deputy Leader welcomed the report and stated that while he was
predisposed, his mind open and welcomed any input from

1

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

Members” and replacing it with the following wording “The
Deputy Leader welcomed the report and his mind is open and
welcomed any input from Members.”
787.

DOMESTIC ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME, CAERAU WARD 2012 AND 2013
The Chief Executive sought approval to submit a business case to Welsh Government
by 28 February 2022, to secure a provisional offer of funding towards carrying out
essential remedial work required to properties in Caerau following the failure of wall
insulation work installed in 2012/13. He also sought Cabinet support for a request to be
made for a Council capital allocation to be approved and included as part of that
business case submission, to ensure a comprehensive scheme is developed to address
all affected properties.
The Chief Executive reported that Cabinet had been advised previously in November
2020 and March 2021 of the failure of wall insulation work, which had shown significant
signs of water ingress and damp to properties in Caerau. He had been given delegated
authority by Cabinet to engage with relevant stakeholders involved in the programmes of
work to install wall insulation in Caerau in 2012/13 and explore options to address and
remedy the failing work identified. It was also agreed that a further report to Cabinet be
presented outlining the outcome of continued engagement with the likes of OFGEM the
energy regulator, UK Government and in particular Welsh Government, when any
solutions had been agreed.
The Chief Executive reported that 104 properties had wall insulation work carried out in
Caerau at that time, with the Council administering the funding for 25 of these properties
using the Arbed scheme, through funding granted by Welsh Government. He stated that
the other 79 properties had work completed using the UK Government sponsored
community energy saving programme (CESP), with no involvement of the Council in the
work. He informed Cabinet that it had been the Council’s position to find a
comprehensive solution with the other stakeholders to address all of the failing wall
insulation work, regardless of who funded and administered the original work.
He reported that an offer has been made by the Welsh Government of funding in
principle subject to the Council submitting a detailed business case for approval by the
deadline of 28 February 2022. The offer of funding is predicated on an initial outline
business case the Council submitted last year and on the basis that this Council will also
make a financial contribution towards the overall scheme. He stated that it was very
difficult at this stage to accurately estimate the total cost of the full programme as there
are various unknowns, as following a survey undertaken in 2019, the problems existed
to varying degrees in the homes surveyed. He informed Cabinet that the cost to strip off
and replace the existing cladding could be based on up to £30,000 per home, with the
total cost of the full programme being £3.5m. On that basis, a request would be made to
Council to contribute funding of £855,000. He stated that discussions continue between
the Welsh Government and the UK Government on the possibility of funding through the
UK Government ‘Eco’ scheme, which would reduce the overall cost to each contributor.
The Chief Executive reported that the proposed scheme is intended to improve housing
in an electoral ward with some of the most severe socio-economic issues in Wales and
will have a positive impact on economic, social and health conditions for local residents.
He also informed Cabinet that the proposed programme of work will impact positively on
local residents’ well-being and ensure the original intentions of the energy efficiency
schemes carried out in 2012/13 are realised, including better insulated homes and lower
energy bills, which will help address fuel poverty issues. He outlined the financial
implications of the remedial work, with an award in principle from Welsh Government of

Page 6

2

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

funding of £2.65 million, with the Council’s match funding contribution met from an
existing earmarked reserve.
The Cabinet Member Communities in commending the proposal stated that what is
being offered is a complete solution for the affected properties and he apologised
profusely to the residents for the failings of the wall insulation work. He was grateful for
the work by officers to secure funding to remedy the defects to the properties in Caerau.
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations questioned how long residents
will have to wait for the remedial work to take place. The Chief Executive informed
Cabinet that firstly, a successful business case would have to be submitted and in the
event of that being successful, funding will be allocated over 2 years. It was hoped that
the Council would receive funding by the end of this financial year to enable consultation
to take place with residents, prior to a survey being undertaken of the properties. He
stated that it was anticipated that the work will commence in 2022/23, with the bulk of
the work taking place in 2023/24.
The Leader commented that the Council had received an in-principle award of funding
and he hoped that the Welsh Government would consider the business case without
delay to enable consultation to commence with residents in order to move forward with
the remedial work. The Chief Executive stated that the Welsh Government recognises
the need to address the work to the properties as quickly as possible.
The Deputy Leader recognised the challenges posed by the work to the properties and
asked what the possibility of funding was being received from the UK Government. The
Chief Executive informed Cabinet that work to 79 out of the 104 properties had been
carried out using the UK Government sponsored Community Energy Saving Programme
(CESP) and the Council had no involvement in the work and that funding may be
available from the UK Government. He stated that the Welsh Government had made a
commitment to funding, which may in turn see some movement from the UK
Government. He informed Cabinet of the importance in not delaying until UK
Government funding was known and Cabinet should proceed as recommended.
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations questioned which methods
would be used to procure the remedial works, given the shortage in construction
materials and she also asked for the timescale for the completion of the work. The Chief
Executive stated that the remedial work was specialised in nature and companies expert
in this field would be sought as part of the procurement process. He informed Cabinet
that engagement with the residents would take place prior to the procurement process
and that realistically most of the remedial work would be undertaken during 2023/24,
avoiding the winter months. The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations
questioned whether a very tight timescale had been set by the Welsh Government. The
Chief Executive stated that he was reassured by the Welsh Government’s commitment
who had recognised the unique circumstances in Caerau. He also stated that if
necessary, funding could be moved forward.
The Leader questioned whether Building Control will be involved in quality assurance
from the outset. The Chief Executive stated there were different quality standards to be
adhered to and that monitoring will be an important part of the process. He also stated
that there is a recognition to get the right people involved with Building Control and that
the remedial work will be done well.
The Leader on behalf of Council reiterated the apologies given by the Cabinet Member
Communities and reassured residents that the remedial work will be done correctly. He
stated that further information on the remedial works will be shared with residents and
local members.

Page 7

3

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:
1. Noted the award in principle of funding of up to £2.65 million
from Welsh Government to carry out essential remedial work
required to properties in Caerau, following the failure of wall
insulation work installed in 2012/13.
2. Approved that the Council submits a detailed business case, as
required in the offer of funding from Welsh Government, by 28
February 2022, to secure the funding and delegates authority to
the Chief Executive and Chief Officer - Finance, Performance
and Change for the submission of the business case and to
accept any final offer.
3. Approved that a sum of £855,000 is included as the Council’s
estimated contribution towards a total programme of work
costing £3.5 million, which will be included within the updated
Capital Programme report to be recommended to Council on 9
February 2022.
4. Approved implementation of the remedial scheme, including any
procurement and ancillary arrangements and delegated authority
to the Chief Executive to enter into the necessary arrangements,
subject to receipt of the funding from Welsh Government and
Council approval of the capital contribution.

788.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2022-23 TO 2025-26 AND DRAFT BUDGET
CONSULTATION PROCESS
The Chairperson of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented Cabinet
with the findings and recommendations of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (COSC) on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
proposals.
She advised that for ease of reference the COSC had considered the findings of the
Budget Research and Evaluation Panel and all Overview and Scrutiny Committees on 1
February 2022 to determine whether the recommendations should be forwarded to
Cabinet, as part of the budget consultation process. She stated that the COSC had
accepted the recommendations and comments from both the BREP and the Overview
and Scrutiny Committees on the MTFS proposals and had agreed to submit them to
Cabinet.
The Deputy Leader expressed his thanks to the Chairperson of the COSC for presenting
the recommendations to Cabinet and added that Cabinet would consider and respond to
the recommendations it had received. He stated that some of the recommendations
proposed had already been implemented, while other recommendations will require a
more detailed piece of work.
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations thanked the members of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, which is cross party for their participation in
scrutinising the MTFS. The Leader also expressed his appreciation for the work of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committees and that of the Budget Research and Evaluation
Panel.

Page 8

4

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help reassured the Chairperson of the
COSC that in relation to Recommendation 6, Cabinet is already lobbying the Welsh
Government to ensure that the additional responsibilities placed on the Council through
the Additional Learning Needs Bill comes with consequential funding. In relation to
Recommendation 8, the Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help stated that
Cabinet is very aware of the impact of Covid and long Covid on social care costs, and
that the duplication of back-office functions is being looked that to free up social workers’
time. In relation to recommendation 9, a motion to the Welsh Government and
Westminster to fund wholesale reform of the social care system with the strategic aim to
fund social care fit for the future is being done. In relation to recommendation 10, the
Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help stated that re-balancing the market
between commissioned and in-house services is being looked at, having regard to
younger people being housed by the Council over the long term.
The Leader referred to recommendation 5 and asked whether the review it was
recommending related to the cost of the providing full time nursery education. The
Chairperson of the COSC stated there was no cross-party consensus on this
recommendation and the wording of the recommendation had been left vague.
The Leader referred to recommendation 11, which related to the Cabinet exploring the
potential for increasing charges in Social Services and stated that most of the charges
levied are regulated and fixed by the Welsh Government, such as the cap for domiciliary
care. The Chairperson of the COSC informed Cabinet that she would ask the
Chairperson of the Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2 to respond more fully on
that recommendation.
The Leader referred to recommendation 14, which recommended that Cabinet explore
the potential for charging in relation to the administration fee for the issuing and
reissuing of Blue Badges and commented that the Council does not have powers to do
so as it administers the scheme.
The Cabinet Member Communities requested further clarification as to the intention of
recommendation 18 which recommended that Cabinet review and simplify the charging
structure for car parking and taper the free parking facility. The Chairperson of the
COSC stated that she would seek further clarification on this recommendation with the
Chairperson of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel.
The Cabinet Member Communities referred to recommendation 21 which related to the
renegotiation of access to 25% of the housing stock and stated that he did not believe
this would be possible to do due to the offer document in place with V2C, but this matter
could be picked up by the Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations.
RESOLVED:

789.

That Cabinet agreed to consider the Recommendations of the
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in response to the
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-23 to 2025-26 and the
Draft Budget Consultation Process.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE
The Chief Officer Finance Performance and Change sought agreement from Cabinet to
present a report to Council for the approval of a revised capital programme for 2021-22
to 2030-31.
The Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change reported that the Council on 24
February 2021 approved a Capital Strategy, incorporating the Prudential Indicators for
2021-22, along with a capital programme covering the period 2020-21 to 2030-31 as

Page 9

5

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The capital programme had been
updated during the year with new schemes, amendments to existing funding packages
and changes to delivery profiles. New grant awards, outcomes of tender processes and
updates on existing schemes which need including within the capital programme had
occurred since the programme was last approved by Council on 19 January 2022.
The Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change informed Cabinet that a capital
programme covering the period 2021-22 to 2031-2032 will be presented to Cabinet and
Council, on 22 and 23 February 2022 respectively, as part of the Medium Term Financial
Strategy 2022-23 to 2025-26, alongside the proposed Capital Strategy for 2022-23 to
2031-32. She stated that there exist a number of financial pressures arising as a result
of current market conditions, impacted by the pandemic and Brexit.
The Chief Officer Finance, Performance and Change reported that the capital
programme for 2021-22 to 2030-31 approved by Council in January 2002 is £212,439m,
of which £118.094m is met from the Council’s resources, including capital receipts,
revenue contributions from earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining
£94.345m coming from external resources, including General Capital Grant. She
informed Cabinet that the following new schemes now need including in the capital
programme, some of which are wholly or partly grant funded, along with others which
need amending:










Net Zero Carbon Fleet
Cardiff Capital Region Metro Plus
Ewenny Road Industrial Estate
Porthcawl Regeneration
Brynmenyn Children’s Hub
Community Energy Safety Programme / Arbed Phase 1
ICT Equipment – Schools
Welsh Government Un-adopted Roads Pilot
Heronsbridge Special School Additional Accommodation

The Deputy Leader in commending the revised capital programme commented on the
impact of Brexit and Covid on the Council and to the cost of living which had seen an
increase in prices submitted by tenderers in tendering for schemes. He highlighted the
example of the recent tender of two pedestrian crossings where the sum tendered was
2.5 times the anticipated cost. He welcomed the funding of the Cardiff Capital Region
which would see the Cardiff Capital Region Metro Plus and Ewenny Road Industrial
Estate come to fruition. The Leader commented on the importance of the funding from
the Cardiff Capital Region, without which, the schemes could not happen.
The Cabinet Member Communities highlighted the importance to residents of the
funding for the adoption of Ynyslas, Porthcawl. He asked for an explanation of the
additional investment in ICT equipment for schools. The Corporate Director Education
and Family Support explained that the funding had come from the Welsh Government’s
Hwb Infrastructure Grant and the funding could be carried over if not spent in this
financial year. The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations queried the
nature of the ICT equipment to be purchased. The Corporate Director Education and
Family Support informed Cabinet that resources had been mobilised for equipment for
learners that are digitally excluded. Her stated that equipment is purchased from the
Welsh Government’s catalogue and schools identify the nature of the ICT equipment to
purchase, which is generic in nature which allows for support from ICT.
The Leader referred to the proposal for the provision of additional accommodation at
Heronsbridge Special School which is necessary to meet the shortfall in pupil

Page 10

6

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

accommodation to support learners with complex needs and is a prudent investment.
He stated that despite work being progressed for a replacement special school for
Heronsbridge, the additional accommodation is needed in the short term sooner. The
Corporate Director Education and Family Support stated that learners with complex
needs will benefit from 3 specialist facilities and there is a need in the short term to
increase capacity to avoid leaners from having to travel.
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations questioned the reason for the
delay in the Children’s Hub at Brynmenyn. The Corporate Director Social Services and
Wellbeing stated that an application will be made to secure capital funding from the
Regional Integrated Fund, which would delay the project to Spring 2023.
RESOLVED:

790.

That Cabinet agreed that the revised Capital Programme at
Appendix A to the report, be submitted to Council for approval.

THE SENIORS OPEN CHAMPIONSHIP, ROYAL PORTHCAWL GOLF CLUB 2023
The Corporate Director Communities sought approval for a contribution of funding and
officer support from Bridgend County Borough Council to the Senior Open
Championship, 2023, to enter into a Rights Agreement and to continue work to establish
Royal Porthcawl as a venue capable of hosting the Open Championship.
The Corporate Director Communities reported that Bridgend County hosted the first golf
major in Wales when Royal Porthcawl hosted the Senior Open Championship in 2014,
with over 43,000 people attending the event, generating an estimated economic impact
of £2.16m. Additionally, the media equivalence value from comprehensive television
coverage for Porthcawl and the County Borough was calculated at a further £5.2m. The
event returned to Royal Porthcawl in 2017, attended by over 32,000 people, with the
global Media Equivalency Value for Bridgend County, including Royal Porthcawl,
calculated at £7.8m.
The Corporate Director Communities reported that the Senior Open Championship will
return to Royal Porthcawl in 2023 and whilst weather dependent, the event will deliver
benefits for the local economy and promotes Porthcawl as a destination across the
world. She stated that the Welsh Government is supporting the delivery of the three
Senior Open Championships between 2014 and 2024 with a grant of £5m and a request
had been made by the event organisers for a contribution from the Council of £50k. The
proposed contribution of £50k is the total capped funding package requested from the
Council towards the event to cover the costs associated with any or all the costs
indicated in the report as considered appropriate by the European Tour (ET) in return for
the benefits indicated in the report to the Council and the substantial estimated impact
on the local economy. She highlighted the benefits the Championship will provide to the
Council.
The Corporate Director Communities reported that a liaison group will be established
with relevant officer representation and a representative of the ET. The group will aim to
provide advice and guidance to the ET to assist with their decision making, broker
relationships between the ET and local stakeholders and identify opportunities in relation
to local partnership development, business engagement and promotion and marketing
for the ET to take forward.
The Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration in commending the proposals
commented on the significance of the event to Porthcawl, the County Borough and
nationally which could not be under-estimated. He stated that the return of the Seniors
Open had shown the track record the Council has in delivering the event with its
partners. He also stated that the liaison group will strive to get the outcomes for the

Page 11

7

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

community with the possibility of complimentary tickets being available to children who
are disadvantaged. The Leader stated he supported the idea of making the sport more
accessible and inclusive to children who are disadvantaged.
The Cabinet Member Communities questioned how the event would be promoted from
the M4 to make it more visibly accessible. The Corporate Director stated that of
importance to the success of the event is to have a traffic management plan, to include
park and ride and it was hoped the metro link would be operational by the time the
tournament is held.
The Leader stated that the importance of the tournament to the economy could not be
over-emphasised, due to the level of media coverage it would bring which encourage
visitors to return to the area to holiday.
RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:
 Approved the proposed contribution of £50,000 for the
purposes set out in paragraph 4.4 of the report;
 Delegated authority to the Corporate Director Communities,
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory
Services, HR and Corporate Policy and Chief Officer –
Finance, Performance and Change to sign a Rights
Agreement on behalf of the Council;
 Authorised officers to establish and support a Senior Open
Championship liaison group for the purposes set out in
paragraph 4.6 of the report.

791.

A FUTURE APPROACH TO EMPLOYABILITY
The Cabinet Member Communities reported on the success throughout the County
through the delivery of Employability Bridgend and sought endorsement for the
Framework for Future Employability in the Cardiff Capital Region, which built on the
Cardiff Capital Region Employment and Skills plan. It was proposed that the framework
be used as the basis for officers to work collaboratively across the Cardiff Capital Region
and Wales to secure suitable future resources for employability work that replace those
previously available through European Union (EU) funds.
The Corporate Director reported that the Enterprise and Employability Manager of the
Council would lead on negotiations with appropriate stakeholders in the development of
partnership working and associated arrangements. The Corporate Director
Communities stated that she would in consultation with the Corporate Director Education
and Family Support, Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate
Policy and Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change submit proposals to
secure resources for employability through appropriate funds and agree partnership
working and associated agreements which the Council are able to agree to, in line with
the Scheme of Delegation. She stated that any resulting funding offers would be
presented to future meetings of Cabinet as considered appropriate for information or
decision.
The Corporate Director Communities reported that all 10 local authorities in the Cardiff
Capital Region currently deliver employability activity to support people into employment
or to help them progress to more sustainable or better paid employment. Following the
United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the EU, European Social Funding (ESF) will no
longer be available to support projects to deliver on-going benefits for individuals,

Page 12

8

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

communities and the economy of the County Borough. The ESF funded projects that
are still active are now entering a closure phase and all projects must close, according to
EU rules, by December 2023.
The Corporate Director Communities reported that to avoid a gap in the delivery of
employability services, the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Regional Skills Partnership
(RSP) has adopted an Employment and Skills Plan, which sets a clear vision of the
future skills needs of the CCR and the activities that regional partners need to deliver to
achieve this. She stated that to build on this, the 10 CCR Local Authorities have worked
together to create a single, clear, consistent framework for future employability projects
in the region based on a shared vision, shared principles, and common tools. She
informed Cabinet that the framework is based on shared principles, which reflect on the
lessons learnt from over 20 years’ experience of delivering employability projects across
the region.
The Cabinet Member Communities stated that the importance of the employability
proposals could not be under-estimated, and he commented that he would like to see
engagement with people who have previously benefitted from the support of
Employability Bridgend in getting back into employment. The Leader commented that
this a big opportunity for the County Borough and he urged residents who are at risk of
losing their employment to get in touch with the Employability Team. He stated that the
had been successful in bringing the many programmes together and residents should
not be deterred in contacting the Team as they will be found the best programme to suit
them.
RESOLVED:

Page 13

That Cabinet:



Noted the success that has been achieved, and the difference that has
been made to the lives of people throughout the County, through the
delivery of Employability Bridgend;



Approved the Framework for Future Employability in the CCR as set out
in Appendix 1 of the report, which builds on the CCR Employment and
Skills plan, and agrees that the framework be used as the basis for
officers to work collaboratively across the CCR and Wales to secure
suitable future resources for employability work that replace those
resources previously available through EU funds;



Noted that the Enterprise and Employability Manager will lead on
negotiations with appropriate stakeholders through the LA Cluster Group
set out in Appendix 1 in the development of partnership working and
associated arrangements based on the principle of a collaborative locally
delivered, regionally coordinated approach to employability post-EU;



Noted that in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation the Corporate
Director Communities, in consultation with the Corporate Director –
Education and Family Support, Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory
Services, HR and Corporate Policy and Chief Officer – Finance,
Performance and Change will submit proposals to secure resources
through the UKSPF and other appropriate funds around employability and
any other projects developed around employability in accordance with the
framework in Appendix 1 (to the report) and agreed any consequential
partnership working and associated agreements which the Council has
the power to agree to;

9

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022


792.

Noted that any resulting funding offers will be presented to future
meetings of Cabinet as considered appropriate.

3 YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN FOR CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE IN BRIDGEND
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing presented for approval a 3 year
strategic plan for Children’s Social Care in Bridgend.
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing reported that Children’s social
care services in Bridgend are fundamental in delivering the Council’s statutory duties
under the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 to safeguard, protect and
improve outcomes for the most vulnerable children in the County Borough, and which
had seen an increase in need and complexity of children and families, since the
pandemic, with a 40% increase in contacts into children’s social care. She informed
Cabinet that, in common with many other local authorities in Wales and across the UK
Children’s social care had experienced challenges in the retention and recruitment of
children’s social workers.
The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing reported that the 3 year strategic
plan for Bridgend Children’s social care sets out the purpose of children’s social care in
Bridgend and emphasises the importance of culture, behaviour and values in delivering
that purpose as well as the strategic actions detailed in the plan. She stated that the
governance of the plan will be through an ‘Improving Outcomes for Children Board’ and
chaired by the Chief Executive. The Board will provide regular reports on progress to
the Cabinet Corporate Management Board, the Cabinet Corporate Parenting Committee
and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Board will provide regular
oversight, challenge and direction and ensure that resources are recommended to
enable delivery of this plan. The Board will benefit from independent expert advice
provided by a specialist in Children’s social care who will advise on the priorities set out,
measures and progress.
The Cabinet Member Social Services and Early Help in commending the proposal
commented on the necessity for the 3 year strategic plan due to the 40% increase in
children requiring care. She stated that is a need to build on the partnerships it had
developed, to be pro-active to give stability to children.
The Cabinet Member Communities referred to the challenges in recruitment and
retention and asked what steps are being taken to address this. The Corporate Director
Social Services and Wellbeing stated that one of the keys to address recruitment and
retention positively is for the Council to grow its own, through the secondments and
traineeships. The skill mix of social worker and non-social work staff was being looked
at, taking into account good practice in other local authorities.
The Cabinet Member Communities asked what steps are being taken to break the cycle
so that care experienced children are given life and employment opportunities. She
commented on the importance of giving care experienced children the same support as
people’s own children so that they have the very best opportunities. She stated that
within the new Corporate Parenting Officer’s remit and the Corporate Parenting Strategy
would be to ensure that care experienced children to have the same access to
opportunities as non-care experienced children.
The Leader commented on the importance and success of the work of the Multi-agency
Safeguarding Hub and asked whether an opportunity exists to include representatives
from the Council’s partners within the governance arrangements. The Corporate
Director Social Services and Wellbeing stated that the service is at its strongest when it
works with its partners.

Page 14

10

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations asked whether the advice of
young people had been sought in shaping the strategy. The Corporate Director Social
Services and Wellbeing stated that the pandemic had constrained the involvement of
young people in shaping the strategy but gave an assurance that engagement with
children and young people will be evident in the strategy. The Cabinet Member
Wellbeing and Future Generations was disappointed to note that engagement had not
taken with young people on the development of the strategy, particularly as the Youth
Council had continued to meet during the pandemic. The Corporate Director Social
Services and Wellbeing explained that young people will help shape the implementation
of the plan. She stated that a focus group had been held with young people, but it was
not well attended. She informed Cabinet that the remit of the Corporate Parenting
Officer will be to engage with children and young people. The Cabinet Member
Wellbeing and Future Generations asked whether there is an opportunity to review the
plan. The Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing explained that there is
need to ensure the plan has momentum, but it will be reviewed, and the voices of
children and young people will be heard.
The Deputy Leader questioned whether children and young people have access to the
services of independent advocacy. The Corporate Director Social Services and
Wellbeing stated that independent advocacy services are commissioned for care
experienced children and is a part of the family law process. She stated that when the
Corporate Parenting Officer is in place the possibility of including a care experienced
person on the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting. The Chief Executive
commented on the importance of maintaining momentum for the plan and that it can be
shaped and changed as it moves forward.
RESOLVED:

793.

That Cabinet considered and approved the 3-year strategic plan
for Children’s Social Care in Bridgend attached as Appendix 1 to
the report.

SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME: OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION
ON SCHOOLS' MODERNISATION PROGRAMME PROPOSAL TO ENLARGE
MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL
The Corporate Director Education and Family Support reported that Cabinet at its
meeting in October 2021, considered the outcome of the feasibility and approved the
commencement of a statutory consultation process to enlarge Mynydd Cynffig Primary
School to a 2 Form Entry school and a 75-place nursery to be located on the junior site
and open with effect from September 2025. Accordingly, consultation exercises were
carried out between 30 November 2021 and 12 January 2022 in accordance with the
statutory School Organisation Code.
He reported that the consultation document invited views and opinions to be submitted
in respect of the proposal and Cabinet would need to consider the consultation report
and determine the preferred way forward. He stated that should Cabinet proceed with
the proposal, the next stage would be to publish a statutory notice outlining the
proposals, which would need to be published for a period of 28 days and any formal
written objections would be invited during this time. He informed Cabinet that if there
are no objections during the public notice period then the proposal can be implemented
with the approval of Cabinet. If there are objections at this public notice stage, an
objections report will be published summarising the objections and the authority’s
response to those objections. He stated that Cabinet would need to consider the
proposal in light of objections and could then accept, reject or modify the proposal.

Page 15

11

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

The Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration in commending the
recommendations stated that the proposals had been revisited because of concerns
expressed at the consultation. He stated that the new facility proposed will be great for
Kenfig Hill and he thanked all who had taken part on the consultation, which had helped
shape the future of the development of the existing Mynydd Cynffig junior school. He
also stated that discussions are continuing with the allotment holders and Air Training
Corp to ensure their needs are met. He commented on the sustainability of the proposal
in that for the first time, the school will be located on one site, which will benefit staff and
pupils.
The Leader commented that the proposals had been met with genuine enthusiasm when
he along with the Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration and Chair of Governors
and one of the Ward members had visited the school. He stated that school will feature
2 all-weather sports pitches and would also benefit the wider community. He referred to
the concerns expressed by Parents for Welsh Medium Education that the impact on the
Welsh Language had not been addressed with the increase in places to be available at
Mynydd Cynffig. He stated that the Council will enlarge Welsh medium provision in that
cluster with the proposed expansion of Ysgol y Ferch o’r Sger and the proposals for a
seedling school in Porthcawl. The Corporate Director Education and Family Support
commented on the importance of the proposals for the enlargement of Mynydd Cynffig
working for the community. He stated that the Council is committed to providing very
strong Welsh and English medium education in the cluster with its proposals for Ysgol y
Ferch o’r Sger and the seedling school, in Porthcawl. He informed Cabinet that the
proposals for Ysgol y Ferch o’r Sger will be state of the art facility with surplus spaces at
the school and he did not anticipate any detriment to the provision of Welsh medium
education.
RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:
 Noted the outcome of the consultation with interested parties
as detailed in the consultation report and appendices attached
to the covering report;
 Approved the consultation report for publication; and
 Authorised the publication of a public notice on the proposal.

794.

CABINET, COUNCIL AND OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK
PROGRAMMES
The Chief Officer Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy presented a
report which sought approval for items to be included on the Forward Work Programme
for the period 1 March 2022 to 5 May 2022 and for Cabinet to note the Council and
Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programmes for the same period.
The Cabinet Member Wellbeing and Future Generations stated that the publication of
the Forward Work Programmes is important for transparency in decision making.
RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:
 Approved the Cabinet Forward Work Programme for the period
1 March 2022 to 5 May 2022 at Appendix 1 to the report;
 Noted the Council and Overview and Scrutiny Committees
Forward Work Programmes for the same period, as shown at
Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 of the report, respectively.

Page 16

12

CABINET - TUESDAY, 8 FEBRUARY 2022

795.

INFORMATION REPORT FOR NOTING
The Chief Officer Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy presented a
report, which informed Cabinet of the following information report which had been
published since its last scheduled meeting.
The Cabinet Member Education and Regeneration congratulated the leadership,
teachers, pupils and governing bodies of the schools listed in the Estyn Inspections for
the progress they had all made.
RESOLVED:

796.

That Cabinet acknowledged the publication of the document listed
in the report:

Title

Date Published

Estyn Inspections For Plasnewydd Primary School,
Ogmore Vale Primary School, Cefn Cribwr Primary
School and Archbishop Mcgrath Catholic High School

2 February 2022

URGENT ITEMS
There were no urgent items.
The meeting closed at 16:52

Page 17

13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN ANNUAL REPORT 2020 - 2021
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide members with an update on the
work completed within the Strategic Equality Plan (SEP) 2020 – 2024
for the period 2020 - 2021.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate
priorities

2.1

The Equality Act 2010 sets out both general and specific duties for
local authorities in Wales. The specific duties include the development
of a SEP to identify the council’s equality objectives and the publication
of an annual report.

2.2

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate wellbeing objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015:Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient
- taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions
to have active, healthy and independent lives.
Smarter use of resources - ensure that all resources (financial,
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s wellbeing objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The SEP annual report enables the council to:




Page 19

monitor and review progress against its strategic equality
objectives;
review its objectives and processes in light of any new
legislation and other new developments;
engage with relevant stakeholders around equality objectives,
providing transparency;



include relevant updates on equality impact assessments,
procurement arrangements and training.

Specifically, the report sets out:




3.2

the steps taken to identify and collect relevant information;
any reasons for not collecting relevant information;
where appropriate, employment information, including
information on training and pay.

Progress made by the council on each of its six equality objectives is
included in the report, which will be of interest to:





Elected Members;
Members of the community and community groups;
Equality and Human Rights Commission;
Welsh Government.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The annual report (Appendix 1) covers the period 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2021. The annual report must be published on the council
website/made available by 1 April 2022.

4.2

Our six strategic equalities objectives for 2020 – 2024 are:







4.3

Education
Work
Living standards
Health and wellbeing
Safety and respect
Participation

Some key points to note from the annual report are:


Work is ongoing to promote Disability Confident scheme – Disability
Confident Employer badge is now visible on Jobs Pages and Equal
Opportunities page of BCBC website. The Disability Confident Action
Plan has been updated and the Disability Confident self-assessment
has been undertaken and completed.
The Disability Confident
Employer badge has been received, which is valid up to 28/11/2023.



During 2020-21, two LGBT courses were delivered with 17 delegates
attending.



The Health and Wellbeing protocol has been developed, and was
launched in October 2020, following consultation with trade union
representatives. Staff can access this via the intranet ant the range of
other wellbeing resources available. A part time Health and Wellbeing

Page 20

Officer has been appointed who will take the wellbeing agenda forward
and ensure all staff are aware of the wellbeing resources and support
available.


In 2020-21, the following courses were delivered in conjunction with
Valley Steps and WULF (Wales Union Learning Fund):
o Mindfulness – 4 courses delivered / 37 delegates attended
o Resilience – 4 courses delivered / 45 delegates attended
o Confidence in the Workplace – 4 courses delivered / 38
delegates attended
o Communication in the workplace – 5 courses delivered / 50
delegates attended



Between December 2020 and April 2021, Small Steps delivered Far
Right Extremism Awareness and Counter Narrative Training to 176
members of staff, key partners and community groups.



BCBC worked with seven other local authorities to promote LGBTQ+
history month by producing and promoting a calendar of events,
information, webinars and Q&A sessions. The calendar was promoted
on Proud Councils social media accounts and BCBC corporate social
media accounts. The Proud Councils - Proud Insights Event was
shared with all staff during LGBTQ+ history month.



BCBC have carried out face to face engagement (online meetings) with
Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum on the BCBC
Strategic Equality Plan and Fit for the Future consultation. Details of
the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan consultation were shared with
all members of BCCEF via email, and members were asked to share
details of the consultation within their own networks.



BCBC have promoted campaigns via Twitter, Facebook, Instagram and
the BCBC website, including:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Page 21

Foster care fortnight 2020
Woman of Wales event
LGBT fostering – throughout year
Youth support
Hate hurts Wales – hate crime
World autism week
EU settlement
ARC mental health – throughout year
Welsh in the workplace
Youth justice launch of new website
International Women’s Day
Armed Forces day
Shwmae Sumae day

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

World Environment Day
St Dwynwens Day
Welsh Language Rights day
Digital pride
Hate Crime awareness week 2020,
Domestic abuse launch of assia
LGBTQ+ Adoption and Fostering Week
Child Sexual Exploitation
Young Carers Action Day
Live fear free from abuse
LGBTQ History Month
Show Racism the Red Card workshops (Equalities training for
schools)
World Mental Health Day – Civic offices turn green
Remembrance day
Black history month
Hanukkah
Diwali
Iaith gwaith
International Men’s day

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

As this is an information report, there is no effect upon the policy
framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socioeconomic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have
been considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in
Wales, the Council must consider the impact of strategic decisions,
such as the development or the review of policies, strategies, services
and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not
necessary to carry out an EIA in the production of this report. It is
considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality
impacts as a result of this report.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the
preparation of this report. The following is a summary to show how the
five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have been used to
formulate the recommendations within this report:
Long-term -The consideration and approval of this report will assist in
supporting equalities objectives the short-term and in the long term.

Page 22

Prevention - The Strategic Equality Plan aims to identify issues that
are relevant in our community and workforce and set objectives to
prevent problems from occurring.
Integration - The Strategic Equality plan supports all the wellbeing
objectives and ensures integration for all people with protected
characteristics.
Collaboration - The creation of and the monitoring of the Strategic
Equality Plan is done in collaboration with all council services and the
community.
Involvement - Publication of the report ensures that the public and
stakeholders can review the work that has been undertaken.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no financial
information/update report.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

That the Cabinet notes the progress being made and approves the
Strategic Equality Plan Annual Report 2020-2021.

implications

identified

as

this

is an

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive
8 March 2021
Contact officers:

Alix Howells
Consultation, Engagement and Equalities
Manager

Telephone:

01656 643664

Email:

alix.howells@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Civic Offices,
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB
Philip O’Brien
Group Manager – Transformation and Customer
Services

Telephone:

01656 643333

Email:

Philip.OBrien@bridgend.gov.uk

Page 23

Postal address:

Civic Offices,
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background papers: None

Page 24

Strategic Equality Plan
Annual Report 2020-21

This document is also available in Welsh

1

Page 25

1. Background ........................................................................................................................ 3
2. Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 4
3. Progress in meeting our objectives during 2020/21 ............................................... 4
4. Communication, consultation and engagement .................................................... 10
5. Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) ........................................................................ 11
6. Procurement arrangements ......................................................................................... 11
7. Employment Information .............................................................................................. 11
8. Employees as at 31 March 2021 by gender and pay grade ................................. 17
9. Job Applications ............................................................................................................. 22
10. Employee Training ....................................................................................................... 25
11. Grievance and disciplinary hearings held during 20-21 .................................... 28
12. Employees that left the council in 2020/21 ............................................................ 28
13. Engagement and consultation................................................................................. 31
14. Contact us ...................................................................................................................... 32

2

Page 26

1. Background
As an authority, our aim is to understand and tackle the equality barriers that people
face so that everyone has a fair chance to fulfil their potential. We aim to ensure that
equality is a part of everything we do and the services we deliver.
We aim to develop our services and activities in line with the Public Sector Equality
Duty (PSED) and the general duties outlined in the Equality Act 2010. This will help
us to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster
good relations.
Our aim is to mainstream equality and diversity, both internally and externally.
Following public consultation, the council’s Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 was
approved by Cabinet on 10 March 2020, with the following six strategic objectives for
2020-2024:
Objective
Objective 1:
Education

What we hope to achieve/support?
Everyone who accesses education should
be free from discrimination, bullying and
abuse in educational settings.

Objective 2:
Work

Promote a more inclusive workforce and
improve the participation, wellbeing, and
opportunities for development for those with
protected characteristics.

Objective 3:
Living standards

Tackle poverty and support independent
living by considering the impact of any policy
changes or decisions under the socioeconomic duty

Objective 4:
Health and wellbeing

Support and promote good mental and
physical health within our communities and
our workforce and provide opportunities to
participate in leisure and cultural activities
Ensure that people within our communities
have access to services that support them
to live without fear of violence or abuse, and
to be treated with respect.

Objective 5:
Safety and respect

Objective 6:
Participation

Encourage people and communities to
participate and engage in issues that are
important to them and influence the
decisions that affect their lives.

3

Page 27

Following this, we worked with a range of key managers across the authority to
develop the 58 actions which sit under these six objectives.
We consulted with the public and equality groups on these actions and 647
participants shared their views with us via surveys. Details of this consultation can be
viewed here. Following this, we developed our action plan which was approved by our
Cabinet Equalities Committee on 10 March 2020.
Heads of Service and senior service managers are responsible for ensuring the
actions are achieved within their service areas. The Communications, Marketing and
Engagement team (who are responsible for the equalities agenda) will ensure
progress and regular updates are reported at the council’s Cabinet Equalities
Committee and that feedback is provided to partners, local equality and diversity
groups and other key stakeholders.
2. Introduction
This is our first annual report for this strategic annual plan.
In order to prepare this report, we collated data gathered from our annual report of
our action plan in July 2021. Data provided at that time by service areas and
partners, provide a continual way of monitoring progress against our objectives and
actions.
3. Progress in meeting our objectives during 2020/21
Key progress under our seven objectives can be summarised as:
Education


The current form for reporting racist incidents is under review, alongside a
guidance document. This will be available for the 2021/2022 academic year.
Information will be shared with all head teachers in advance of the new
academic year. Reports will continue to be shared with Cabinet Committee
Equalities on incidents within schools annually. This will help to inform a revised
anti-bullying strategy.



From April 2020 onwards learners have been offered individual digital support
in order for them to access online learning provision. In addition to this, all
learners are asked to complete individual learning plans which will help to
identify any learning needs and determine additional support that can be offered
directly by the tutor in addition to any support that can be offered by the wider
service. Where learners disclose learning needs these are recorded on a
support plan. All courses offered are differentiated to suit a range of learning
needs and abilities.



From April 2020 additional resources have been offered to learners to enable
them to access online learning opportunities. Learners have access to devices
4

Page 28

such as laptops, tablets etc. as well as access to connectivity options. A number
of learners have accessed devices in order to take part in courses

Work


Awareness campaigns have focussed on hidden disabilities, hate crime
awareness, zero tolerance to hate crime and LGBTQ+/Pride history month.
Information is shared internally via the weekly Bridgenders staff bulletin.
Wellbeing information for staff focused on resilience and mental health are
also promoted via Bridgenders.



The gender pay gap as at March 2020 and 2021 has been reported which
shows a marginal improvement each year. An action plan will be developed
in 2021/22.



BCBC provided apprenticeship opportunities to 34 people in the year
2020/2021. Further opportunities have been explored for graduates and
apprenticeships and these will be in place within the next financial year.



Work is ongoing to promote Disability Confident scheme – Disability
Confident Employer badge now visible on the jobs and Equal Opportunities
pages of the BCBC website. The Disability Confident Action Plan has been
updated and the Disability Confident self-assessment has been undertaken
and completed. The Disability Confident Employer badge has been received,
which is valid up to 28/11/2023.



During 2020-21, 2 LGBT courses were delivered with 17 delegates attending.

Living standards


The EIA process has been reviewed. New paperwork has been created and
training and guidance documents have been produced. The EIA e-learning has
been reviewed to reflect the changes to the process and the implementation of
the socio-economic duty.



New guidance is available on the intranet and webinars have been delivered to
ensure officers have access to information about the socio-economic duty. The
EIA e-learning module has been reviewed to include socio-economic duty and
the new EIA process (The number of E-Learning activities surrounding EIA’s
and socio-economic duty is covered later in this report under item 5 for Equality
Impact Assessments).



The Real Living wage was implemented with effect from 1 April 2021 for council
employees, which positively impacted on 1,038 employees, of whom 88% were
female.

5

Page 29



The provision of food parcels as the local authority's strategy to support pupils
eligible for free school meals (eFSM) has been ongoing since Spring 2020.
Welsh Government funding continues to financially support the provision of
support for eFSM pupils until March 2022.



During the first lockdown, the Youth Development Service had to ensure that
young people in need of free-to-access menstrual products could do so even if
they were self-isolating and/or shielding. Linking with colleagues in the
Corporate Communications and Marketing team, a social media campaign was
started to promote the availability of products to school aged young people.
Within the first couple of months the post had reached over 42,000 people
resulting in 700 young people receiving home deliveries of products. The
campaign continued throughout the second lockdown (December 2020
onwards) and supplies will continue to be offered through the coming summer
holidays.

Health and wellbeing


Covid-19 risk assessments have been made available for employees to
complete in order to assess their risk. Discussions with managers are
encouraged in situations where risks are identified, so that supportive actions
can be identified, implemented and reviewed.



The Health and Wellbeing protocol has been developed, and was launched in
October 2020, following consultation with trade union representatives. Staff can
access this via the intranet ant the range of other wellbeing resources available.
A part time Health and Wellbeing Officer has been appointed who will take the
wellbeing agenda forward and ensure all staff are aware of the wellbeing
resources and support available.



In 2020-21, the following courses were delivered in conjunction with Valley
Steps and WULF (Wales Union Learning Fund):
o Mindfulness – 4 courses delivered / 37 delegates attended
o Resilience – 4 courses delivered / 45 delegates attended
o Confidence in the Workplace – 4 courses delivered / 38 delegates
attended
o Communication in the workplace – 5 courses delivered / 50 delegates
attended



New approaches were developed with key partners. Super Agers supported
people at home and in communities when permitted and chosen as a Bevan
Exemplar. Free swimming opportunities have been reviewed in regard to
young people with disabilities and also socio-economic disadvantage. Some
programmes commenced when venues permitted to open. Additional support
for unpaid carers of vulnerable groups created within Halo Leisure. Halo at
home digital activities developed including inclusive opportunities. Awen
increased availability of digital library resources and home delivery of books
etc via the books at home service. Feel good for life programme has supported
6

Page 30

people living with dementia and cognitive impairment including the
development of digital skills and knowledge.


New approaches have been developed to remotely support young people with
additional needs and families including digital opportunities. The Bridgend
Inclusive Network Group (BING) has been supported to bring community
groups together to develop collaborative approaches. Work differs to previous
years but has expanded the opportunities for many going forward. Partnership
working has continued regionally with Disability Sport Wales.



Play sufficiency action plan delivered and reported to Welsh Government.
Work has included developing a summer play programme for looked after
young people and those who are a safeguarding concern. Family Active Zone
programme has supplied home activity resources linked to partners identifying
socio economic disadvantage of household needs. Digital opportunities
developed for young people and households linked to disabled children’s team
and also support provided for third sector groups of parent carers to develop
their own opportunities and resources. Active young people services have
supported schools and community partners with resources to support activity
development and wellbeing of young people.



The council has raised awareness and promoted campaigns such as autism
awareness, the hidden disability lanyard scheme, and mental health
awareness. Promotional activities will continue through a calendar of events
and awareness days in 2020 to 2022.

Safety and respect


Work with South Wales Police and local groups continues to ensure any trends
and hotspots are monitored and dealt with appropriately. Regular engagement
with affected groups and weekly reports are discussed with local hate crime
officer.



BCBC continue to work with community and equality groups within the
Bridgend Community Cohesion Forum (BCCEF), representatives from across
the community representing a wide range of organisations meet quarterly to
share practice, receive joint briefings and training. All members are invited to
share information about BCCEF with other organisations with the aim to
increase membership and representation.



BCBC marked Holocaust Memorial Day 2020 with a virtual event. The Grand
Pavilion and the Civic Offices were lit up purple. The theme for the 2020 event,
which is provided by the Holocaust Memorial Trust was ‘Be the light in the
darkness’. This theme asks everyone to consider different kinds of ‘darkness’,
for example, identity-based persecution, misinformation, denial of justice; and
different ways of ‘being the light’, for example, resistance, acts of solidarity,
rescue and illuminating mistruths. World Mental Health Day was promoted by
lighting the main Civic Offices green, and we have worked in collaboration with
Halo to light up the Grand Pavilion to remember the sacrifices made and those
we have lost on the anniversary of the first coronavirus lockdown. The council
7

Page 31

has worked with partner organisations within Bridgend Community Cohesion
and Equality Forum to share information on Hate Crime, Dangos launch,
BAVO's Black and Minority Ethnic outreach work, barriers that people with
sight loss face and the impact of Covid-19, and BCBC's Strategic Equality Plan.


BCBC worked with seven other local authorities to promote LGBTQ+ history
month by producing and promoting a calendar of events, information, webinars
and Q&A sessions. The calendar was promoted on Proud Councils social
media accounts and BCBC corporate social media accounts. The Proud
Councils - Proud Insights Event was shared with all staff during LGBTQ+
history month. The event saw panel members from Cardiff and Rhondda
Cynon Taf Councils coming together to discuss a range of issues, including
the importance of LGBTQ+ staff networks in organisations and how these can
be developed. There was also the opportunity to take part in a Q&A with panel
members to discuss the things that mattered to them. The event which was
open to all council employees to attend took place on Friday 26 February 2021.



Between December 2020 and April 2021, Small Steps delivered Far Right
Extremism Awareness and Counter Narrative Training to 176 members of staff,
key partners and community groups.



BCBC promoted Black History month on the council’s corporate social media
channels. Promoting the Black History Wales Youth Awards, Black Brilliance
in Healthcare and the Black History Wales Artists Gallery. BCBC's Youth
Mayor made a Black Lives Matter (BLM) video and we coordinated a Hate
Crime Awareness Wales (HCAW) webinar with Race Council Cymru on
Saturday 10 October, which was attended by the Leader of BCBC who gave a
short presentation.



To extend the reach of communications across Wales, the council worked
closely with regional Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual
violence (VAWDASV) coordinators to fund community communication
activities. These activities were aimed at raising awareness of VAWDASV,
local services as well as both local and national Live Fear Free campaigns.
White Ribbon - Activities were led by survivors of abuse in partnership with
specialist services. Events were primarily focused around the 16 Days of
Activism and International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women
and Girls in November and included:
o A survivor-led podcast
o Conferences in South West Wales for victims and professionals
o Development of resources for working with survivors of VAWDASV
with additional learning needs
o A community event for young advocates
o Awareness raising and additional training for ‘Healthy Relationship
Ambassadors’ in secondary schools.

Participation
8

Page 32



Work continues with services to produce easy read and youth versions of
consultations where appropriate. During the pandemic corporate social media
accounts have been heavily relied on to share information with communities.
Explainer videos have also been produced and traditional press releases and
radio advertising has been used to share information about key consultations.



A review of the Citizens Panel has taken place to review demographics and
representation across wards within the county borough. An action plan to
improve ward representation and increase representation of younger people
and people with protected characteristics will be developed for 2021/2022 with
an aim to improve the diversity of the panel over the next three years.



Guidance and training have been developed on producing accessible
documents. The guidance is available on the intranet for all staff to access when
producing documents for the public.



BCBC have carried out face to face engagement (online meetings) with
Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum on the BCBC Strategic
Equality Plan and Fit for the Future consultation. Details of the Bridgend Town
Centre Masterplan consultation were shared with all members of BCCEF via
email, and members were asked to share details of the consultation within their
own networks.


BCBC have promoted campaigns via Twitter, Facebook, Instagram and the
BCBC website, including:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Foster care fortnight 2020
Social care jobs – wecarewales
Day of reflection
Woman of Wales event
LGBT fostering – throughout year
Youth support
Hate hurts Wales – hate crime
Childcare offer
Give blood
Community testing
World autism week
EU settlement
ARC mental health – throughout year
Senedd election
Register to vote – foreign and 16s citizens
Early help launch of new website
Chinese New Year – year of the ox
International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination
Welsh in the workplace
Youth justice launch of new website
Volunteer week
9

Page 33

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

International Women’s Day
Armed Forces day
Shwmae Sumae day
World Environment Day
St Dwynwens Day
Welsh Language Rights day
Digital pride
Hate Crime awareness week 2020,
Domestic abuse launch of assia
LGBTQ+ Adoption and Fostering Week
World Social worker day
Child Sexual Exploitation
Young Carers Action Day
Live fear free from abuse
Apprenticeship week
LGBTQ History Month
National wind rush day
Show Racism the Red Card workshops (Equalities training for
schools)
World Mental Health Day – Civic offices turn green
Remembrance day
Black history month
Hanukkah
Diwali
Iaith gwaith
International Men’s day
Carers rights day
Safeguarding week

4. Communication, consultation and engagement
Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the council carried out 8 public
consultations:
Town Centre public survey
Green and Open Space survey
Special Guardianship Orders Financial Policy Consultation
Active Travel Consultation
Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Bridgend West Primary Schools Consultation
Shaping Bridgend’s Future Consultation 2021
Bridgend transitional foster carer policy

10

Page 34

Citizens’ Panel members were sent the following surveys:



Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Shaping Bridgend’s Future Consultation 2021

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, there were no Citizen Panel engagement events
undertaken between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021.
5. Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)
During the period February 2020 to March 2021, 10 employees completed EIA
training via e-learning. To date a total of 266 employees have completed the elearning module.
6. Procurement arrangements
Service areas work with the procurement team to ensure that EIAs are integrated in
the procurement process. The contract procedures rules require contracts which are
subject to the contract procedure rules to include, as a minimum, clauses relating to
equalities and human rights, Welsh language Standards and Modern Slavery. Equality
issues are fully integrated into the procurement process from pre-qualification to
awarding of contract. The Welsh language standards clause is included in contracts
where compliance with the Welsh Language compliance notice is required.
7. Employment Information
This report is based on employment information as at 31 March 2021 at which point
there were 5929 employees, including those employed in schools.
Steps have been taken each year to improve upon the Equality Monitoring Data we
hold for existing employees. This report contains the data, where disclosed, on each
of the protected characteristics.
Numbers below 5 in this document have been replaced by * to protect anonymity.

11

Page 35

At present this report does not include any other gender categories as this data is not
currently captured. Information within this report is voluntarily provided by employees
and percentage figures, reflect the information available as a percentage of the whole
workforce.
When comparing data from 31.03.2020 our overall headcount has increased by 105
employees. 73% of these employees were female.
Figure 1 shows the workforce headcount by directorate and schools and the
accompanying figure 2 informs the gender breakdown within these.

Percentage of Headcount
7.24%
10.25%

19.73%

13.58%
49.20%

Chief Executives Directorate

Communities Directorate

Education and Family Support Directorate

Schools

Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate
Figure 1 – Percentage of Headcount

Gender by Directorate
3000
2395

2500
2000
1500

998
1000
500

740
317
112

522

261 347

172

65

0
Chief Executives

Communities

Education &
Family Support
Female

Schools

Social Services &
Wellbeing

Male

Figure 2 - Gender by Directorate

The breakdown of the workforce by full and part time working is detailed below and by
gender within figure 3. The gender composition has remained fairly consistent over
previous years. In comparison with other Local Authorities in Wales (20/21), the
12

Page 36

council continues to have a higher percentage of female employees. However, it is
inevitable that the workforce composition will vary according to the scope of in-house
services.

43%

57%

of workforce work
Full Time

of workforce work
Part Time

Full/Part Time Split by Gender
120%
100%
80%

9%
36%

60%
40%
20%

91%
64%

0%
FT

PT
Female

Male

Figure 3 – Full/Part Time Split by Gender

Disability
3.36% of our workforce have declared that they have a disability, which represents a
small increase from 19/20. 8.20% of the workforce ‘prefer not to say’ and 13.17% have
not declared.
The council continues to maintain its Disability Confident status. This scheme supports
employers to make the most of the talents disabled people can bring to the workplace
and allows us to draw from the widest possible pool of talent, secure and retain high
quality employees’ who are skilled, loyal, and hard working. This is promoted on the
council’s job pages and at various recruitment campaigns.
The council is also featured on the SCOPE (disability equality charity) website. The
recruitment process has also been tested by a small number of individuals with a
disability and the council’s application form has been updated from this feedback.
All job related documents are now published in the web accessibility format to enable
access to all.
13

Page 37

The council has raised awareness of hidden disabilities using corporate social media
platforms and promoted internally via Bridgenders.
Ethnicity
Figure 4 informs on the percentage of the workforces’ ethnicity background. The
ethnicity of the workforce is at 1.6% which in comparison to 19/20 is a small increase.
For context, the latest population estimates from StatsWales (June 2021) indicate that
1.5% of the county borough residents are from a Black Asian and Minority Ethnic
background.
The council is also one of 900 organisations across Wales who have signed up to the
Zero Racism Wales Pledge. Thereby agreeing to take a stand against racism and
promote a more inclusive and equal workplace and society that gives every individual
in Wales the right to feel safe, valued and included.
The council also worked with seven other local authorities to promote LGBTQ+ history
month by producing and promoting a calendar of events, information, webinars and
Q&A sessions. The Proud Councils – Proud Insights Event, which took place on the
26th February 2021, was shared with all employees during LGBTQ+ history month and
saw panel members coming together to discuss a range of issues, including the
importance of LGBTQ+ employee networks in organisations and how these can be
developed.

% of Workforce Ethnicity
100.00%

85.38%

80.00%
60.00%
40.00%

13.04%

20.00%

0.66%

0.17%

Asian or
Asian
British

Black or
Black
British

0.42%

0.34%

0.00%
White

Mixed
Race

Any other
Not
ethnic declared
group

Figure 4 - % of Workforce Ethnicity

Age Profile
Figure 5 shows the council’s age profile. Compared with 19/20 there have been
decreases within the lower age groups (16-35) by 0.91% with the age range of 51-55
staying the same, and the ranges 56-66+ increasing by 1.17%.
Work is being undertaken to encourage applicants from all backgrounds and ages with
particular emphasis on promoting careers in Local Government to those leaving

14

Page 38

education. A new graduate programme, approved in December 2020, has been
developed and two graduates are in post.

Age Profile
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

740

704

609

583

572

512
367

314

199
8 *

57

104

127

118

136

167

179

186
92 103

48

16-19 20-25 26-30 31 - 35 36 - 40 41 - 45 46 - 50 51 - 55 56 - 60 61 - 65 66 +
Female

Male

Figure 5 - Age Profile

Sexuality
Figure 6 informs most employees have categorised themselves as heterosexual, with
42.6% of the workforce not declaring their sensitive personal information.

Sexuality
Bisexual

Bisexual,
Man,29,
26,/
Gay
Woman
1%
0%19, 0%
Lesbian,
Not Known,
Heterosexual /
2528, 43%
Straight, 3178,
54%
Prefer not to
Other, 16, 0%
say, 133, 2%

Gay Man
Gay Woman / Lesbian
Heterosexual / Straight
Other
Prefer not to say
Not Known

Figure 6 - Sexuality

Marital Status
The marital status of the council’s workforce is detailed in figure 7. Nearly 15% of
employee’s marital status is not known with 0.91% preferring not to say. 44.48% of the
workforce are married, with 23.39% being single.

15

Page 39

Marital Status
3000
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

2637
1387
844

527

417
53

10

54

Figure 7 - Marital Status of Workforce

Welsh Language
Table 1 informs on the Welsh Language skills currently within our workforce. To put
this into context 4.57% of the council’s workforce stated that they were able to speak
Welsh fluently, a further 2.11% stated they could speak Welsh fairly good and 14.81%
stated they could speak Welsh a little.
4.60% of the council’s workforce stated that they were able to read Welsh fluently, a
further 2.60% stated they could read Welsh fairly good and 15.38% stated they could
read Welsh a little.
4.17% of the council’s workforce stated that they were able to write Welsh fluently, a
further 2.31% stated they could write Welsh fairly good and 12.75% stated they could
write Welsh a little.
New apprentices that are undertaking Business Administration Level 2 / 3 with TSW
are now also encouraged to undertake some upskilling in Welsh using Prentis-iath.
These courses are for apprentices who currently have little or no Welsh Language
skills and enable apprentices to complete part of their qualification in Welsh if they
chose. The general course highlights the importance of the Welsh Language as a
workplace skill.
Table 1 - Welsh Language

Welsh
Female Male
Speaker
A little
700
178
Fairly
107
18
good
Fluent
231
40

Total
878
125
271

Welsh
Female Male
Reader
A little
736
176
Fairly
128
26
good
Fluent
233
40

Total
912
154
273

Welsh
Female Male
Writer
A little
626
130
Fairly
113
24
good
Fluent
212
35

Table 2 shows the percentage of the population within Bridgend County Borough that
has the ability to read, write and understand spoken Welsh, according to the Annual

16

Page 40

Total
756
137
247

Population Survey, for the year ending 30 June 2021, which is a slight increase from
December 2020.
Table 2 - Annual Population Survey - Bridgend

Read Welsh
17.5%

Write Welsh
16.2%

Understand spoken Welsh
22.2%

Carers Responsibility
Figure 8 details the number of employees who have identified that they are carers.
4.78% of the council’s workforce has declared that they have caring responsibilities,
however when compared against 19/20 this has slightly reduced.

Caring Responsibility
3500
3000
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

2868

2740

283
Yes

38
No

Prefer not to say

Not Known

Figure 8 – Carers

8. Employees as at 31 March 2021 by gender and pay grade
The council’s pay and grading structure was implemented on 1 September 2013 and
a clear and robust mechanism is in place for evaluating the relative grades of positions.
This is based on roles and responsibilities as opposed to any individual factors relating
to the employee.
Figure 9 shows the number of employees within the council’s pay and grading
structure. When an employee has more than one position they will be counted for each
position they hold. As such the figures in the detail below will not correlate with other
totals in this report, which are based on headcount.
This is the first time that this level of information has been provided; reporting and
further analysis will be developed over time.

17

Page 41

Employee as per Pay and Grading Structure
6000
5000

4867

4000
3000
2000

1383

1000

316

484
17

51

0
Grade 1-8

Grade 9-10

Grade 11-16 JNC Officers

Soulbury &
Youth Officers

Teachers

Figure 9 - Employees as per Pay and Grading Structure

Table 3 details the information by gender.
Table 3 - Grade by Gender (Pay and Grading Structure as at 31.03.2021)

Grade
JE grades 1 – 8 (£17,942 - £25,991)

Female
4160

Male
707

JE grades 9 – 10 (£27,741 - £32,234)

218

98

JE grades 11 – 16 (£33,782 - £52,742)

325

159

JNC Officers (£56,109 - £142,954)

7

10

Soulbury and youth officers (£21,439 - £66,121)

43

8

1048

335

Teachers, head, deputy, and assistant head
teachers (£18,169 - £117,197)

18

Page 42

Disability
Figure 10 informs those that have declared they have a disability by grade. It shows
that the majority of the disabled workforce are falling within Grades 1-8.
Figure 10 - Disability by Grade

Disability by Grade
2.50%

2.28%

2.00%

1.50%

1.00%
0.61%
0.50%

0.25%

0.17%

*
0.00%
Yes
Grade 1-8

Grade 9-10

Grade 11-16

Chief Officers

Soulbury & Youth Officers

Teachers

Ethnicity
Table 4 details the ethnicity of employees by grade. The numbers for Black and Ethnic
Minority groups have been collated together due to the figures being low.
Table 4 - Ethnicity of employees by Grade

JNC
Officers

Soulbury and
Youth
Officers

Teacher
s

4.74% 7.39%

0.22%

0.74%

17.20%

1.2%

0.00% 0.20%

*

0.00%

0.17%

7.30%

0.35% 0.24%

*

0.10%

4.99%

Ethnicity

Grade
1-8

Grad
e 9-10

White

55.09
%

Other Ethnic
Groups
Not Declared

Grad
e 1116

Age Profile
Table 5 shows the age profile of the council’s workforce by grade.
Table 5 - Age profile by grade

Age Range

Grade
1-8

Grade Grade
9-10
11-16
19

Page 43

JNC
Officers

Soulbury and
Youth
Officers

Teachers

16-25
26-35
36-45
46-55
56-65
66+

3.54%
10.56%
13.44%
18.81%
14.91%
2.33%

0.17%
0.81%
1.28%
1.79%
1.05%
0.00%

0.00%
0.93%
2.01%
2.61%
2.14%
0.13%

0.00%
0.00%
0.13%
0.20%
*
0.00%

*
0.24%
0.13%
0.32%
*
*

0.76%
6.19%
7.47%
6.46%
1.42%
*

Sexuality
Table 6 shows the breakdown of employees by sexual orientation and their grades.
Information is held on over 55% of the workforce.
Table 6 - Sexuality by grade

Sexuality
Bisexual
Gay Man
Gay Woman / Lesbian
Heterosexual / Straight
Other
Prefer not to say
Not Declared

Grade 1- Grade 98
10
0.34%
*
0.24%
*
0.19%
*
36.18%
3.59%
0.24%
0.00%
1.40%
0.19%
25.01%
1.25%

Grade
11-16
*
0.12%
*
6.21%
*
0.34%
1.06%

JNC
Officers
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.19%
*
0.00%
*

Soulbury and
Youth Officers
0.00%
0.00%
*
0.57%
0.00%
0.00%
0.25%

Teachers
*
*
*
6.86%
0.00%
0.32%
14.98%

Marital Status
Table 7 informs the marital status of the council’s workforce by grade, with 85%
declaring their marital status.
Table 1 - Marital Status by Grade

Marital Status

Grade 1-8

Grade 9- Grade 11JNC
10
16
Officers

Soulbury and
Youth Officers

Teachers

Married

1672

162

279

13

21

494

Partner

372

26

42

*

7

80

*

0

*

0

0

*

Separated / Divorced

321

22

47

0

*

26

Single

846

61

69

*

14

396

Widowed

42

*

6

0

*

*

Prefer not to say

37

*

6

0

0

9

Not Stated

475

27

13

*

*

315

Same Sex Civil
Partnership

20

Page 44

Welsh Language
With regards to Welsh Language the majority of our Welsh speakers, readers and
writers fall within Grades 1-8, in a range of operational roles as demonstrated in table
8.
Table 8 - Welsh Language per grade

Welsh
Speaker
A little
Fairly good
Fluent

Welsh
Reader
A little
Fairly good
Fluent

Welsh Writer
A little
Fairly good
Fluent

Grade
1-8
533
42
126

Grade
1-8
562
63
128

Grade
1-8
447
55
114

Grade
9-10
49
7
15

Grade
9-10
51
6
14

Grade
9-10
42
7
12

Grade
11-16
85
10
21

Soulbury
and
JNC
Youth
Officers Officers Teachers
*
*
206
*
*
63
0
*
105

Grade
11-16
85
14
21

Soulbury
and
JNC
Youth
Officers Officers Teachers
*
8
203
*
*
69
0
*
106

Grade
11-16
59
15
15

Soulbury
and
Youth
Officers Teachers
8
200
0
59
*
102

JNC
Officers
0
*
0

Carers Responsibility
Out of the 283 employees that have confirmed themselves as being carers, 3.15% fall
within grades 1-8 as demonstrated in figure 11.
Figure 11 - Carers by Grade

21

Page 45

Carers by Grade
3.50%

3.15%

3.00%
2.50%
2.00%
1.50%
0.93%

1.00%
0.42%

0.50%

0.00%

*

0.24%

0.00%
Yes
Grade 1-8

Grade 9-10

Grade 11-16

Chief Officers

Soulbury & Youth Officers

Teachers

9. Job Applications
Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the council received 4,532 job applications
via the HR recruitment system from 3,029 individuals, comprising both internal and
external applications. The data does not include applications received directly by some
schools. In some instances, applicants did not declare information for each protected
characteristic. Where a percentage breakdown has been used this is based on the
total number of applicants.

Disability
Of the applicants that applied for roles within the council 7.36% identified themselves
as having a disability.
Ethnicity
Very similar to our workforce in that many applicants (91.85%) inform of their ethnicity
being white and a small number (3.47%) either preferring not to say or not declaring
their information.
22

Page 46

Ethnicity of Applicant
100.00%

91.85%

80.00%
60.00%
40.00%
20.00%

2.05%

0.96%

1.12%

2.48%

0.99%

0.56%

0.00%
White Asian or Black or
Asian
Black
British British

Mixed

Other
Ethnic
Group

Prefer
Not
not to Declared
say

Figure 12 - Ethnicity of Applicants

Age Profile
Figure 13 demonstrates the applicants age profile.

Age Profile of Applicants
30.00%

27.96%

27.90%

25.00%
19.78%

20.00%

16.47%

15.00%
10.00%

7.16%

5.00%
*

0.56%

66+

(blank)

0.00%
16-25

26-35

36-45

46-55

56-65

Figure 13 – Age profile of Applicants

Sexuality
As with other areas within this report the sexuality of applicants mainly falls within the
Heterosexual/Straight category with 6.31% of applicants preferring not to say as the
table demonstrates. However, there has been a 100% return on applicants giving this
sensitive information.

23

Page 47

Sexuality of Applicants
46
71

Percentage of Applicants
Heterosexual / Straight
88.11%
Bisexual
2.34%
Gay Man
1.52%
Gay Woman / Lesbian
0.96%
Other
0.76%
Prefer not to say
6.31%

29 23 191

2669
Heterosexual / Straight

Bisexual

Gay Man

Gay Woman / Lesbian

Other

Prefer not to say

Table 9 - % of Applicants sexuality

Figure 14 - Sexuality of Applicants

Marital Status
The highest percent of applicants (39.49%) confirmed they were single, with 3.96%
preferring not to say or not completing the required information. This is slightly different
in comparison to our workforce where those that are married outnumber those that are
single.

Marital Status of Applicant
1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0

1196
948
576
*

164

20

36

84

Figure 15 - Marital Status of Applicant

Welsh Language
Table 10 informs the Welsh Language skills of applicants. Out of the 3029 applicants,
6.11% stated they could speak Welsh fluently, a further 3.76% could speak Welsh
fairly good and 27.93% stated they could speak Welsh ‘a little’.

24

Page 48

Out of the 3029 applicants, 5.35% stated they could read Welsh fluently, a further
3.83% could read Welsh fairly good and 24.27% stated they could read Welsh ‘a little’.
Out of the 3029 applicants, 6.14% stated they could write Welsh fluently, a further
4.79% could write Welsh fairly good and 28.82% stated they could write Welsh ‘a little’.
Table 2 - Applicants Welsh Language Skills

Welsh
Speaker
A little

Applicant
846

Fairly good

114

Fluent

185

Welsh
Welsh
Applicant
Applicant
Reader
Writer
A little
735
A little
873
Fairly
Fairly
116
145
good
good
Fluent
162
Fluent
186

10. Employee Training
Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic there was an impact on the delivery of face to face
workshops. As a result, for this period, the report focusses on E-Learning training only.
The information below sets out the protected characteristics of those employees who
accessed E-Learning between 01 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. During the year,
2252 employees (delegates) attended E-Learning. Where a percentage breakdown
has been used this is based on the total number of delegates.

Disability
Of the delegates that undertook training 4.53% (102) identified as having a disability,
with 7.64% not declaring, 81.3% informing they were not disabled and 6.48% not
completing the required information.

Ethnicity
The number of delegates who identified as white is a similar percentage to the
workforce (85.37%), with a high number (8.39%) not declaring or preferring not to say.
25

Page 49

Ethnicity of Delegates
100.00%
80.00%
60.00%
40.00%
20.00%
0.00%

Delegates Ethnicity
2032
White
Asian or Asian
12
British
6
Black or Black British
9
Mixed Ethnicity
Any other ethnic
*
group
78
Prefer not to say
111
Not Declared

90.23%

0.53% 0.27% 0.40%

*

3.46% 4.93%

Figure 16 - Ethnicity of Delegates

Table 11 – Delegates Ethnicity

Age Profile
The highest percentage of delegates (31.18%) that undertook corporate employee
training were in the age range of 46-55. This informs that 39.21% of the workforce
within this age range (1790) has undertaken some form of corporate training during
this period.

Age Profile of Delegates
800

702

700

595

600
452

500

359

400
300
200

125

100

19

0
16-25

26-35

36-45

46-55

56-65

66+

Figure 17 - Age profile of Delegates

Sexuality
As per the current workforce detail the majority of delegates fall within the
Heterosexual/Straight category with a large number of delegates (28.42%) not
declaring.

26

Page 50

Sexuality of Delegates

Percentage of Delegates
Heterosexual /
67.63%
Straight
0.49%
Bisexual
0.62%
Gay Man
Gay Woman /
0.53%
Lesbian
*
Other
2.18%
Prefer not to say
28.42%
Not Declared

640

12

*

1523

49
14

11

Heterosexual / Straight

Bisexual

Gay Man

Gay Woman / Lesbian

Other

Prefer not to say

Not Declared
Figure 18 - Sexuality of Delegates

Table 12 –Sexuality of Delegates

Marital Status
As per the workforce the majority of delegates are within the married status, with
9.4% not declaring.

Marital Status of Delegate
1200

1030

1000
800

564

600
400
200

235

212

171
18

*

19

0

Figure 19 - Marital Status of Delegate

Welsh Language
Table 13 informs the Welsh Language skills of applicants. Out of the 2252 delegates,
5.15% stated they could speak Welsh fluently, a further 2.09% could speak Welsh
fairly good and 20.20% stated they could speak Welsh ‘a little’.
Out of the 2252 delegates, 5.11% stated they could read Welsh fluently, a further
2.93% could read Welsh fairly good and 20.69% stated they could read Welsh ‘a little’.
Out of the 2252 delegates, 4.48% stated they could write Welsh fluently, a further
2.66% could write Welsh fairly good and 16.43% stated they could write Welsh ‘a little’.

27

Page 51

Table 13 - Welsh Language of Delegates

Welsh
Speaker
A little
Fairly good
Fluent

Delegate
455
47
116

Welsh
Delegate
Reader

Welsh
Delegate
Writer

A little
Fairly
good
Fluent

A little
Fairly
good
Fluent

466
66
115

370
60
101

11. Grievance and disciplinary hearings held during 20-21
This includes employees involved in grievance procedures as a complainant, against
whom a complaint was made or subject to a disciplinary procedure. To comply with
the data protection requirements, we are unable to disclose this information. In each
category, the number of employees and the amount of data is too small for us to
interpret in a meaningful way.
12. Employees that left the council in 2020/21
The following data summarises the protected characteristics of the 495 individuals who
left the employment of the council between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. Data on
protected characteristics (other than gender and age) is based upon information
disclosed voluntarily by the employees. Where a percentage breakdown has been
used this is based on the total number of leavers.
Gender

Disability
Of the employees that left the council 3.03% (15) identified as having a disability, with
9.29% not declaring, 81.21% informing they were not disabled and 6.46% not
completing the required information.
Ethnicity

Of those that have left the council, the majority were white, with 1.41% of employees
leaving from the Black Asian and Ethnic Minority.
28

Page 52

Ethnicity of Leavers
100.00%

Leavers Ethnicity

88.08%

White

80.00%
60.00%
40.00%
20.00%

*

*

*

10.51%

White

Asian or
Black or
Asian British Black British

Mixed
Ethnicity

Asian or Asian British

*

Black or Black British

*

Mixed Ethnicity

*

Not Declared

0.00%
Not Declared

Table 14 – Leavers Ethnicity

Figure 20 - Ethnicity of Leavers

Age Profile
25.4% of leavers were in the 56-65 year range, of which 47% of those retired, either
early or at age – voluntary. 24% of leavers were aged between 26-35 (10% of the
workforce within this age range). Of these leavers 57% resigned from the council, and
39% left due to contracts coming to an end.

Age Profile of Leavers
140

126

119

120

95

100

70

80
60
40

47

38

20
0
16-25

26-35

36-45

46-55

56-65

66+

Figure 21 - Age profile of Leavers

Sexuality
Like with other areas the vast majority of leavers were within the Heterosexual /
Straight category, with 33.13% of employees not declaring their sensitive information.

29

Page 53

436

52

Sexuality of Leavers
164

*

Percentage of Leavers
Heterosexual /
60.61%
Straight
Bisexual
*
Gay Man
*
Gay Woman /
*
Lesbian
Other
*
Prefer not to say
3.43%
Not Declared
33.13%

300

17
* *

*

Heterosexual / Straight

Bisexual

Gay Man

Gay Woman / Lesbian

Prefer not to say

Other

Not Declared

Table 15 – Leavers Ethnicity

Figure 22 - Sexuality of Leavers

Marital Status
The marital status of leavers were in the main married or single with 10% not declaring
this protected characteristic.

Marital Status Leavers
250

202

200
133

150
100

57

50

53

39
7

*

0
Married

Partner Separated Single
/ Divorced

Widowed Prefer not Not
to say declared

Figure 23 - Marital Status of Leavers

Welsh Language
Table 16 informs the Welsh Language skills of applicants. Out of the 495 leavers,
7.68% stated they could speak Welsh fluently, a further 3.43% could speak Welsh
fairly good and 14.55% stated they could speak Welsh ‘a little’.
Out of the 495 leavers, 7.74% stated they could read Welsh fluently, a further 3.43%
could read Welsh fairly good and 16.16% stated they could read Welsh ‘a little’.
Out of the 495 leavers, 5.66% stated they could write Welsh fluently, a further 4.24%
could write Welsh fairly good and 13.13% stated they could write Welsh ‘a little’.
Table 36 - Welsh Language of Leavers

Welsh
Speaker

Leaver

Welsh
Leaver
Reader

30

Page 54

Welsh
Leaver
Writer

A little

72

Fairly good

17
38

Fluent

A little
Fairly
good
Fluent

80
17
37

A little
Fairly
good
Fluent

65
21
28

Carers Responsibility
The number of carers that left the organisation between 1 April 2020 and 31 March
2021 were 26, 9% of the total amount of carers employed during this period.

Carers Responsibility
400
286

300
200

180

100
*

26

0
Not Declared

No

Prefer not to say

Yes

Figure 24 - Carers Responsibility

Conclusion
The council continues to improve its data collection. However, this is dependent on
individuals wishing to disclose their identity, which is particularly sensitive around
some of the protected characteristics. Employees are offered the opportunity to state
’prefer not to say’ which is useful data in its own right.
With extra promotion for employees to complete their personal and sensitive
information via the council’s employee self-service system it is hoped these categories
of ‘not declared’ will decrease over the coming years.
13. Engagement and consultation
We aim to include the views of representative groups in our planning and decision
making processes so we can develop accessible services for the public and our
employees.
Engagement is an important part of our work so we put specific processes in place to
ensure that people’s needs are taken into account and that the dimensions of equality
are addressed.
Employees and stakeholders who represent the protected characteristic groups are
involved with the delivery, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of our objectives.
We publish consultation reports on the outcome of our engagement activity to show
clearly how people have influenced planning and decision making within Bridgend
County Borough Council.
31

Page 55

14. Contact us
If you would like further information on our SEP or a copy of the plan in an alternative
format, please contact us:
By email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
By telephone: 01656 643643
By textphone: 18001 01656 643643
By fax: 01656 668126
In writing: Bridgend County Borough Council Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend,
CF31 4WB.
Our Customer Contact Centre is open from 8am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday
This is our complaints procedure.

32

Page 56

Agenda Item 5
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES
LOCAL AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT – PARK STREET AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN
UPDATE
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the draft Air
Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for the Park Street Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA). It follows receipt of the initial transportation and air quality modelling
results undertaken on a number of the measures initially identified in the draft
AQAP.

1.2

The report also provides an update to Cabinet on next steps towards
implementation of the AQAP.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:1.

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.

2.

Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3.

Background

3.1

Under Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 every local authority has an
obligation to regularly review and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine
whether or not air quality objectives to protect health are likely to be achieved.
Where the air quality reviews indicate that the air quality objectives are not being
achieved, or are not likely to be achieved, Section 83 of the 1995 Act requires local
authorities to designate an Air Quality Management Area (‘AQMA’). Section 84 of
the Act ensures that where a Local Authority has designated an AQMA that a
written plan in pursuit of the achievement of air quality standards is produced and
that the plan sets out the actions to be taken at a local level to ensure that air quality
in the identified area improves.

Page 57

3.2

Welsh Government issues statutory policy guidance to Local Authorities under
section 88 of the Environment Act 1995 to bring the local air quality management
system in Wales into line with the sustainable development principle outlined in
Welsh Government’s Well-being for Future Generations Act, 2015. Local authorities
must have regard to this guidance when carrying out their air quality functions under
the Environment Act 1995.
Section 4.2 of the Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance states that ‘Local
communities should be informed and engaged …..so they can then make a useful
contribution to the development and implementation of any local air quality action
plans or related strategies.’

4.
4.1

4.2

Current situation/proposal
The 2021 Annual Progress Report (APR) confirmed that in 2020 air quality
continued to be a concern along Park Street coinciding with the geographical
boundary of the Park Street, Bridgend AQMA Order raised on the 1st January 2019.
The area comprising the Bridgend County Borough Council Air Quality Management
Area Order Number 1, Park Street is outlined in
Figure 1 below.
Figure 1- Extent of the Park Street Air Quality Management Area

4.3

Figure 2 below depicts the non-automated monitoring sites located in and around
the Park Street Air Quality Management Area.
Figure 2 - 2020 NO2 Diffusion Tube Monitoring Locations, Park Street/ Tondu Road

Page 58

4.4

It was noted in the APR that monitoring undertaken in 2020 at monitoring sites
OBC-110 & OBC-123, located on Park Street residential facades, still demonstrated
annual average levels in exceedance of the annual average air quality objective (set
at 40 µg/m3 for NO2), despite the generally lower NO2 levels experienced in the
monitoring period. The annual mean NO2 concentration for OBC-110 was calculated
at 43.6 µg/m3 while the annual mean NO2 concentration for OBC-123 was
calculated at 42.4 µg/m3 respectively.
Park Street, AQMA Action Plan Update

4.5

As part of the Local Air Quality Management statutory duties, from the date of
raising the AQMA Order (in this instance 1st January 2019) SRS and BCBC had 18
months in which to prepare a DRAFT Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to improve air
quality in the area, and once agreed, this plan was to be formally adopted before
two years had elapsed.

4.6

While SRS and BCBC have made good headway in developing this AQAP in
accordance with Welsh Government’s Policy Guidance, inevitably the impacts and
associated difficulties of the COVID-19 pandemic have meant that the timeline has
had to be extended in consultation with Welsh Government, as detailed in 4.15
below.

4.7

In order to develop ideas and ensure an effective AQAP which considers all
aspects, and prioritising public health, an AQAP Work Steering Group was
established, comprising specialists from the various departments of Bridgend
County Borough Council, as well as from partner agencies. Collating the ideas and
suggestions generated by the AQAP Work Steering Group, a list of proposed
mitigation measures has previously been created.

Page 59

4.8

Following the indicative Cost Benefit Analysis on these proposals, detailed air
quality and transportation modelling was commissioned on those mitigation options
that would manage and improve traffic flows through the Park Street AQMA, and in
so doing, likely deliver air quality improvements in the shortest time possible, and
in line with the ambitions of Welsh Government and BCBC; reduce levels to as low
as reasonably practicable.

4.9

These options have now been modelled under the following Do Minimum and Do
Something scenarios:


Do Minimum - DM
o Introduction of a right turn holding lane at the Junction of Park Street
with Heol y Nant (measure 21);



4.10

4.11

Do Something - DS (inclusive of the above)
o Deny all access onto St Leonards Road (Measure 18);
o Optimise the Park Street/Angel Street/Tondu Road Junction (Measure
20).
Under the requirement of Condition 27 of Planning consent P/18/1006/FUL, of the
former Ysgol Bryn Castell site (Llangewydd Road, Cefn Glas) there was a
requirement to introduce a right turn holding lane at the Junction of Park Street with
Heol y Nant. This has been modelled as the Do Minimum (DM) scenario in the
modelling exercises, as this change has now been implemented. Modelling of the
right turning lane demonstrated congestion reduction on Park Street from vehicles
turning right onto Heol-y-nant.
In order to fully assess the impacts on air quality, the dispersion model has
identified 35 receptor points (R1 – R35) along Park Street and surrounding streets
in addition to modelling concentrations at the existing monitoring locations on Park
Street (designated by the OBC- prefix). These locations allow an assessment of
relevant exposure across a wider area to assess the impact of the interventions.
The results of analysis are summarised in Table 1 and the locations of the
modelling points are shown in Figure 3

Page 60

Figure 3 - Air Quality Modelling Locations

4.12

As detailed in Table 1 below, the implementation of the right turn holding lane at the
Junction of Park Street with Heol y Nant provides an improvement in NO2
concentrations along Park Street, when compared to the Base year of 2019.
However a number of the modelled receptor locations demonstrate continued
exceedances of the air quality objective for NO2.

4.13

The results indicate that under the Do Something (DS) scenario,
NO2
concentrations at the majority of modelled receptor locations would achieve
compliance with the annual average air quality objective for NO2 of 40 µg/m3 by the
end of 2023, if implemented in 2022. This includes all currently monitored locations
within the AQMA. Only two of the modelled locations indicate marginal exceedance
of the air quality object namely locations R27 and R28 where the NO2 results are
currently forecasted to be 41.5 µg/m3 and 41.7 µg/m3 respectively.

Page 61

Table 1 - Air Quality Results NO2 µg/m3 Park Street AQMA
Modelling Location
Reference

Base 2019

DM 2023

DS 2023

R1

41.6

32.7

31.4

R2

42.0

33.1

31.7

R3

41.1

32.3

31.0

R4

39.9

31.3

30.0

R5

41.5

32.6

31.1

R6

39.0

30.6

29.2

R7

37.0

29.1

27.7

R8

36.2

28.4

27.0

R9

36.2

28.4

27.0

R10

36.2

28.4

27.0

R11

36.3

28.3

27.0

R12

35.2

27.4

26.3

R13

22.1

17.5

16.9

R14

21.6

17.2

16.6

R15

20.3

16.2

15.7

R16

21.4

17.0

16.5

R17

27.5

21.8

20.9

R18

27.5

21.8

20.7

R19

27.1

21.5

20.3

R20

26.9

21.4

20.1

R21

25.4

20.1

18.6

R22

24.1

19.1

17.6

R23

21.8

17.3

16.0

R24

21.5

17.0

15.8

R25

20.0

15.9

14.8

R26

56.8

44.6

39.2

R27

60.2

47.2

41.5

Page 62

Modelling Location
Reference

Base 2019

DM 2023

DS 2023

R28

60.5

47.5

41.7

R29

57.4

44.8

39.1

R30

49.0

38.2

33.4

R31

17.6

14.1

13.3

R32

37.8

29.5

28.1

R33

19.6

15.6

15.1

R34

27.1

21.5

20.7

R35

22.0

14.9

14.8

OBC-103

35.3

27.7

26.4

OBC-123

56.4

44.2

38.8

OBC-124

19.9

13.4

13.3

OBC-110

50.7

39.5

34.6

OBC-122

16.9

12.9

10.9

OBC-107

35.3

29.3

29.1

OBC-108

29.5

23.7

24.8

OBC-104

39.8

31.3

30.0

OBC-109

23.2

18.4

17.7

OBC-102

29.3

23.5

23.1

4.14

Given that the Do Something scenario is forecasted to provide a significant
improvement in terms of NO2 concentrations, the draft AQAP will need to be
amended to reflect the final validated outcomes of the modelling. The draft AQAP
can then be subject to public consultation after the May 2022 local government
elections.

4.15

Following completion of the public consultation BCBC/SRS will review the results of
the consultation to enable the finalisation of the AQAP with a view that a final AQAP
is reported to Cabinet for approval in advance of the revised submission deadline to
Welsh Government of 30th September 2022. The final AQAP will provide a full
implementation timeline of the preferred measures.

Page 63

Welsh Government Update
4.16

The unprecedented circumstances of the COVID 19 pandemic have impacted on
local air quality monitoring and the development of the action plan for the Park
Street AQMA, both in terms of its scheduling and delivery. Welsh Government has
been kept up to date with the position and inevitable delays in delivering the action
plan. Welsh Government recognise the need to allow for a further extension period
to facilitate the necessary consultation on AQAP, and it has been agreed that the
revised deadline of 30th September 2022 represents a realistic time frame.

5 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules
5.1

The Report does not have any impacts on policy framework and procedure rules.

6 Equality Impact Assessment
6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty
and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not
necessary to carry out an EIA in the production of this report. It is considered that
there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this
report.

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications
7.1

SRS & BCBC adopt the principles of The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales)
Act 2015 (WFGA). The act is a significant enabler to improve air quality as it calls
for sustainable cross-sector action based on the principles of long-term, preventionfocused integration, collaboration and involvement. It intends to improve economic,
social, environmental and cultural well-being in Wales to ensure the needs of the
present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs.

7.2

The subsequent production of an Action Plan, will ensure that future decision
making in terms of air quality complies with the WFGA, and the Council meets the
five ways of working, as detailed below:






Long term – the action plan will balance short-term needs of improving air
quality, and will also look at measures to safeguard the ability of meeting
long-term needs.
Prevention – by implementing measures which will be set out in the action
plan, the Council should ensure improvements in air quality and will be able
to prevent air quality deteriorating in the future.
Integration – SRS will look to ensure that the work undertaken as part of the
Action Plan integrates with public body’s environmental well-being
objectives.

Page 64





Collaboration –the action plan will be developed in collaboration with many
departments within the Council and other external organisations, i.e., Public
Health Wales.
Involvement – the action plan will be subject to public consultation, and will
ensure that those who have a strong interest in improving air quality will be
fully involved and their ideas considered.

8 Financial implications
8.1

SRS has an existing budget to complete a programme of air quality monitoring
across Bridgend.

8.2

Transport and air quality monitoring within the Park Street AQMA have been
progressing within the identified budget for this work. Should any further detailed
assessments be required, then this would necessitate discussion with the Section
151 Officer as to how that additional work could be funded.

8.3

Given that measures 18 and 20 are key to achieving air quality compliance within
the Park Street AQMA, it may be necessary for full business case assessments to
be undertaken. This would ensure appropriate funding is secured to deliver these
measures in accordance with the indicative timeframes that will be set out in the
Final AQAP following completion of the consultation process.

9.

Recommendations

9.1.

To note the progress made in assessing key transportation interventions namely
Measures 18 and 20 in the draft Air Quality Action Plan for Park Street; and

9.2.

To note that public consultation on the Draft AQAP will need to take place after the
2022 local government elections.

9.3.

To note that following completion of the public consultation, a final AQAP will be
presented to Cabinet for approval prior to being submitted to Welsh Government by
the 30th of September 2022.

Kelly Watson
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services & Monitoring Officer
8th March 2022
Contact officer:

Jason Bale
Operational Manager– Enterprise and Specialist Services
(Shared Regulatory Services)

Telephone:

01446 709360

Email:

jabale@valeofglamorgan.gov.uk

Page 65

Postal address:

Civic Offices
Holton Road
Barry
CF63 4RU

Telephone:

01446 709360

Background documents: None

Page 66

Agenda Item 6
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
FRAUD STRATEGY AND FRAMEWORK 2022/23 to 2024/25
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet for approval the Fraud Strategy
and Framework 2022/23 to 2024/25 and to note the current Fraud Risk Register.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objective
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:•

Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, ecological,
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and
support the creation of resources throughout the community that can help to deliver
the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The Council previously had a 3year Fraud Strategy and Framework covering the
period 2018/19 to 2020/21, which required reviewing and updating.

3.2

In July 2020 Audit Wales produced a report entitled ‘Raising Our Game – Tackling
Fraud in Wales’. The report identified seven key themes that all public bodies needed
to focus on in raising their game to tackle fraud more effectively and made 15
recommendations across the themes.

3.3

In November 2020 a position statement against the National Study was completed
and taken to the Governance and Audit Committee. One of the recommendations
was that all public bodies should undertake comprehensive fraud risk assessments.

3.4

A draft Fraud Strategy and Framework 2022/23 to 2024/25 and a draft Fraud Risk
Register were presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 22 April 2021
for consideration, prior to submission to Cabinet for approval.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The Strategy and Risk Register have been updated following consideration by the
Governance and Audit Committee. The Fraud Strategy and Framework 2022/23 to
2024/25 (attached as Appendix A) outlines the aims and objectives of the Strategy,
identifies fraud risks and includes the measures we will take as an organisation to
further improve the Council’s resilience to fraud, bribery and corruption. Finally, it

Page 67

includes measures of success and a flow chart to demonstrate the Council’s
approach to a suspected fraud. Updates on fraud are reported to the Governance
and Audit Committee on an annual basis via the Annual Corporate Fraud Report or
ad hoc as necessary.
4.2

The Fraud Risk Register (attached as Appendix B) lists 20 potential fraud risks that
have been identified throughout the Council. The Register outlines the consequences
of each risk and how each risk is being addressed with key actions being identified.
The Fraud Risk Register will be monitored by the Corporate Management Board on
a quarterly basis and any significant risks identified will be escalated to the Corporate
Risk Register and reported to the Governance and Audit Committee where
necessary.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic
Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

The financial implications are reflected within the report and appendices as any fraud
impacts on the resources available to the Council.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

Cabinet is recommended to approve the Fraud Strategy and Framework 2022/23 to
2024/25 and note the latest Fraud Risk Register.

Carys Lord
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
March 2022

Contact officers:

Page 68

Joan Davies – Deputy Head of Regional Internal Audit Service
Simon Roberts – Senior Fraud Investigator

Telephone:

(01446) 709794
(01656) 643376

Email:

Joan.davies@bridgend.gov.uk
Simon.roberts@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Bridgend County Borough Council
Raven’s Court
Brewery Field
Bridgend
CF31 4AP

Background documents: None

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Fraud Strategy and Framework
2022/23 – 2024/25

1

Page 71

Appendix A

Contents

Page

1. Introduction

3

2. Roles & Responsibilities

6

3. Definitions

8

4. Aims & Objectives

9

5. Fraud Risks

10

6. Current Fraud Landscape & Risks

12

7. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery & Corruption

16

8. Ongoing Measures to Reduce Fraud

17

9. Measures of Success

18

10. Reporting & Review

19

Appendix 1 – Fraud Response Plan Flowchart

20

2

Page 72

Appendix A

1. Introduction
Bridgend County Borough Council has a zero-tolerance culture to fraud, bribery, and
corruption.
“In carrying out its functions and responsibilities, the Council encourages a culture of
openness and fairness and expects Elected Members and employees at all levels to
adopt the highest standards of propriety and accountability. The Council seeks to
demonstrate clearly that it is firmly committed to dealing with fraud, corruption and bribery
and will deal equally with perpetrators from inside (Members and employees) and outside
the Council. In addition, there will be no distinction made in investigation and action
between cases that generate financial benefit and those that do not.”
“The Council’s culture is one of honesty and zero tolerance to fraud and corruption. The
prevention or detection of fraud and corruption and the protection of public money are
everyone’s responsibility. There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals,
businesses and organisations dealing in any way with the Council will act with high
standards or probity, openness and integrity and that Council employees or its agent(s)
will lead by example in these matters.
(Bridgend County Borough Council – Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy).
The Council takes its responsibilities for the stewardship of public finances very seriously
and is committed to the highest standards of transparency and accountability in order to
ensure appropriate use of public funds and assets. It has a duty to prevent fraud and
corruption, whether it is attempted by someone within or outside of the Council such as
another organisation, a resident, an employee, contractor or Councillor. The Council is
committed to creating and maintaining an effective anti-fraud and corruption culture, by
promoting high ethical standards and encouraging the prevention and detection of
fraudulent activities.
The Council maintains a suite of strategies and policies to support the effective
management of the prevention, detection, investigation of fraud, corruption, and bribery
(Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy, Anti-Money Laundering Policy and
Anti-Tax Evasion Policy). This document provides an extension to the Council’s existing
policies affording a framework of reactive and proactive initiatives to detect fraud and / or
demonstrate assurance that fraud has not taken place.
In all its dealings, the Council will adhere to the seven principles of public life set out in
the Nolan Committee report on Standards in Public Life.
Selflessness

Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest. They
should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their
families or their friends.
Integrity

Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other
obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might influence them in the
performance of their official duties.

3

Page 73

Appendix A
Objectivity

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public office
should make choices on merit.
Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and
must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.
Openness

Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions
that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only
when the wider public interest clearly demands. Openness requires an inclusive
approach, an outward focus and a commitment to partnership
Honesty

Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their public
duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public
interest.
Leadership

Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by leadership and
example.
The Council will not tolerate fraud or corruption by its Councillors, employees, suppliers,
contractors, customers or any other attacks on its resources by criminals. We will take all
necessary steps to investigate all allegations of fraud or corruption and pursue sanctions
available in each case, including removal from office, dismissal, prosecution and robust
recovery of losses through both civil and criminal means.
To fulfil the Council’s Fraud Strategy and Framework Action Plan 2022 - 2025 the
authority must ensure that fraud, bribery, corruption, and misappropriation is minimised.
Every pound lost to fraud and corruption is a reduction in resources and negatively
influences the authorities’ ability to deliver its objectives.

4

Page 74

Appendix A

Our strategy is based upon five key principles: Govern, Acknowledge, Prevent, Pursue
and Protect.

Accompanying the five principles are six overarching themes to assist the organisation
ensure that our counter fraud response is comprehensive and effective. These are often
referred to as the six Cs.
• Culture
Create a culture in which beating fraud and corruption is part of normal business
• Capability
Ensuring that the range of counter fraud measures deployed is appropriate to the fraud
risks
• Capacity
Deploying the right level of resources to deal with the level of fraud risk
• Competence
Having the right skills and standards in place
• Communication
Raising awareness, deterring fraudsters sharing information and celebrating success
• Collaboration
Working together across internal and external boundaries with colleagues and other
agencies, sharing resources, information skills and learning
5

Page 75

Appendix A

2.

Roles & Responsibilities

The Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy deals with fraud, corruption and bribery internally and
externally, it applies to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Employees
Councillors
Contractors
Consultants
Suppliers
Service Users

Key roles and responsibilities are as follows:
Stakeholder
Responsibilities
Chief Executive

Specific
Responsibilities
Ultimately accountable for the effectiveness
of the Council’s arrangements for countering
fraud corruption and bribery.

Chief Officer Finance (Section 151
Officer)

To ensure the Council has adopted an
appropriate fraud strategy and framework,
there is an effective internal control
environment in place and there is an
adequately
resourced
and
effective
Counter-Fraud Team.

Chief Officer Legal Services
(Monitoring Officer)

To advise Councillors and Officers on
ethical issues, standards and powers to
ensure that the Council operates within the
law and statutory Codes of Practice.

The Governance and Audit
Committee

To monitor on a regular basis the Council’s
approach to tackling fraud and corruption
and promote an anti-fraud culture.

Councillors

To comply with the Code of Conduct and
related Council policies and procedures, to
be aware of the possibility of fraud,
corruption and bribery and to report any
genuine concerns accordingly.

Internal Audit

Internal Audit are responsible for evaluating
the potential for the occurrence of fraud and
how the organisation manages fraud risk.

Investigation Officer

Responsible for the co-ordination of the
authorities’ fraud strategy and framework,
including the measures in place to
6

Page 76

Appendix A

acknowledge, prevent and pursue fraud
and corruption activity. This also includes
the key co-ordination role in the National
Fraud Initiative (NFI), which is a fraud
prevention and detection exercise based
around bulk data matching that is led by
the Cabinet Office, every two years.
Chief Executive, Chief Officers and
Group Managers

Manage the risk of fraud, corruption and
bribery. To promote staff awareness and
ensure that all suspected or reported
irregularities are immediately referred to the
Investigation Officer or Internal Audit. To
ensure that there are mechanisms in place
within their service areas to assess the risk
of fraud, corruption and bribery and to
reduce these risks by implementing strong
internal controls. It is vital that this group
show leadership in supporting investigations
into fraud and corruption and that they are
responsive to implementing actions arising
from this work. Their role in the NFI exercise
is to provide data for matching and to
analyse the outputs from the matching
exercise and take appropriate action.

Employees

Our employees are the first line of defence
against fraud, corruption and bribery. They
are expected to conduct themselves in ways
which are beyond reproach, above
suspicion and fully accountable. Also
responsible for reporting malpractice
through the established ‘Whistle Blowing’
procedures. Employees are expected to
adhere to the Employee Code of Conduct
Protocol and Financial Regulations and
Contract Procedure Rules.

7

Page 77

Appendix A

3. Definitions
What is Fraud?
The Fraud Act 2006 details the legal definitions of fraud and is used for the criminal
prosecution of fraud offences. The Council also deals with fraud in non-criminal
disciplinary matters.
For the purposes of this document, fraud is defined as, ‘the intentional distortion of
financial statements, or other records by a person or persons internal or external to the
authority, which is carried out to conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for
gain’.
This includes deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, corruption, theft, conspiracy,
embezzlement, misappropriation, false representation, concealment of material facts and
collusion.
The definition covers various offences including deception, forgery, theft,
misappropriation, collusion and misrepresentation. However, use in this context is not
intended to limit the full use of the Fraud Act 2006 in the investigation and prosecution by
the Council of any offences.
What is Corruption?
Corruption is the offering or acceptance of inducements designed to influence official
action or decision making. These inducements can take many forms including cash,
holidays, event tickets or meals.
Bribery Act 2010
The Bribery Act 2010 received Royal Assent on 8th April 2010 and reforms the criminal
law to provide a new, modern and comprehensive scheme of bribery offences that will
enable courts and prosecutors to respond more effectively to bribery at home or abroad.
Bribery - ‘the offering, promising, giving, soliciting, agreement to accept or acceptance of
a financial or other advantage which may induce or reward a person to perform improperly
a relevant function under ‘The Bribery Act 2010.’
Bribery Act Offences
The Act creates the following offences relevant to the Council:
•
•
•

Offences of bribing another person,
Offences relating to being bribed; and
Offences relating to the bribery of foreign public officials.

Furthermore, if the offence is proved to have been committed with the consent or
connivance of a senior officer of the organisation, then the senior officer may be
personally liable.

8

Page 78

Appendix A

Further guidance is available from the Ministry of Justice to explain to organisations what
action is required to ensure they are compliant.
What is Theft?
Theft is stealing any property belonging to the Council or which has been entrusted to it
(i.e., client funds), including cash, equipment, vehicles and data.
Theft does not necessarily require fraud to be committed. Theft can also include the
stealing of property belonging to our staff or members whilst on Council property.
What is Money Laundering?
Money laundering is the process by which criminals attempt to 'recycle' the proceeds of
their criminal activities in order to conceal its origins and ownership and which leaves
them with money that cannot be traced back. All employees are instructed to be aware of
the increasing possibility of receiving requests that could be used for money laundering
and illicit requests for money through e-mails. Detailed guidance is set out in the Council’s
Anti-Money Laundering Policy.
Any service that receives money from an external person or body is potentially vulnerable
to a money laundering operation. The need for vigilance is vital and if there is any
suspicion concerning the appropriateness of the transaction then the Council’s AntiMoney Laundering Policy should be followed. The Council’s Money Laundering Reporting
Officer (MLRO) is the Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer.

4. Aims and Objectives
The aims and objectives of the Fraud Strategy and Framework are to: A. Protect the Council’s valuable resources by ensuring they are not lost through fraud
and corruption but are used for improving the delivery of services to Bridgend County
Borough residents through the successful implementation of the ongoing measures to
reduce fraud.
B. Gain a better understanding of local fraud and corruption risks influencing the Council’s
ability to deliver its objectives.
C. Create an ‘anti-fraud’ culture that highlights the Council’s zero tolerance of fraud,
corruption and bribery, which defines roles and responsibilities and actively engages the
public, Councillors and employees, by raising awareness of fraud both internally and
externally.
D. Actively seek to increase the Council’s resilience to fraud and corruption through the
raising of fraud awareness.
E. Provide a best practice counter-fraud service which:
•

Proactively deters, prevents and detects fraud, corruption and bribery.
9

Page 79

Appendix A

•

Investigates suspected or detected fraud, corruption and bribery.

•

Enables the Council to apply appropriate sanctions and recover losses.

•

Provides management reports and recommendations to inform policy, systems,
and control improvements, thereby reducing the Council’s exposure to fraudulent
activity.

F. Create an environment that enables the reporting of any genuine suspicions of
fraudulent activity. However, we will not tolerate malicious or vexatious allegations or
those motivated by personal gain and, if proven, we may take disciplinary or legal action;
and
G. Work with our partners and other investigative bodies in collaboration to strengthen
and continuously improve our arrangements to prevent fraud and corruption.
5. Fraud Risks
The Council seeks to fulfil its responsibility to reduce fraud and protect its resources by a
strategic approach consistent with that outlined in both CIPFA’s Code of Practice on
Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption and in the Local Government Fighting Fraud
& Corruption Strategy for the 2020’s, and its five key themes of Govern, Acknowledge,
Prevent, Pursue & Protect. Fraud risks are corporate risks faced by all of our services
and, as with other risks, they are the responsibility of the Directorates to manage and
mitigate.
The Investigating Officer and Internal Audit, however, provide advice, knowledge, and
support to the Directorates in the managements of these risks.
Committing Support

The Council’s commitment to tackling fraud threats is
clear. We have whistleblowing procedures and support
those who come forward to report suspected fraud. All
reports will be treated seriously and acted upon. Staff
awareness of fraud risks will be gained through e-learning,
face-to-face development sessions, Internal Audit and
Investigating Officer reports and general consultation and
advice provided.

Assessing Risks

We will continuously assess those areas most vulnerable
to the risk of fraud as part of our risk management
arrangements and annually meet with the Directorate
Management Teams to discuss fraud, bribery, corruption
and internal control risks and seek to assess in terms of
likelihood and impact. These risk assessments along with
known fraud risks identified by investigation work and
national reports and fraud patterns will inform our annual
programme of works for both Internal Audit and the
Investigating Officer.
We will strengthen measures to prevent fraud. Internal
Audit and the Investigation Officer will work with

Robust Response

10

Page 80

Appendix A

management and our internal partners such as Human
Resources, Finance and Legal to ensure new and existing
systems and policy initiatives are adequately fraud
proofed.
Better use of
Information Technology

We will explore the use of data and analytical software to
prevent and detect fraudulent activity. We will always look
for opportunities to share data and fraud intelligence to
increase our capability to uncover potential and actual fraud
as we have done in becoming members of the Welsh Fraud
Officers Group. We will continue to play an active part in
the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data matching exercise.
Whilst the Investigation Officer plays a co-ordination and
support role in this exercise, management are responsible
for processing the actual matches. The Investigating Officer
will ensure there is a robust follow up process to ensure
that high risk matches are pursued where appropriate.

Enhancing fraud
controls and processes

We will educate managers with regard to their
responsibilities for operating effective internal controls
within their service areas. We will promote strong
management and good governance that provides scrutiny
and independent challenge to risks and management
controls. Internal Audit reviews will seek to highlight
vulnerabilities in the control environment and make
recommendations for improvement. The Investigation
Officer’s investigations and reports will also provide
management with actions to improve controls to reduce
fraud risks.

Anti-fraud culture

We will promote and develop a strong counter fraud culture,
raise awareness, provide a fraud e-learning module, and
provide information and guidance on all aspects of our
counter fraud work.

Fraud Recovery

A crucial element of our response to tackling fraud is
recovering any monies lost through fraud. This is an
important part of our strategy and will be rigorously
pursued, where possible.

Punishing
Fraudsters

We will apply realistic and effective sanctions for individuals
or organisations where an investigation reveals fraudulent
activity. This may include legal action, criminal and/or
disciplinary action. We will also seek to publicise successes
to act as a deterrent to those seeking to commit fraud.

Enforcement

We will investigate instances of suspected fraud detected
through the planned proactive work and cases of suspected
fraud referred from internal or external stakeholders or
received via the whistleblowing procedures. These will be
11

Page 81

Appendix A

prioritised on a fraud risk basis. We will work with
internal/external partners/organisations, including law
enforcement agencies where common ground exists or
where intelligence can be lawfully shared.

6. Current Fraud Landscape & Risks
The fraud landscape is ever changing and requires constant review. Covid 19 and the
associated grant schemes has provided a further challenge in this area. The Council
keeps abreast of these changes in a number of ways.
•

Membership of the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), which provides the
Council with a legal gateway to a wide range of information providers, best practice
and legislation updates. It also enables the sharing of fraud intelligence and
bulletins of local and national interest which potentially affect the organisation.

•

Membership of the Welsh Fraud Officers Group which meets regularly to discuss
current fraud work and associated risks, trends and emerging fraud risks
developing across Wales.

•

Membership of the Welsh Chief Auditors Group, whose aim is to ensure that the
people of Wales know whether public money is being managed wisely and that
public bodies in Wales understand how to improve outcomes.

•

Membership of The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA) and a contributor to the Counter Fraud and Corruption Tracker (CFaCT)
survey.

•

Attendance at relevant counter fraud conferences.

•

Contributing and reviewing of National Fraud Reports such as Protecting the Public
Purse (PPP) and the Annual Fraud Indicator Report.

•

Contributors to the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise led by the Cabinet Office
and co-ordinators of the output reports analysis from the exercise.

•

Constant review of incoming fraud referrals informing patterns and/or concerns
affecting the fraud risk in specific areas.

•

Fraud investigation and Internal Audit outcome reports to management highlighting
fraud risk control weaknesses with recommendations to strengthen.

•

Liaison with the Directorates and their Department Management Teams on an
annual basis to discuss fraud risks and periodically when required.

The Council can be exposed to fraud, corruption and bribery through a variety of internal
and external sources. These include:
Fraud Risk Area

Overview
12

Page 82

Appendix A

1

Housing
Benefit
& A claimant makes a claim based on information known
Council Tax Reduction
to be inaccurate or fails to inform the council about a
change in circumstances that would reduce the award

2

Council
Tax
Single
Person Discount (SPD) /
Other
Council
Tax
Discounts

A claimant claims a discount when more than one
person actually lives in the household, falsely claims
to be a student or claims a property is empty and
unfurnished.

3

Cyber Fraud

The use of technology specifically is used to take
advantage of system weaknesses for gain. This could
include ransomware/malware attacks, hacking or use
of council systems to test stolen account details
(“checker fraud”). Staff/clients could fall victim to
scams and frauds, including executive impersonation,
advanced fee and funds transfer. It could also include
“cyber-enabled” frauds (i.e., use of the internet to
commit fraud). Remote working can increase risk
leaving users more vulnerable to fraudulent attacks.
This is due to reduced checks.

4

Direct Payments

A recipient falsely claims Direct Payments, e.g., by
misrepresenting their care needs or failing to disclose
receipt of other benefits. There is also a risk of abuse
of position by personal assistants, carers or parents,
leading to monies not being spent for the recipients
benefit. There is an additional risk that a family
member misuses the direct payments meant for the
person they are caring for and becomes dependant on
the income.

5

Procurement Fraud

There are activities including price-fixing, bid rigging
and cover pricing, to maximise profit margins or share
out contracts. In addition, this risk also overlaps with
bribery and corruption internal risks. There is a risk
that claims are made to defraud the council by
claiming payment for goods/services not provided;
delivering goods/services of substandard quality;
overpricing or duplicate invoicing

6

National Non-Domestic
Rates (NNDR)

A business makes a claim for rate relief based on false
information, e.g., stating that a property is no longer in
use; not declaring the location of a business or falsely
claiming relief, e.g., by claiming to be occupied by a
charity; intermittent occupation or the use of “phoenix
companies” to avoid liability (although not technically
illegal)

7

Internal
Fraud
by Officers or Members may abuse their position for
Officers and Members
private gain or misuse council assets for personal
13

Page 83

Appendix A

gain, including computer hardware and software,
plant, machinery and equipment and intellectual
property. Theft of cash or portable items belonging to
the Council, employees or Members. Receipt of
financial or other rewards as an inducement to perform
their duties improperly or seek to influence a decisionmaker. Also, a risk of failing to declare an interest in a
company or organisation.
8

Client Finances

The management of client’s finances, where clients
lack capacity, are fraudulently managed. This covers
appointeeship, court of protection and any other
management of client’s finances

9

Election Fraud

There is voter registration fraud; impersonation (at
polling stations); postal vote fraud, phishing and
hacking, denial of service and ransomware
(particularly at the time of an election).

10 Cash Handling

Theft or false accounting occurs with officers
responsible for handling cash, either as income or
expenditure (e.g., petty cash). This could include
accounting for cash (and other income) security and
banking.

11 Organised Crime/
Money Laundering

Council systems are used to launder money or there
is abuse of council systems and they are used by
organised crime gangs, e.g., sham marriages. Also,
there is a risk that properties are used within the town
as fronts for illegal activity (illicit tobacco/alcohol,
money laundering).

12 Schools

Although the majority of schools’ frauds are covered
elsewhere (e.g., payroll, staffing, cash handling,
procurement), nationally schools are the largest
source of internal referrals. The delegated nature of
their budgets also requires a specific counter fraud
response. Currently a £105m budget covers 59
different schools with each pound spent decided by
the school themselves.

13 Insurance Fraud

Bogus claims are made with serial claimants across
authorities. Also organised “crash for cash” or “slip and
trip” frauds and any insurance claim that is proved to
be false, made against the organisation or the
organisations insurers.

14 Blue Badges

Abuse of the scheme occurs, including an individual
using a badge holders badge when the badge holder
is not part of the journey or continues to use it or
14

Page 84

Appendix A

applies for a new badge after the badge holder’s
death. Also, the use of counterfeited badges or
applications for a blue badge using inaccurate
information or failing to report a change.
15 Payment to suppliers There is misuse of procurement cards, creation of
(including payment by bogus suppliers / invoices. Offences include fraud by
Purchasing Cards)
abuse of position, false accounting and corruption.
16 Employment / Payroll

There are submissions of claims for duties not carried
out, inflation of expenses claims, claiming sick pay
when fit to work and failing to work contracted hours.
Also, the creation of ghost employees and generating
payments and false overtime claims. Offences include
fraud by false representation, failure to disclose
information and false accounting.

17 Grants

Grant payments are obtained from the Council under
false pretences or that grants are claimed from
different sources for the same purpose or that the
recipient fails to deliver outputs stated in the grant
conditions. In addition, there is a risk of bogus
companies or individuals making a claim perpetrating
to be someone else. This also overlaps with the
internal risk of corruption. There is additional risk
where there is a requirement to process and pay
grants at speed where sufficient checks may not be
completed.

18 Licensing

There is an abuse of a license (e.g., assigning to
someone else) or claiming benefits/council tax
reduction while working or having no right to work in
this country. There are also links to organised crime.
There is also a risk of a fraudulent application for a taxi
license where an applicant does not declare a relevant
fact or fails to declare a change posing a potential risk
to the public.

19 Recruitment

Applicants submit bogus qualifications or references
or have no right to work or fail to disclose income for
benefit purposes. There is also a risk of offences
which could include fraud by false representation or
failure to disclose information.

20 False Applications

There is a risk that the council is supplied with false
documentation in support of applications /
registrations in respect of services provided e.g.,
declaration of intention to marry from persons subject
to immigration control, applications for housing and
planning applications
15

Page 85

Appendix A

These areas can be regularly subject to attack by individuals / groups intent on committing
fraud, which, if successful, means that there is less money and resources available for
those in genuine need.
7. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery & Corruption
Whilst all stakeholders have a part to play in reducing the risk of fraud, Elected Members
and Senior Management are ideally positioned to influence the ethical tone of the
organisation and play a crucial role in fostering a culture of high ethical standards and
integrity.
As with any risk faced by the Council, it is the responsibility of managers to ensure that
fraud risk is adequately considered within their individual service areas and in support of
achieving strategic priorities, business plans, project and programme objectives and
outcomes. In making this assessment, it is important to consider the risk of fraud
occurring (i.e., proactive) rather than the actual incidence of fraud that has occurred in
the past (reactive).
Once the fraud risk has been evaluated, appropriate action will be taken by management
to mitigate those risks on an on-going basis, for example through introducing and
operating effective systems of internal control (first line of defence).
Adequate supervision, recruitment and selection, scrutiny and healthy scepticism will not
be seen as distrust, but simply as good management practice, shaping attitudes and
creating an environment opposed to fraudulent activity.
Good corporate governance procedures are a strong safeguard against fraud, corruption
and bribery.
The Council’s Governance and Audit Committee plays a key role in scrutinising the
Council’s approach to fraud, its system of controls and risk management; and its wider
resiliency to financial irregularity in general (second line of defence).
The Council undertakes a risk-based programme of works targeting areas of high risk to
fraud and corruption. This is based on consultation with the Directorates, known local
fraud outcomes from investigation work, evidence from national reports such as
Protecting the Public Purse 2015 and outcomes from data-matching such as the National
Fraud Initiative, this programme of works is approved by the Governance and Audit
Committee.
Internal Audit also undertakes a risk-based assurance programme of work each year
developed with input from management and agreed by the Governance and Audit
Committee. This assurance work involves an independent review of systems and
procedures, including a review of the management of risk (of both fraud and other types
of risk) whereby system weaknesses are brought to the attention of management along
with recommendations to strengthen controls within procedures (third line of defence).

16

Page 86

Appendix A

8. Ongoing Measures to Reduce Fraud
This Fraud Strategy and Framework sets out the measures the Council proposes to take
over the medium-term future to further improve its resilience to fraud, bribery and
corruption. These measures are detailed below:
Action

1

Development of a fraud risk register, which will be reviewed quarterly by the
Corporate Management Board. Any significant risks identified will be escalated
to the Corporate Risk Register and reported to the Governance and Audit
Committee

2

Ensuring that there is a comprehensive and up-to-date set of policies and
procedures which together represent a cohesive strategy for identifying,
managing, and responding to fraud risks.

3

To be an active participant in the bi-annual National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
exercise and to robustly investigate suspected cases of fraud identified through
NFI. The Investigation Officer is responsible for the co-ordination of the exercise
including ensuring that the data sets comply with specification and are securely
uploaded to the Cabinet Office. Management is responsible for the review of
matches that are returned and for referring suspicions of fraud and corruption
to the Investigation Officer.

4

Raising awareness of fraud, bribery, and corruption by developing an effective
online fraud awareness training programme for Members and Officers and
providing ongoing training.

5

Producing an end of year report to those charged with governance covering all
reactive and proactive fraud initiatives.

6

With the number of new grant funding opportunities that have been introduced
by Welsh Government during the Covid 19 pandemic, which Local Authorities
have been required to administer, there has been a consequent increase in
attempts by fraudsters to obtain public funds via false applications. Also, there
is a developing trend for individuals to make multiple applications across
different authorities. Data analytics and data matching will be used to match
electronic data to unable us to detect and prevent fraud in these areas.

7

Maximising the use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic
data to detect and prevent fraud.

8

Developing a newsletter that promotes awareness of fraud and provides alerts
and information to staff and members across the Council at regular intervals
throughout the duration of the action plan.

9

Conducting a “Fraud Health Check” across school establishments to attain
assurance over the controls and governance in place to mitigate the potential
for fraud.

17

Page 87

Appendix A

10

Actively maintaining the authority’s membership of the Welsh Fraud Officers
Group, The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA),
and all other enforcement partners including the Police and HMRC. Also, being
open to new and innovative anti-fraud projects.

11

Producing fraud investigation outcome reports for management which highlight
the action taken to investigate the fraud risks and the outcome of the
investigations e.g., sanction and recommendations to minimise future risk of
fraud.

12

Exploring with Human Resources the possibility of including management
responsibility for managing fraud and corruption risks within all managerial role
profiles.

13

Enabling a clear and concise point of reference for necessary information on
fraud and irregularity maximising the potential of digital to enhance the user
experience. Maintaining the fraud internet/intranet pages to ensure they are
kept up to date.

9. Measures of Success
The successful implementation of this strategy will be measured by the following:
•

Successful implementation of the actions contained within the strategy.

•

Increased awareness of fraud, corruption and bribery risks by members, managers
and employees.

•

Evidence that fraud risks are being actively managed across the authority.

•

Increased fraud risk resilience across the authority to protect the Council’s assets
and resources.

•

An anti-fraud, bribery, and corruption culture where employees feel able to identify
and report concerns relating to potential fraud, corruption, and bribery.

18

Page 88

Appendix A

10. Reporting and Review
The Council’s approach to suspected fraud can be demonstrated in its Fraud Response
Plan/Flowchart - see Appendix 1.
The Council recognises that the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of
fraud rests with management. If anyone believes that someone is committing a fraud or
suspects corrupt practices, these concerns should be raised in the first instance directly
with line management then the Investigation Officer or Internal Audit.
Where managers are made aware of suspected fraud by employees, they have
responsibilities for passing on those concerns to the Investigation Officer, Internal Audit
and Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer).
In the event of a whistleblowing allegation the Monitoring Officer should also be updated.
Managers should react urgently to suspicion of potential internal fraud, bribery or
corruption.
Head teachers of LA-maintained schools should also notify their Chair of Governors.
Notifications must be treated with the utmost confidentiality. Any person that is implicated
in the alleged offence should not be included in the notification procedure.
The Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer), the Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring
Officer) and the Head of Regional Internal Audit Service have responsibility for ensuring
the authority has a robust anti-fraud, bribery, and corruption response.
Fraud updates and results are reported to the Governance and Audit Committee on an
annual basis via the Annual Corporate Fraud Report or ad hoc as necessary. The Fraud
Risk Register will be monitored by the Corporate Management Board on a quarterly basis
and any significant risks identified will be escalated to the Corporate Risk Register and
reported to the Governance and Audit Committee where necessary. This will ensure that
this fraud strategy remains compliant with good practice national public sector standards,
primarily CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption and the Local Government Fighting Fraud & Corruption Strategy for the 2020’s
and that it continues to meet the needs of Bridgend County Borough Council.

19

Page 89

Appendix A

Appendix 1. Fraud Response Plan/Flowchart

Fraud identified, suspicion or
allegation reported and forwarded to
Section 151 Officer and
Investigation Officer or Internal
Audit

Conduct risk assessment of fraud or
allegation and gather evidence

Sufficient evidence to investigate
further?

No

Log outcome and
feedback where
appropriate

Investigation Plan

Meet with
management and
link in with HR to
follow usual process

Yes

Internal Fraud

External
Fraud

Investigation

Serious & Organised
Fraud

Investigation
outcome report

Police Investigation

Fraud Proven

Follow up
recommendations

No

Follow up
recommendations

Sanction/
Prosecution

Consider all options

Recover losses

Publicise Outcome

20

Page 90

Investigate

Management/
HR Report

Update Section 151
Officer

Management Report

Yes

Appendix B

Bridgend County Borough Council Fraud Risk Register ( February 2022)
No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 91
1

Consequences of risk

A claimant makes a claim based on information known to be •Financial loss to the council
inaccurate or fails to inform the council about a change in
•Reputational damage to the council
circumstance that would reduce the award.
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and liaising with police and lawyers
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

External

Housing Benefit / Council Tax Reduction

A claimant claims a discount when more than one person
•Financial loss to the council
actually lives in the household, falsely claims to be a student •Reputational damage to the council
or claims a property is empty and unfurnished.
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and any litigation action that may follow
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

2

External

Council Tax Single Person Discount (SPD) /Other Council
Tax Discounts

The use of technology specifically is used to take advantage
of system weaknesses for gain. This could include
ransomware / malware attacks, hacking or use of council
systems to test stolen account details ("checker fraud"). Staff
/ clients could fall victim to scams and frauds, including:
executive impersonation, advanced fee and funds transfer. It
could also include "cyber-enabled" frauds (i.e. use of the
internet to commit fraud).Remote working can increase risk
leaving users more vulnerable to fraudulent attacks. This is
due to reduced checks.
3

External &
Internal

Cyber Fraud

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and any litigation action that may follow
•Adverse effect on council budget
•Potential loss of service affecting different areas across
the council
•Potential data protection/GDPR breaches

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

• Trained and qualified fraud investigator based within Benefits Department
•Established procedure for referring cases to fraud both internally and externally from members of the public
•Reviews conducted on active claims to identify any undeclared changes
•Joint working with Department for Work and Pensions Single Fraud Investigation Service business as usual
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Use of the media to publicise prosecutions to raise awareness that fraud will not be tolerated
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim of reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud. In addition
fraud awareness also forms part of the induction process for all new benefits staff
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
•Any system weaknesses identified during investigation are considered and remedied if necessary. Feedback is
also provided to the Benefits team so they can further 'fraud proof' the system

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative
•Targeted reviews on known areas of fraud e.g. capital and occupational pension
reviews
•Develop specific fraud awareness training for benefit staff, customer service staff
and those on the front line receiving benefit claims e.g. customer services staff
•Update main council website and internal staff intranet with clear information on
how to report suspected fraud and also other useful fraud information
•Develop fraud newsletter for circulation across the council to raise awareness of
the work conducted within the fraud team and also communicate fraud alerts
•Ensure all suspected cases of fraudulent activity are referred to the fraud
investigator by benefit staff

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Revenues team regularly conduct reviews of all single person discounts in effect on accounts to ensure claim is
still valid
•Use of 'end dates' on time limited discounts so discount is not allowed to continue
•Spot checks by visiting officer on properties claiming empty and unfurnished discounts
•Use of council tax visiting officer on any claims suspected to be false
•Review of student discounts at key points during academic year
•Council tax debt and recovery including attachment of earnings, attachment of benefits and enforcement agents
•Claim verification by Revenues Team
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data match on SPD claims on a yearly basis
•Various verification checks made via credit reference agencies and other external sources when new claims for
SPD are made
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales

•Utilise internal and external data matching products, especially matches provided
to us through NFI
•Ensure all suspected cases of fraudulent activity are referred to the fraud
investigator by council tax staff
•Increased recovery of any SPD and other discounts wrongly claimed
•Update main council website and internal staff intranet with clear information on
how to report suspected fraud and also other useful fraud information
•Develop fraud newsletter for circulation across the council to raise awareness of
the work conducted within the fraud team and also communicate fraud alerts
•Develop specific fraud awareness training for council tax staff

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•ICT software with relevant safeguards to prevent cyber attacks on the council
•ICT Code of Practice 'Six Simple Rules' to help prevent loss of data and security breaches
•Known threats communicated across the council to all users to raise awareness
•Procurement process for any new software used by ICT to mitigate risk. Segregation of duties in place when
paying suppliers
•Software patching regularly undertaken and regular audits on the network for exploits
•USB ports disabled for external storage devices to prevent loss of data
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Staff in areas of the council more susceptible to cyber attacks e.g. finance
payments, provided with targeted training on known attacks
•ICT team continue to provide and conduct regular, preferably continuous,
assessments of configuration and vulnerability risk across all council IT systems
•Ensure software and systems and regularly checked for necessary patching and
upgrades
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator or the Police where necessary
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 92

A recipient falsely claims Direct Payments, e.g. by
misrepresenting their care needs or failing to disclose receipt
of other benefits. There is also a risk of abuse of position by
personal assistants, carers or parents, leading to monies not
being spent for the recipient's benefit. There is an additional
risk that a family member misuses the direct payments
meant for the person they are caring for and becomes
dependant on the income

4

External

External &
Internal

External

Internal

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

National Non-domestic rates

Officers or Members may abuse their position for private
gain or misuse council assets for personal gain, including:
computer hardware and software; plant, machinery and
equipment and intellectual property. Theft of cash or
portable items belonging to the Council, employees or
Members. Receipt of financial or other rewards as an
inducement to perform their duties improperly or seek to
influence a decision-maker. Also a risk of failing to declare an
interest in a company or organisation

7

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Sub-standard work delivery
•Potential costs arising from any necessary litigation
•Lack of public confidence
•Detrimental effect on staff morale

Procurement fraud

A business makes a claim for rate relief based on false
information, e.g.. stating that a property is no longer in use;
not declaring the location of a business or falsely claiming
relief, e.g. by claiming to be occupied by a charity;
intermittent occupation or the use of "phoenix companies to
avoid liability (although not technically illegal)

6

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Client detriment for those in need
•Potential costs arising from any necessary litigation

Direct Payments

There are activities including price-fixing, bid-rigging and
cover pricing, to maximise profit margins or share out
contracts. In addition this risk also overlaps with bribery and
corruption internal risks. There is a risk that claims are made
to defraud the council by claiming payment for goods /
services not provided; delivering goods / services of
substandard quality; overpricing or duplicate invoicing.

5

Consequences of risk

Internal Fraud by Officers and Members

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and liaising with police and lawyers
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget
•Lack of public confidence

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Direct payments protocol and guidance documents in place. The council has a contract in place with a direct
payments support organisation who offer support to direct payment recipients by providing a fully comprehensive
payroll service in accordance with HMRC regulations
•Direct payments bank accounts are monitored and reconciled to ensure that the money is being used
appropriately
•The use of contract monitoring officers to ensure payments are made for services that were delivered
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
•Social workers are used to assess the needs of the person requiring care

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Contract procedure rules in place in relation to the procurement of goods and services as well as various
procedure notes
•The Employee Code of Conduct includes guidance in respect of employee relationships with contractors,
corruption and gifts and hospitality
•Robust declaration of interest policy in place
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
•External training received from The Regional Organised Crime Unit to raise awareness and further training
planned

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator or the Police where necessary
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported
•Review current fraud awareness systems and implement all guidance in line with
Welsh Audit guidance and focus on seven key themes:①Leadership and culture
②Risk management and control framework
③Policies and training
④Capacity and expertise
⑤Tools and data
⑥Collaboration
⑦Reporting and scrutiny

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Current financial regulations
•Business rates debt and recovery including attachment of earnings, attachment of benefits, enforcement agents
and charging orders
•Claim verification by Revenues Team
•Monitoring of usage available payment information
•Use of council tax visiting officer including spot checks on suspect properties

•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Consider the sharing of more data between councils, making use of new
technologies to ensure that suspicious activity can be easily identified, utilising
aspects of the Digital Economy Act 2017 to disrupt and detect fraud
•Highlight the specific risks involving NNDR fraud on council website. The website
could also support a public fraud reporting system making clear how and to who
fraud should be reported
•The council's fraud investigator could deliver ad-hoc awareness presentations as
and when required to business rates staff
•Maximise the use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator
•Increased recovery of any business rates relief/discounts wrongly claimed

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
both members and employees
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms are in place to prevent, detect and report on fraud, bribery and
corruption, these include:①Fraud strategy and framework
②Whistleblowing Policy
③ICT Code of Conduct
④Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
⑤Anti-Tax Evasion Policy
⑥Disciplinary Policy
•External training received from The Regional Organised Crime Unit to raise awareness and further training
planned

•Officers and Members to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected
conduct and where to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Production of information where necessary e.g. internet usage, pay and expenses
claims, purchase card usage, phone usage etc.
•Consider an enhanced vetting process for officer and senior management level
applicants
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator or the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•The council's fraud investigator could deliver ad-hoc awareness presentations as
and when required to relevant staff/members
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

Page 93
8

There is a risk that ..
The management of client's finances, where clients lack
capacity, are fraudulently managed. This covers
appointeeship, court of protection and any other
management of client's funds

Internal

External

Internal

•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•GDPR/Data Protection Breach
•Challenge to Election Result - Petition

Election fraud

Theft or false accounting occurs with officers responsible for
handling cash, either as income or expenditure (e.g. petty
cash). This could include accounting for cash (and other
income), security and banking.

10

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•Client detriment

Client finances

There is voter registration fraud; impersonation (at polling
stations); postal vote fraud, phishing and hacking, denial of
service and ransomware (particularly at the time of an
election).

9

Consequences of risk

Cash handling

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and liaising with police and lawyers
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget
•Lack of public confidence

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms are in place to prevent, detect and report on fraud, bribery and
corruption

•Officers to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected conduct and where
to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Trained Electoral staff for both personation and postal vote fraud; and personation awareness part of training
given to Polling Station staff at each major election
•Postal Vote software checks signatures of all postal votes returned and staff trained in forensic signature
checking
•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms are in place to prevent, detect and report on fraud, bribery and
corruption to include:①Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
②ICT Code of Conduct
③Whistleblowing Policy
④GDPR Policy and Procedures
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) where annual matches are produced
•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council has a number of controls in place to reduce the risk of theft or facilitation of tax evasion in respect of
cash transactions including financial procedure rules. Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms are also in
place to prevent, detect and report on fraud, bribery and corruption
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
both members and employees
•Additional controls in place to ensure safety of cash as it progresses internally to the point of collection by
external secure cash collection service providers
•All metric car parking machines can be interrogated from the back office system to establish which machines
need emptying. Two officers are allocated for collection and dual supervision is in place when counting monies.
The system supporting metric car parking also has functionality which can identify any discrepancies very early on
so checks can be made on machines to minimise and protect potential financial losses
•Newer car parking machines have card payment facilities as a result of coin usage falling. Additionally most car
parks have a pay-by-phone system in place
•Receipt of cash is supported by full audit trail and coins bagged in readiness for collection by external secure cash
collection service provider are reconciled back to receipts
•Cash collected is signed for by the cash collection courier before onward travel

•Officers to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected conduct and where
to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

•Officers to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected conduct and where
to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 94

Council systems are used to launder money or there is abuse
of council services and they are used by organised crime
gangs, e.g. sham marriages. Also there is a risk that
properties are used within the town as fronts for illegal
activity (illicit tobacco / alcohol, money laundering).

11

External &
Internal

Internal

Schools

Bogus claims are made with serial claimants across
authorities. Also organised "crash for cash" or "slip and trip"
frauds and any insurance claim that is proved to be false,
made against the organisation or the organisations insurers.

13

External

• Financial loss to the council
• Reputational damage to the council
• Lack of public confidence
• The council inadvertently or otherwise becomes
involved in money laundering or terrorist financing
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and liaising with police and lawyers
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

Insurance fraud

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
both members and employees
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms in place to include:①Anti Money-Laundering Policy
②Money Laundering Reporting Officer in place
③Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
④Whistleblowing Policy
⑤Anti-Tax Evasion Policy
•External training received from Regional Organised Crime Unit to raise awareness and further training planned

•Officers to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected conduct and where
to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Financial loss to the council and/or school
•Reputational damage to the council and/or school
•Lack of public confidence
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and liaising with police and lawyers
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget
•Adverse effect on pupils
•Parental concerns
•Staff morale

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Governing bodies have to have policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms in place for school staff, parents
and guardians
•Performance and Financial Monitoring Board meet once a month to go through each schools budget 'line by line'
to ensure money is spent correctly and no fraud exists
•Estyn approval of effectiveness of current systems in place

•School staff to be reminded at regular intervals of their expected conduct and
where to access the relevant policies and procedures
•Increased awareness, support and training for all school staff to understand and
apply a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available to schools with clear guidance on how and
to who fraud should be reported
•A 'Fraud Health Check' conducted across all school establishments to attain
assurance over the controls and governance in place to mitigate the potential for
fraud

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Increased insurance premiums
•Any claim will ultimately have to be paid for from
Council resources.
•The cost of processing unsuccessful claims is a drain on
staff time and diverts resources from front line services
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Adverse effect on council budget

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council only deal with claims with a value under £1,000 - personal injury claims, motor claims and claims
that over £1,000 are sent directly to the insurers who conduct more in depth fraud checks and utilise 'Net Watch'
•Segregation of duties in place when processing claims, if staff member has personal knowledge of claimant they
'step away'. Conflict of interest policy and procedure in place
•Use of 'Claim File Fraud Check' when processing claims - this is a tick list to ensure all relevant checks and
process are followed before claims are paid
•Tender process used to choose the council's insurer placed a large amount of emphasis on the insurers skill and
abilities in fraud investigation
•Insurance procedure rules in place and all documents received in support of a claim are thoroughly vetted
•Robust and comprehensive data base used to record claims made to the council. This data base can be used to
flag previous claims and duplicate claims etc. Ability to search by NINO, Postcode, DOB. All new claims compared
with database for any matches or relevant information.

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Organised crime / money laundering

Although the majority of schools frauds are covered
elsewhere in the register (e.g. payroll, staffing, cash
handling), nationally schools are the largest source of
internal referrals. The delegated nature of their budgets also
requires a specific counter fraud response. Currently a 90
million pound budget covers 59 different schools which each
pound spent decided by the school themselves
12

Consequences of risk

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 95

Abuse of the scheme occurs, including an individual using a
badge holders badge when the badge holder is not part of
the journey or continues to use it or applies for a new badge
after the badge holder's death. Also the use of counterfeited
badges or applications for a blue badge using inaccurate
information or failing to report a change

14

External

Blue badges

There is misuse of procurement cards, creation of bogus
suppliers / invoices. Offences include fraud by abuse of
position, false accounting and corruption.

15

Internal

Internal

Employment/Payroll

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and any litigation action that may follow
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Fraudulent use prevents people in genuine need
parking where they need it most
•Cost to public purse through loss of funds for the
council in lost parking charges and residents parking
permits
•Lack of public confidence

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Established procedure for referring cases to fraud both internally and externally from members of the public
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Fraud drive conducted in the Summer of 2019 across the borough to raise awareness with the public that fraud
in this area will not be tolerated and also to target the fraud being committed
•Use of the media to publicise prosecutions to raise awareness that fraud will not be tolerated - recent fraud drive
publicised in local media and also publicised in 'Parking News' which has a UK wide distribution
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI)
•The council is a member of the Blue Badge Working Group, organised and run by the Welsh Government where
best practice is shared amongst other Local Authorities in Wales
•Any system weaknesses identified during investigation are considered and remedied if necessary. Feedback is
also provided to the Benefits team so they can further 'fraud proof' the system

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative
•Develop specific fraud awareness training for customer service staff and those on
the front line dealing with blue badge applications and renewals
•Update main council website and internal staff intranet with clear information on
how to report suspected fraud and also other useful fraud information
•Develop fraud newsletter for circulation across the council to raise awareness of
the work conducted within the fraud team and also communicate fraud alerts
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all suspected cases of fraud are referred to the fraud investigator
•Further training for CEO's working across the borough to allow them to spot more
cases of potential fraud to be referred to the fraud investigator and maximise
results
•Further fraud drives planned to raise further awareness within the borough and
promote the message that blue badge fraud will not be tolerated

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and any litigation action that may follow
•Lack of public confidence
•Adverse effect on council budget

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council has a number of controls in place to reduce the risk and prevent fraud, including managing all
supplier creation at a central point, a verification process for changing supplier bank details and an online
authorisation of invoices
•All supplier transactions must be supported by a relevant invoice / documentation and independently signed off
as approved to pay
•For payments over a certain financial value there is an additional tier of authorisation before payment is
processed
•Financial Procedure Rules apply to all payments made by Corporate Purchasing Cards which should mitigate the
risk of fraud and error
•Planned Internal Audit reviews of payments ensure that procedures are in place and are being followed
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
both members and employees
•External training received from The Regional Organised Crime Unit to raise awareness and further training
planned
•Use of the media to publicise prosecutions to raise awareness that fraud will not be tolerated - a recent
investigation and prosecution surrounding fraudulent misuse of a purchasing card was published in the media

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the use of data analytics to identify any cases of suspected
fraud
•The council has in place an employee Whistleblowing Policy, Disciplinary Policy, Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
and Employee Code of Conduct
•DBS checks conducted on employees working in certain areas where it is needed
•All new employees have their qualification documents fully checked and references are requested in respect of
them
•Timesheets, expenses claims, sickness absence claims and leave cards are signed by managers
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
employees

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Payment to suppliers( including payment by Purchasing
Cards)

There are submissions of claims for duties not carried out;
inflation of expenses claims; claiming sick pay when fit to
work and failing to work contracted hours. Also the creation
of ghost employees and generating payments and false
overtime claims. Offences include fraud by false
representation, failure to disclose information and false
accounting.

16

Consequences of risk

• Financial loss to the council
• Reputational damage to the council
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues and any litigation action that may follow
•Lack of public confidence
•Staff morale

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 96

Grant payments are obtained from the Council under false
pretences or that grants are claimed from different sources
for the same purpose or that the recipient fails to deliver
outputs stated in the grant conditions. In addition there is a
risk of bogus companies or individuals making a claim
perpetrating to be someone else. This also overlaps with the
internal risk of corruption. There is additional risk where
there is a requirement to process and pay grants at speed
where sufficient checks may not be completed

17

External

External

Internal

•Loss of revenue for the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•Staff morale
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

Licensing

Applicants submit bogus qualifications or references or have
no right to work or fail to disclose income for benefit
purposes. There is also a risk of offences which could include
fraud by false representation or failure to disclose
information.

19

•Financial loss to the council
•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•Failure to support genuine need
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
•Potential court costs which have impact on council
budget
•Adverse effect on council budget

Grants

There is an abuse of a license (e.g. assigning to someone
else) or claiming benefits / council tax reduction while
working or having no right to work in this country. There are
also links to organised crime. There is also a risk of a
fraudulent application for a taxi license where an applicant
does not declare a relevant fact or fails to declare a change
posing a potential risk to the public

18

Consequences of risk

Recruitment

•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•Staff morale
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues

How is the council addressing this risk

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the use of data analytics to identify any cases of suspected
fraud
•Specific data match released via The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) to deal with Covid-19 grants paid
•The council has a number of controls in place including a robust process in relation to the financial management
of grants via its grant procedure rules
•Strong segregation of duties process in place when dealing with grants as well as sufficient due diligence and
financial procedure rules which assist in mitigating the risk of collusion
•Any 'means tested' grants have robust financial checks in place
•In the case of Disabled Facilities Grants (DSG) a declaration is signed by the owner of the property to confirm
ownership - verification is conducted with Land Registry and charges placed on the property where applicable
•The balance between speed and due diligence/verification correctly set

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative including the new and specific
Covid-19 data matches
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the use of data analytics to identify any cases of suspected
fraud
•Applicants applying for a license are required to hold a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate before
their application is approved
•Driving Licenses of applicants are verified independently and all documents provided in support of an application
are checked thoroughly
•The Licensing department follows all policies and procedures in place

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speakers
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•E-Recruitment portal in use across the council to manage all recruitment functions
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms are in place to prevent, detect and report on fraud, bribery and
corruption to include:①Safer Recruitment Policy
②Disclosure and Barring Policy 2015
③Recruitment and Selection Policy - Corporate Standards
④Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
⑤Whistleblowing Policy
•Participation in The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the use of data analytics to identify any cases of suspected
fraud
•Use of NFI 'AppCheck' verification system

•Maximise use of data analytics and data matching to match electronic data to
detect and prevent fraud
•Maximise the use of The National Fraud Initiative
•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Last Reviewed Next Review

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

Appendix B

No.

Area
Internal/
External Risk

There is a risk that ..

Page 97

There is a risk that the council is supplied with false
documentation in support of applications/registrations in
respect of services provided e.g. declaration of intention to
marry from persons subject to immigration control,
applications for housing and planning applications

20

Internal

False Applications

Consequences of risk
•Reputational damage to the council
•Lack of public confidence
•Loss in working time in investigating and correcting
issues
• Failure to support genuine need

How is the council addressing this risk
•Trained and qualified fraud investigator available for investigation of any cases of suspected fraud
•Fraud Prevention E-Learning module rolled out across the council for employees and members
•Fraud prevention awareness is included in all corporate inductions going forward with the aim or reducing the
instances of fraud by raising awareness and builds on the culture of zero tolerance towards fraud
•Strong internal audit team in place with an Audit Client Manager experienced and qualified in all aspects of fraud
including internal investigations. Internal Audit is part of regional service so knowledge and expertise can be
shared across authorities
•Membership of Wales wide network of Local Authority Fraud Investigators and The National Anti Fraud Network
which provides the opportunity to share knowledge/intelligence/good practice. Membership also provides ability
to share training and invite special guest speaker
•The council has links to The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and has constructive
dialog with Audit Wales
•The council's constitution includes governance arrangements including financial rules and conduct protocols for
both members and employees
•Policies, procedures and reporting mechanisms in place to include:①Anti Money-Laundering Policy
②Money Laundering Reporting Officer in place
③Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy
④Whistleblowing Policy
⑤Anti-Tax Evasion Policy
•Relevant documents requested and verified by staff with robust checks in place to ensure they are genuine. This
includes the necessary identification documents
•Thorough needs assessment undertaken in respect of homeless applications and declarations signed by
applicants

Key actions to be established - NB business as usual activity not reflected here

Last Reviewed Next Review

•Increased awareness, support and training for all officers to understand and apply
a strong counter fraud culture and display good governance
•Ensure all cases of suspected fraud are referred to the councils Internal Audit
section or Fraud Investigator and the Police where necessary
•Ensure all relevant policies and regulations are up to date and fit for purpose
•Fraud information to be made available on internal and external webpage with
clear guidance on how and to who fraud should be reported

Jan-2022

Jul-2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND
CHANGE
NON-DOMESTIC RATES: DISCRETIONARY RELIEF: RETAIL, LEISURE
AND HOSPITALITY RATES RELIEF SCHEME 2022-23
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of the report is to seek approval for Cabinet to adopt the
Welsh Government’s Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief
Scheme 2022-23.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate
priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to
live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are
focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all
people in the county borough.

2.2

The scheme aims to help businesses to reduce their business rates
charges for the period 01/04/22 – 31/03/23 in order to support continued
occupation of High Street and retail premises.

3.

Background

3.1

The Welsh Government has announced a temporary extension of the
Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief Scheme for 2022-23 to
support eligible occupied properties by offering a discount of 50% on
non-domestic rates bills for such properties within the retail, leisure and
hospitality sector. The scheme will apply to all eligible businesses;
however, the relief will be subject to a cap on the amount each business
can claim across Wales. The total amount of relief available is £110,000
across all properties occupied by the same business. All businesses are
required to make a declaration that the amount of relief they are seeking
across Wales does not exceed this cap, when applying to individual local
authorities. The Scheme sets out the various categories of retail, leisure
and hospitality premises that will benefit from relief. These are detailed in
Appendix A of the report, but broadly the premises included are
occupied shops, pubs and restaurants, gyms, performance venues and
hotels across Wales.

Page 99

3.2

The Scheme will be administered by the Council as a ‘reimbursing local
authority’ that uses discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1988). It will be for individual local billing
authorities to decide to grant relief under section 47, but Welsh
Government will reimburse local authorities for the relief that is provided.

3.3

The Welsh Government will provide 50% rates relief for eligible
properties for the year 2022-23.

3.4

The Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief Scheme for 2022-23 will
run alongside the Small Business Rates Relief Scheme. Small Business
Rates Relief is awarded automatically on a maximum of 2 occupied
properties in the same business name in any local authority area where
the property has a rateable value under £12,000.

3.5

It is estimated that, due to the limit of £110,000 per business across
Wales, there will be in the region of 845 eligible ratepayers across the
borough that could potentially benefit from having only 50% rates to pay
for the year 2022-23 under this Scheme.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The Council can elect to adopt the Scheme but does not have discretion
over any elements of the Scheme. It is proposed that the Council adopts
the Scheme for 2022-23 by making the appropriate determination and
decision, as required by Sections 47(1) (a) and 47(3) respectively of the
Local Government Finance Act 1988.

4.2

Full details of the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief Scheme for
2022-23 and the guidance on the application of the Scheme have been
received from Welsh Government. If the Scheme is adopted, application
forms will be made available on Bridgend County Borough Council’s
website for all qualifying ratepayers to apply. Due to the limit of £110,000
per business throughout Wales, Welsh Government have stated that this
scheme will need to be administered on an application basis only. It is
proposed that upon receipt of a valid application form, the decision to
award relief be made by the Revenues Manager providing all terms of
the Scheme are met.

4.3

The Chief Executive has delegated power to award relief to all qualifying
businesses in accordance with the Non-domestic Rates Relief Scheme
that may be eligible following receipt of the information requested by
Welsh Government.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedures rules

5.1

There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and
procedure rules.

Page 100

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative
impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is
therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.

6.2

Once adopted, the Council is obliged to comply with the Welsh
Government’s rules in applying the Scheme. These are detailed in
Appendix A.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the
preparation of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being
goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no direct financial implications to the Council in adopting the
scheme. The full value of the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief
awarded will be reimbursed by the Welsh Government.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:


adopt the Non-Domestic Rates Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates
Relief Scheme for 2022-23 as detailed within Appendix A

Carys Lord
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and Section 151 Officer
9 February 2022
Contact Officer:

Helen Rodgers
Revenues Manager

Telephone:

01656 643194

Email:

Helen.Rodgers@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address:

Ravens Court
Brewery Lane
Bridgend
CF31 4AP

Background documents: NONE

Page 101

APPENDIX A
Resolution
(a)
The Council determines that, unless hereditaments are excepted under (b) below,
Section 47(1)(a) (discretionary relief) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 will apply as
regards the hereditaments described in ‘The Scheme’ in accordance with the rules described
in relation to those hereditaments.
It is reasonable for the Council to make this decision having regard to the interests of persons
liable to pay business rates set by the Council.
(b)
Relief is not available under this resolution in respect of any hereditament which is
occupied by - the Welsh Ministers, a Minister of the Crown or government department,
- any public authority (including any local authority),
- the holder of any public office, or
- the Crown
(c)
The Council decides, under Section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988,
that during the billing year 2021-22 ‘The Scheme’ shall apply to the hereditaments
described..

The Scheme to be Adopted
Introduction
This relief is aimed at businesses and other ratepayers in Wales in the retail, leisure and
hospitality sectors, for example shops, pubs and restaurants, gyms, performance venues and
hotels.
The Welsh Government will provide grant funding to all 22 local authorities in Wales to
provide the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rates Relief scheme to eligible businesses for
2022-23. The scheme aims to provide support for eligible occupied properties by offering a
discount of 50% on non-domestic rates bills for such properties. The scheme will apply to all
eligible businesses, however the relief will be subject to a cap in the amount each business
can claim across Wales. The total amount of relief available is £110,000 across all properties
occupied by the same business. All businesses are required to make a declaration that the
amount of relief they are seeking across Wales does not exceed this cap, when applying to
individual local authorities.
Properties that will benefit from this relief will be occupied retail, leisure and hospitality
properties – such as shops, pubs and restaurants, gyms, performance venues and hotels
across Wales. More detailed eligibility criteria and exceptions to the relief are set out below.
Relief should be granted to each eligible business as a reduction to its rates bill based on
occupation between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023. It is recognised that there may be some
instances where a local authority is retrospectively notified of a change of occupier. In such

Page 102

cases, if it is clear that the business was in occupation on or after the 1 April 2022, the local
authority may use its discretion in awarding relief.
It is intended that, for the purposes of this scheme, retail properties such as ‘shops,
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments’ will mean the following (subject to the other
criteria in this guidance).
Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of the
public













Shops (such as florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers,
stationers, off-licences, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, etc)
Charity shops
Opticians
Pharmacies
Post offices
Furnishing shops or display rooms (such as carpet shops, double-glazing, garage
doors)
Car or caravan showrooms
Second hard car lots
Markets
Petrol stations
Garden centres
Art galleries (where art is for sale or hire)

Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services to visiting
members of the public














Hair and beauty services
Shoe repairs or key cutting
Travel agents
Ticket offices, eg. for theatre
Dry cleaners
Launderettes
PC, TV or domestic appliance repair
Funeral directors
Photo processing
DVD or video rentals
Tool hire
Car hire
Estate and letting agents

Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and / or drink to visiting
members of the public





Restaurants
Drive-through or drive-in restaurants
Takeaways
Sandwich shops

Page 103






Cafés
Coffee shops
Pubs
Bars or Wine Bars

We consider assembly and leisure to mean the following.
Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of sport, leisure and facilities to
visiting members of the public (including for the viewing of such activities) and for the
assembly of visiting members of the public











Sports grounds and clubs
Sport and leisure facilities
Gyms
Tourist attractions
Museums and art galleries
Stately homes and historic houses
Theatres
Live Music Venues
Cinemas
Nightclubs

Hereditaments that are being used for the assembly of visiting members of the public



Public halls
Clubhouses, clubs and institutions

We consider hotels, guest & boarding premises and self-catering accommodation to mean the
following.
Hereditaments where the non-domestic part is being used for the provision of living
accommodation as a business




Hotels, Guest and Boarding Houses,
Holiday homes,
Caravan parks and sites

Other considerations
To qualify for the relief, the hereditament should be wholly or mainly used for the qualifying
purposes. In a similar way to other reliefs, this is a test on use rather than occupation.
Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying
purpose will not qualify for the relief. For the avoidance of doubt, hereditaments which closed
temporarily due to the government’s advice on Covid-19 should be treated as occupied for the
purposes of this relief.
The above list is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to list all the many
and varied retail, leisure and hospitality uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses.
However, it is intended to be a guide for local authorities as to the types of uses that the Welsh
Government considers for this purpose to be eligible for relief. Local authorities should

Page 104

determine for themselves whether particular properties not listed are broadly similar in nature
to those above and, if so, to consider them eligible for the relief. Conversely, properties that
are not broadly similar in nature to those listed above should not be eligible for the relief.
The grant of the relief is discretionary. Should local authorities decide to exercise their
discretion not to apply the relief to eligible businesses, they may wish to consider taking their
own legal advice upon any potential consequential legal issues which might arise from such a
decision and on a case by case basis.
Businesses may view that they have been able to continue trading at a substantial level during
Coronavirus restrictions and as such may be inclined to not apply for the relief.
Types of hereditaments that are not considered to be eligible for Retail, Leisure and
Hospitality Rates Relief
The following list sets out the types of uses that the Welsh Government does not consider to
be retail, leisure or hospitality use for the purpose of this relief and which would not be deemed
eligible for the relief. However, it will be for local authorities to determine if hereditaments are
similar in nature to those listed and if they would not be eligible for relief under the scheme.
Hereditaments that are being used wholly or mainly for the provision of the following
services to visiting members of the public










Financial services (eg. banks, building societies, cash points, ATMs, bureaux de
change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawnbrokers)
Medical services (eg. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors)
Professional services (eg. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents, financial
advisers, tutors)
Post Office sorting offices
Day nurseries
Kennels and catteries
Casinos and gambling clubs
Show homes and marketing suites
Employment agencies

Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public
If a hereditament is not usually reasonably accessible to visiting members of the public, it will
be ineligible for relief under the scheme even if there is ancillary use of the hereditament that
might be considered to fall within the descriptions listed under Which properties will benefit
from relief?
Hereditaments that are not occupied
Properties that are not occupied on 1 April 2022 should be excluded from this relief. However,
under the mandatory Empty Property Rates Relief, empty properties will receive a 100%
reduction in rates for the first three months (and in certain cases, six months) of being empty.

Hereditaments that are owned, rented or managed by a local authority

Page 105

Hereditaments owned, rented or managed by a local authority, such as visitor centres, tourist
information shops and council-run coffee shops or gift shops attached to historic buildings, are
exempt from this scheme.
How much relief will be available?
The total amount of government funded relief available for each property under this scheme for
2022-23 is 50% of the relevant bill. This is subject to a cap of £110,000 per business across all
their properties in Wales. The relief should be applied to the net bill remaining after mandatory
reliefs and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied (excluding
those where local authorities have used their wider discretionary relief powers introduced by
the Localism Act 2011, which are not funded by section 31 grants).
The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on a daily basis.
The following formula should be used to determine the amount of relief to be granted for a
particular hereditament in the financial year.
Amount of relief to be granted = V/2, where
V is the daily charge for the hereditament for the chargeable day after the application of any
mandatory relief and any other discretionary reliefs, (excluding those where local authorities
have used their discretionary relief powers introduced by the Localism Act 2011 which are not
funded by section 31 grants).
This should be calculated ignoring any prior-year adjustments in liabilities which fall to be liable
on the day.
Businesses who occupy more than one property will be entitled to Retail, Leisure and
Hospitality Rates Relief for each of their eligible properties, within the cap of £110,000 per
business across Wales.
A business with a single property with a remaining liability (after reliefs) greater than £220,000
can use the entire allocation of relief. No other properties owned by that business will be
eligible for the scheme.
Retail, leisure and hospitality properties which are excluded from Small Business Rates Relief
due to the multiple occupation rule are eligible for this relief scheme, subject to the cap being
applied.
Changes to existing hereditaments, including change in occupier
Empty properties becoming occupied after 1 April 2022 will qualify for this relief.
If there is a change in occupier part way through the financial year, after relief has already
been provided to the hereditament, the new occupier will qualify for the relief if they operate in
the retail, leisure or hospitality sectors, on a pro-rata basis. This will be calculated based on
the remaining days of occupation using the formula used in the section titled How much relief
will be available?

Page 106

The discount should be applied on a day-to-day basis using the formula set out above. A new
hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is
a change of use, should be considered afresh for the discount on that day.
State Aid
Following the end of the transition period for the United Kingdom leaving the European Union
on 31 December 2020, EU State Aid regulations only apply in limited circumstances. As the
relief is not funded by EU residual funds, EU State Aid regulations no longer apply for this
scheme. As of 1 January 2021, the UK Subsidy Regime came into force. The scheme is
considered by the Welsh Government to be outside the scope of any international trade
agreements as measures are focused locally within Wales.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFGs) FRAMEWORK
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek authority from Cabinet to go out to tender for a
Framework to appoint contractors to deliver works required under Disabled
Facilities Grants (DFGs).

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

At the meeting of Cabinet on the 19 January 2021, Cabinet approved a new pilot
model of service delivery for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to be implemented.
It was agreed that this service would be brought in-house. As part of this new
model, a Framework was to be established to appoint contractors to provide works
required under DFGs.

3.2

A working group has been established, made up of representatives from Housing,
Legal, Procurement and the Corporate Transformation Team. The working group
are preparing the required documentation to complete the tender process to
establish a Framework.

3.3

The key drivers for the implementation of the Framework are:

Page 109

3.3.1 Accountability - The statutory duty lies with the Council to provide the
service. Prior to Cabinet’s decision on the 19 January the Council did not
have end to end control of the process. The decision now enables the
Council the ability to strengthen controls with regards to quality, safeguarding
and capacity management.
3.3.2 Responsiveness and person centred approach – the delivery times for
DFGs, particularly for complex children’s cases, is not consistent with a
person centred approach. The Council is in the bottom quartile for Wales in
terms of delivery times.
3.4

The benefits of the Framework being in place will result in a more responsive,
accountable and compliant outcome as the Council will be able to engage directly
with contractors through the Framework.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

Pre-market engagement with interested contractors has taken place. Contractors
had the opportunity to attend one-to-one discussions and joint workshops.

4.2

Pre-market engagement opportunities were advertised on Social Media, Sell 2
Wales and through the authority’s Local Enterprise Team.

4.3

Workshops held on the 25 & 26 January 2022, included representatives from the
DFG Team, Procurement, Business Wales, Sell 2 Wales and Constructionline
The information presented at these workshops included :






‘Set the scene’ of what the Framework is aiming to achieve
set out a proposal of how the Framework may work
set out the authority’s Procurement procedure
informed contractors of the support available to them via Business Wales, Sell 2
Wales and Constructionline
discussed any perceived or actual barriers, about working with the council

4.4

Following this exercise, the information gathered is being used to progress the
tender documentation to reflect the findings of these discussions. Work is on-going
to finalise the tender documentation and on completion, a procurement process will
be commenced in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Procurement Rules as
soon as possible.

4.5

The Framework will be for a duration of 4 years and the estimated overall value of
the Framework over the four (4) year period will be around £7,800,000, however
each call-off contract from the Framework will generally be worth no more than
£36,000 (maximum grant value). Most call-offs are likely to be significantly under
this value as many medium type works tend to be in the region of £7,000 - £12,000.

4.6

The Framework will be divided into lots to cover the range of work that will be
expected under the Framework which will include the installation of ramps, low level
showers and bathrooms, stairlifts and full extensions etc.

Page 110

4.7

A further report shall be presented to Cabinet following the conclusion of the
tender process to seek permission to award the Tender.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect on policy framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening on the proposals to change
service delivery has identified that there would be no negative impact on those with
one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or
the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA
on this policy or proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the
Council should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people. The following is a
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have
been considered in this report:
Long term

Ensuring best use of available accommodation allowing Citizens to
live safely in their own homes.
Preventative Through a person centred approach preventing an individual
escalating into hospital services.
Involvement Providing individuals the choice to remain in their home ensuring
they are part of the process from start to finish managed through a
single point of engagement.
Integration
Ensure individuals can remain within their communities providing
an array of benefits including stability through the maintaining of
local support networks.
Collaboration Developing a Framework Agreement for businesses to support the
DFG service. Working in partnership with Social Services to deliver
the required adaptations necessary and appropriate to meet the
needs of the disabled person.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

Based on historic and current information, Bridgend County Borough Council
estimate the overall value of the Framework over the four (4) year period to be
around £7,800,000. It is anticipated that a call-off contract from the Framework
Agreement will generally be worth no more than £36,000. Most Call-offs are likely to
be significantly under this value.

8.2

There is an annual capital allocation in the capital programme of £1.95 million for
Mandatory DFGs. Future annual allocations are expected to be at the same level.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:-

Page 111

9.1.1 approve the procurement of a Disabled Facilities Grants Framework of
contractors to deliver works
9.1.2 delegates authority to the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
to tender for the Framework of contractors to deliver works under Disabled Facilities
Grants in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR &
Corporate Policy; and
9.1.3 notes that a further report shall be presented to Cabinet following the
conclusion of the procurement of the Framework for a decision on whether to award
the Framework and seek approval to enter into the Framework Agreement with
successful bidders.

Carys Lord
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
16 February 2022

Contact officer:

Martin Morgans
Head of Performance & Partnerships

Telephone:

(01656) 642154

Email:

Martin.Morgans@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Civic Offices, Angel St, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents:
None

Page 112

Agenda Item 9
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT MEANS TESTING
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of Welsh Government guidance on
the proposed removal of means testing on medium and small Disabled Facilities
Grants (DFG) and, if supported, to seek approval for an interim amendment of the
Council’s Private Sector Housing Renewal and Disabled Adaptations Policy.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3.

Background

3.1

The delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants is undertaken in line with the Housing
Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 as amended by the Regulatory
Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 and is incorporated
into the Council’s Private Sector Housing Renewal and Disabled Adaptations Policy
(January 2018).

3.2

It is currently a requirement that all adult mandatory DFG’s (children’s cases are
exempt) undertake a means test to determine whether a contribution is required
towards the works. The grant available has a maximum limit of £36,000 set by Welsh
Government.

3.3

When applying for a grant, the applicants details are checked against certain
‘passported benefits’ such as Council Tax Reduction, Income Related
Employment Support Allowance, Pension Credit, Housing Benefit, Universal Credit
etc, and if in receipt of these benefits, no contributions are required. If not in receipt
of these benefits, a full means test takes place to determine the level of
contribution, if any, to be made to the works. This could range from a small to
significant contribution and the applicant is informed of the result. At this point
many applicants choose not to proceed.

3.4

The DFG is available to home owners, tenants in the private sector and tenants of
Valleys to Coast Housing (V2C) (as part of the transfer arrangement put in place in

Page 113

previous years). The purpose of the grant is to allow people to remain within their
own home and works must be ‘reasonable’ and ‘practicable’ and meet the needs of
the individual as set out by an Occupational Therapist assessment. Current Terms
and conditions of the grant, requires repayment within a 10 year period if the grant is
in excess of £5,000; a legal charge on the property; and conditions of disposal for the
applicant or subsequent owner of the property.
3.5

Welsh Government Adaptation Service Standards defines works as:–
o Small – minor home modifications, not specialist, eg small ramps
o Medium – major home modification may be required but not planning
permission eg shower conversion, large ramps etc
o Large – major home modification/structural, specialist solutions etc extension,
structural modifications

3.6

Welsh Government has indicated the intention to remove the requirement for a
means test from small and medium DFG’s. Welsh Government have estimated that
small and medium sized adaptations made up the vast majority of cases, 1,507 small,
and 2,214 medium adaptations, and that local authorities would save annual
administration costs if the means test was removed. In order to meet the costs of
removing the means test, enhanced Enable Grant funding would be made available
to each local authority. Welsh Government has provided an indicative Enable Grant
allocation for Bridgend County Borough Council as below with confirmed offer letters
expected in March 2022. The payment of the Enable Grant is subject to the means
testing for small and medium grants being removed.
22-23
Enable £180,000

23-24
£180,000

24-25
£180,00

£89,973
£269,973

£89,973
£269,973

£89,973
£269,973

Baseline
Grant
Grant uplift
Total
3.7

Enable Funding is currently used to provide very small scale discretionary works,
under £5,000 such as home security works, small scale repairs etc that allow the
resident to live in their home comfortably and safely. Currently Care and Repair
administer this grant on behalf of the Council and it delivers very small adaptations
based on needs. This is not means tested. The figures referenced in the tables
below in paragraph 4.3 and 4.4 therefore do not include cases that are dealt with
via this route. It is proposed that this arrangement continues for the immediate
future and the baseline Enable Grant of £180,000 remains ringfenced for these
works.

3.8

In order to facilitate the means test removal, Welsh Government do not intend to
make legislative changes to the Housing Grant Act 1996 but have requested that
local authorities use their discretionary powers under the Regulatory Reform Order
from 1 April 2022.

3.9

Welsh Government intends to monitor the impact of this policy over a 3 year period
and will report on progress annually and, if required, has the option of legislating for
this change in the future.

Page 114

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

Welsh Government has estimated the cost of withdrawing the means test for small
and medium grants across Wales - ‘If the requirement to conduct a means test is
removed independent research calculates the cost to local government in Wales
would be an additional £238,000’ It is unclear what formula has been used to reach
this figure. As a result of that assessment, Welsh Government has increased grant
funding through the Enable Grant outlined above in paragraph 3.6. ‘This additional
grant can be used to meet the capital pressures and address any potential
bottlenecks as a result of increased demand’.

4.2

The demand for DFG’s over the past 4 years is highlighted in the table below.
Cancellations take place for a variety of reasons: change of mind of the applicants,
house moves, or deaths. Additionally, many applicants are unhappy with the
means testing element of the application as they do not want to provide financial
information or find that they are not prepared to make the level of contribution
identified. The Council are also aware that once it is known that a means test is
required, many initial enquiries do not get taken forward and the figures recorded
below are likely to be an under-estimate of demand. (The 2020/21 year is not
considered a typical year due to the restrictions of Covid 19).

4.3

An analysis of the applications for mandatory DFG grants applied for during the
past 4 years shows the following -

Total number of applications
Total number of grants
cancelled for any reason
*Those cancelled for means
testing reasons
Number of grants where a
contribution was required
(financial contribution made)

2017/18
294
152

2018/19
438
248

2019/20
311
144

2020/21
121
13

67

86

67

5

14

7

6

3

(£21,431)

(£15,127)

(£3,309)

(£4,556)

*Means testing cancellation reasons
Works completed without grants 7
assistance
Applicant did not wish to
42
proceed with means test
Contribution too high
18
4.4

3

8

1

61

37

3

22

22

1

The current core capital budget for Mandatory DFG’s is £1,950,000 Calculating the
number of cancellations specifically linked to mean testing over the last 4 years
against an average cost of £12,000, £10,000 and £8,000 indicates a notional
additional annual expenditure as follows –

Page 115

Cases

17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21

67
86
67
5

Average
cost
@ £12,000
£804,000
£1,032,000
£804,000
£60,000

Average cost
@ £10,000

Average cost
@ £8,000

£670,000
£860,000
£670,000
£50,000

£536,000
£688,000
£536,000
£40,000

4.5

The level of increased demand that may occur if means testing is removed is
unpredictable. Using the historic data available above, it is evident that costs of
implementation are likely to exceed the Enable Grant uplift of £89,973 and to
remain within the current annual budget could mean that cases get programmed
over financial years to manage demand, potentially building up a significant waiting
list.

4.6

As the financial and operational impact of this decision is not clearly understood it is
proposed that Cabinet agree to an interim arrangement for the removal of means
testing for small and medium grants from 1 April 2022 and the financial and
operational implications of this change are monitored during the new financial year.

4.7

To facilitate this, it is proposed that an interim amendment to the Private Sector
Housing Renewal and Disabled Adaptations Policy is put in place to reflect this
decision with any permanent change to the Private Sector Housing Renewal and
Disabled Adaptations Policy made at the conclusion of the review.

4.8

It is proposed that there is a one-track process for all DFG grants applications that
follow the current established processes. Applications will be dealt with in date
order as currently, terms and conditions remain and are applied across all
applications for a DFG.

4.9

It is proposed that the current policy for large scale works and childrens cases
remain in place: means testing for large grant applications for adults will continue,
with adaptations for children under 18 not means tested.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

The current Private Sector Housing Renewal and Disabled Adaptations Policy is
amended on an interim basis to reflect Cabinet’s decision. The policy to be
amended as necessary at the conclusion of the review and will be brought back to
Cabinet for approval.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language.
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the

Page 116

Council should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people. The following is a
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have
been considered in this report.
Long term
Preventative
Involvement

Integration

Collaboration

Ensuring best use of available accommodation allowing
Citizens to live safely in their own homes
Through a person-centered approach preventing an
individual escalating into hospital services
Providing individuals the choice to remain in their home
ensuring they are part of the process from start to finish
managed through a single point of engagement
Ensure individuals can remain within their communities
providing an array of benefits including stability through the
maintaining of local support networks
Working in partnership with Social Services Princess of
Wales Hospital, (POW) Valleys to Coast (V2C) to deliver
the required adaptations necessary and appropriate to
meet the needs of the disabled person.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

Welsh Government’s payment of Enable Grant is conditional on the means testing of
small and medium grants being removed.

8.2

The financial impact of the removal of means testing on small and medium grants will
be monitored closely during 2022-23 in line with the £1,950,000 capital programme
budget for DFGs. If the financial impact exceeds the uplift, and therefore the annual
budget, this could mean that cases get programmed over financial years to manage
demand, potentially building up a significant waiting list.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:–
9.1.2 approve the removal of a means test for small and medium DFG’s and that
financial and operational implications are reviewed during the new financial
year with a further report presented to Cabinet on the conclusion of the review.
9.1.3 approve the amendment of the Private Sector Housing Renewal and Disabled
Adaptations Policy on an interim basis to take effect from 1 April 2022 until
the conclusion of the review.
9.1.4 agree the baseline Enable Grant of £180,000 remains ringfenced for very
small works and current arrangements continue for the immediate future.

Carys Lord
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
22 February 2022
Contact officer:

Page 117

Martin Morgans
Head of Performance and Partnerships

Telephone:

(01656) 642154

Email:

Martin.Morgans@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Civic Offices, Angel St, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents:
Letter from Welsh Government Enable Grant Indicative Allocations 21st December 2021

Page 118

Agenda Item 10
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
HOUSING SUPPORT PROGRAMME STRATEGY AND HOUSING SUPPORT GRANT
SPEND PLAN
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:



2.

Inform Cabinet of the development of a Housing Support Programme Strategy;
Provide information and seek endorsement of the Housing Support Grant Spend
Plan for 2022-23 as set out in Appendix 1.
Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study, and
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications, and ambitions for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the
Council and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy, and
independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human, and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The Welsh Government Housing Support Grant (HSG) came into being in April
2019 following the Welsh Government funding flexibilities pathfinder project. It
brings together three former grants - Supporting People Programme,
Homelessness Prevention Grant and Rent Smart Wales Enforcement Grant.

3.2

The HSG is an early intervention grant programme to support activity which
prevents people from becoming homeless, stabilises their housing situation, or
helps potentially homeless people to find and keep accommodation.

Page 119

3.3

HSG Practice Guidance requires local authorities to develop a four-year Housing
Support Programme Strategy (HSP Strategy). This Strategy encompasses the
requirement set out in Part 2 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 for a Homelessness
Strategy.

3.4

In addition to a HSP Strategy local authorities are also required to develop a HSG
Delivery Plan, which should include the following headings:








Introduction
Delivery Priorities
Stakeholder Engagement
Local Commissioning Plan
Local Spend Plan
Equalities Impact Assessment
Annex A: Homelessness Statutory Duties

3.5

Following the publication of the draft Welsh Government budget, local authorities
are given an indicative HSG allocation and are required to submit to Welsh
Government a draft HSG Spend Plan, part of the wider HSG Delivery Plan referred
to at 3.4. After consideration of draft Spend Plans offers of grant are then made,
following the publication of the final Welsh Government budget.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

Following the announcement of the Welsh Government’s draft budget on 20
December 2021 the Minister for Climate Change agreed indicative HSG allocations
for three years from 2022-23. Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) indicative
HSG allocation from Welsh Government for 2022-23 is £7,833,509.33. This
indicative allocation is the same as the allocation in 2021-22. The indicative
allocation is also the same for 2023-24 and 2024-25, with no proposed year on year
increase.

4.2

It should however be noted that the allocation of £7,833,509.33 does represent an
increase of £1,878,966.49 (32%) from the allocation in 2020-21. The increase in
HSG funding was as a result of an additional £40m being allocated to the total HSG
budget by Welsh Government. The increase is intended to help to deliver the
transformational change required to achieve the goal of ending homelessness in
Wales.

4.3

A draft HSG Spend Plan, as set out at Appendix 1 has been submitted to Welsh
Government. The Spend Plan has been developed with consideration of ongoing
strategic planning with a range of stakeholders. The projects funded through the
plan seek to support the aims and objectives as set out in BCBC’s Homelessness
Strategy 2018-22 and the priorities set out in BCBC’s current HSG Delivery Plan, as
reported to Cabinet on 6 April 2021. The initial findings of a recent Homelessness
Review have also fed into the development of the HSG Spend Plan as referenced
below.

4.4

BCBC are also in the process of developing its first Housing Support Programme
Strategy. Meeting the requirements set out at 3.3 of the report, a HSP Strategy,

Page 120

once adopted, will meet the statutory requirements for a Homelessness Strategy
and as such will replace BCBC’s current Homelessness Strategy 2018-22.
4.5

As part of the work in developing the HSP Strategy a Homelessness Review has
been undertaken. This has included a comprehensive assessment of a range of
data sets to form a Needs Assessment. In addition, a wide range of stakeholders
operating across the county borough of Bridgend have been engaged with through
a combination of semi structured individual and group interviews, as well as an
online questionnaire. Through at least one of these methods the following
stakeholders have been engaged with:
 Bridgend County Borough Council Housing Solutions & Housing Strategy Team
 Bridgend County Borough Council Senior Management & Cabinet Member for
Well-being and Future Generations
 National Probation Service and members of Bridgend MAPPA planning group
 South Wales Police
 V2C Housing Association
 Linc Cymru Housing Association
 Wales & West Housing Association
 Hafod Housing Association
 Bridgend County Borough Council Social Services (both Adult and Children’s
Services Teams)
 Bridgend County Borough Council Prevention and Wellbeing Team
 Bridgend County Borough Council Education and Family Support Team
 Members of Bridgend Community Safety Partnership
 Bridgend VAWDASV Partnership and members of Bridgend MARAC
 Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board
 Individuals with lived experience
 Service providers commissioned by Bridgend CBC through the Housing Support
Grant funding programme
 Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organisations
 Bridgend Citizen’s Advice Bureau

4.6

Cabinet will be presented with a draft HSP Strategy, prior to public consultation,
however the initial findings of the Homelessness Review have also fed into the
development of the HSG Spend Plan.

4.7

The HSG Spend Plan set out at Appendix 1 reflects the cost of current
commissioned contracts BCBC has in place with third sector support providers, and
also internal services delivered by BCBC.

4.8

The Spend Plan commits to increased resources for projects which support the
Authority in tackling homelessness. The demands on homelessness services have
been ever increasing in recent years, with homelessness applications to BCBC
increasing by 61% between 2016 and 2021. The increase in demand on temporary
accommodation services has in particular been stark and significantly impacted by
legislative change from Welsh Government, relating to the definition of ‘priority
need’ as set out in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

Page 121

4.9

On 23 March 2020 (at the start of the Covid 19 pandemic) the Authority were
providing temporary accommodation to 74 households. On 4 February 2022 the
Authority were providing temporary accommodation to 197 households (an increase
of 166%). 72% of the 197 accommodated on 4 February 2022 were single person
households.

4.10

Increased resources to increase the availability of temporary accommodation and
vital support to those accommodated in temporary accommodation is key to
supporting the Authority in meeting the demand on services and to ensure those
who are homeless are supported to ensure their experience is as rare, brief, and
non-recurrent as possible. Examples include:


the allocation of resources to the Authority’s Alternative to Bed & Breakfast
project. The project provides suitable temporary accommodation to those, who
would otherwise likely be accommodated in Bed and Breakfast. The project has
already grown significantly since originally being commissioned in 2018 and
additional resources will support further growth in the coming years.



a range of support projects which tackles the on-going complexities of
homelessness and the ability to support individuals with higher support needs
for those who are often unable to access mainstream services. These
individuals are some of the most vulnerable in society. Projects include floating
support; mediation services for young people etc.



regional partnership working and the continuation of funding for a Regional
Health Outreach Team will enable continued specialist mental health and
substance misuse provision, which is delivered in partnership with Cwm Taf
Morgannwg Health Board on an outreach basis.



resources to tackle street homelessness through BCBC’s Housing First
provision which is key in the provision of longer-term support to those with
multifaceted support needs.



Extra care services, such as telecare and alarm services within sheltered
accommodation, static and dispersed refuge units for domestic abuse and
supported accommodation for people with learning difficulties.

4.11

The Housing Support Programme Strategy will be produced with the views of key
stakeholders and service users themselves and will evidence the strategic priorities
to tackle homelessness and housing support needs for complex and vulnerable
people going forward. Information and evidence gathering is taking place currently
and Cabinet will receive a future report on the draft Strategy for approval.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon policy framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected

Page 122

characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language.
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.
7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The report contributes to the following goals within the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015:





7.2

A prosperous Wales
A resilient Wales
A Wales of cohesive communities
A globally responsive Wales

The five ways of working have been considered in the preparation of this report and
are summarised below:






Long term – HSG funded services will support individuals to meet their short-term
support needs, with the aim of delivering long term positive outcomes, supporting
individuals to achieve their goals and aspirations,
Prevention – HSG services are preventative in nature and are designed to reduce
the burden on more costly interventions,
Integration – HSG funded services support economic, social, and cultural outcomes,
both at an individual level and in wider communities.
Collaboration – BCBC effectively engages with a range of internal and external
partners on a local and regional basis,
Involvement – As part of ongoing strategic planning BCBC Housing engages with a
diverse range of stakeholders including service users and those with lived
experience.

7.3

It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no financial implications directly from this report. The spend outlined in
the HSG Spend Plan at Appendix 1 matches the indicative grant offer from WG
and is committed and commissioned in line with BCBC’s Contract Procedure Rules.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:
 Note the content of this report;
 Endorse the Housing Support Grant Spend Plan for 2022-23.

Carys Lord
Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and Change
8 March 2022
Contact officer:

Page 123

Ryan Jones
Strategic Housing Commissioning Manager

Telephone:

(01656) 643525

Email:

Ryan.jones@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Ravens Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend, CF31 4AP

Background documents:
None

Page 124

Appendix 1 – Housing Support Grant Spend Plan 2022-23
Spend Plan Category

Units

Annual Value

Rapid Rehousing / Housing Led Service

15

£175,727.77

Rapid Rehousing / Housing Led Service
Floating Support – Violence Against Women
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
Floating Support – Violence Against Women
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
Floating Support - Mental Health
Floating Support - Substance misuse and/or
alcohol issues
Other General - Other
Permanent Supported Accommodation Learning Disability

12

£80,000.00

10
200

£16,833.43
£427,388.57

80

£128,117.08

40
0

£64,058.54
£44,732.73

24
0
20

£416,029.00
£43,535.11
£36,069.01

12

£234,087.00

4
0

£95,818.00
£41,045.48

8

£69,260.00

34
10
10

£649,576.44
£35,712.00
£36,492.34

10

£36,492.33

6

£50,960.00

28
34
120
23
15
18
15
8

£532,347.20
£2,624.36
£379,984.00
£2,398.58
£33,276.43
£169,368.84
£33,276.43
£53,587.50

13

£210,750.74

16

£295,054.40

162

£126,020.00

Non Statutory HSG Related Posts
Floating Support Generic
Temporary Supported Accommodation Mental Health
Temporary Supported Accommodation Mental Health
PRS Access Scheme
Temporary Supported Accommodation Young People
Permanent Supported Accommodation Learning Disability
Floating Support - Mental Health
Floating Support - Mental Health
Floating Support - Substance misuse and/or
alcohol issues
Temporary Supported Accommodation Young People
Permanent Supported Accommodation Learning Disability
Alarm Services - Other
Floating Support - Older People
Alarm Services - Other
Floating Support - Young People
Refuges - Female
Mediation Services
Temporary Supported Accommodation Young People
Temporary Supported Accommodation Young People
Permanent Supported Accommodation Learning Disability
PRS Access Scheme

Page 125

Alarm Services - Other
Activities Designed To Promote and
Publicise Compliance with Housing
Other General - Other
Floating Support - Generic

665

£18,030.00
£12,137.84

0
330
11

£20,000.00
£420,712.90
£77,032.79

3
15

£136,170.00
£120,870.00

Rough Sleeper Outreach Service
Floating Support - VAWDASV
Floating Support - Generic
Floating Support - Ex Offender
Floating Support - Generic
Temporary Supported Accommodation Generic, Intensive Needs

10
54
80
60
30
23

£33,660.00
£109,908.00
£78,376.00
£92,337.00
£78,750.00
£289,583.68

Temporary Supported Accommodation Generic, Intensive Needs
Temporary Supported Accommodation Generic
Floating Support - Young People

16

£359,955.00

49

£212,785.02

25
5

£59,061.38
£68,586.42

38

£475,782.76

6

£35,000.00

5

£291,926.90

5

£291,926.83

123
218

£8,850.75
£21,442.75
£7,833,509.33

Temporary Supported Accommodation Generic
Emergency Accommodation Provision
Temporary Supported Accommodation Generic, Intensive Needs

Temporary Supported Accommodation Substance Misuse and/or Alcohol Issues
(Dry Accommodation)
Temporary Supported Accommodation Young People
Temporary Supported Accommodation generic
Temporary Supported accommodation Generic, Intensive Needs
Temporary Supported Accommodation Substance Misuse and/or Alcohol Issues
(Wet Accommodation)
Alarm Services - Other
Alarm Services - Other

Page 126

Agenda Item 11
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
UPDATE ON REFUGEE RESETTLEMENT SCHEMES
1.

Purpose of report

1.

The purpose of this report is to:

Provide an update to Cabinet on Bridgend County Borough Council’s (BCBC)
Refugee Relocation Schemes, specifically the Syrian Refugee Resettlement
Scheme and the Afghanistan Refugee Resettlement Scheme



Seek approval from Cabinet to resettle a further three refugee families under
either the UK Resettlement Scheme, the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme
or the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


3.

Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.

Background
Syrian Refugee Resettlement Scheme

3.1

On 5 July 2016 Cabinet approved Bridgend’s participation in the UK Government
Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme (VPRS), to support the UK’s commitment
of resettling 20,000 Syrian refugees who had fled as a result of civil war. Cabinet
initially approved the resettlement of six families.

3.2

On the 23 October 2018 Cabinet approved the resettlement of a further five families
through either the Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme (VPRS) or the
Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme (VCRS). This commitment took the
total resettlement pledge to eleven families across both Syrian Refugee
Resettlement Schemes. Both the VPRS and VCRS have now ended. From March
2021 the UK Resettlement Scheme (UKRS) is in place to resettle vulnerable
refugees in need of protection from areas across the globe.

3.3

To support the Syrian Refugee Resettlement Schemes a procurement exercise was
undertaken to appoint a dedicated support provider for the service. Initially the

Page 127

provider was The Welsh Refugee Council, however Taff Housing Association were
successful as part of a recommissioning process and have been the provider since
1 November 2019.
3.4

A separate procurement exercise was undertaken to appoint a dedicated housing
management service for the privately rented properties utlised to accommodate the
families. Hafod Housing Association were appointed and remain the provider of this
service.

3.5

BCBC has claimed a Home Office Refugee Resettlement Grant for each refugee
relocated. The funding is in place for five years from the arrival of each refugee and
provides £20,520 for each refugee relocated. Funding tapers off in each of the five
years. Funding for Education is also available in the first year of support, with the
amount dependent upon the age of the child.
Afghanistan Refugee Resettlement Scheme

3.6

In August 2021 BCBC committed to support the United Kingdom’s Afghan Locally
Engaged Staff Ex Gratia & Afghan Relocation and Assistance Schemes (ARAP). The
schemes were established for Afghan interpreters and other personnel who have
worked with the UK in Afghanistan. BCBC committed to resettling three families
through the Scheme.

3.7

Whilst there have been several changes to the Home Office funding arrangements
for ARAP, final funding instructions now confirm that BCBC will be able to claim grant
funding of £20,520 for each refugee relocated. Funding will be in place for a period
of three years, with funding tapering off in each year. Funding for Education is also
available in the first year of support, with the amount dependent upon the age of the
child.

4.

Current situation/proposal
Syrian Refugee Resettlement Scheme

4.1

BCBC has successfully met its pledge of resettling eleven Syrian Refugee families.
A total of fifty four refugees have been relocated, with several of the families also
welcoming babies into their households, since arriving in the borough.

4.2

The first family arrived on 2 November 2016 and the last on 18 November 2021.
The last family were delayed in being resettled due to the Covid 19 pandemic. The
families have been resettled in various areas throughout the county borough.

4.3

The families are at different points in their resettlement journey. One family has left
the county borough, whilst the first family to arrive recently reached their five year
resettlement anniversary (2 November 2021). Four other families will reach this
point in 2022. Several individuals have been supported to secure employment,
whilst others are engaged in education.

4.4

Dedicated resettlement support to these families is relatively minimal, with the focus
at this stage on ensuring the long term immigration status of the families is
resolved, given that the families have been initially relocated, on the basis of being
granted leave to remain for five years only.

Page 128

4.5

In addition to funding suitable housing and dedicated resettlement support the
Home Office Grant has been utlised to support general resettlement and well-being,
including supporting education, English classes, bus passes and utilising local
facilities, such as Halo.

4.6

Throughout the Syrian Refugee Resettlement Schemes a partnership approach has
been key to identifying and addressing any issues with resettlement. In addition to
the support and accommodation providers, joint working with Education, Health,
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Bridgend College, Welsh Government,
South Wales Police, and others has supported the scheme.
Afghanistan Refugee Resettlement Scheme

4.7

BCBC has successfully met its initial pledge of resettling three Afghan families. A
total of eleven Afghan refugees have been relocated.

4.8

The first family arrived in the borough at the end of November 2021 and the third
family in February 2022. The families have been resettled in various areas
throughout the county borough.

4.9

In preparation for the arrival of the families the support contract in place for the
Syrian Refugee Resettlement Scheme with Taff Housing Association (referred to at
section 3.3 above) has been modified to uplift the contract value to allow for
increased units of support for refugees resettled under ARAP and to ensure
dedicated support resource for ARAP. Utilising the same support provider will allow
for consistency in support across the schemes and for the scheme to benefit from
the learning of the Syrian Refugee Resettlement Scheme, which as detailed above,
has been in place since 2016.

4.10

In addition to the above, other preparations have included the development of a
welcome leaflet, arrangement of school places and registration with local GP
surgeries. As with the Syrian Refugee Resettlement Scheme, upon arrival
arrangements have been made for bus passes, access to Halo facilities and the
provision of English classes.

4.11

A working group convened on 15 November 2021 to ensure a strategic and multiagency oversight of BCBC’s Afghan Refugee Resettlement Scheme The group
have agreed to meet on an ongoing basis in the initial months of resettlement and
then review the frequency accordingly. Membership of the group includes,
Education, South Wales Police, DWP, Health, Bridgend Association of Voluntary
Organisations (BAVO), Registered Social Landlords and Taff Housing.

4.12

Please note that since BCBC committed to supporting the ARAP Scheme, the
Home Office have announced the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS).
This scheme will operate alongside ARAP and on the same funding basis i.e. for
three years. The ACRS will provide protection for people identified as in need,
prioritising those who have assisted the UK efforts in Afghanistan and vulnerable
people, including women, girls, and minority groups at risk.

Page 129

4.13

The UK Government is aiming to resettle around 5,000 people in the first year of
ACRS and up to 20,000 over the coming years. Local Authorities are being asked to
consider increasing any existing pledges made, to support this commitment.

4.14

It is proposed that Cabinet approve the resettlement of a further three families
under either the UK Resettlement Scheme, the Afghan Citizens Resettlement
Scheme or the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy. It is proposed that there
should be flexibility to accept a family from any of the three resettlement schemes
in order, to ensure resettlement to the highest presenting need, as identified by the
Home Office.

4.15

The recommendation to resettle a further three families has been determined by
taking into account capacity within the Taff Housing contract for the provision of
support, and the capacity within services, such as education and housing within the
county borough. Any resettlement under these Schemes in the county borough will
not include unaccompanied children.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon policy framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on
those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic
disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to
carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The report contributes to the following goals within the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015:





7.2

A prosperous Wales
A resilient Wales
A Wales of cohesive communities
A globally responsive Wales

The five ways of working have been considered in the preparation of this report and
are summarised below:




Long term – Refugee resettlement supports humanitarian crisis, with the aim of
delivering long term positive outcomes, supporting individuals to achieve their
goals and aspirations,
Prevention – Resettlement and the support provided ot help resettle families, will
aim to support families to be self reliant and reduce the burden on more costly
interventions,
Integration – Resettlement and the support provided to families will support
economic, social, and cultural outcomes, both at an individual level and in wider
communities.

Page 130




7.3

Collaboration – BCBC effectively engages with a range of internal and external
partners on a local and national basis
Involvement – As part of ongoing service delivery there will be ongoing
involvement with a diverse range of stakeholders including families resettled.

It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

As highlighted at sections 3.5 and 3.7 BCBC claims a grant from the Home Office to
support both the Syrian and Afghanistan Refugee Resettlement Schemes.

8.2

If Cabinet approves the recommendation in this report, then a grant of £20,520 will
be claimed for each refugee resettled. A grant for Education will also be available in
the first year of resettlement, the amount of which depends on the age of any children
relocated.

8.3

It is therefore considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable financial
implications as a result of this report.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:




note the contents of this report;
approve participation in the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme;
approve the resettlement of a further three refugee families with flexibility to
resettle familiers under either the UK Resettlement Scheme, the Afghan Citizens
Resettlement Scheme or the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy
depending on the highest presenting need for resettlement at the time.

Carys Lord
Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and Change
8 March 2022
Contact officer:

Ryan Jones
Strategic Housing Commissioning Manager

Telephone:

(01656) 643525

Email:

Ryan.jones@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Ravens Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend, CF31 4AP

Background documents:
None

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES
PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT REGENERATION: PLACEMAKING STRATEGY AND
PROGRAMME UPDATE
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:



Update Cabinet on the progress made on the Porthcawl Waterfront Placemaking
Strategy, to report on the outcomes of the public consultation completed and seek
approval from Cabinet of the Draft Placemaking Strategy Document (Appendix 1).



Update Cabinet on the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration programme.



Seek acknowledgement and endorsement from Cabinet of the recommended next
steps required to bring forward individual projects that form part of the Porthcawl
Waterfront Regeneration programme.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:1.

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.

2.

Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

On 15 September 2020 a report was presented to Cabinet which included an update
on the Local Development Plan (LDP) candidate site submission and proposed Land
Use Framework (LUF) for the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area (PWRA).

Page 133

Attached to the Cabinet report was a land use plan which indicated a proposed mix
of land uses and quantum of development broadly similar to that identified within the
Porthcawl Regeneration Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) prepared in 2007.
In summary, the land uses proposed was a mixture of residential, leisure, retail,
commercial, open space, car parking and active travel routes.
3.2

Work on the replacement LDP has since progressed to Deposit Plan stage with the
PWRA having been identified as a regeneration growth area, earmarked to deliver
mixed use regeneration including in excess of 1,000 homes, a school and commercial
development alongside new public open space and active travel routes.

3.3

Whilst the LUF was prepared to evidence the deliverability and viability of the site as
part of the LDP process, officers recognised that an additional layer of placemaking
consideration and guidance would be critical in ensuring the future development of
the regeneration area is delivered upon the Councils aspirations to deliver
development of the highest quality and responds to the wide ranging needs of both
the current community and future generations. In response to the need to provide a
strong placemaking framework, a placemaking strategy was commissioned with
Austin Smith Lord being the successful bidder following a competitive procurement
exercise. Since their appointment in the summer of 2021 Austin Smith Lord (ASL)
have worked alongside officers in order to progress the key stages of work, including
stakeholder engagement and public consultation, that have culminated in the draft
placemaking strategy that is now being presented to Cabinet for approval

3.4

In addition to the placemaking strategy providing a framework to shape future
development within the regeneration area it serves to highlight various key projects
that will need to come forward in a coordinated manner in order to enable delivery of
the entire project over a series of integrated phases. As such, in addition to the
placemaking strategy, this report includes a series of recommended next steps to be
taken for key sites and projects within the PWRA.

4.

Current situation/proposal
Overall Programme Update

4.1

Whilst the Placemaking Strategy provides a framework for future phases of
development and will be used to inform the next steps taken in the programme,
significant progress has already been made in relation to several key projects that
represent the first phases of the regeneration and are intended to act as catalyst for
future phases. Summary updates of each of these projects have been provided under
separate headings below.

4.2

In addition to the projects that fall within the PWRA identified below, it is pertinent to
recognise that work is also ongoing in relation to bringing forward other Council led
investment and regeneration within Porthcawl. This work follows the success of the
Porthcawl Marina, Jennings building and Rest Bay Watersports Centre
developments. One such current project is the refurbishment and enhancement of

Page 134

the Porthcawl Pavilion. At this stage feasibility work has been completed and external
grant funding is being actively pursued in order to support delivery of this key project,
as without such funding the project will prove difficult to progress.
Eastern Promenade and Western Breakwater Sea Defences
4.3

Works to complete the improvements to the existing Eastern Promenade and
Western Breakwater sea defences continue to progress on site with the Eastern
Promenade element of the works projected to be completed by the summer of this
year and the final stage of works to Western Breakwater to be completed by
November of this year.

4.4

The completion of this infrastructure project will represent a significant programme
milestone, as once complete existing properties in the surrounding area will benefit
from an enhanced level of coastal defence protection. In addition to existing
properties benefiting from the enhanced level of protection the completion of the
works will ensure protection for any new developments that are delivered as part of
the regeneration of Porthcawl.
Cosy Corner

4.5

In December 2020 the following were proposed to, and agreed by, Cabinet as a set
of guiding principles for the way forward for Cosy Corner, based on information
available at the time:







4.6

Desire to ensure funding allocated for Cosy Corner is retained for Cosy Corner.
There is potentially funding still available through the Tourism Attractor
Destination (TAD) programme for Cosy Corner
Adopting a partnership approach with key stakeholders
Taking action in a suitable timeframe
Minimising the period of time that Cosy Corner remains in its current condition
Minimising the on-going maintenance requirements and costs for Bridgend
County Borough Council (BCBC)
Enhancing the tourism offer of Porthcawl

In May 2021 BCBC concluded a procurement exercise and appointed architects
with the required consultancy support to progress the project. The architects began
producing the remaining information required by Welsh European Funding Office
(WEFO) and Welsh Government taking the project up to RIBA stage 3. In October
2021 a report was presented to cabinet outlining that a proposal was submitted to
WEFO and Welsh Government in August 2021 based on a capital programme
budget of £2,114,615. It was proposed that this value included £1,000,000 grant
and £1,114,615 match funding from BCBC. The match fund is made up of £384,615
via the Communities Directorate public realm budget, £500,000 from earmarked
reserves and £230,000 from the SRF. An offer of funding on this basis has now

Page 135

been received by BCBC with this funding and capital programme budget of
£2,114,615 now forming part of the approved capital programme.
4.7

A planning application for a multi purpose development consisting of a play area,
public amenity space, commercial units, Harbour Master office, and toilet / changing
facilities was submitted on the 2 November 2021 with planning permission
subsequently granted on the 11 February 2022. Now planning permission has been
secured work will be progressed to tender the construction of the project.
Food Retail Store

4.8

As detailed within a report to Cabinet in January 2021 Aldi Stores Limited were
appointed as the successful bidder to bring forward a new food retail store on the
north western portion of Salt Lake Car park. Following extensive dialogue with
officers, and a public consultation exercise, planning permission was granted for the
new foodstore on the 22 December 2021. Aldi currently plan to commence
construction onsite by the summer of this year with a view to being a position to open
the store by the summer of 2023.
Metrolink Bus Terminus

4.9

Detailed design work has now been completed on the proposed Metrolink Bus
Terminus to be located on the eastern side of the Portway. This design work
culminated in the submission of a planning application on the 12 December 2021 and
is currently pending consideration by the Local Planning Authority. The proposed
Metrolink, which is to be delivered utilising Cardiff Capital Region grant funding,
consists of a new four bay bus terminus and a single storey enclosed structure
together with associated highways alterations, landscaping and public realm works.
Once delivered the Metrolink will enhance public transport links to Pyle train station
and in turn the wider South Wales Metro network. In addition to the enhanced
linkages to Pyle, it will act to facilitate improved public transport frequency and
accessibility in and out of Porthcawl and across the local network.
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO)

4.10 Following Cabinet resolution in July 2021 the Porthcawl CPO was published on the 8
October 2021 and formally submitted to Planning and Environment Decisions Wales
(PEDW). The publication of the CPO was followed by a period of consultation
between 21 October 2021 and 26 November 2021 with a wide range of
representations submitted to PEDW. Officers are now awaiting confirmation from
PEDW as to what procedure the consideration of the CPO will follow. Once further
updates are provided by PEDW, officers will report back to Cabinet as appropriate.
Appropriation
4.11 On the 20 July 2021 Cabinet authorised the Corporate Director – Communities to
advertise the Council’s intention to appropriate the open space land. As detailed

Page 136

within the 20 July 2021 Cabinet report the process of appropriation allows for the
Council to transfer the land from its current use to a use for planning purposes. Before
appropriating the land to planning purposes the Council must advertise its intention
to appropriate the open space land for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper
circulating in the local area and consider any objections received to the appropriation.
4.12 In order to avoid any confusion that could arise from multiple consultations taking
place at the same time, officers have not yet progressed the advertisement of the
intention to appropriate land at Sandy Bay whilst the CPO and subsequent
placemaking strategy consultation were ongoing. Now that these two consultations
have closed and the draft placemaking strategy has been produced, officers intend
to progress with the advisement of the appropriation following the 8 March Cabinet
meeting. As outlined in the July 2021 Cabinet report, any objections to the
appropriation that are forthcoming will need to be considered at a further Cabinet
meeting in due course.
Placemaking Strategy
Emerging Themes and Opportunities Presented at Consultation Stage
4.13 Following a thorough review of the constraints, opportunities and planning policy
considerations that apply to the PWRA and a series of engagement sessions with
key stakeholder groups, a series of consultation boards were produced by ASL to
reflect the emerging themes and opportunities for consideration as part of the
placemaking strategy.
4.14 The consultation boards focused on what may be an appropriate response to the key
themes which included active travel and connectivity, green space, public realm,
sustainability and mix of uses. Diagrams were included to show how the development
could possibly be laid out in order to positively respond to these key themes, with
areas of potential development and connecting routes identified on the consultation
boards. These diagrams were supported by further illustrative design material and
precedent images in order to stimulate thought, conversation and responses from the
public.
4.15 The public consultation was undertaken over a 3 week period from 24 November
2021 until 17 December 2021. The consultation included a two day public exhibition
in the Porthcawl Pavilion which was attended by in excess of 1,000 members of the
public. This exhibition was followed by the consultation material being displayed on
the cosy corner site hoarding for 3 weeks and being made available online on the
BCBC website.
Outcome of Public Consultation and Draft Strategy Proposed
4.16 The outcome of the public consultation process is fully outlined within the consultation
report prepared by officers and included as Appendix 2 to this report. In summary,
the consultation reflected the continued levels of public interest in the future

Page 137

development of the PWRA. This interest ranges from full support of the emerging
strategies and opportunities to full opposition of any new development. Based on the
consultation responses the majority of the public fall between these two contrasting
positions with a clear trend that although there is acceptance of, and indeed support
for regeneration, there remains significant concern in relation to the following key
areas:
•
•
•
•
•

Amount of residential development.
Compensatory car parking provision.
Provision of leisure facilities.
Provision of community facilities.
Extent of public open space.

Whilst the above matters represent some of the core areas of concern it is equally
evident that the following matters were either fully or broadly supported:
•
•
•
•
•

Pedestrianisation of Eastern Promenade.
Extension of Dock Street with associated piazza.
Delivery of housing to meet local needs.
Extension of Griffin Park.
Construction of a multi storey car park.

4.17 In response to the consultation officers have worked to investigate what potential
amendments to the indicative approach identified at consultation stage could be
explored in order to ensure the nature and scale of development identified within the
draft placemaking strategy responds to the concerns and aspirations of the public.
When considering any such potential amendments it is incumbent on the Council to
ensure the framework for development identified within the placemaking strategy
remains in accord with matters such as planning policy and the need for any strategy
to be credible, deliverable and financially viable. Within this context the following core
amendments were made to the indicative mix and distribution of uses identified within
the PWRA.


Creation of a circa 200m long and 70m wide linear park along the Salt Lake
seafront.



Enlarged area of open space adjoining the pedestrianised extension to Dock
Street and adjoining piazza.



Reduction in the area of land on Salt Lake earmarked for housing by
approximately a third.

4.18 The aforementioned amendments to the approach to the nature and extent of various
uses within the placemaking strategy is considered to represent a significant shift in
response to the key aspirations of the public as conveyed through the consultation
process. With particular reference to the linear park proposed along the Salt Lake

Page 138

seafront, this area is capable of accommodating a variety of recreational, leisure and
community uses for both current and future generations.
Recommended Next Steps
4.19 Subject to Cabinet approval of the Draft Placemaking Strategy, it is proposed to
progress work on various projects that either represent requisite steps to delivering
the regeneration or individual opportunities that form part of the wider planned
regeneration as outlined in the Draft Placemaking Strategy. The next steps for which
Cabinet acknowledgment and endorsement is sought are as follows:


Prepare a business case delivery of development on Salt Lake central
residential site, Hillsboro Car Park and Salt Lake South Leisure Site.



Complete an options appraisal to determine the optimum route to deliver a
commercially deliverable leisure development on Salt Lake South Leisure Site.



Commission a feasibility study to explore potential capacity, design options
and associated costings for a Multi Storey Car Park on the existing Hillsboro
Car Park site.



Engage in further public consultation on the potential design and use of new
and extended areas of public realm and community space identified within the
placemaking strategy.



Prepare a development brief for the delivery of residential led development on
the area of Salt Lake North that lies immediately to the east of the food retail
site. Subject to a development brief being adopted proceed to market and
dispose of the site.



Prepare a development brief for the delivery of residential led mixed-use
development across Sandy West and Sandy Bay East in line with the
principles outlined within the draft placemaking strategy.



Progress the advertisement of the appropriation of land at Sandy Bay in line
with the previous authorisation provided by Cabinet on 20 July 2021.

4.20 As work is progressed on the items listed above the Corporate Director - Communities
will keep Cabinet informed of any developments and report back on individual work
streams as appropriate, in order to ensure the regeneration programme continues to
progress and that any further authorisation that may be required is sought.

Page 139

5

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

The endorsement of the Draft Placemaking Strategy and progression of the
regeneration programme based on the recommended next steps will positively
support the Council’s policies and procedures.

5.2

The site is currently allocated for mixed development within the existing Local
Development Plan. Policy PLA3 of the Adopted Local Plan sets out the Council’s
objectives for mixed use regeneration of brownfield under utilised sites and identifies
the Porthcawl Regeneration Area as being a significant part of this strategy through
its allocation as site PLA3(8). This allocation is supported by adopted Supplementary
Planning Guidance (SPG), often referred to as the “Seven Bays Project – Porthcawl
Waterfront SPG”.

5.3

In addition to the allocation in the Adopted Local Plan the site is identified as a MixedUse Strategic Development Site within the Replacement Local Development Plan
Deposit Plan Public Consultation Document.

5.4

Specifically, Policy PLA1 of the Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit Plan
Public Consultation Document sets out that the Land at Porthcawl Waterfront is
allocated for a comprehensive, regeneration-led, mixed-use development that will
deliver circa 1,115 homes (including 30% / 335 units of affordable housing),
incorporating a new one form entry Welsh medium primary school, a four classroom
block extension at the existing English medium primary school, a new food store,
leisure facilities, a bus terminus, recreation facilities, public open space, plus
appropriate community facilities and commercial uses. Policy PLA1 goes on to set
out a series of placemaking and master planning principles that apply to the site.

5.5

The draft Placemaking Strategy builds upon the land use framework that had
previously been prepared for the site and reported to Cabinet. Collectively these
documents evidence the deliverability, subject to funding being secured, and viability
of the site the major landowners have contributed to a draft land use framework and
masterplan for consideration as part of the LDP process. This work is supported and
informed by a suite of technical evidence that has been commissioned by the
landowners. The proposed mix of land uses and quantum of development are similar
to those within the existing SPG and include mixed use of residential, leisure, retail,
commercial, open space, car parking and active travel routes.

5.6

In addition to the planning status of the site at a local level, there is significant support
for the proposed regeneration at a national policy level. Planning Policy Wales (PPW)
supports the prioritisation of suitably located brownfield sites for regeneration
purposes subject to other policy considerations.

5.7

When considered in the policy and procedural context outlined above, the
endorsement of the draft placemaking strategy represents an important additional
step in progressing the delivery of development across the PWRA, realising the

Page 140

regeneration objectives of the Council and wider national placemaking objectives of
Welsh Government.
6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not
necessary to carry out a full Equality Impact assessment on this proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment based on the 5
ways of working has been considered and there are no significant or unacceptable
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.







Long term - The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration is a strategic development
scheme which has the potential to add vibrancy to the locality through the provision
of new housing, leisure and tourism opportunities, as well as retail and commercial
developments; set within appropriate open space, parking and public realm.
Prevention – the current Waterfront sites are largely unoccupied and under-utilised
and detract from the attractiveness of the area.
Integration – the Waterfront development will integrate with and access the existing
town centre, sea front and leisure developments.
Collaboration – the Council will continue to collaborate with residents, visitors and
end users of this project to ensure successful and sustainable development and
outcomes.
Involvement – ongoing engagement with the community will be an important facet of
this project.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

Whilst the placemaking strategy includes a significant number of large scale
individual and interlinked development projects, its endorsement by Cabinet does not
constitute approval of any additional capital or revenue expenditure and therefore
there are no direct financial implications arising for BCBC from this report. All financial
considerations will need to be considered on a project by project basis and further
reports will be brought back to Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate.

8.2

Although there are no direct financial implications arising from the endorsement of
the placemaking strategy it is pertinent to acknowledge that the receipt from the sale
of the food retail site remains ring fenced to invest in infrastructure improvements
within the PWRA and is currently included within the Council’s capital programme.
As outlined within the report to Council on 9 February 2022 the capital budget has
increased from £2.553 million to £3.488 million to reflect the enhanced receipt the
Council now expects to secure for this land.

Page 141

9.

Recommendations

Cabinet is recommended:
9.1

To note the progress that has been made with respect to various projects that form
part of the wider Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area (PWRA) programme.

9.2

To approve the draft placemaking strategy and authorise the Corporate Director Communities to (subject to such amendments as the Council’s Corporate DirectorCommunities may authorise) publish a final copy of the placemaking strategy, for the
purposes of establishing a coherent framework to guide the delivery of future
development within the PWRA.

9.3

To acknowledge that the following steps will now be undertaken to further progress
the delivery of key projects within the PWRA:
•

Prepare business cases for delivery of development on Salt Lake central
residential site, Hillsboro Car Park and Salt Lake South Leisure Site.

•

Complete an options appraisal to determine the optimum route to deliver a
commercially deliverable leisure development on the Salt Lake South Leisure
Site.

•

Commission a feasibility study to explore potential capacity and design options
for a Multi Storey Car Park on the existing Hillsboro Car Park site.

•

Engage in further public consultation on the potential design and use of new
and extended areas of public realm and community space identified within the
placemaking strategy.

•

Prepare a development brief for the delivery of residential led development on
the area of salt Lake north that lies immediately to the east of the food retail
site.

•

Prepare a development brief for the delivery of residential led mixed use
development across Sandy West and Sandy Bay East in line with the
principles outlined within the draft placemaking strategy.

•

Progress the advertisement of the appropriation of land at Sandy Bay in line
with the previous authorisation provided by cabinet on 20 July 2021.

The Corporate Director-Communities will report back to Cabinet to provide updates and
seek any further authorisations required in order to progress development within the
PWRA.

Page 142

Janine Nightingale
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – COMMUNITIES
March 2022

Contact officer:

Delyth Webb
Group Manager – Strategic Regeneration

Telephone:

(01656) 642714

Email:

Delyth.Webb@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address:

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background Documents:
November 2021 Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy Consultation Boards

Page 143

This page is intentionally left blank

PORTHCAWL PLACEMAKING STRATEGY
Page 145

March 2022

Page 146

Page 147

CONTENTS
1.0 INTRODUCTION
2.0 CONTEXT
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8

Porthcawl Waterfront
Planning Context
The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act
The 20 Minute Neighbourhood
Covid 19 Pandemic
Climate Emergency
Housing Crisis
Community Consultation

3.0 KEY THEMES & STRATEGIES
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

Connectivity
Open Space
Mix of Uses, Distribution and Scale
Sustainability

4.0 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AREAS
4.0
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8

Overview
Urban Realm and Green Corridor Infrastructure
Salt Lake South
Salt Lake Central
Salt Lake North
Hillsboro
Sandy Bay West
Sandy Bay East
Summary Review against Key Goals

5.0 NEXT STEPS

Austin-Smith:Lord LLP
Cardiff
Bristol
Glasgow
Liverpool
London
one Dunleavy Drive, Cardiff, CF11 0SN
+44 (0)29 2022 5208
cardiff@austinsmithlord.com
www.austinsmithlord.com

Page 148

Page 149

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 150

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy is to provide
a framework for the development of Porthcawl Waterfront over
the short, medium and long term.
Placemaking draws upon an area’s potential to create high
quality development and public spaces that promote people’s
prosperity, health, happiness, and wellbeing in the widest sense.
Placemaking adds social, economic, environmental and cultural
value to development proposals resulting in benefits that go
beyond a physical development boundary.
Seaside towns throughout the UK are facing significant
challenges to their economic viability. Porthcawl has a world
class coastline and chain of beaches and is in an advantageous
position of having a significant area of land, directly linking the
town centre to the superb and aptly named Sandy Bay, with
capacity for transformational development that can make future
Porthcawl a most attractive place to live, work, visit and invest.

6

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 151
7

Page 152

Page 153

2.0 CONTEXT

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 154

2.1 PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT

This Placemaking Strategy is focussed on 32 ha of land located
to the west of Porthcawl Town Centre, also referred to as
Porthcawl Waterfront. The focus area is indicated by the red
line boundary opposite, stretching in a curve around Sandy Bay
and comprising areas known as Hillsboro, Salt Lake, Griffin Park,
Coney Beach, Former Monster Park, Sandy Bay (former caravan
park), Newton Primary School and the Relic Dunes.
Whilst focussed on the Waterfront area, this Placemaking
Strategy importantly considers potential impacts and benefits
to the wider area of Porthcawl, its surroundings, the County
Borough of Bridgend and Wales.

10

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 155

2.2 PLANNING CONTEXT

This Placemaking Strategy has been developed within
the existing Planning Policy context of the existing Local
Development Plan and associated Supplementary Planning
Guidance, and also informed by separate consultation on the
Replacement Local Development Plan.
With specific regard to the existing planning policy context the
site is currently allocated for mixed development within the
existing Local Development Plan. Policy PLA3 of the Adopted
Local Plan sets out the Council’s objectives for mixed use
regeneration of brownfield under utilised sites and identifies the
Porthcawl Regeneration Area as being a significant part of this
strategy through its allocation as site PLA3(8). This allocation
is supported by adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance
(SPG), often referred to as the Seven Bays Project – Porthcawl
Waterfront SPG.
In addition to the allocation in the Adopted Local Plan the
site is identified as a Mixed-Use Strategic Development Site
within the Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit Plan
Public Consultation Document. Specifically, Policy PLA1 of
the Replacement Local Development Plan Deposit Plan Public
Consultation Document sets out that the Land at Porthcawl
Waterfront is allocated for a comprehensive, regeneration-led,
mixed-use development that will deliver circa 1,115 homes
(including 30% / 335 units of affordable housing), incorporating
a new one form entry Welsh medium primary school, a four
classroom block extension at the existing English medium
primary school, a new food store, leisure facilities, a bus terminus,
recreation facilities, public open space, plus appropriate
community facilities and commercial uses.
In addition to the planning status of the site at a local level,
there is significant support for the proposed regeneration at a
national policy level. Planning Policy Wales (PPW) supports the
prioritisation of suitably located brownfield sites for regeneration
purposes subject to other policy considerations.
When considered in the policy and procedural context outlined
above, the creation of this Placemaking Strategy represents
an important step in progressing the delivery of development
across the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area, realising
the regeneration objectives of the Council and wider national
placemaking objectives of the Welsh Government.

11

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 156

2.3 THE WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT

This Placemaking Strategy is also informed by Government
policy and guidance. Of particular importance is the Wellbeing of
Future Generations Act which drives the improvement of social,
cultural, environmental and economic well-being through legal
obligation and seven Wellbeing Goals which must all be worked
towards.
Throughout the Placemaking process, the emerging strategies
have been reviewed against these goals and a summary review
table is included in Section 4.8.

A PROSPEROUS
WALES

A WALES OF
COHESIVE
COMMUNITIES

12

A RESILIANT
WALES

A MORE EQUAL
WALES

A WALES OF
VIBRANT CULTURE
& THRIVING WELSH
LANGUAGE

A HEALTHIER
WALES

A GLOBALLY
RESPONSIBLE
WALES

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 157

2.4 THE 20 MINUTE NEIGHBOURHOOD

The idea of the ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ has grown with
interest around the world, especially since the COVID-19
pandemic put a spotlight on the importance of the liveability of
where we live, and presents multiple benefits including boosting
local economies, improving people’s health and wellbeing,
increasing social connections in communities, and tackling
climate change.
The development should be viewed as a piece in a wider jigsaw
providing a complete, compact and connected neighbourhood,
where people can meet their everyday needs within a short walk
or cycle.
The development must also work for tourism and meeting the
needs of the tourist must be woven seamlessly into meeting the
needs of the more permanent residents.
This approach aligns well with the seven Wellbeing Goals of the
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.
A summary review of the key placemaking strategies against 20
Minute Neighbourhood principles is included in Section 4.8.

Local employment
opportunities

Local shopping
centres

Local health
facilities and
services

Well connected to public
transport, jobs and
services within the region

Local schools

Local public
transport

Lifelong learning
opportunities

Safe cycling
networks

Features of a

Local playgrounds
and parks

20 - Minute Neighbourhood
Walkability

Green streets and
spaces

Housing diversity

Community gardens
Ability to age in
place
Affordable housing
options

Safe streets and
spaces

Sport and recreation
facilities

13

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

2.6 CLIMATE EMERGENCY

2.7 HOUSING CRISIS

The pandemic has permanently changed our approach to living
with long term shifts in life/work balances and changes to how
we occupy both our places of work and our homes. For many,
home is also a place to work either full time or through flexible
working arrangements. To do this our homes generally need
to be larger and more flexible with access to fast broadband.
Demand for shared, collaborative and social workspace has
grown to reflect new ways of working, accelerated by the
pandemic.

On the 29th April 2019, the Welsh Government formally declared
a Climate Emergency in Wales underlining the challenge
of climate change which threatens our health, economy,
infrastructure and our natural environment.

Whilst, expectedly, consultation exposed a range of public views
regarding the building of new homes, there is overwhelming
recognition of the need to provide new homes in Porthcawl for
the people and future generations of Porthcawl. These homes
should include a wide range of sizes and typologies and include
a significant content of affordable homes with a range of tenures.

Page 158

2.5 COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Periods of lockdown have also led to greater value placed on
access to fresh air, open space and green space with outdoor
exercise, walking and cycling increasing in popularity.

Welsh Government confirmed a determination to deliver a low
carbon economy at the same time as making our society fairer
and healthier and recognised this can only be achieved through
collective action facilitated by government in a central role.
Welsh sustainable development and environmental legislation
was already recognised as world leading and Welsh Government
set out a clear vision to use that legislation to set the pace of
change.

The Porthcawl Waterfront development offers an opportunity
to ‘Build Back Better’ by raising space and quality standards,
introducing new home typologies that properly facilitate home
working and integrating high quality, publically accessible open
spaces, biodiversity and nature.

Porthcawl Waterfront will be developed within the
comprehensive framework of progressive legislation set out
and this Placemaking Strategy has particularly recognised the
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, set out in section 2.3, as a
guiding document and benchmark.
Consultations have confirmed a public desire to exceed simple
compliance with legislation and to fully utilise the opportunity
to push further with sustainable design, carbon and energy
reduction in particular.

14

Steps should be taken to ensure new homes truly contribute
towards meeting housing demand and are not lost to ‘second
homes’ as can be the case in popular and scenic seaside
locations.
Whilst there is an urgency to providing new homes, they need to
be well designed and well built, of a size and flexibility that allows
changes to occupants’ lifestyles and ageing in place to foster
stronger, long term communities. They should also be highly
sustainable with low carbon and low energy footprints.
Consultations confirmed support for a strategy for new homes
to be more concentrated in the eastern area of the development,
becoming more interlaced with commercial and leisure uses
towards the town centre. New housing developments should be
highly perforate to pedestrians and cyclists and feel welcoming,
incorporating soft landscape, open areas and spaces to play.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 159

2.8 COMMUNITY CONSULTATION

In order to develop this Placemaking Strategy consultation
was carried out across a wide range of people to gather ideas,
views and opinions. A number of topics were set out to help
stimulate and frame conversations with key stakeholder groups
through online sessions and the public through a two day
manned exhibition, outdoor public exhibition and web based
consultation.
Formal stakeholder groups included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Porthcawl Comprehensive
Porthcawl Civic Trust
Sustainable Wales
Porthcawl Town Council
A Voice for the Future of Porthcawl
Parkdean Resorts (Operators of Trecco Bay Caravan Park)
Evans Family (landowners within the regeneration area and
operators of Coney Beach Funfair)

Over 1000 members of the public attended the two day
exhibition in November 2021 providing valuable real-time
views and feedback in addition to around 150 formal written
responses. The extent of public engagement underlines the
significance of the Porthcawl Waterfront development and
the desire of the community to help shape the future through
Placemaking.
Whilst there was a natural range of opinions, there were many
areas of common views being held and of in principle support.
The Placemaking Strategy has responded directly to the
consultations, reinforcing those ideas and concepts receiving
high levels of support and significantly changing other areas
and ideas. This applies in particular to Salt Lake Central where
the final Placemaking Strategy proposes less built form in favour
of creating more public open space and opportunities for a
variety of formal and informal leisure activities in tandem with the
proposed surrounding ground floor uses.

15

Page 160

Page 161

3.0 KEY THEMES &
STRATEGIES
Four Key Themes have been identified as critical to the future success
of Porthcawl Waterfront and Principal Strategies developed, informed
by consultation, to act as a framework for future development.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 162

3.1 CONNECTIVITY

Having no railway station, Porthcawl faces a particular challenge
from car domination. Indeed, in high season and at weekends,
much of the development area is dominated by parked cars
and whilst the ability to drive onto Salt Lake and park may be
regarded as convenient by some, it is visually unfortunate, fails to
create an appropriate impression on arrival and sterilises a large
area of land, immediately on the sea front that could provide a
far greater and wider benefit to the future of the town. This, of
course is in addition to the environmental impact of petrol and
diesel fuelled vehicles.
There can be no doubt that any future development must seek
to address this issue whilst recognising the critical assistance
required at a wider scale through improvements to bus services,
potential park and ride schemes, car sharing initiatives etc.
Consultation confirmed a universal desire to reduce the
dominance of and reliance upon the car. Even with an ongoing
shift to electric vehicles, they compromise the quality of the
environment and opportunities for people to enjoy active travel
or simply open space. There is also a realism that vehicles must
continue to be catered for, particularly in the short term whilst
modal shift takes place.
New development should focus on pedestrian and cycle
movement, promoting Active Travel. This will be achieved by
providing a comprehensive network of high quality highly legible
and navigable pedestrian and cycle routes throughout the
development and connecting with the town and coast beyond.

18

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 163

3.1 CONNECTIVITY
PRINCIPAL STRATEGIES:
1

Provide a multi storey car park on Hillsboro to cater for both
tourist and resident needs.

2

Remove vehicles from Eastern Promenade with the exception of
restricted servicing.

3

Create a high quality facility for arrival by bus, linked to cycle hire
and community facilities.

4

Incorporate EV charging opportunities throughout all areas of
the development.

5

6

7

8

9

10

Reduce the number of car spaces provided within the
development areas below current standards to promote more
active and greener travel.
Enhance Active Travel routes and prioritise the pedestrian and
cyclist throughout the whole development.

9

10

Create stronger pedestrian and cycle linkages between the town
centre and the coast, particularly through the extension of Dock
Street as an Active Travel route.
Ensure the whole development is permeable to pedestrians and
cyclists and easy to navigate.

1
3

Open up the Sandy Bay development areas through a new
access road for both vehicles and Active Travel and prevent
vehicular access to the new development areas from Mackworth
Road, Sandy Lane and Rhych Avenue.

2

7

Divert vehicular access to High Tide off Mackworth Road and
Sandy Lane onto the new access road.

Access stopped off to vehicles
Primary vehicular route
Reduced vehicular access
Indicative secondary road network

Primary active travel route
Pedestrian route

N
19

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 164

3.2 OPEN SPACE

The Covid 19 pandemic has brought the health and wellbeing
benefits of access to open space and green space into sharp
focus. Residents of and visitors to the new development will have
a wide range of open space expectations and needs from quiet
sitting and contemplation to vigorous exercise and specialist
sports. Some of these activities may utilise the natural resources
of the area such as the sea, beach, dunes or simply a sheltered
sunny spot with a view whilst others may require specialist
installations, tracks and equipment.
Some outdoor activities require a small space and some, larger
spaces. All catered for individually and in isolation, the space
demand can quickly take most if not all the space available
which points to the creation of multi-use, flexible spaces to
accommodate a range of activities at different times, with some
of the larger, specialist sports catered for elsewhere within the
town or region.
Consultation suggests open space should be created
throughout the development with a range of characteristics
from flexible, all weather hard public realm to softer green space.
There should be a range of scales from more intimate spaces
to larger spaces capable of hosting gatherings and outdoor
events and there is support for linking these spaces together, to
be experienced on foot or by cycle. Some open spaces should
provide a means of shelter from the wind and rain, either as a
permanent or moveable feature.
Whilst a development wide distribution of open space is
important, consultations confirmed a strong desire to have a
significant amount of open space located around Salt Lake
relating closely to arrival, the town centre and existing open
space around the marina and Eastern Promenade.

20

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 165

3.2 OPEN SPACE
PRINCIPAL STRATEGIES:
1

Create a significant area of high quality, flexible public realm
along Salt Lake and Eastern Promenade to accommodate a
wide range of outdoor leisure activities, partly permanent, partly
temporary in nature. Activities may include markets, fayres,
exhibitions and festivals, pop up retail, performances, outdoor
cinema, mini golf, fairground stalls and rides.

2

Link the existing marina and Cosy Corner into the new
development through high quality public realm, providing
spaces to meet, sit and enjoy the location and activities,
supported by cafes, leisure and community facilities in the new
development.

3

Provide some elevated areas of publically accessible space to
maximise enjoyment of views out toward the sea.

4

Transition from the dense, hard landscaped, urban town centre
to the vast open spaces of the beach and Relic Dunes

5

Enhance Griffin Park and create a green link through the former
Monster Park to the Relic Dunes.

6

Create a variety of green spaces from formal park to wild wood to
accommodate a range of activities which may include equipped
play, outdoor gym, exercise trails, cycling trails or tracks, bowls,
tennis, temporary supervised sports such as archery.

7

Punctuate new development with green spaces and trees.

8

Enable occupants to enjoy some private amenity and security
whilst keeping the development open and permeable

9

5

4

1

3
2

Ensure all public realm is of the highest quality and accessible.

Green infrastructure key points
and linkages

Public Realm key points and
linkages

N
21

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 166

3.3 MIX OF USES, DISTRIBUTION AND SCALE
Porthcawl Waterfront occupies a pivotal position, connecting
directly to established areas of commercial, leisure, tourist
and recreational use along with housing and schooling. The
development provides an opportunity to blend those uses
across the site to build upon and enhance Porthcawl’s reputation
as a tourist destination, provide greater opportunities for
commerce and employment whilst providing high quality new
homes, community facilities and public open space. These uses
will combine with enhanced opportunities for active and green
travel whilst recognising an ongoing need to manage cars and
traffic.
Whilst some areas of the development may most appropriately
focus on either leisure or housing uses opportunities should
be taken to create significant areas of mixed use, with 24 hour
occupation and a rich variety of active ground floor spaces with
homes above.
This Placemaking Strategy anticipates around 1100 new homes
distributed across the development in a range of typologies from
larger family houses to apartment living.
The extent of commercial and leisure space will ultimately be
driven by viability whilst studies suggest utilising ground floor
frontage to the new bus interchange, along an extended Dock
Street, eastern Promenade and Sandy Bay West (formerly
Coney Beach) could provide 4000 sqm of space for a wide
range of uses including cafes, local retail, craft workshops and
outlets, community and information centres, satellite health and
education facilities, shared workspace, gym, tourist attraction,
arts and gallery space, museum outreach.

Salt Lake South could accommodate a high quality hotel with
associated restaurant, café and bar space, further local retail and
tourist attractions.

Approximately 1100 new homes
of mixed tenure and typology

In addition, the flexible public open space will accommodate
pop up retail, markets, fayres, festivals, outdoor performances,
formal and informal leisure activity.
New development should be bold, attractive and of high quality,
sustainable design. Development on Salt Lake and Sandy Bay
West (Coney Beach) is envisaged as 4 or 5 storeys with the
taller development facing outward to the bay with active ground
floor use. There is opportunity for part of the Salt Lake South
development to be taller to act as a beacon for the development,
particularly on arrival. As the development approaches areas of
existing traditional and terraced homes to the north and east the
height of new development will drop to 2 to 3 storeys.

Minimum 40% of new homes to
be affordable

Potential for 4000 m2 of
commercial and community
uses within a mixed use setting

Potential for new hotel

1950 m2 new foodstore

4 x Bay Bus Interchange and
Cycle Hub

22

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 167

3.3 MIX OF USES, DISTRIBUTION AND SCALE
PRINCIPAL STRATEGIES:
1

Create a rich mix of use and activity which has long term viability, attracting new
residents, visitors and investors. Those uses include leisure, commercial, retail,
community, recreation and housing.

2

The blend of residential to other uses should graduate east-west across the site
with the primary usage being residential to the east and primarily leisure and
commercial to the west and town centre.

3

Build upon the successful leisure development around the marina and increase
the variety of high quality offer for residents and tourists.

4

Compliment the commercial, leisure and cultural facilities of the town centre.

5

Residential development to the east will be characterised largely by family
housing and to the west by apartments located next to and above other uses such
as commercial and community.

6

Blend home living, work and play activities to successfully co-exist and meet the
needs of a wide range of people.

7

Create a stunning place to live with a wide range of homes and tenures that are
genuinely affordable.

8

Create flexible spaces whose uses can change over short, medium or long term as
the development is realised.

9

Create spaces for community use, for clubs, for co-working, for artists and
craftspeople, for performance, for celebrations, for education, for entrepreneurs,
for charities.

10

10

Enable the expansion of Newton Primary School.

11

Provide space that could accommodate healthcare facilities whether that is a full
time primary healthcare surgery or a drop-in satellite facility.

12

Provide shelter.

13

Create a place which is exciting, forward looking, inspiring, aspirational, innovative
and memorable.

14

Create the scale of development required to ensure it is viable and deliverable
which is permeable and welcoming with excellent amenity spaces and access to
fresh air and nature.

Leisure

Metro link

Residential

Commercial /
retail

Green
infrastructure

Residential areas with
mixed uses at ground floor

Public realm

Car parking

School
Future development
opportunity

Key community use
opportunity

5

3

N
23

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 168

3.4 SUSTAINABILITY
As already set out in section 2.6 Climate Emergency, there is a
clear need for the new development to do all it can to counter
climate change and the principles of sustainable design, toward
zero carbon and energy should pervade all future development
proposals.
Opportunities should be taken to address this not only in the
built form and construction but also in working with existing and
future communities to facilitate initiatives for ev car pools, e bike
hire, green community transport schemes, the use of local labour
and suppliers, nature and wildlife preservation.

24

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 169

3.4 SUSTAINABILITY
PRINCIPAL STRATEGIES:
Seek to push beyond simple compliance with legislation and
take opportunities to quicken the pace of positive change
towards addressing climate change through net zero carbon and
net zero energy design and development initiatives.
Design to exceed current standards for energy and carbon and
exclude fossil fuels.
Promote ‘passive’ principles of sustainable design such as
well considered orientation to maximise solar benefits, super
insulation and high standards of air tightness.
Maximise the viable use of green energy technologies such as
ground source heat pumps, solar and wind with battery storage
incorporated. Consider the use of district heating.
Reduce the number of car spaces provided within the
development areas below current standards to promote more
active and greener travel.
Incorporate EV charging opportunities throughout all areas of
the development.
Enhance Active Travel routes and prioritise the pedestrian and
cyclist throughout the whole development.
Maximise use of local and recycled materials, minimise waste
and plastics.
Design for biodiversity and sustainable drainage.
Design for sustainable, more equal, inclusive communities.
Design for a better life balance and greater wellbeing.
Ensure the development is physically, socially and economically
accessible.

25

Page 170

Page 171

4.0 FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT AREAS

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 172

4.0 OVERVIEW

Six principal areas of future development have been identified.
Each area may contain several sub areas representing development
opportunities in their own right, some of which are already committed to
or underway. The diagramme opposite has gaps between the areas for
clarity, such as along the extended Dock Street or new foodstore access
road. In practice, these areas of new or improved highway or public
realm will need to be delivered as part of an adjacent development,
whichever comes first.
The following sections set out key criteria and recommendations for
each area but stop short of forming a detailed development brief or
design code. It is anticipated that individual development briefs will
be created incorporating the principles and strategies within this
Placemaking document.
Three sites, outside of the Waterfront area itself, have also been
identified as possible areas for future enhancement including; A - The
Square, B - Awel Y Mor Community Centre and C - The Police Station.
The following pages begin with further consideration of the urban realm
and green corridor infrastructure that is woven throughout the entire
site, and which binds the future development areas together.

28

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 173
Sandy Bay
West

Sandy Bay
East

17.21 Ha
6.17 Ha
C

B

Salt Lake
North

1.77 Ha

Hillsboro

Salt Lake
Central
3.93 Ha

1.46 Ha

Salt Lake
South
1.52 Ha
A

29

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 174

4.1 URBAN REALM AND GREEN CORRIDOR INFRASTRUCTURE

Crucial to the future success of the Porthcawl Waterfront
development, and central to this Placemaking Strategy, is
the creation of significant, high quality public open space,
incorporating both hard and soft landscape.
The following pages set out two principal elements of proposed
public open space:

Public consultation revealed a common desire to understand
the scale of the open spaces proposed and so p31 shows the
Public Square and Piazza alongside other familiar, local spaces
including the Oval Basin in Cardiff Bay, and the waterfront areas
in Barry and Aberavon. Reference to these existing spaces, which
host a wide range of permanent and temporary outdoor leisure
activities and amenities, enables the scope of possibilities to be
envisaged for Porthcawl Waterfront.

A series of large, interconnected public open spaces
located across the Western development area, which are
predominantly hard surfaced with green landscape within
them

New Revetment Wall

A series of large, interconnected public open spaces
located across the Eastern development area, which are
predominantly soft landscaped with hard surface paths within
them
These two principal elements also connect with each other,
particularly at the ‘hinge’ of the development area around Griffin
Park and former Coney Beach.
It has yet to be determined whether these principal elements
are delivered as ‘infrastructure’ in an enabling works fashion or
in sections as part and parcel of individual development areas.
In the latter case, it will be important to have an overall design to
ensure consistency of quality and approach.
The images opposite show a strategy for creating high quality
urban realm which include an extension to Dock Street towards
the Eastern Promenade, a new Piazza area associated with a
development on Salt Lake South, a new Plaza area associated
with the new Metro Bus Link arrival point and a significant,
14,000 sqm Public Square located along Eastern Promenade
and running from Dock Street to Coney Beach. Whilst some
of these areas will need to accommodate restricted and
occasional service access, they are fundamentally public realm
for pedestrians and cyclists and designed to accommodate a
wide range of outdoor activities and events. Further commentary
regarding uses is provided within the following Development
Area sections of this document.

30

Metro Link Plazza
Dock Street Extension

Eastern Promenade

Flexible
Community
Event Space

Piazza

Cosy Corner

Jennings building

Marina

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 175

4.1 URBAN REALM AND GREEN CORRIDOR INFRASTRUCTURE
2 X FOOTBALL PITCHES

OVAL BASIN, CARDIFF BAY

PROPOSED OPEN SPACE

BARRY ISLAND

ABERAVON BEACH

Surf School

68m

105m
65m

70m

Splash Park

110m

212m

1.36 Ha

Mini Golf

200m

115m

Mini Golf

60m
85m

200m

Adv. Park

Fun Fair

100m
35m
175m

Skate Park

0m

50m

100m

200m
31

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 176

4.1 URBAN REALM AND GREEN CORRIDOR INFRASTRUCTURE

The second principal element within the public open space
strategy runs from Griffin Park to the Relic Dunes, comprising of
a series of interconnected open spaces that are primarily soft
landscape and ‘green’.
This connection of green spaces does not currently exist as it is
interrupted by the Coney Beach funfair which sits on a plateau
above Griffin Park. The intention is to reduce some of these levels
to allow a connection to run west-east through the entire Eastern
development area. Whilst also enabling vehicles to pass from
New Road into the Sandy Bay development areas, this corridor
is designed for pedestrians and cyclists and to further promote
Active Travel.
This green corridor makes good use of existing green
infrastructure and soft landscape and will accommodate a
wide range of outdoor leisure activities. Further commentary on
these potential uses is to be found over the following pages that
describe each future development area.

Griffin Park

Community Use
Griffin Park Extension

Community Use
Monster Park
High Tide

Community Use
Community Use

New Revetment Wall

Relic Dunes

32

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 177

4.1 URBAN REALM AND GREEN CORRIDOR INFRASTRUCTURE
OPEN SPACE PRECEDENT IMAGES

33

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 178

4.2 SALT LAKE SOUTH

Envisaged principally for Leisure use as a natural extension to
the harbour, Jennings Buildings, Cosy Corner and marina, the
site connects those areas to a pedestrian and cycle extension
of Dock Street leading directly into the town centre and also to
Eastern Promenade.
Whilst some vehicles will be permitted between the site
and marina, in particular to enable boats to be lifted in and
out, and along Eastern Promenade this will be restricted for
essential access and servicing and three sides of the site will
be fundamentally pedestrianised. Portway will continue as a
primary vehicular route providing servicing opportunities whilst
recognising the quality of this frontage remains important.
The northwest corner of the site is prominent on arrival at the
new bus interchange, walking or cycling from the town centre
or on foot, having parked in the new MSCP on Hillsboro. This
should be recognised in the design approach and there is an
opportunity to create a taller feature in this location.
The development should take advantage of the southerly and
easterly orientation with superb views out across the bay and
channel. Opportunities should be taken to provide publically
accessible space at an elevated position to enhance this
experience.
The development should provide a meaningful area of public
realm to the south and east which has the feel of an open piazza,
rather than a travel corridor whilst it will accommodate an active
travel route and the coastal path.
This area of public realm should be of the highest civic quality
and there is a clear opportunity to include public art and further
areas of water or fountains. The public realm should offer places
to sit, meet and relax and could include external performance
space.
There should be a vibrancy to the development through active
ground floor uses, such as cafes which can spill out with external
seating areas under shades and canopies.
Parking would need to be underground or catered for through
the new MSCP which is very close by.

34

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 179

4.2 SALT LAKE SOUTH

Take advantage of views out and Sun path

Key Corner - Built form to address extended Dock
Street and new Bus Interchange Plaza

DOCK STREET
EXTENSION
ONE WAY
ACCESS

Public Realm to connect new development with
Marina

ACTIVE TRAVEL
ROUTE

Frontage to extened to Dock Street and towards
Eastern Promenade. Frontage to be active at
ground floor

Frontage to Portway could accommodate
servicing

Potential service access

T

Opportunity for publically accessible roof terraces
TURNING
AREA

Access required for boats on trailers

MARINA

BOAT
ACCESS

35

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 180

4.3 SALT LAKE CENTRAL

This Strategy anticipates a mixed use development located to
the north and west of the site creating generous public open
space along the extended Dock Street and in particular along
Eastern Promenade. This latter space, approximately 68m wide
from sea wall to new frontage and approximately 300m long
will accommodate a wide range of outdoor leisure activities,
partly permanent, partly temporary in nature. Activities may
include markets, fayres, exhibitions and festivals, pop up retail,
performances, outdoor cinema, mini golf, fairground stalls and
rides. A comparison of scale to other open spaces in the region is
included in Section 4.1.
This open space will also contain an active travel route and
the coastal path whilst enabling restricted vehicular access for
essential servicing. By creating a high quality shared surface,
flexibility of future use can be maximised. Trees and planting will
be incorporated without compromising flexibility. Underground
provision for temporary power and drainage connection should
be incorporated. There are further opportunities for artwork,
educational and fitness trails or outdoor museum pieces.
The site incorporates a new bus interchange, the design and
delivery of which is already in hand directly by Bridgend County
Borough Council. The approach is to provide a simple linear bus
interchange off Portway with a continuous, enclosed shelter.
This provides a major arrival point by bus, recognised by the
creation of an area of public open space or plaza which will
allow other community facilities to be located such as e-bike hire,
tourist information, potential drop-in public services, potential
library, health and learning spaces and café.
The development will have important frontages on all four
outward facing sides with vehicular access from a new access
road off the Portway roundabout. This Strategy anticipates a
courtyard space being created to accommodate parking spaces
(1 space per dwelling) in a landscaped setting that also utilises
the existing level changes across the site to form undercroft
parking and servicing along the west and southern edges in
particular. The courtyard space should be permeable to nonresidents, particularly in an east-west direction.
Development is anticipated as being five storeys facing the bus
interchange, Dock Street and Eastern Promenade enabling four
floors of residential accommodation above other uses, dropping
to four stories to the northwest.

36

The northwest corner of the development should respond
positively to its position on arrival into Porthcawl.
The ground floor of the development should have a range of
active uses such as cafes, local retail, galleries and community
space, which spill out onto the public square, providing vibrancy
and colour.
New homes are envisaged as apartments or duplexes providing
high quality modern living space and benefiting from the shared
amenity offered by their location. The homes will be designed to
facilitate new styles of home working and could be supported by
shared workspace within the development.
Ground floor flexible space within the development will also
open up the potential for access to health services subject to
take up. By way of guidance, initial studies suggest upto 2350m2
of ground floor space my be available for non-residential use,
subject to viability.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 181

4.3 SALT LAKE CENTRAL

Multi purpose high quality public realm

Restricted vehicular access for servicing

M

ONE WAY
ACCESS

Metro Bus interchange and Cycle Hub
LANDSCAPED PARKING /
SERVICING
INCLUDING UNDERCROFT

Community Hub - potential Cafe, Community
Services, Library

ACTIVE TRAVEL
ROUTE

Frontage

Active Frontage at ground floor

Key corner on approach

Vehicular access

RESTRICTED
VEHICULAR
ACCESS FOR
SERVICING

DOCK STREET
EXTENSION

37

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 182

4.4 SALT LAKE NORTH
This wedge shaped area is defined to the north by New Road
and to the south by a new access road from the Portway
roundabout. To the east it has frontage out over Sandy Bay and
also southward over the new Central Square. There is an existing
commitment to provide a foodstore and parking over two thirds
of the site facing New Road whilst the eastern part of the site is
envisaged as a four or five storey development providing new
homes above active ground floor frontage to effectively link
similar uses in Salt Lake Central to Sandy Bay West.
Following the pedestrianisation of Eastern Promenade,
vehicular access will be from the new access road which will
have pedestrian and cycle connection only into the new Public
Square, whilst temporary or emergency vehicular access can be
designed for.
Proposed Aldi Food Store - Salt Lake North, Porthcawl
Client: Aldi Stores Ltd

The Public Square and Promenade frontage provides an
opportunity for publically accessible spaces and a possible
community hub.

Date: 25/11/2020
Job/Dwg: 001.297.03.A

Whilst accommodating restricted service access, active travel
and the Coastal Path, the space between Salt Lake North and
Sandy Bay West will become an important public space at the
‘hinge’ of the development and the first point at which direct
access to the beach is possible when approaching from the
town centre to the west. Visitors may use the new access road
route if moving directly to the beach whilst they may also elect
to move along the Dock Street extension and through the new
Public Square to take in the wider development experience and
atmosphere.
Proposed Aldi Food Store - Salt Lake North, Porthcawl
Client: Aldi Stores Ltd
Date: 25/11/2020
Job/Dwg: 001.297.02.A

Proposed Aldi Food Store - Salt Lake North, Porthcawl
Client: Aldi Stores Ltd
Date: 25/11/2020
Job/Dwg: 001.297.01.A

38

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 183

4.4 SALT LAKE NORTH
P

Landscaped Parking

Vehicular Access

Key Elevation / Corner onto Public Realm

Visual screen to Foodstore
PROPOSED
RETAIL STORE

ACTIVE TRAVEL
ROUTE

Frontage

Community facility opportunity - Cafe / Club space

Foodstore

NEW SEA
DEFENCES

39

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 184

4.5 HILLSBORO
This area of existing surface parking will be more positively
connected to the town centre by the improvement and extension
of Dock Street which effectively creates a large northern area of
site and a more compact southern area.
Prioritisation should be given to pedestrians and cyclists
crossing Portway.
The larger northern site will accommodate a new multi storey
car park enabling more ground floor space to be given over to
public realm and development. Consideration should be given
to alternative future uses as, overtime, the aspiration is that travel
to Porthcawl Waterfront will be principally by public transport
including park and ride schemes, greatly reducing the number
of private vehicles requiring parking facilities. Consultations
confirmed widespread support for the concept of a multi storey
car park whilst recognising it will change the immediate outlook
of properties on Hillsboro Place.
The MSCP could present a fairly long elevation to Portway which
will need to be well designed and of high quality, sitting behind
a new avenue of trees and green space. It is anticipated that
this elevation will be modulated and punctuated vertically. The
orientation offers good opportunities for ‘living wall’ solutions.
Presentation of the MSCP to the Portway roundabout will also be
important, demanding something better than a ‘standard MSCP
design approach’.

40

The MSCP should be positioned toward the Portway and away
from the rear of Hillsboro Place as far as is practical and in
accordance with Rights of Light legislation.
A commercial or mixed use development is positioned north of
Dock Street to provide active frontage along this key pedestrian
and cycle route. This development should be of two or three
storeys in height and there is potential for a contemporary ‘box
park’ type development whilst recognising the site is located
within the Conservation Area. This development would be
serviced from the north alongside the MSCP.
The southern area of site offers an excellent opportunity for pop
up style activities, market stalls and coffee/snack outlets. These
could involve some form of permanent structure/framework or
be entirely removable.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 185

4.5 HILLSBORO

Important corner on approach

Vehicular Access

Potential Service Access

vvv

Community / Commercial opportunity

Important Facade - Hihgh quality and modulated

Frontage

MSCP

Conservation Area

DOCK STREET
EXTENSION

41

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 186

4.6 SANDY BAY WEST
This area comprises of Coney Beach, an existing funfair in private
ownership, Griffin Park and the southern end of Mackworth
Road.
Griffin Park will be remodelled, enhanced and extended up
through the rear of Coney Beach. The existing level change of
approximately 4m will be remodelled to accommodate a new
route with both vehicles and active travel. The level change
will remain in part offering opportunities for this to be designed
positively into the extended park. This park space will continue
into the former Monster Park area, which is retained as green
space aside from accommodating the new access road and
active travel route and eventually lead onto the Relic Dunes.
The new access road will be at grade where it crosses
Mackworth Road, which will be stopped up to vehicular traffic
at the northern edge of the new access road. Pedestrians and
cyclists will travel freely along the entire length of Mackworth
Road from New Road to beach front. Access to existing homes
and High Tide will be from the new access road and new
roundabout on New Road, removing this traffic from the northern
residential stretch of Mackworth Road.
The new access road will provide vehicular access into a
residential development to the north, adjoining existing
residential properties and a larger scale mixed use development
to the south and fronting Sandy Bay. The northern development
will include a number of homes fronting and accessed from
Mackworth Road as a continuation of the established urban
grain.

42

The southerly development will be four or five storeys in height,
with the taller development facing south onto Sandy Bay and a
reinvigorated promenade space. This will read as a continuation
of the frontages and building heights along Eastern Promenade
and Salt Lake North. Homes within the northern area of site will
be of two or three storeys.
A community building or public amenity space may be created
east of Mackworth Road adjacent to the former Monster Park
creating an opportunity to provide amenity in support of new
leisure uses within the park. This building would be of one or two
storeys in height.
The southerly development has important frontages to all
four outward facing edges with access principally from the
new access road and potentially also from the southern leg of
Mackworth Road. A central courtyard is envisaged providing
landscaped parking and servicing for residents but also
permeable to the public. The most critical frontage is that toward
the promenade which should continue the theme of active,
vibrant ground floor frontage with inside/outside spaces for
retail, eating and drinking. The northwest corner onto the new
roundabout is important as are the elevated frontages that will be
viewed across Griffin Park.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 187

4.6 SANDY BAY WEST

Change in level (Approx. 4m)

New Roundabout

P

New Vehicular Access Route cut into level change

Mackworth Road stopped off at new access road pedestrian / cylce access only

Corners of development to be expressed

All perimeter is important Frontage

P

Parking and sevicing from inner courtyard

Active frontage at ground floor

P

Griffin Park extended onto higher plateau

High quality public realm

Community building

43

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 188

4.7 SANDY BAY EAST
This large 6.17 ha site principally comprises the former caravan
park and the former Monster Park which is being retained as
open green space to link Griffin Park with the Relic Dunes.
The new access road which caters for vehicles and active travel
cuts through the northern edge of the Monster Park which will be
adapted to accommodate a range of outdoor activities suited to
a woodland setting. This may include adventure play, an outdoor
gym, exercise and nature trails, cycling and performance events.
There is opportunity for a community building or shelter where
the extended green space meets the Relic Dunes track east of
High Tide, working in tandem with a community facility at the
Mackworth Road end.
The arrangement of vehicular, pedestrian and cyclist circulation
within the site will be a matter for future design but all circulation
routes should be well structured and legible promoting high
levels of safety and wellbeing through passive surveillance, long
open lines of sight, good lighting and the regular use of wider
open space with movement possible in multiple directions.
Extensive lengths of garden or perimeter walls onto circulation
routes will not be appropriate.
This Placemaking Strategy suggests that there is a strong
continuation of the access road eastward through the site as
an organising artery. However, other solutions may be brought
forward, recognising that this continuation potentially has
Rhych Avenue as its end point and there should be no vehicular
connection between the development and Rhych Avenue, other
than for emergency access. This route would however enable
active travel from Trecco Bay through the development and into
town.

44

Sandy Lane should not be passable to vehicles beyond the
extended school site, except for emergency access, whilst
promoting active travel. An area of development west of Sandy
Lane will be accessed by vehicles from the new access road.
A regular grain of development is anticipated reflecting the
grain of existing homes north of the site and avoiding a sinuous
network of roads that would tend towards being less legible
and more difficult to navigate. This approach will also enable
more efficient land use leading to better opportunities to provide
pockets of open space that are publically accessible and not
locked away in private gardens.
Whilst the plan form assumes a degree of formality, new homes
should be entirely contemporary and well designed using high
quality materials. Homes should be designed to respond to
growing demands for home working space and also the drive
towards zero carbon and energy. In order to promote greener
travel, whilst recognising modal shift will take time, car spaces
should be limited to two per dwelling.
Highway and public realm design should be of the highest
quality incorporating tree planting, rain gardens and an
integrated sustainable urban drainage solution that promotes
biodiversity.
Development towards existing properties on New Road should
be two storeys rising to three storey in the centre of the scheme
with four storey development possible along the southern
boundary to the Relic Dunes taking advantage of the aspect and
orientation.

The track along the southern boundary will be for active travel
and there is an opportunity to punctuate this route with an open
green space that can be enjoyed by both residents and the
public. There could be some further community aspect to this
space depending on the demand and distribution of community
facilities elsewhere and a facility at the junction with Rhych
Avenue is also an option. Frontages onto this open green space
should be particularly well considered.
An area has been set aside adjacent to the existing Newton
Primary School to enable expansion or a new school facility.
This creates two new lengths of boundary to the main housing
development area and the housing should not turn its back
completely on the extended school. Access into the school
directly from the new housing would be beneficial subject to
detailed design of the school and access control.

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 189

4.7 SANDY BAY EAST

Primary access

Visual Stop to Primary Route - Public space /
Artwork

Important corners

Gateway

Community Facility

Primary Frontage

Open space to address potential school access

Landscaped Active Travel route with homes’
frontagesAll perimeter is important Frontage

45

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 190

4.8 SUMMARY REVIEW AGAINST KEY GOALS
The following table records a high level review of each
development area against the principles set out within the
20 Minute Neighbourhood Concept and Wellbeing of Future
Generations Act.
Future development plans should also be measured against
these benchmarks.

Local employment
opportunities

Local shopping
centres

Local health
facilities and
services

Well connected to public
transport, jobs and
services within the region

Local schools

Local public
transport

Lifelong learning
opportunities

Safe cycling
networks

Features of a

A PROSPEROUS
WALES

A RESILIENT
WALES

A MORE EQUAL
WALES

A HEALTHIER
WALES

Local playgrounds
and parks

20 - Minute Neighbourhood
Walkability

Green streets and
spaces

Housing diversity

Community gardens
Ability to age in
place
Affordable housing
options

46

Safe streets and
spaces

Sport and recreation
facilities

A WALES OF
COHESIVE
COMMUNITIES

A WALES OF
VIBRANT CULTURE
& THRIVING WELSH
LANGUAGE

A GLOBALLY
RESPONSIBLE
WALES

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 191

4.8 SUMMARY REVIEW AGAINST THE 20 MINUTE NEIGHBOURHOOD CRITERIA
The table below sets out opportunities which could be realised
subject to further design and viability:

20 MINUTE NEIGHBOURHOOD
CRITERIA

SALT LAKE SOUTH

SALT LAKE CENTRAL

SALT LAKE NORTH

HILLSBORO

SANDY BAY WEST

SANDY BAY EAST

SCHOOLS AND
LEARNING

• Outdoor museum and
learning trail;
• Outdoor learning spaces;
• Work experience within
leisure industry

• Outdoor museum and
learning trail;
• Flexible community space
for outreach, classrooms, arts
and crafts workshops and
adult education;
• Work experience

• Work experience in retail
• Learning trail

• Work experience in retail
• Learning trail
• School / College pop up
market stalls

• Outdoor Learning Spaces;
• Community Hub;
• Nature trail;
• Sports Clubs
• Work experience

• Expanded/new Primary
School;
• Outdoor Learning Spaces;
• Community Hub;
• Nature trail;

• Beach;
• Multi purpose outdoor space;
• Permanent and temporary
facilities, fairs, mini golf,
cycling and gym;
• Indoor space for clubs,
leisure, and gyms

• Access to Beach;

• Pop up activities

OUTDOOR AMENITY AND
LEISURE

• New Piazza;
• Outdoor Performance area;
• Gym;
• Cafes and restaurants;
• Links to marina and beach;

• Enhanced Park;
• Formal Play;
• Cycling;
• Bowls;
• Access to Beach;
• Outdoor Gym

• Retained Parkland;
• Adventure Play;
• Cycling;
• Outdoor Gym;
• Access to dunes and beach;

• High quality flexible public
realm;
• Public terraces;
• Extended Dock Street;
• Safe overlooked spaces;

• 200 new homes of mixed
tenure;
• Large open spaces well
overlooked;
• Spaces to Play
• Natural supervision

• 50 new homes;
• Potential for assisted living;
• Public realm

• Potential homes above
commercial;
• Landscaped boulevard

• New Homes of mixed tenure;
• Frontages onto high quality
streetscape;
• Well overlooked courtyard;
• New vehicular and active
travel artery;

• New homes of mixed tenure;
• High quality streets and open
space;

• Close to new bus
interchange;
• Cycle Hub;
• Close to new MSCP;
• Located on Coastal Path;
• Enhanced link to Town
Centre;

• New bus interchange;
• Cycle Hub;
• Close to MSCP;
• On Coastal Path;
• Good link to Town Centre;

• Active Travel;
• On Coastal Path;
• Connection to beach
• Connection to park

• Parking
• Close to Bus interchange and
Cycle Hub;
• Direct connection to town
centre

• Short walk to Bus Interchange
and Cycle Hub;
• On Coastal Path;
• New link from Griffin Park to
Sandy Bay

• New access Road and Active
Travel routes;
• On Coastal Path;
• Connected to Trecco Bay
• Connected back to New Road

JOBS AND SERVICES

• Hotel;
• Cafes;
• Restaurants;

• Cafes;
• Restaurants;
• Shops;
• Community Spaces;
• Job Clubs;
• Shared Workspaces;
• Social Enterprise

• Community Hub;
• Retail
• Carework

• Retail
• Social Enterprises through
pop ups

• Leisure and Retail
• Community Hub

• Extended School;
• Parks and public realm
maintenance work
• Conservation work
• Council Services

SHOPPING AND HEALTH

• Potential local retail;
• Gym
• Town centre access
• Active Travel

• Local retial;
• Flexible Space for Health
Centre or Outreach;
• Town Centre access
• Gym
• Active Travel

• Foodstore;
• Town Centre access
• Elderly Care
• Active Travel

• Pop up retail and markets;
• Close to Town Centre
• Active Travel

• Leisure and Retail onto
Promenade;
• Close to Foodstore and Town
Centre;
• Active Travel

• 5 minutes walk to Food Store;
• 10 minutes walk to Town
Centre;
• Potential Car Share and local
delivery services;
• Outdoor leisure/gym
• Active Travel

HOMES AND STREETS

TRAVEL AND
CONNECTIVITY

47

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 192

4.8 SUMMARY REVIEW AGAINST THE WFGA CRITERIA

The table below sets out opportunities which could be realised
subject to further design and viability:

WFGA CRITERIA

A PROSPEROUS
WALES

A RESILIENT
WALES

A MORE EQUAL
WALES

A HEALTHIER
WALES

48

SALT LAKE SOUTH

SALT LAKE CENTRAL

SALT LAKE NORTH

HILLSBORO

SANDY BAY WEST

SANDY BAY EAST

• Mixed Use Leisure site to
create destination and
enhance tourist appeal
• Provide local employment
opportunities:
• Hotel;
• Cafe;
• Restaurants

• Flexible community space
for outreach and adult
education;
• High quality Low Energy
Homes
• Shared Workspaces;
• Affordable Homes

• High quality Low Energy
Homes
• Employment opportunity:
Foodstore
• Affordable Homes

• Commercial and retail
opportunities / jobs
• Social enterprise

• High quality Low Energy
Homes
• Employment Opportunities;
Leisure and Retail
• Affordable Homes

• High quality Low Energy
Homes
• Affordable Homes

• Enhanced sea defences
• Metro Link to promote
sustainable travel and reduce
reliance on cars
• Potential for Renewable
Energy generation

• High quality Low Carbon
Homes
• Potential for Renewable
Energy generation
• Efficient use of land
• Enhanced sea defences
• Metro Link to promote
sustainable travel and reduce
reliance on cars
• SUDs including rain gardens,
swales and attenuation areas

• High quality Low Carbon
Homes
• Potential for Renewable
Energy generation
• Enhanced sea defences
• SUDs including rain gardens,
swales and attenuation areas

• MSCP to feature green walls
to improve air quality and
biodiversity
• SUDs including rain gardens,
swales and attenuation areas

• High quality Low Carbon
Homes
• Potential for Renewable
Energy generation
• Efficient use of land
• Extended Griffin and Monster
parks to enhance and protect
Biodiversity
• Enhanced sea defences
• SUDs including rain gardens,
swales and attenuation areas

• High quality Low Carbon
Homes
• Potential for Renewable
Energy generation
• Efficient use of land
• Extended Monster parks
to enhance and protect
Biodiversity
• Relic Dunes biodiversity
• SUDs including rain gardens,
swales and attenuation areas

• Proximity to Town Centre
and access to local services /
facilities
• Community engagement in
design process

• Proximity to Town Centre
and access to local services /
facilities
• Mixed tenure development
• Community engagement in
design process
• Affordable Homes

• Proximity to Town Centre
and access to local services /
facilities
• Potential for assisted living;
• Community engagement in
design process
• Affordable Homes

• Community engagement in
design process
• Pop up stalls / social enterprise

• Proximity to Town Centre
and access to local services /
facilities
• Mixed tenure development
• Community engagement in
design process
• Affordable Homes

• Proximity to Town Centre
and access to local services /
facilities
• Mixed tenure development
• Community engagement in
design process
• Affordable Homes

• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• Located on Coastal Path

• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• Located on Coastal Path
• Flexible Space for Health
Centre or Outreach;
• Proximity to beach and
Outdoor spaces
• Outdoor leisure
• Outdoor gym

• Potential for assisted living;
• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• Located on Coastal Path
• Proximity to beach and
Outdoor spaces

• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• MSCP to feature green walls to
improve air quality

• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• Proximity to beach and
extended Griffin / Monster Park

• Provision of Active Travel
routes
• Outdoor leisure
• Outdoor gym
• Proximity to beach and
extended Griffin / Monster Park

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 193

4.8 SUMMARY REVIEW AGAINST THE WFGA CRITERIA
WFGA CRITERIA
A WALES OF
COHESIVE
COMMUNITIES

A WALES OF
VIBRANT CULTURE
& THRIVING WELSH
LANGUAGE

A GLOBALLY
RESPONSIBLE
WALES

SALT LAKE SOUTH

SALT LAKE CENTRAL

SALT LAKE NORTH

HILLSBORO

SANDY BAY WEST

SANDY BAY EAST

• High quality flexible public
realm;
• Public terraces;
• Extended Dock Street and
integration with Town Centre;
• Metro Link to provide safe and
sustainable transport system
• Safe overlooked spaces;

• Extended Dock Street and
integration with Town Centre;
• Metro Link to provide safe and
sustainable transport system
• Safe overlooked spaces;
• Safe and affordable homes
• Flexible space for clubs
• mixed uses

• Safe overlooked spaces;
• Safe and affordable homes

• Safe overlooked spaces;
• Metro Link to provide safe and
sustainable transport system

• Safe overlooked spaces;
• Safe and affordable homes
• mixed uses

• Safe overlooked spaces;
• Safe and affordable homes

• Placemaking to create a
sense of belonging and local
distinctivness
• Outdoor museum and learning
trail;
• Outdoor learning spaces;

• Placemaking to create a
sense of belonging and local
distinctivness
• Outdoor museum and
learning trail;
• Flexible community space
for outreach and adult
education;
• Multi purpose outdoor space;
• Permanent and temporary
facilities, fairs, mini golf,
cycling and gym;

• Placemaking to create a
sense of belonging and local
distinctivness

• Flexible temporary community
event space

• Placemaking to create a
sense of belonging and local
distinctivness
• Flexible community space
• Learning / history trail

• Placemaking to create a
sense of belonging and local
distinctivness
• Flexible community space
• Learning / history trail

• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

• Flexible community space
for outreach and education;
• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

• Flexible community space
for outreach and education;
• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

• Flexible community space
for outreach and education;
• Reduced ecological footprint
of development
• Reduced greenhouse gases
emissions

49

Page 194

Page 195

5.0 NEXT STEPS

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 196

5.1 NEXT STEPS

Following the adoption of this Placemaking Strategy, individual
development areas will be brought forward in a planned and
coordinated manner to maximise the short and long term
benefits to Porthcawl and taking account of deliverability,
viability, required infrastructure, phasing logistics, tourism and
business disruption.
It is anticipated that suitable development partners will be
identified to work in collaboration with the council in order to
deliver the ambitions and aspirations for the town. They will
be responsible for the detailed design of future developments,
guided by development briefs or design codes which follow the
principles identified in this Placemaking Strategy.
There is an expectation that these detailed development plans
will be created in consultation with key stakeholders and the
people of Porthcawl in accordance with good Placemaking
practice. It will be particularly important to engage with young
people of Porthcawl through clubs and schools to ensure their
voices and ideas are heard.
Realisation of the Waterfront development will require a good
number of years in its planning and delivery and opportunities
for ‘meanwhile’ developments and uses that support the long
term ambitions of this Placemaking Strategy should also be
taken.
The image opposite shows how the key principles and strategies
set out for each development area and the public open space
combine to create a comprehensive and cohesive Pacemaking
Strategy for Porthcawl Waterfront to inform future development.

52

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy - Bridgend County Borough Council

Page 197
53

Page 198
Bristol
40 Berkeley Square
Bristol BS8 1HP
+44 (0)117 239 0500
bristol@austinsmithlord.com
Cardiff
one Dunleavy Drive
Cardiff CF11 0SN
+44 (0)2920 225 208
cardiff@austinsmithlord.com
Glasgow
25 Bothwell Street Street
Glasgow G2 6NL
+44 (0)141 223 8500
glasgow@austinsmithlord.com
Liverpool
Port of Liverpool Building, Pier Head
Liverpool L3 1BY
+44 (0)151 227 1083
liverpool@austinsmithlord.com
London
154-158 Shoreditch High Street
London E1 6HU
+44 (0)203 0920 333
london@austinsmithlord.com
www.austinsmithlord.com

Austin-Smith:Lord Ltd
is a Limited Company registered in England & Wales with registered number 11773049

Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy
Public Consultation Report
March 2022

Page 199

1. Overview
A public consultation asking for views on the key strategies and emerging opportunities identified as part
of the preparation of the Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy was undertaken over a three-week period from
the 24 of November until the 17 of December 2021. The consultation included a two-day public exhibition
in the Porthcawl Pavilion which was attended by over a 1000 members of the public. This exhibition was
followed by the consultation material being displayed on the Cosy Corner site hoarding for three weeks
and being made available online on the council’s website.
The Porthcawl Placemaking Strategy Consultation provided an opportunity for businesses and residents
to give their views on the emerging proposals, either online or by visiting drop-in sessions where exhibition
boards and regeneration staff were on-hand to advise on the strategy. The exhibition boards set out some
of the aims and objectives of the development alongside some of the opportunities and emerging ideas.
The plans and images were provided for illustration purposes only, to stimulate conversation and do not
represent fixed designs.
2. Introduction
The public were invited to submit comments in writing during the two-day exhibition event and throughout
the subsequent three-week consultation period. In total, 142 comments were submitted in response to
the consultation, being a combination of those submitted in person across the course of the 2 day
exhibition and representations submitted via email or posted to the Council.
Although comments submitted covered a wide range of issues it is evident that the majority of comments
were in relation to one or more of the following key themes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Parking and transport
Residential development
Open space and recreation
Leisure provisions
Community facilities
Commercial uses
Sustainability
Ecology

3. Marketing and engagement methods
This section details the specific marketing and engagement methods used to reach people and
encourage them to share their views during the consultation period.
3.1 Social media and GovDelivery bulletin
The council runs the following social media accounts: Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, and
YouTube.
There are currently has 14,321 followers on its English Twitter account and 316 on its Welsh Twitter
account, 17,234 followers on its English Facebook page and 198 on the Welsh Facebook page, 2,975
followers on Instagram and 5,261 followers on LinkedIn and 142 subscribers on YouTube. While
content is most likely to be seen by these users, it is also displayed to users who are not connected to
the accounts.
The draft Porthcawl Placemaking strategy was promoted on the council’s corporate Facebook and
Twitter social media channels throughout the consultation period to raise awareness of the consultation
and to encourage citizens to share their views on the proposals.
Information was posted twice in both English and Welsh on Twitter on the 23 and 30 November,
reaching 1,533 people with 89 engagements, five likes and two retweets.

Page 200

Information was posted twice on the English and Welsh Facebook pages, reaching a total of 20,733
people with 2,813 engagements, 50 likes, 19 comments and 37 shares.
In June 2020, the local authority implemented a new digital communications channel called Gov
Delivery. Gov Delivery is a new email marketing system that sends messages directly to residents’
email inboxes in the language of their choice. There are currently 36,539 English subscribers and 222
Welsh subscribers from Bridgend County Borough signed up to receive weekly update emails.
The draft Porthcawl Placemaking strategy consultation was included in one weekly English and Welsh
bulletin issued on the 15 November 2021. This generated 110 link clicks through to the consultation
webpages.
3.2 Local press
Details of the consultation were issued in two press releases emailed to local and national press on the
15 and 25 November 2021.
3.3 Internal communications
Details of the consultation were not published internally in the Bridgenders weekly staff messages.
3.4 Engagement with stakeholders
Local members and interested groups were made aware of the consultation event and disseminated
information to their respective constituents and members.
Prior to the public consultation event, advance meetings were held with the following stakeholders in
order to obtain early comments and feedback to inform the emerging strategies and opportunities
identified.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Porthcawl Comprehensive
Porthcawl Civic Trust
Sustainable Wales
Porthcawl Town Council
A Voice for the Future of Porthcawl
Parkdean Resorts (Operators of Trecco Bay Caravan Park)
Evans Family (landowners within the regeneration area and operators of Coney Beach Funfair)

Given the public consultation was held on two consecutive weekdays extended evening hours were
provided on the Thursday to maximise attendance and cater for those members of the public that could
not attend during regular business hours. The Thursday evening session proved particularly popular with
a significant number of attendees visiting the exhibition up until and even past the 8pm finish time. For
those members of the public that could not attend the exhibition, the same consultation material was
displayed on the Cosy Corner hoarding for three weeks and made available on the council’s website.
In order to maximise the response rate, paper consultation forms were distributed at the event providing
an opportunity for people to submit handwritten comments in person at the event, and in addition
instructions for how to submit comments via email or post over the subsequent three-week period.

4. Response rate
In total, there were 142 written responses formally submitted to BCBC. In addition to these written
responses, officers had a significant number of conversations with members of the public over the course
of the two-day exhibition which raised key issues and themes which were mirrored by the written
responses.

Page 201

5. Headline Figures
In order to analyse and understand the key trends reflected by the comments received, each response
was reviewed in detail and coded when considered against a range of key themes and issues. For
example, whether a response was in support of the potential opportunity to extend Dock Street or whether
they were opposed to this opportunity.
•

51% of respondents that commented on the proposals either fully or partially supported the
emerging strategy and opportunities identified.

•

Only 18% of respondents that commented on the proposals were fully opposed to the emerging
strategy and opportunities identified.

•

74% of respondents that commented on the residential elements of the proposals confirmed
support for residential development but at a lesser scale that that indicatively proposed.

•

100% of respondents that commented on the proposed extension of Dock street supported this
opportunity.

•

100% of respondents that commented on the proposed extension of Griffin Park supported this
opportunity.

•

81% of respondents that commented on the proposed pedestrianisation of eastern promenade
supported this opportunity.

•

73% of respondents that commented on the proposed multi storey car park supported this
opportunity.

•

41% of respondents that commented on the proposals considered that there was a lack of leisure
opportunities identified.

•

32% of respondents that commented on the proposals considered that there was a lack of
community facility opportunities identified.

•

23% of respondents that commented on the proposals considered that there was a lack of open
space / recreational opportunities identified.

•

50% of all respondents that commented on the proposals were concerned about parking and
transportation issues

6. Key themes and issues raised
In addition to the above headline numerical analysis and further detailed numerical analysis provided as
appendix 1, some of the typical consultation comments have been reviewed, summarised and
categorised under separate headings below.

Residential
•
•

If this much housing is built on Salt Lake, it prevents any space for recreation, an important and
attractive feature of Porthcawl will be lost for ever.

•

Do not support housing on the sea front.

•

Concerned height of buildings will block views.

•

Concerned
Page
202that housing will be too expensive.

•

Housing should be net zero carbon.

•

All new homes should have renewable energy like solar panels or heat pumps and electric
charge points.

•

Development should maximise affordable housing.

•

A need to stop people from buying new home as holiday homes.

•

More housing is needed in Porthcawl and the development is supported.

•

People need to recognise housing is key to the viability of overall regeneration.

•

A resort needs people to live there and provide places to stay to encourage other uses that bring
vitality.

•

Housing is needed but it should be built on the outskirts of towns and villages.

•

Housing would be better located in Bridgend.

Parking / Transport
•

There is not enough parking as it stands.

•

Currently insufficient parking for bank holidays and bonfire night.

•

The council should provide parking along existing dual carriageway and make single
carriageway.

•

Car sharing and CPZ parking should be adopted.

•

New road through the existing Griffin Park to Sandy Bay should be extended to the Trecco Bay
Caravan Park and a new slip road and entrance constructed.

•

New road through the existing Griffin Park should be constructed prior to any other
developments.

•

Sandy Bay should be opened for tourist parking until the multi storey car park in Hillsborough
Place is constructed.

•

The plan does not work together without the multi-story car park.

•

We would suggest provision is maintained for touring caravans/campervans/motorhomes within
the Sandy Bay development. Staycation provision would be in line with the wider project
objectives.

Commercial
•

The current retail areas should be fully integrated into the scheme and not left isolated to
become ghost towns if there is new retail in the development.

•

Like that there could be shops but worried about impact on town centre.

•

Concern that new businesses will compete with already established and going concerns for the
seaside trade.

•

Shipping container commercial units should be introduced.

Page 203

Leisure
•

The fairground should be retained in some form as this attracts large numbers of visitors to the
town.

•

Opportunity to provide facilities for water sports, cycling and other activities alongside Coney
Beach and the prom (e.g. hire and changing facilities).

•

More leisure and sports facilities needed for teenagers, children and everyone.

•

People want swimming pools and leisure centre.

•

The council should take ideas from Cardiff Bay, Barry Island and Aberavon.

•

Existing hotels should be regenerated before new hotels are considered.

•

Concerned the new hotel will be for the wealthy only.

•

Area would benefit from an Amphitheatre or Auditorium - an area that can be used for music, art
and crafts - providing our community and visitors with an interesting area that also supports
musicians, artists and small local businesses that can't afford premises due to such high rates in
the area.

•

Make it a fun, fashionable area with coffee bars, wine bars, small boutiques as well.

•

Everything possible should be done to encourage the 4 star spa hotel shown in the concept
drawing.

Open Space
•

Concerned about possible loss of tennis courts and would like to see tennis courts resurfaced.

•

Would like to see open air gym equipment and play facilities included.

•

The inclusion of a pump track, skate park, climbing walls, adventure play, covered social space
offering should be considered. Protection from the elements such as indoor amenities would be
supported. There are strong links to be drawn between the rich surfing culture in Porthcawl and
these types of facilities.

•

A sufficient area of land in this unique location should remain in public ownership and be
protected from permanent types of development.

•

Perhaps some provision could be made for all-weather five-a-side football and basketball/netball
courts within the Griffin Park area.

•

Would like to see outdoor shower facilities for all the open water swimmers, with storage/ hooks
for bags and coats

•

The new plazas and promenades should have leisure features such a children’s play equipment,
splash park and pump track.

•

A hub for outdoor sports would be a useful facility for local groups who already use the coastline
for sports.

•

Indoor space is needed for all weather sports use.

•

A tidal pool or seawater pool should be developed.

•

Page 204

Concerned about potential loss of bowling green.

Community Facilities
•

Medical centre already at capacity.

•

Need leisure centre

•

Need more provision for youth.

•

Developers should be made to provide facilities.

Design
•

Need for quality materials and any development should not be like the bottle bank.

•

Need more consideration of disabled access across development.

•

Concerned over creation of ‘wind tunnels’ with open spaces next to buildings.

•

The design should turn Salt Lake into a marina.

•

Concerned as to whether the buildings and other aspects of the project stand the test of time as
the corrosive nature of the sea affects not only the land but buildings as well.

•

If Porthcawl is to be developed as a ‘Premier Seaside Resort’ it needs architecture that is
exciting colourful, and appropriate to the seaside situation, and should include cafes a,
restaurants and facilities for surfers, windsurfers etc. along the seafront.

•

Tenby seafront has tall traditional buildings which are full of character and colour – this could be
included in Porthcawl

•

It is important to ensure the regeneration makes the development unique and attractive to
visitors - not just a template modern development with box-like modern buildings.

Ecology
•

Not enough space for wildlife.

•

Oppose the road through the former model village as this are currently protect owls, songbids
and trees.

General
•

Very impressive and ambitious plans but do not believe it will happen.

•

Some aspects of the plan were really exciting, like the enhancement of the Eastern Promenade
and the improved walkway through Dock Street. These changes would massively improve the
town and allow the area within Salt Lake to grow organically and in tune with the needs of the
town.

•

Could this regeneration be a starting point for bringing Porthcawl into focus as a place for Welsh
language culture.

•

Prefer 2007 SPG plans and closing of Portway.

•

Porthcawl is dying and is in need of a plan to revive it, and its high street and
leisure/entertainment facilities but this is not the right plan to address this

Page 205

•

Those concerned should visit Aberavon Beach and look at the facilities provided by Neath-Port
Talbot local authority for their local people as well as visitors.

•

Developemnt should incorporate displays/information about local nature, eco systems and
recycling facilities to promote more sustainable behaviours.

•

Concerned about ground conditions, particularly on Salt Lake and future water table rises.

•

Concerned about sewage capacity and overflow

•

Having looked at the architect’s plans it looks wonderful. If firstly, finances permit and at least
some of it can happen within this decade. Porthcawl has been promised regeneration for many,
many years and, like the project at the harbour things have fallen flat and ended in
disappointment and empty promises.

7. Summary and Conclusions
Based on the number of attendees at the public event, comments made at the event and subsequent
written representations received it is evident that there is significant public interest in the future
development of the Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Area. This interest ranges from full support of the
emerging strategies and opportunities to full opposition of any new development. Based on the
consultation responses, the majority of the public fall between these two contrasting positions with a clear
trend that although there is acceptance of, and indeed support for regeneration, there remains significant
concern in relation to the following key areas:
•
•
•
•
•

Amount of residential development
Compensatory car parking provision
Leisure facilities
Community facilities
Extent of public open space

Whilst the above matters represent some of the core areas of concern it is equally evident that the
following matters are either fully or broadly supported:
•
•
•
•
•

Pedestrianisation of Eastern Promenade
Extension of Dock Street with associated piazza
Delivery of housing to meet local needs (albeit not at the scale indicatively identified)
Extension of Griffin Park
Construction of a multi storey car park

Page 206

Appendix A – Consultation Response Numerical Analysis
Overall Position Adopted by Respondents

Overall Position
Fully Support Emerging Strategy and
Opportunities
Partially Support Emerging Strategy and
Opportunities
Partially Opposed to Emerging Strategy
and Opportunities
Fully Opposed to Emerging Strategy and
Opportunities
Total responses that adopted a
commented on on proposals
Neutral / Unclear
Objection to CPO
Total responses including neutral/
unclear and those related to the CPO

Number of Responses
13
52
38
23
126
12
4
142

Responses on Key Issues

Key issue
Concerned about loss of parking and / or
traffic issues
Consider that there is not enough existing
parking
Support MSCP on Hilsboro
Do not support MSCP on Hilsboro
Fully support residential development
Do not support residential development at
all
Support residential development but not to
the extent proposed
Supportive of residential development on
sandy bay / coney beach but not Salt Lake
Support residential development on Salt
Lake but not to the extent proposed
Consider there is a lack of leisure faculties
proposed
Consider there is a lack of community
faculties proposed
Insufficient recreational space / open space
Support community space on southern part
of Hilsboro
Support extension of Dock Street
Opposed to extension of Dock Street
Support pedestrianisation of eastern
promenade
Opposed to pedestrianisation of eastern
promenade
Support bus terminus
Opposed to bus terminus
Supportive of a new hotel
Supportive
a new hotel but consider that
Pageof207
further alternative leisure provision required

Number of related responses
50
15
11
4
13
9
62
8
15
52
41
29
3
15
13
3
4
4
4
5

Opposed to a new hotel
Supportive of extension to Griffin Park
Opposed to extension of Griffin Park

Page 208

7
9
0

Agenda Item 13
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES
PORTHCAWL HARBOUR BYELAWS
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the process to
revise the byelaws that are currently effective at Porthcawl Harbour, to reflect the
current operations and activities that take place, and the consultation on the
proposed new byelaws, under the provisions of the Local Government Byelaws
(Wales) Act 2012. The report seeks approval of the proposed new byelaws
and requests that, subject to Cabinet approval, they be presented to Council for
adoption.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on
the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and
independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

Porthcawl Harbour is situated on the Bristol Channel which is famous for its large
tidal range and strong currents making it a hazardous area to navigate. The Bristol
Channel has a large amount of commercial activity and, very often, ships navigating
their way up to Bristol Docks can be seen laden with containers, cars and raw
materials for distribution across the UK.

3.2

Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) are granted powers to assist in the
operation, maintenance and development of Porthcawl Harbour and must act in the

Page 209

capacity of the Harbour Authority under the provisions of Part V of the Mid Glamorgan
County Council Act 1987 (“the 1987 Act”). The Council is identified as being the
Harbour Authority with the undertakings associated with the Harbour being vested in
the Council.
3.3

Porthcawl Harbour is home to the Royal National Lifeboart Insititution’s (RNLI)
busiest inshore lifeboat station in Wales and consequently a very active branch of
National Coastwatch Institute (NCI). Both charities are dedicated to working with
BCBC to improve water safety across the coastline of Bridgend County Borough.

3.4

Porthcawl Harbour now attracts various groups of individuals. Some visiting the site
for social purposes to visit the commercial food and drink premises or to participate
in a full range of coastal and water based activities. Activities include, but are not
limited to, fishing, sailing, powerboating, water skiing, stand up paddle boarding, open
water swimming and kayaking.

3.5

Since opening the Marina in 2013 the Marina has performed well in terms of
generating income and has a healthy demand for moorings with a consistent waiting
list of around 50 people.

3.6

The development of the Marina has supported increased interest in other
regeneration and investment projects within the Harbour footprint including the sale
of the Jennings Building which now accommodates 3 commercial premises and 14
live/work apartments. It was critical to the success of the Porthcawl Townscape
Heritage Initiative (THI) bid for Heritage Lottery funding, to bring back into use key
historic buildings in the Harbour Quarter, including the Look-out Tower and the
Customs House.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

A byelaw is a local law which is made by a statutory body under an enabling power
which is contained in an Act of Parliament or a Measure of Act of the National
Assembly. Specific areas within the footprint of Porthcawl Harbour (as defined by the
1987 Act) are currently subject to local byelaws that identify Public Bathing Places
across Porthcawl. These byelaws were established in 1953 by the Urban District
Council of Porthcawl.

4.2

A process is set out in the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012 (“the 2012
Act”) for making and revoking byelaws. The 2012 Act changed the procedure for
confirmation of byelaws by Welsh Ministers and introduced an alternative procedure
which removes the need for confirmation by Welsh Ministers for byelaws specified in
the 2012 Act. Welsh Government has published statutory guidance on the 2012 Act
(March 2015) and this document gives detailed guidance on the procedure to be
followed when making byelaws under the 2012 Act. If, following the completion of the
consultation process, an authority decides to make a byelaw, at least six weeks
before that byelaw can be made the authority must publish notice of their intention to
make the byelaw in one or more local newspapers and also on the authority’s
website.

4.3

Under Section 6 and Schedule 1 of the 2012 Act any byelaw made by a local authority
under an enactment listed under Part 1 of Schedule 1 does not require confirmation
by Welsh Ministers. The 1987 Act is listed under Part 1 of Schedule 1 so BCBC can

Page 210

follow the procedure in the 2012 Act which does not require confirmation by Welsh
Ministers to make byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour.
4.4

In December 2020 a report was presented to Cabinet. As a result of this report the
Corporate Director Communities was authorised to undertake a consultation on the
proposed draft byelaws that were appended to that report. Those proposed draft
byelaws are set out in Appendix 1.

4.5

Since this time, officers have, in accordance with the 2012 Act, Section 6:



Published on the authority’s website an initial written statement which describes the
issue which the authority thinks may be addressed by making a byelaw; and
Consulted any person who the authority thinks is likely to be interested in, or affected
by, the issue.

4.6

A consultation process took place from 23rd August 2021 – 14th November 2021. The
requirements set out by the 2012 Act require consultation with interested persons but
the consultation was made available through the BCBC website. The consultation
report is set out in Appendix 2.

4.7

Following the consultation process and a review of the consultation report by the
Harbour Board, the proposed final byelaws for which Cabinet approval is sought are
set out in Appendix 3.

4.8

If approved by Cabinet, the byelaws will need to be presented to Council for adoption.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language.
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal at this
stage.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The proposed Porthcawl Harbour Byelaws demonstrate the sustainable
development principle by ensuring that by meeting the needs of the present they do
not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This is
evidenced through the 5 ways of working as follows:


Long-term: A consultation process has been undertaken to consider not only the
current issues in the area but also those that are considered to be issues in the future
and will seek to put in place a more fit for purpose situation.



Prevention: The changing nature of the Harbour area and its users has highlighted a
number of concerns which the process to revise the byelaws will seek to mitigate and
manage.

Page 211



Integration: The consultation process to revise the byelaws was undertaken to ensure
that their implementation integrates with current and future operations



Collaboration: The process for revising the byelaws will be undertaken through a
partnership approach between BCBC and key stakeholders.



Involvement: The process of revising byelaws and undertaking consultation will be
that as set out Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no financial implications as a result of the recommendations of this report.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1.1 Note a consultation process, under the provisions of the Local Government Byelaws
(Wales) Act 2012, has been undertaken and the consultation report is set out in
Appendix 2;
9.1.2 approve the proposed byelaws as set out in Appendix 3, and;
9.1.3 agree that the proposed byelaws, as set out in Appendix 3, be presented to Council
for adoption.
Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director – Communities
22 February 2022

Contact officer:

Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager: Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability

Telephone:

(01656) 815333

Email:

Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate,
Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:
None.

Page 212

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
BYELAWS FOR REGULATING PORTHCAWL HARBOUR
AND ASSOCIATED WATERS

Contents
Application..................................................................................................................................... 2
Interpretation ................................................................................................................................ 2

BYELAWS MADE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MID GLAMORGAN ACT 1987 WITH RESPECT TO
PORTHCAWL HARBOUR ............................................................................................................... 4
PART I - REGULATING THE USE OF THE HARBOUR AND ASSOCIATED WATERS ................................ 4
Berthing............................................................................................................................................... 4
Navigation ........................................................................................................................................... 4
Fishing ................................................................................................................................................. 6
Parking ................................................................................................................................................ 6
Bathing and Diving .............................................................................................................................. 6
Lockgates ............................................................................................................................................ 7
Slipway ................................................................................................................................................ 7
Shoreline restrictions........................................................................................................................... 7
PART II - Miscellaneous ................................................................................................................ 7
Waste .................................................................................................................................................. 7
Safety .................................................................................................................................................. 8
Security................................................................................................................................................ 8
Penalty..…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………9
Revocation…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….9

1

Page 213

Title and commencement
These byelaws may be cited as the Porthcawl Harbour Byelaws 2020 and shall come into effect
on the expiration of 28 days from the date of their being confirmed by the Council.
Application
These byelaws shall apply to all parts of the Porthcawl Harbour.
These byelaws apply to all persons and vessels using the harbour or within the harbour
premises and, in addition, the byelaws set out in part V apply to all roads from time to time
within the harbour premises except for public roads and the byelaws set out in part VIII apply
to pleasure craft and recreational activities within the harbour.
Interpretation
In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words or expressions
have the following meanings:

1996 Regulations”
Authorised officer of the company
Berth
Council
Dangerous Substances Regulations
Docks
Harbour

Harbour Master

Harbour premises

Master
Owner

means the Merchant Shipping (Distress Signals and
Prevention of Collisions) Regulations 1996 (SI 1996/75);
means any person lawfully acting on behalf of the Council;
means any place within the harbour where a vessel may
properly lie whether at a quay, at a mooring or at anchor;
Bridgend County Borough Council
means the Dangerous Substances in Harbour Areas
Regulations 1987 (SI 1987/37;)
means the enclosed basin of water with a man-made
structure built over water where passengers can get on or
off a boat, or where goods can be transported on or off.
means all tidal waters and all enclosed waters which lie
within the area to which these byelaws apply and includes
immediately adjacent quays and docks ancillary to the use
of those waters;
means the person appointed as the harbour master and
includes his authorised deputies, assistants and any other
person authorised by the Council to act in that capacity;
and any permission or instruction of the harbour master,
unless the byelaw requires that it be in writing, includes
any authority, permission or instruction given orally in
person or by radio;
means the docks, quays and all other works, land and
buildings for the time being vested in or occupied or
administered by the Council and used for the purposes of
or in connection with the harbour;
when used in relation to any vessel means any person
having the command, charge or management of the vessel
for the time being;
when used in relation to goods includes any consignor,
consignee, shipper or agent for the sale, receipt, custody,

2

Page 214

Fairway
Pedal cycle
Pleasure craft
Public roads
Quay

Road
Sail board
Small vessel
Vehicle

Vessel

loading or unloading, handling and clearance of those
goods and includes any other person in charge of the
goods and his agent in relation thereto; and when used in
relation to a vessel includes any part owner, broker,
charterer, agent or mortgagee in possession of the vessel
or other person or persons entitled for the time being to
possession of the vessel; and when used in relation to a
vehicle includes any part owner or agent or person having
charge of the vehicle for the time being;]
A navigable channel used to access or egress the harbour.
means a cycle as defined in section 192 of the Road Traffic
Act 1988;
means any vessel designed or adapted wholly or in part
for the purpose of sport or recreation including, without
limitation, a personal watercraft and sail board;
means all roads which are now or in the future dedicated
for use as a public highway which at the date of these
byelaws comprise;
means any quay, wharf, jetty, dolphin, landing stage or
other structure used for berthing or mooring vessels, and
includes any pier, bridge, roadway or footway immediately
adjacent and affording access thereto;
means any road, pier, wharf, quay, bridge or other work or
any land within the harbour premises accessible by
vehicles;
means a raft with a sail or sails designed to be operated by
a person or persons standing upright thereon;
means any vessel of less than 24 metres in length;
means any mechanically propelled vehicle including,
without limitation, any of those vehicles referred to in
sections 185, 186, 187 and 188 but not any vehicle defined
in section 189 of the Road Traffic Act 1988;
means a ship, boat, raft of any description and includes
non-displacement craft and any other thing constructed
or adapted for floating on or being submersed in water
(whether permanently or temporarily) and amphibious
vehicles during such time as it is in the water.

In these byelaws:


the expression "Highway Code" has the meaning given to it in section 38(8) of the
Road Traffic Act 1988;



the expression "Collision Regulations" means the 1996 Regulations and any other
regulations made pursuant to sections 85 and 86 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995;



references to a byelaw are to numbered paragraphs of these byelaws; and



references to a part are to any part of these byelaws.

3

Page 215

BYELAWS MADE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MID
GLAMORGAN ACT 1987 WITH RESPECT TO PORTHCAWL
HARBOUR
PART I - REGULATING THE USE OF THE HARBOUR AND
ASSOCIATED WATERS
Berthing
1

1.1

2
2.1

Vessel movements
The master of a vessel shall give reasonable prior notice to the harbour master of
the vessel's arrival at, departure from or movement within the harbour.
Vessels to be berthed and moved as directed
The harbour master shall determine the order in which vessels may enter or leave the
harbour and the master of every vessel in the shall moor, or place and keep moored,
the vessel where directed by the harbour master and shall move that vessel to or from
any berth within the harbour in accordance with any directions which the harbour
master may give from time to time.

3

Provision of proper fenders

3.1

The master and the owner of a vessel shall ensure that she is provided with a
sufficient number of fenders of a type that would float in water and a size
appropriate to the vessel and, when berthing and leaving or lying at a harbour in
order to prevent damage to other vessels and council property.

4

Vessels to be kept in a movable condition
The master of a vessel shall not, except when it is unavoidable that his vessel lie
aground, take any steps to render his vessel incapable of movement without first
notifying the harbour master and, subject as aforesaid, shall at all times keep his vessel
so loaded and ballasted and in such condition that it is capable of being safely moved.

4.1

4.2

Where at any time a vessel is not capable of being safely moved by means of its own
propulsive machinery, the master or owner shall, as soon as reasonably practicable,
inform the harbour master and forthwith give to the harbour master any further
information which he may reasonably require.

5

Access across decks
The master of a vessel alongside a quay or alongside any vessel already berthed within
the harbour shall, if required to do so by the harbour master or other authorised
officer of the company, give free access across the deck of his vessel for persons and
goods to and from vessels berthed alongside his vessel.

5.1

Navigation
6

Vessels to navigate with care

4

Page 216

7

The master shall navigate his vessel with such care and caution at such speed and in
such manner as not to endanger the lives of or cause injury to persons or damage to
property and as not to obstruct or prejudice the navigation, manoeuvring, loading or
discharging of vessels or cause unnecessary damage to moorings or other property.

8

Speed of vessels

8.1

Within the docks and except with permission of the harbour master the master of a
vessel shall not cause or permit the vessel to proceed at a speed greater than 3
knots.

8.2

The master of any vessel granted permission by the harbour master to exceed a speed
limit shall comply at all times with any conditions attached to that permission, it shall
be a defence for the master or operator charged to prove that at the material time the
vessel was engaged in an emergency or rescue operation in circumstances where
adherence to the speed limit would have been likely to have hindered the use of the
vessel for that purpose.

9

Vessels not to be made fast to aids to navigation
The master of a vessel shall not make fast his vessel to or lie against any buoy, beacon
or mark used for navigational purposes.

9.1

10

Notification of collisions etc.
The master of a vessel which:

10.1

has been damaged or caused damage in a collision with any vessel, buoy, beacon or
mark used for navigational purposes or any other property; or

10.2

has been sunk or grounded or become stranded in the harbour area or the approaches
thereto; or

10.3

by reason of accident, fire, defect or otherwise is in such a condition as to affect its
safe navigation or to give rise to danger to other vessels or property;

shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, report the occurrence to the harbour master
and, as soon as practicable thereafter, provide the harbour master with full details in
writing and, where the damage is such as to affect or be likely to affect its
seaworthiness, the master shall not move the vessel except to moor or anchor in
safety otherwise than with the permission and in accordance with the directions of the
harbour master.
11
11.1

Navigation while affected by drink or drugs
No person shall have the command, charge or management of a vessel underway or
otherwise navigate or have the charge of or undertake any activity which is or may be
material to the safe conduct of a vessel underway when unfit by reason of drink or
drugs to do so or to have that charge.

5

Page 217

The master of a vessel shall not cause or permit any person to navigate or otherwise
have charge of or undertake any activity which is or may be material to the safe
conduct of a vessel underway if that person is unfit by reason of drink or drugs to do
so, have that charge or undertake that activity.

11.2

Fishing
12

Fishing in docks
No person shall fish in the docks.
No person shall discard any bycatch or dead fish into the water within the confines of
the harbour.
Fishing on the Breakwater
All persons must remove their fishing lines from the path of any vessel on a course to
access or egress the harbour.

12.1
12.2

13
13.1

Parking
14

14.1

15

Observance of the Highway Code
Subject to any conflicting provisions contained in these byelaws, the rules in the
Highway Code shall apply to all persons within the harbour premises.
Parking
No person shall park any vehicle in the harbour area except in the areas permitted for
parking as shown [coloured blank] on the plan attached to these byelaws.
Permits must be displayed clearly when parking in these areas.

15.1
15.2

16

Obstruction and danger to persons or property
No person in charge of a vehicle shall cause or permit the vehicle to remain at rest on a
road in such a position or in such a condition or in such circumstances as may be likely:

16.1

i.

to cause danger to other persons using the road; or

ii.

to obstruct the use of all or any part of any road.

Bathing and Diving
17
17.1
17.2
17.3

18
18.1
18.2

Safe Swimming and Bathing
No person shall engage in swimming or bathing in the harbour and associated water
areas except with the consent of the harbour master.
Swimmers may cross the channel at the entrance to the harbour but must do so using
the shortest route possible.
Swimmers shall not cross a narrow channel of fairway if such crossing impedes the
passage of a vessel.
Diving operations (with respiratory support)
No diving is to take place within the harbour without the prior consent of the harbour
master.
Where the harbour master has approved any diving, all persons taking part shall
comply with the Diving at Work Regulations 1997 and any instructions given by the
harbour master.

6

Page 218

Lockgates
19

Interference with plant, dock machinery, lockgates etc
No person shall, without lawful authority:

19.1

use, work, move, tamper or interfere with any plant, dock machinery, equipment or
apparatus at the harbour premises; or

19.2

open, drawn or shut any lockgate, sluice paddle or bridge of any dock basin under
control of the council.

20

Access to lockgates
No person shall enter or remain or attempt to enter upon any lockgate under the
control of the council while it is in motion, or pass over any barrier or gate placed
before or across any such lockgate before it is swung, or step on such lockgate before
the barrier or gates shall have been removed by an officer or servant of the company
on duty at the lockgate, and no person other than such officer or servant shall remove,
unfasten or interfere with any such barrier or gate.

20.1

Slipway
21

Usage
21.1
When using the slipway the master of the vessel will ensure:
i.
the boat and engine are seaworthy.
ii.
adequate marine insurance is in place
iii.
arrangements have been made with the Harbour Master or appointed staff for
permission to launch or recover.
21.2
The slipway must be kept clear. Vehicles and trailers must not be left unattended on
the harbour premises.

Shoreline restrictions
22

With the exception of accredited lifesaving groups or appointed rescue services. No
vessels or masters of vessels shall navigate within 50 meters of the beach shoreline
referred to in appendix ??

PART II - Miscellaneous
Waste
23

Deposit of rubbish, interference with refuse bins etc.
No person shall:

23.1

24
24.1

i.

abandon, deposit or dump any materials, goods, furniture, machinery or items of
any kind or any rubbish, refuse or waste at any place in the harbour premises not
specifically appointed by the Council for such purpose; or

ii.

interfere with the contents of or remove anything from any receptacle, bin,
container or place appointed or used for the time being for the deposit or
storage of any rubbish, refuse, waste or other discarded items.
Disposal of refuse and waste from vessel.
The master of a vessel shall ensure that:

7

Page 219

i.

Only paper, packaging and food waste are to be placed in the covered
receptacles provided for that purpose on the quay by the council;

ii.

the receptacles are kept closed when not in use; and

iii.

the area in the vicinity of the receptacles is kept clean.

24.2

No person other than a member of the crew of a vessel or person employed, engaged
or authorised by the master of a vessel shall dispose of any item of any kind in any
receptacle, bin or other container provided for the use of a vessel.

25

Pumping of Bilges
The master of a vessel shall not permit bilge water to be pumped from the vessel into
the docks unless the written consent of the harbour master shall have been first
obtained or unless such action is necessary to avoid his vessel sinking.

25.1

Safety
26

26.1

27
27.1

Security
28

28.1

29
29.1

30
30.1

31
31.1

32
32.1

Interference with firefighting and lifesaving equipment
Except with the permission of an authorised officer of the Council, no person shall use,
obstruct, remove, interfere or tamper with any firefighting equipment or any lifesaving
apparatus except for the purpose of combating fire or saving life.
Fires and naked lights
No person shall light, or attempt to light, or use any open fire or naked flame within
the harbour premises except with the permission of an authorised officer of the
Council and subject to such conditions as the Council may prescribe from time to time.
Unauthorised entry and trespassing
No person shall enter or leave or attempt to enter or leave the harbour premises or
any area or building within the harbour premises other than by means of an approved
entrance or exit.
Damaging or defacing premises
No person shall damage or wilfully deface any part of the harbour premises or any of
the councils property.
Defacing notices, etc
No person shall destroy or deface any authorised notice, bill or placard.
Affixing notices, etc
No person shall, without the previous approval of an authorised officer of the Council,
affix or cause to be affixed any notice, bill or placard or distribute any notice, bill,
leaflet or placard anywhere within the harbour premises.
Obstruction of officers or employees of the Council
No person shall obstruct:
any officer of the Council in the proper execution of his duties;
(i)

8

Page 220

(ii)
(iii)

any person carrying out an act which is necessary to the proper execution of any
contract with the Council: or
any other person in proper use of the harbour.

32

Removal of offenders

32.1

any person offending against any of these byelaws may be removed from the harbour by an
officer of the Council.

Penalty
33.1 Any person offending against any of these byelaws is liable on summary conviction to a
fine not exceeding level 2 on the Standard Scale.
34 Revocation
34.1 The byelaws made by (blank) and confirmed by (blank) on (blank) relating to the harbour
are hereby revoked

9

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

Bridgend County Borough Council

Porthcawl harbour
byelaws
Consultation report

Date of issue: January 2022

Page 223

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Contents
Porthcawl harbour byelaws ............................................................................................................... 1
Contents ........................................................................................................................... 2
1. Overview ...................................................................................................................... 3
2. Introduction................................................................................................................... 3
3. Marketing and engagement methods ........................................................................... 3
4. Response rate .............................................................................................................. 4
5. How effective was the consultation? ............................................................................ 4
6. Question and analysis - consultation survey ................................................................ 5
6.2 Survey questions ........................................................................................................ 5
6.2.1 Please tick the option(s) that best describe you as a respondent ............................ 5
6.2.2 Have you experienced any problems in the use of the Harbour? ............................ 6
6.2.3 If yes, please describe what happened and what the problems are. ....................... 6
6.2.4 Do you think that any problems could be dealt with by using some other method
apart from the adoption of byelaws so that we can ensure that those problems can be dealt
with effectively in the future? ................................................................................................ 7
6.2.5 If yes please tell us how these problems can be effectively managed?................... 7
6.2.6 Do you have any other comments you would like to make in relation to Porthcawl
Harbour and the revision or adoption of byelaws? ................................................................ 8

Page 224

2
www.bridgend.gov.uk

1. Overview
A public consultation on the adoption of new byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour was undertaken
over a twelve-week period from 23 August to 14 November 2021.
The consultation received a total of 186 interactions from survey completions. This paper
details the analysis associated with the consultation.
2. Introduction
The public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation page
of the council’s website. Paper copies of the consultation were also made available which
could be sent directly to residents upon request. Surveys were available in standard and
large print formats. Both were available in Welsh and English. The content of the page
remains available online.
In total, there were six questions that required a reply from respondents. Respondents
could choose to answer all or some of the questions. All survey responses offered the
option of anonymity. The council’s standard set of equalities monitoring questions were also
included with the survey in line with recommended good practice for all public-facing
surveys carried out by the council.
Comments regarding the consultation were also invited via social media, letter, email and
phone call.
3. Marketing and engagement methods
3.1 Marketing
This section details the methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and encourage
participation.
3.1.1 Social media
The council runs the following social media accounts: Twitter, Facebook, Instagram,
LinkedIn and YouTube.
The public consultation on the adoption of new byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour was posted
bilingually to the council’s corporate Twitter channels throughout the consultation period to
raise awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to share their views on the
proposals.
The council currently has 14,321 followers on its English Twitter account and 310 on its
Welsh Twitter account. While content is most likely to be seen by these users, it is also
displayed to users who are not connected to the accounts.
During the consultation period, the local authority posted 5 times on Twitter in both English
and Welsh. This content reached over 74,000 people.

Page 225

3
www.bridgend.gov.uk

Tweets
Impressions
Reach
Engagements
Likes
Shares/retweets
Link clicks
Comments

5
4031
74,893
76
5
1
30
2

3.1.2 govDelivery
govDelivery is a digital communications tool that was implemented by the local authority in
June 2020 to send messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of their
choice.
There are currently 36,560 English language subscribers and 222 Welsh language
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. Details
of the public consultation on the adoption of new byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour was
included in a Gov Delivery bulletin on 30 September 2021.
The English bulletin received a total of 119 link clicks, the Welsh bulletin received 0 link
clicks.
3.1.3 Media and publicity
One main media release was issued to coincide with the start of the consultation in order to
raise awareness and encourage participation. This was issued on 24 September 2021.
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/have-your-say-on-use-of-waters-around-porthcawlharbour/
The consultation was also incorporated into a news round-up media release issued on 24
September. The media release was featured at the media centre of the council’s website.
4. Response rate
In total, there were 186 survey completions.
5. How effective was the consultation?
The data collection methods, which include the online survey and a paper survey were
developed using plain English to maximise understanding. These response methods were
designed to give a consistency to the survey across multiple platforms.

Page 226

4
www.bridgend.gov.uk

6. Question and analysis - consultation survey
Section seven of the report looks at the questions asked in the consultation survey – with 186
respondents in total.
6.1 Language to complete the survey.
Language
English
Welsh
Total

Respondents to the consultation survey were initially
asked in which language they would like to complete
the survey. Overall, 100% of respondents selected
English with 0% selecting Welsh.

#
186
000
186

%
100%
00
100.0

6.2 Survey questions
6.2.1 Please tick the option(s) that best describe you as a respondent
There were 186 responses to this question.

140
120

118

100
80
60
29

40

24

20
0

Series1

15

13

13

12

10

Swim
Smoot
Berth
Porthc
h
Holder
awl
Rest Porthc
Memb
Wales Porthc
of
Harbo Bay
awl
er of
Other (Open awl
Porthc
ur Lifegua Lifegua
Public
(10%) Water RNLI
awl
Boatin rd Club rd Club
(48%)
Swim (5%)
Marina
g Club (5%)
(4%)
ming
(12%)
(5%)
Club)
(6%)
118

29

24

15

13

13

12

3

3

2

1

1

1

Porthc
Owner
awl
Nation Coastal s/Man
Porthc
Town
al
Partne ageme South
awl
Counci
Coast rship nt of Wales
Sea
l
watch Memb Jennin Police
Cadets
(Counc
Institut ers
gs
(0%)
(1%)
illors)
e (1%) (1%) Buildin
(1%)
g (1%)

10

3

3

2

1

1

1

Of the 186 respondents, 118 (48%) were members of the public. 29 respondents (12%)
were berth holders at Porthcawl Marina and 24 respondents (10%) stated ‘other’ as a
category.

Page 227

5
www.bridgend.gov.uk

6.2.2 Have you experienced any problems in the use of the Harbour?
There were 30 responses to this question.
20

19

18
16
14
12

11

10
8
6
4
2
0
Yes (63%)

No (37%)

.
19 respondents (63%) of people stated that yes, they had experienced problems using
the harbour. While 11 respondents, (37%) said no they hadn’t experienced any problems
using the harbour.
6.2.3 If yes, please describe what happened and what the problems are.
63 comments were made in relation to this question and have been themed in the table
below:
Theme
Swimmers
Abusive fishermen casting close to swimmers and boats
No boat lifting, dangerous boat slip, sluice gates failing
Parking
Dangerous jet skis and speed boats
Anti-social Behaviour
Dog mess / litter
Breakwater closed
Does not accommodate personal watercrafts
Lack of facilities for swimmers
No Wifi
Not enough electric supplies
Scaffolding
Unable to get in contact
Total:

Page 228

6
www.bridgend.gov.uk

Number of
responses
19
12
8
7
4
3
3
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
63

The three most common problems at the harbour according to respondents to the survey
are swimmers, abusive fishermen casting close to swimmers and boats and no boat lifting,
a dangerous boat slip and sluice gates failing.
6.2.4 Do you think that any problems could be dealt with by using some other
method apart from the adoption of byelaws so that we can ensure that those
problems can be dealt with effectively in the future?
There were 174 responses to this question.
80

67

63

60

44

40
20
0
Yes (39%)

Unsure (36%)

No (25%)

67 respondents (39%) stated that they thought these problems could be dealt with by
using an alternative method from the adoption of byelaws. 63 respondents (36%) were
unsure if the problems could be dealt with by alternative means. 44 respondents (25%)
stated no, they didn’t think using other methods apart from the adoption of byelaws.
6.2.5 If yes please tell us how these problems can be effectively managed?
62 comments were made in relation to this question and have been themed in the table
below:
Theme
Safer swimming measures
More signage is needed
Alternative access for swimmers
More patrols around the Harbour
More education is needed
Additional funding is needed
Improve the appearance of the harbour
Ban fishing
Involve the community
Theme

Number of responses
21
12
11
8
7
2
2
2
2
67

The top three themes for this question were as follows: 21 comments were made in
relation to safer swimming measures, 12 comments were made in relation to more signage
and 11 comments were made in relation to alternative access for swimmers.

Page 229

7
www.bridgend.gov.uk

6.2.6 Do you have any other comments you would like to make in relation to
Porthcawl Harbour and the revision or adoption of byelaws?
78 comments were made in relation to this question and have been themed in the table
below:

Theme

Number of responses

More safety for swimmers
Don't ban recreational use (swimming,
fishing etc)

32
14

More education, signage and awareness is
needed
Improve the area around the harbour

10
7

Promote recreational activities around the
harbour

6

No changes to the byelaws are needed
Enforce waste management

4
3

Ban swimming
Involve the community and treat everyone
equally
Ban fishing

2
2
1

Total:

81

The top three themes for this question were as follows: 32 comments were made in
relation to safety for swimmers, 14 comments were made in relation to not banning
recreational use (swimming, fishing etc) and 10 comments were made in relation to more
education, signage and awareness is needed.

Page 230

8
www.bridgend.gov.uk

6.3 Equalities monitoring
6.3.1 How would these proposals affect you because of your: Gender, Age, Ethnicity,
Disability, Sexuality, Religion / belief, Gender identity, Relationship status,
Pregnancy, Preferred language?
62 comments were provided by respondents and these have been themed and are
detailed in the table below:
Theme
No effect
Age
English should be
focused on
Health and wellbeing
Disability access
Mental health
Gender
Total:

Number of responses
50
4
3
2
2
2
1
64

50 comments were made in relation to the proposals having no effect, four comments were
made in relation to age of respondents and 3 comments were made in relation to a focus on
English.
6.3.2 We would like to know your views on the effects that the guidance would have
on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to use Welsh and on
treating the Welsh language no less favourably than English. What effects do you
think there would be? How could positive effects be increased, or negative effects be
mitigated?
59 comments were provided by respondents and these have been themed and are
detailed in the table below:
Number of
responses
24
18
11
2
1
1
1
1
1
60

Theme
No impact on language
No views
Bilingual signs are good
English should be focused on
Too much focus on Welsh
No signage is present
Welsh could be omitted
Unsure of impact
Bilingual signa are confusing
Total:

Page 231

9
www.bridgend.gov.uk

24 comments were made in relation to the guidance having no impact on language, 18
comments were made in relation to respondents having no views on this and there were 11
comments in relation to bilingual signs being good.
6.3.3 Please also explain how you believe the guidance could be formulated or
changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive effects on opportunities
for people to use the Welsh language, and on treating the Welsh language no less
favourably than the English language and ensure there are no adverse effects on
opportunities for people to use the Welsh language.
51 comments were provided by respondents and these have been themed and are
detailed in the table below:
Theme
No views
No impact
Bilingual communication
Employ Welsh speaking staff
Too much Welsh
Focus more on English
Promote Welsh language
Can't speak Welsh
Let the community decide
Depends on the changes
Total:

Number of responses
20
13
7
3
2
2
2
1
1
1
52

20 responses were stated they had no views on this question. 13 people stated that the
guidance had no impact on Welsh language, 18 comments were made in relation to
respondents having no views on this and there were 11 comments in relation to bilingual
signs being good.

7. Conclusion
Using statistical analysis, based on a confidence level of 95% a sample of 186 survey
completions is considered to be robust to a maximum standard error of ±4.752%.
Therefore, we can be 95% confident that the responses are representative of those that
would be given by the total adult population, to within ±4.752 % of the percentages
reported.
This means that if the total adult population of Bridgend had taken part in the survey and a
statistic of 50% was observed, we can be 95% confident that the actual figure lies between
45.248% and 54.752%.
7.1 Equality Impact Assessment
The Full Equality Impact Assessment will be completed alongside the adoption of new
byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour.

Page 232

10
www.bridgend.gov.uk

8.2 Summary
Information from this consultation will be used to inform the development of the adoption of
new byelaws at Porthcawl Harbour. Information from this consultation will be shared with
cabinet on 8th March 2022.

Page 233

11
www.bridgend.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
BYELAWS FOR REGULATING PORTHCAWL HARBOUR
AND ASSOCIATED WATERS

Contents
Application..................................................................................................................................... 2
Interpretation ................................................................................................................................ 2

BYELAWS MADE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MID GLAMORGAN ACT 1987 WITH RESPECT TO
PORTHCAWL HARBOUR ............................................................................................................... 4
PART I - REGULATING THE USE OF THE HARBOUR AND ASSOCIATED WATERS ................................ 4
Berthing............................................................................................................................................... 4
Navigation ........................................................................................................................................... 5
Fishing ................................................................................................................................................. 6
Parking ................................................................................................................................................ 6
Bathing and Diving .............................................................................................................................. 6
Lockgates ............................................................................................................................................ 7
Slipway ................................................................................................................................................ 7
Shoreline restrictions........................................................................................................................... 7
Waste .................................................................................................................................................. 7
Safety .................................................................................................................................................. 8
Security................................................................................................................................................ 8
Revocation……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..9

1

Page 235

Title and commencement
These byelaws may be cited as the Porthcawl Harbour Byelaws 2020 and shall come into effect
on the expiration of 28 days from the date of their being confirmed by the Council.
Application
These byelaws shall apply to all parts of the Porthcawl Harbour.
These byelaws apply to all persons and vessels using the harbour or within the harbour
premises and, in addition, the byelaws set out in part V apply to all roads from time to time
within the harbour premises except for public roads and the byelaws set out in part VIII apply
to pleasure craft and recreational activities within the harbour.
Interpretation
In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words or expressions
have the following meanings:

1996 Regulations”
Authorised officer of the company
Berth
Council
Dangerous Substances Regulations
Docks
Harbour

Harbour Master

Harbour premises

Master
Owner

means the Merchant Shipping (Distress Signals and
Prevention of Collisions) Regulations 1996 (SI 1996/75);
means any person lawfully acting on behalf of the Council;
means any place within the harbour where a vessel may
properly lie whether at a quay, at a mooring or at anchor;
Bridgend County Borough Council
means the Dangerous Substances in Harbour Areas
Regulations 1987 (SI 1987/37;)
means the enclosed basin of water with a man-made
structure built over water where passengers can get on or
off a boat, or where goods can be transported on or off.
means all tidal waters and all enclosed waters which lie
within the area to which these byelaws apply and includes
immediately adjacent quays and docks ancillary to the use
of those waters;
means the person appointed as the harbour master and
includes his authorised deputies, assistants and any other
person authorised by the Council to act in that capacity;
and any permission or instruction of the harbour master,
unless the byelaw requires that it be in writing, includes
any authority, permission or instruction given orally in
person or by radio;
means the docks, quays and all other works, land and
buildings for the time being vested in or occupied or
administered by the Council and used for the purposes of
or in connection with the harbour;
when used in relation to any vessel means any person
having the command, charge or management of the vessel
for the time being;
when used in relation to goods includes any consignor,
consignee, shipper or agent for the sale, receipt, custody,

2

Page 236

Fairway
Pedal cycle
Pleasure craft
Public roads
Quay

Road
Sail board
Small vessel
Vehicle

Vessel

loading or unloading, handling and clearance of those
goods and includes any other person in charge of the
goods and his agent in relation thereto; and when used in
relation to a vessel includes any part owner, broker,
charterer, agent or mortgagee in possession of the vessel
or other person or persons entitled for the time being to
possession of the vessel; and when used in relation to a
vehicle includes any part owner or agent or person having
charge of the vehicle for the time being;]
A navigable channel used to access or egress the harbour.
means a cycle as defined in section 192 of the Road Traffic
Act 1988;
means any vessel designed or adapted wholly or in part
for the purpose of sport or recreation including, without
limitation, a personal watercraft and sail board;
means all roads which are now or in the future dedicated
for use as a public highway which at the date of these
byelaws comprise;
means any quay, wharf, jetty, dolphin, landing stage or
other structure used for berthing or mooring vessels, and
includes any pier, bridge, roadway or footway immediately
adjacent and affording access thereto;
means any road, pier, wharf, quay, bridge or other work or
any land within the harbour premises accessible by
vehicles;
means a raft with a sail or sails designed to be operated by
a person or persons standing upright thereon;
means any vessel of less than 24 metres in length;
means any mechanically propelled vehicle including,
without limitation, any of those vehicles referred to in
sections 185, 186, 187 and 188 but not any vehicle defined
in section 189 of the Road Traffic Act 1988;
means a ship, boat, raft of any description and includes
non-displacement craft and any other thing constructed
or adapted for floating on or being submersed in water
(whether permanently or temporarily) and amphibious
vehicles during such time as it is in the water.

In these byelaws:


the expression "Highway Code" has the meaning given to it in section 38(8) of the
Road Traffic Act 1988;



the expression "Collision Regulations" means the 1996 Regulations and any other
regulations made pursuant to sections 85 and 86 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995;



references to a byelaw are to numbered paragraphs of these byelaws; and



references to a part are to any part of these byelaws.

3

Page 237

BYELAWS MADE UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MID
GLAMORGAN ACT 1987 WITH RESPECT TO PORTHCAWL
HARBOUR
PART I - REGULATING THE USE OF THE HARBOUR AND
ASSOCIATED WATERS
Berthing
1

1.1

2
2.1

Vessel movements
The master of a vessel shall give reasonable prior notice to the harbour master of
the vessel's arrival at, departure from or movement within the harbour.
Vessels to be berthed and moved as directed
The harbour master shall determine the order in which vessels may enter or leave the
harbour and the master of every vessel in the shall moor, or place and keep moored,
the vessel where directed by the harbour master and shall move that vessel to or from
any berth within the harbour in accordance with any directions which the harbour
master may give from time to time.

3

Provision of proper fenders

3.1

The master and the owner of a vessel shall ensure that she is provided with a
sufficient number of fenders of a type that would float in water and a size
appropriate to the vessel and, when berthing and leaving or lying at a harbour in
order to prevent damage to other vessels and council property.

4

Vessels to be kept in a movable condition
The master of a vessel shall not, except when it is unavoidable that his vessel lie
aground, take any steps to render his vessel incapable of movement without first
notifying the harbour master and, subject as aforesaid, shall at all times keep his vessel
so loaded and ballasted and in such condition that it is capable of being safely moved.

4.1

4.2

Where at any time a vessel is not capable of being safely moved by means of its own
propulsive machinery, the master or owner shall, as soon as reasonably practicable,
inform the harbour master and forthwith give to the harbour master any further
information which he may reasonably require.

5

Access across decks
The master of a vessel alongside a quay or alongside any vessel already berthed within
the harbour shall, if required to do so by the harbour master or other authorised
officer of the company, give free access across the deck of his vessel for persons and
goods to and from vessels berthed alongside his vessel.

5.1

4

Page 238

Navigation
6

Vessels to navigate with care
The master shall navigate his vessel with such care and caution at such speed and in
such manner as not to endanger the lives of or cause injury to persons or damage to
property and as not to obstruct or prejudice the navigation, manoeuvring, loading or
discharging of vessels or cause unnecessary damage to moorings or other property.

7

Speed of vessels

7.1

Within the docks and except with permission of the harbour master the master of a
vessel shall not cause or permit the vessel to proceed at a speed greater than 3
knots.

7.2

The master of any vessel granted permission by the harbour master to exceed a speed
limit shall comply at all times with any conditions attached to that permission, it shall
be a defence for the master or operator charged to prove that at the material time the
vessel was engaged in an emergency or rescue operation in circumstances where
adherence to the speed limit would have been likely to have hindered the use of the
vessel for that purpose.

8

Vessels not to be made fast to aids to navigation
The master of a vessel shall not make fast his vessel to or lie against any buoy, beacon
or mark used for navigational purposes.

8.1

9

Notification of collisions etc.
The master of a vessel which:

9.1

has been damaged or caused damage in a collision with any vessel, buoy, beacon or
mark used for navigational purposes or any other property; or

9.2

has been sunk or grounded or become stranded in the harbour area or the approaches
thereto; or

9.3

by reason of accident, fire, defect or otherwise is in such a condition as to affect its
safe navigation or to give rise to danger to other vessels or property;

shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, report the occurrence to the harbour master
and, as soon as practicable thereafter, provide the harbour master with full details in
writing and, where the damage is such as to affect or be likely to affect its
seaworthiness, the master shall not move the vessel except to moor or anchor in
safety otherwise than with the permission and in accordance with the directions of the
harbour master.
10
10.1

Navigation while affected by drink or drugs
No person shall have the command, charge or management of a vessel underway or
otherwise navigate or have the charge of or undertake any activity which is or may be
material to the safe conduct of a vessel underway when unfit by reason of drink or
drugs to do so or to have that charge.

5

Page 239

The master of a vessel shall not cause or permit any person to navigate or otherwise
have charge of or undertake any activity which is or may be material to the safe
conduct of a vessel underway if that person is unfit by reason of drink or drugs to do
so, have that charge or undertake that activity.

10.2

Fishing
11

Fishing in docks
No person shall fish in the docks.
No person shall discard any bycatch or dead fish into the water within the confines of
the harbour.

11.1
11.2

12

Fishing on the Breakwater
All persons must remove their fishing lines from the path of any vessel on a course to
access or egress the harbour.

12.1

Parking
13

13.1

14

Observance of the Highway Code
Subject to any conflicting provisions contained in these byelaws, the rules in the
Highway Code shall apply to all persons within the harbour premises.
Parking
No person shall park any vehicle in the harbour area except in the areas permitted for
parking as shown [coloured blank] on the plan attached to these byelaws.
Permits must be displayed clearly when parking in these areas.

14.1
14.2

15

Obstruction and danger to persons or property
No person in charge of a vehicle shall cause or permit the vehicle to remain at rest on a
road in such a position or in such a condition or in such circumstances as may be likely:

15.1

i.

to cause danger to other persons using the road; or

ii.

to obstruct the use of all or any part of any road.

Bathing and Diving
16

16.1
16.2
16.3

17
17.1
17.2

Safe Swimming and Bathing
No person shall engage in swimming or bathing in the docks except with the consent of
the harbour master.
Swimmers may cross the channel at the entrance to the harbour but must do so using
the shortest route possible.
Swimmers shall not cross a narrow channel of fairway if such crossing impedes the
passage of a vessel.
Diving operations (with respiratory support)
No diving is to take place within the harbour without the prior consent of the harbour
master.
Where the harbour master has approved any diving, all persons taking part shall
comply with the Diving at Work Regulations 1997 and any instructions given by the
harbour master.

6

Page 240

Lockgates
18

Interference with plant, dock machinery, lockgates etc
No person shall, without lawful authority:

18.1

use, work, move, tamper or interfere with any plant, dock machinery, equipment or
apparatus at the harbour premises; or

18.2

open, drawn or shut any lockgate, sluice paddle or bridge of any dock basin under
control of the council.

19

Access to lockgates
No person shall enter or remain or attempt to enter upon any lockgate under the
control of the council while it is in motion, or pass over any barrier or gate placed
before or across any such lockgate before it is swung, or step on such lockgate before
the barrier or gates shall have been removed by an officer or servant of the company
on duty at the lockgate, and no person other than such officer or servant shall remove,
unfasten or interfere with any such barrier or gate.

19.1

Slipway
20

Usage
When using the slipway the master of the vessel will ensure:
i.
the boat and engine are seaworthy.
ii.
adequate marine insurance is in place
iii.
arrangements have been made with the Harbour Master or appointed staff for
permission to launch or recover.
20.2
The slipway must be kept clear. Vehicles and trailers must not be left unattended on
the harbour premises.
20.1

Shoreline restrictions
21

With the exception of accredited lifesaving groups or appointed rescue services. No
vessels or masters of vessels shall navigate within 50 meters of the beach shoreline
referred to in appendix X.

Waste
22

Deposit of rubbish, interference with refuse bins etc.
No person shall:

22.1

23
23.1

i.

abandon, deposit or dump any materials, goods, furniture, machinery or items of
any kind or any rubbish, refuse or waste at any place in the harbour premises not
specifically appointed by the Council for such purpose; or

ii.

interfere with the contents of or remove anything from any receptacle, bin,
container or place appointed or used for the time being for the deposit or
storage of any rubbish, refuse, waste or other discarded items.
Disposal of refuse and waste from vessel.
The master of a vessel shall ensure that:

7

Page 241

i.

Only paper, packaging and food waste are to be placed in the covered
receptacles provided for that purpose on the quay by the council;

ii.

the receptacles are kept closed when not in use; and

iii.

the area in the vicinity of the receptacles is kept clean.

23.2

No person other than a member of the crew of a vessel or person employed, engaged
or authorised by the master of a vessel shall dispose of any item of any kind in any
receptacle, bin or other container provided for the use of a vessel.

24

Pumping of Bilges
The master of a vessel shall not permit bilge water to be pumped from the vessel into
the docks unless the written consent of the harbour master shall have been first
obtained or unless such action is necessary to avoid his vessel sinking.

24.1

Safety
25

25.1

26
26.1

Security
27

27.1

28
28.1

29
29.1

30
30.1

31
31.1

Interference with firefighting and lifesaving equipment
Except with the permission of an authorised officer of the Council, no person shall use,
obstruct, remove, interfere or tamper with any firefighting equipment or any lifesaving
apparatus except for the purpose of combating fire or saving life.
Fires and naked lights
No person shall light, or attempt to light, or use any open fire or naked flame within
the harbour premises except with the permission of an authorised officer of the
Council and subject to such conditions as the Council may prescribe from time to time.
Unauthorised entry and trespassing
No person shall enter or leave or attempt to enter or leave the harbour premises or
any area or building within the harbour premises other than by means of an approved
entrance or exit.
Damaging or defacing premises
No person shall damage or wilfully deface any part of the harbour premises or any of
the councils property.
Defacing notices, etc
No person shall destroy or deface any authorised notice, bill or placard.
Affixing notices, etc
No person shall, without the previous approval of an authorised officer of the Council,
affix or cause to be affixed any notice, bill or placard or distribute any notice, bill,
leaflet or placard anywhere within the harbour premises.
Obstruction of officers or employees of the Council
No person shall obstruct:
any officer of the Council in the proper execution of his duties;
(i)

8

Page 242

(ii)
(iii)

any person carrying out an act which is necessary to the proper execution of any
contract with the Council: or
any other person in proper use of the harbour.

32

Removal of offenders

32.1

any person offending against any of these byelaws may be removed from the harbour by an
officer of the Council.

33 Penalty
33.1 Any person offending against any of these byelaws is liable on summary conviction to a
fine not exceeding level 2 on the Standard Scale.
34 Revocation
34.1 The byelaws made by (blank) and confirmed by (blank) on (blank) relating to the harbour
are hereby revoked

9

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES
BRIDGEND 2030 – NET ZERO CARBON STRATEGY
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on work to develop the Bridgend 2030
– Net Zero Carbon Strategy and request approval from Cabinet to carry out a formal
public consultation on the draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions
for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council
and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can
help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

In October 2018, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
(IPCC) produced a report on the state of global warming. The report identified that a
continued warming of global temperatures will significantly increase the likelihood
and resulting impact of floods, droughts and extreme heat. The report stated the
importance of limiting global warming and a requirement for an unprecedented scale
and speed of action.

3.2

In November 2018, the Councils of Bristol and Manchester were among the first to
pass motions that declared a 'Climate Emergency' and set ambitious targets aiming
to be carbon neutral by 2030 and 2038 respectively to support efforts to limit global
warming.

Page 245

3.3

Welsh Government declared a Climate Emergency in April 2019. Following this the
Welsh Government has now committed to achieving a carbon neutral public sector
by 2030.

3.4

In June 2020 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) Cabinet approved a report
that set out the crucial roles that BCBC has to play through the management of its
own resources and assets and the way in which it works with and supports local
residents, organisations and businesses to respond to the challenges set out in the
IPCC report.

3.5

BCBC’s latest Corporate Plan highlights ‘decarbonisation and environmental
sustainability’ as a priority area for the Council up to 2023. Alongside this BCBC
ensures that the climate is considered at an everyday decision-making level. This is
underpinned by The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the
Bridgend Public Service Board Wellbeing Plan.

3.6

In 2021, the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Amendment of 2050 Emissions Target)
Regulations 2021 were introduced which amended the initial target of net Welsh
emissions account for the year 2050 from at least 80% to 100% lower than the
baseline. The Climate Change (Interim Emissions Targets) (Wales) (Amendment)
Regulations 2021 were also introduced which amended the Climate Change (Interim
Emissions Targets) (Wales) Regulations 2018 so that the maximum amount for the
net Welsh emission account for 2030 is 63% lower than the baseline instead of 45%.

3.7

A target for Local Authorities in Wales to be net-zero carbon must be met by 2030. In
response, the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) with local government
Leaders established a Decarbonisation Strategy Panel, supported by all 22 local
authorities, Welsh Government, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and Cardiff
University. The Welsh Government published its Welsh Public Sector Net Zero
Carbon Reporting Guide in May 2021. The timing of publication of the Welsh Public
Sector net zero reporting guide and BCBC’s work is such that BCBC has been
advised by the Carbon Trust – a commissioned expert guide on the route to Net Zero,
sharing experience from the climate change frontline; pioneers for more than 20
years, driving real change with leading businesses, governments and organisations
- that it is the first Local Authority in Wales to be fully reviewing its base line and
developing its Decarbonisation Strategy in line with the protocol.

3.8

Following appointment of the Carbon Trust to work with BCBC on the development
of a Bridgend 2030 - Net Zero Carbon Strategy, officers have undertaken the
following activities:











Commence work – April 2021
Data gathering – April 2021 – June 2021
Scoping workshop Communities Directorate Management Team (DMT) – June 2021
A report and presentation to Scrutiny Committee 3 – July 2021
Initial headline figures presented to BCBC 2030 Programme Board – July 2021
Officer workshop series – September – October 2021
Draft Strategy officer workshops – January 2022
Corporate Management Board (CMB) presentation – February 2022
BCBC Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board presentation – February 2022
Draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Strategy presented to Cabinet – March 2022

Page 246

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy is attached to this report at
Appendix 1 and has been developed following an in-depth review of data in line with
the Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon Reporting Guide and extensive
engagement with internal and external stakeholders. Importantly, this Strategy will
not be the only driver for net zero. It will be a part of the Council’s Corporate Plan,
whilst policies, strategies and ongoing plans will all need to reflect the commitment to
net zero. This will ensure it is fully embraced across the organisation. It is proposed
that Cabinet gives approval to carry out a formal public consulation on the draft
Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy . The consultation will last for 12 weeks
and it is possible that the draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy will require
amendment to respond to comments received through the consultation. Once the
consultation period has ended, Cabinet will receive a further report to consider
formally adopting the Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy.

4.2

The detailed scope and boundaries of the Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon
Reporting Guide emissions require a consistent calculation methodology to
determine the degree to which public bodies are progressing towards reaching netzero carbon. These are split into 3 ‘scopes’ as summarised below:




Scope 1 – Direct Emissions - are those that occur from an organisation at source, for
example by heating buildings or from the exhausts of vehicles.
Scope 2 - Indirect Emissions – are those that occur mainly from electricity used in
our activities but where generation and associated emissions are elsewhere.
Scope 3 – All other indirect emissions – this covers emissions associated with areas
such as procurement, staff commuting and direct waste.

4.3

Working with the Carbon Trust, it has been possible to calculate the total carbon
emissions from activities in 2019/20 as a baseline figure of 90,241 tonnes CO2e.
This has been achieved by using actual measurements where they were available.
However, some areas, like the current level of sequestration (carbon offset from
natural features) across the Council owned estate, have not been possible to
calculate at this point and have been estimated.

4.4

The diagram below illustrates what percentage of the Council’s emissions are in
which area of Scope. As is evident below, Scope 1 and 2 contain the lowest levels
of carbon emissions, whilst 87% of the Council’s emission are generated via Scope
3 - that is indirect emission in areas including the supply chain, business travel and
commuting, use of products and direct waste.

Page 247

Total BCBC Emissions by Scope 2019/20
7%

6%

Scope 1
Scope 2

87%

4.5

Scope 3

The graph below shows further categorisation of the carbon footprint by emissions
source, effectively outlining all areas of the Council’s operations that are included
within the carbon footprint calculations as directed by Welsh Government.
BCBC Carbon Emissions by Source (tCO2e)
66,504

70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000

6,160

5,066
136

1,822

811

4,705

2,978

13

181

1,864

0

Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

4.6

It is recognised that it will not be practical or possible for BCBC to stop all carbon
emissions entirely from its operations. This will be the same for many Local
Authorities across Wales. The Council must strive to reduce its emission as far as
possible before using offsetting measures as the final step to Net Zero.

4.7

The draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy sets out a series of proposed
strategic commitments as presented below:

Page 248

Commitment 1

The Council will demonstrate leadership and commitment to deliver the
Bridgend 2030 Net Zero Carbon Strategy, to address the Climate Emergency
as declared by Welsh Government, the Senedd and the Council.

Commitment 2

The Council will integrate low and zero-carbon behaviours throughout the
organisation and carbon impact will become a key consideration in all
strategic decisions.

Commitment 3

The Council will decarbonise its built estate by 2030 with a strong focus on
energy efficiency, low carbon heating and on-site renewable generation.

Commitment 4

The Council will undertake a programme of fleet renewal to ultra-low emission
vehicles, such that all vehicles are ULEV by 2030.

Commitment 5

The Council will promote active and low-carbon travel options throughout its
own operations.

Commitment 6

The Council will decarbonise its procurement activity by engaging the supply
chain, supporting and mandating suppliers to decarbonise, and progressing
sustainable, local procurement practices.

Commitment 7

The Council will ensure its land holdings are developed and maintained to
support Net Zero objectives through high levels of carbon sequestration and
biodiversity.

Commitment 8

The Council will decarbonise its waste streams by ending landfill use and
adopting a reuse culture alongside sustainable methods of disposal.

The draft Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy also sets out a series of
proposed initiatives in relation to the themed areas as follows:

4.8








Mobilisation and Management
Carbon Management
Buildings
Transport
Land use
Procurement
Waste

Page 249

4.9

Governance and engagement are essential to successfully deliver the strategy.
Organisational change is required to maintain a focus on long-term decarbonisation
and carbon management.

4.10

The Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board (“Programme Board”) will oversee and
track progress to Net Zero Carbon by 2030. The Programme Board will be chaired
by the Cabinet Member for Communities and led by the Corporate Director for the
Communities Directorate. Each themed area will be assigned a ‘Carbon Lead’ to
ensure that every area is represented across the organisation. As the strategy is
finalised, carbon leads will review progress against action and report back to the
Programme Board. Carbon leads will also be required to drive and empower
decarbonisation initiatives.

4.11

It is recognised that the decarbonisation sector is developing rapidly. It is likely that
in the time up to 2030 new innovative technologies and solutions will come into the
mix that may have not been considered today.

4.12

It has become clear that the rapidly developing decarbonisation sector is recognising
the important role that the use of Hydrogen technology can play in both energy use
and transportation. In 2021, Welsh Government were approached by the Japanese
Consortium Marubeni, global specialist in renewables and hydrogen projects, to ask
if they were interested in an investment opportunity for a Hydrogen Demonstrator
Project in Wales. The Japanese Government’s New Energy and Industrial
Technology Development Organisation (NEDO) has pledged some £13m to co-fund
Hydrogen Power Demonstrators Projects with the Marubeni Corporation in the UK.
The key to this project was the supply of Green Hydrogen power for heat and
transportation using green energy sources.

4.13

After considering other sites within the UK, including at Sheffield and Aberdeen,
Bridgend County was selected by Marubeni as their chosen location to develop this
NEDO Hydrogen Investment Project. Welsh Government were pleased with this
investment decision as it complements their Decarbonisation and Hydrogen
ambitions and provides an opportunity to test new technologies. Similarly, it also
provides a significant opportunity for Bridgend County to look to possibly decarbonise
its corporate fleet and to look further at Hydrogen Energy applications. It is clear that
the project could also provide potential benefits for other LAs in the region, in addition
to public sector partners such as the South Wales Police and Welsh Ambulance
Service.

4.14

In order to move the development of this possible investment project forward, BCBC
now needs to work alongside the Marubeni Corporation to both design and develop
the project. This will outline the precise components of the project, whether it be
power or heat, the benefits to Bridgend and other public sector partners and any
financial commitments that are required, such as the new Hydrogen Demonstrator
Vehicles. Cabinet is now asked to delegate authority to the Corporate Director of
Communities to undertake this feasibility work, to engage specialist legal advice
where required, utilising resources that will be made available from the Communities
Directorate Earmarked Reserve (EMR) 2020-21 for implementing Bridgend 2030
Decarbonisation Strategy at an initial anticipated value of £30,000, and to report back
to Cabinet at a future date on the Project Details, Benefits and any potential funding
requirements.

Page 250

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon the Council’s Policy Framework or Procedure Rules as a
result of this report.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal at this stage.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy demonstrates the sustainable
development principle by ensuring that by meeting the needs of the present they do
not compromise the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This is
evidenced through the 5 ways of working as follows:


Long Term: A Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy will provide the
pathway for Bridgend County Borough to develop a decarbonised, digitally
advanced transport, buildings power and heat systems and green space
enhancements that meet the UK decarbonisation targets that are supported
by BCBC’s Local Area Energy Strategy and Smart Energy Plan and Green
Infrastructure Plans.



Prevention: A Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy will provide an
opportunity for all to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure
that solutions are designed and available for everyone within Bridgend County
Borough.



Integration: A Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy offers an
opportunity to develop a range of transport, buildings power and heat systems
and green space enhancements options to communities, public and business
partners offering carbon reductions, reduced fuel bills and create economic
opportunities through a clearly identified value chain for the area.



Collaboration: BCBC will continue to work in partnership with our
communities, public sector partners and UK and Welsh Government and
private sector partners to deliver a Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy.



Involvement: Creating and delivering a Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon
Strategy has, and will continue to, involve working with a variety of
stakeholders, notably local public service partners, to jointly deliver
sustainable solutions.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

The resource challenge faced by all public bodies in Wales in their efforts to
achieve net-zero carbon by 2030 is significant. Whilst the process for developing
the Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy has been led by the Communities
Directorate there has been a Council wide approach towards its creation and its

Page 251

delivery must be seen as a corporate responsibility. Delivery will also require an
on-going partnership approach with key external stakeholders and a wide range of
funders.
8.2

Much has been achieved by BCBC in securing external resources to date, often
matched on a case-by-case basis with BCBC resources, for a number of the early
phase actions being delivered to support the Council to reach net-zero carbon, such
as the Bridgend District Heat Scheme, active travel and the Re:Fit scheme.

8.3

Like these schemes, many of the initiatives in future years will require feasibility
funding to finalise their detailed cost and delivery profiles. Such funding is available
on an annual basis via bids to BCBC’s Corporate Feasibility Fund.

8.4

As initiatives that require additional resources are taken forward it is noted that the
Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with the Corporate Director –
Education and Family Support, Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR
and Corporate Policy and Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change will
submit proposals to secure external resources to fund 2030 initiatives through
appropriate funds. As initiatives are developed, each one, including their potential
resource requirements and carbon reduction potential, will be considered based on
the information available at the time.

8.5

It is noted that, depending on fund criteria, an element of match funding may be
required from BCBC. As the specific detail of individual funding packages are not
yet known at this stage it is considered that any match funding requirement would
be highlighted by the Corporate Director Communities, and the most appropriate
source of match funding identified, which could require further reports to Cabinet
and Council, particularly if capital match funding is required.

8.6

BCBC does not currently have a dedicated capital resource to deliver the 2030
programme in its entirety within its capital programme. The Council is facing a
number of capital pressures which it needs to address, as outlined in the latest
reports to Cabinet and Council on the capital programme, and if a specific
ringfenced fund was to be created within the current Capital programme solely for
decarbonisation then it may prevent other pressures being funded.

8.7

A core revenue budget has been created to employee a Decarbonisation
Programme Officer. This role will provide support for the Decarbonisation
Programme Manager.

9.

Recommendation.

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1.1 notes the progress to develop a Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy;
9.1.2 gives approval to carry out a formal public consultation on the draft Bridgend 2030 –
Net Zero Carbon Strategy, set out in Appendix 1 to this report;

Page 252

9.1.3 notes that a further report shall be received following the end of the consultation
period to consider formally adopting the Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy,
and;
9.1.4 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director of Communities, in consultation with
the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and Chief Officer - Legal, HR
and Regulatory Services, to work with the Marubeni Corporation to design and
develop the Hydrogen Demonstrator Project, to commission specialist legal advice
utilising resources that will be made available from the Communities Directorate
Earmarked Reserve (EMR) 2020-21 for implementing Bridgend 2030
Decarbonisation Strategy at an initial anticipated value of £30,000, from the
Communities Directorate budget as required and to report back to Cabinet on the full
project proposal.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
22nd February 2022
Contact Officer:

Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability

Telephone:

(01656) 815333

E-mail:

Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents
None

Page 253

This page is intentionally left blank

March 2020

Page 255

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Statement of Commitment
Bridgend County Borough Council is fully committed towards tackling the challenges of climate change
and achieving net zero carbon status as a public body by 2030.
As a local authority, we acknowledge that we have a significant role to play in providing leadership and
encouraging residents, businesses and partner organisations to take positive action which will reduce
their carbon footprints.
We are already taking decisive action towards reducing the council’s own greenhouse gas emissions,
and are adopting more sustainable ways of working that are designed to benefit the people of the county
borough for many generations to come.
As part of our ambitious Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Agenda, we want Bridgend County Borough
to be at the forefront of new sustainability industries of the future.
With a pragmatic approach towards becoming a net carbon zero local authority by 2030, we are
committed towards carrying out wider actions throughout the council to support all efforts to address
the climate emergency.
We also support Welsh Government’s ambitions for establishing a net zero carbon public sector, and
will work in partnership alongside fellow local authorities and organisations such as the Carbon Trust
towards achieving this hugely significant milestone.
Our net zero strategy represents the council’s first step along the path towards a more sustainable,
future-proofed Wales, and we will engage with our citizens, communities, businesses and industries to
ensure that Bridgend County Borough is at the forefront of challenging climate and nature action in the
public sector in Wales, the UK and the world.

Councillor Huw David, Leader of
Bridgend County Borough Council

Mark Shephard, Chief Executive of
Bridgend County Borough Council

1

Page 256

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Contents
The Climate Emergency in Wales ............................................................................ 3
Bridgend’s Declaration of a Climate Emergency ................................................ 5
What have we achieved to date? .................................................................. 7
Climate Resilience – How are we preparing?.......................................... 7
Sustainable Recovery from the Pandemic ....................................................... 8
Carbon Neutral by 2030 – What does this mean? ......................................... 9
Carbon Management Plan ...................................................................................... 13
Bridgend’s Net Zero Commitments ............................................................ 16
Route Map to a Net Zero Bridgend ............................................................. 17
Next Steps to achieving Bridgend 2030 .................................................. 18
Appendix 1 – Bridgend 2030 Implementation Plan .......................................... 19
Appendix 2 – Bridgend 2030 Action Plans ..................................................... 24
2030 Actions Plans ............................................................................................ 25
Action Plan 1 - Carbon Management ......................................................... 26
Action Plan 2 – Buildings ................................................................................ 27
Action Plan 3 –Transport................................................................................. 30
Action Plan 4 – Procurement......................................................................... 32
Action Plan 5 – Land Use ................................................................................ 35
Action Plan 6 – Waste ....................................................................................... 40
References.................................................................................................................... 42

2

Page 257

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

The Climate Emergency in Wales
Immediate and bold action to tackle climate change is more crucial now than ever
before.
There is now unprecedented political recognition of a global Climate Emergency. In
October 2018 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) released a report
detailing the short amount of time we have left to tackle widespread climate breakdown.
They stated that we have until 2030 to cut our carbon emissions to a level that limits global
warming to a maximum of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. This has culminated in the
Paris Climate Change Agreement in COP 15, in which 189 countries united to ratify a
legally bound commitment to act to limit global temperature rise this century1, and now in
the recent COP 26 meeting in Glasgow, in October 2021, specific climate change
mitigation actions are agreed to stop deforestation, cut methane, and end coal emissions.
The five warmest years on record have occurred in the five years succeeding the
Paris Agreement.
Climate change is recognised as the most significant threat to the health of humanity on
a global scale. We are already seeing consequences of 1°C of global warming in Wales
through rising sea levels, more extreme weather, flooding and the warmest winter on
record in Wales in 2019. The State of the UK Climate Report 2020 prepared by the Met
Office set out that in the space of 30 years, the UK has become 0.9°C warmer and 6%
wetter.
In April 2019, with cross-party support, the Senedd was the first Parliament in the
world to declare a Climate Emergency2.
Increased public awareness has led to calls for greater action to be taken to tackle climate
change. This has also led to growing pressure on governments and businesses to act
rapidly to mitigate climate change, calling for the UK and devolved governments to
formally declare a Climate Emergency. Wales declared its Climate Emergency in April
2019.
To lead the way on climate action in Wales, Welsh Government has legislated for a
Net Zero Wales by 2050 with the public sector leading by example to be Net Zero by
20303.
Since the Climate Emergency declaration in April 2019, Welsh Government has accepted
the Climate Change Committee’s recommendation to increase Wales’s 2050 emissions
target4.
The Climate Change (Interim Emissions Targets) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2021
have been introduced which amend the Climate Change (Interim Emissions Targets)
(Wales) Regulations 2018 so that the maximum amount for the net Welsh emission
account for 2030 is 63% lower than the baseline instead of 45%.
3

Page 258

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

The public sector has a critical leadership role to play on the journey to Net Zero. In
recognition of this Ministers have set the target for the Welsh public sector to achieve Net
Zero status by 2030. Welsh Government have published a route map for decarbonisation
across the public sector5 to provide overarching guidance. Alongside this, progress to Net
Zero will be tracked by yearly public sector carbon accounting6.

Bridgend County Borough Council has committed to
the Net Zero 2030 target as an organisation and
recognises the leadership role to enable wider Net
Zero for businesses and communities in the county.

4

Page 259

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Bridgend’s Declaration of a Climate
Emergency
As the UN Climate Change Conference (COP 26) was underway in Glasgow in October
2021, Welsh Government released its 2nd carbon budget to progress towards Net Zero
emissions, ‘Net Zero Wales Carbon Budget 2 (2021-25)’7. This plan further underpins the
public sector’s role in a ‘Team Wales’ approach to achieving Net Zero.
A summary of Welsh Government legislation, strategies, and ambitions to drive carbon
reduction activity in Wales is shown below.

Bridgend’s Climate Emergency Response Programme
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) declared its own climate emergency in June
2020 and set up its Climate Emergency Response programme. This has a commitment
to achieve Net Zero carbon emissions by 2030 across its operations. This Bridgend 2030
Net Zero Carbon Strategy (“Bridgend 2030 Strategy”) is the initial strategic step in
achieving this commitment. Importantly, this Strategy will not be the only driver for Net
Zero, it will be an integral part of the Council’s Corporate Plan and Wellbeing Plan, whilst
policies, strategies and ongoing plans will all reflect the commitment to Net Zero. This will
ensure it is fully embraced across the organisation.
The Council’s Corporate Plan8 highlights ‘decarbonisation and environmental
sustainability’ as a priority area for the Council up to 2023. Alongside this, the Council
ensures that the climate is considered at an everyday decision-making level. This is
underpinned by The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Bridgend
Public Service Board Wellbeing Plan9.

5

Page 260

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

“One Council working together to
improve lives”

6

Page 261

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

What have we achieved to date?
Since declaring a Climate Emergency in June 2020, the Council has not been standing
still. Significant progress has already been made to reduce carbon emissions in the
council and county with active projects (excluding new school buildings), totalling circa
£20m. An example of an active project is the Re:fit Cymru energy efficiency retrofit
programme which will provide £1.17m of investment across 19 buildings in its current
phase.
A summary of recent and active schemes progressing decarbonisation across the themes
of buildings, transport, land use and procurement are shown in the table below.
Transport

Buildings

Land Use

Procurement

LED street lighting

Re:fit Cymru –retrofit
programme

Coastal protection
Scheme

Regional
procurement
networks

Porthcawl - New Bus
Terminus

Bridgend District
Heat Network

Extending area of
Local Nature
Reserves

Green energy tariffs

Civic Centre – 8
charging points

Bryncethin Depot PV, LED & Battery
Storage
Roof mount Solar PV
– multi-site
21st Century Schools
Programme

Feasibility – landbased renewables

Socially Responsible
Procurement
Strategy

ULEV infrastructure
Active Travel
provision

Tree planting – I-Tree
eco study
Local Development
Plan update

Climate Resilience – How are we preparing?
Alongside the work of the 2030 strategy and the efforts to reduce the carbon baseline, the
Council is also actively engaged in other projects to increase our overall climate resilience
in the Borough. This includes the following: • Developing a Flood Risk Strategy, investing in flood prevention equipment and the
investment of £6m in the coastal flood defences at Porthcawl.
• Ensuring that we implement the new Sustainable Draining Systems and that all
new developments have appropriate attenuation and drainage systems such as
green roofs or natural drainage systems.
• Increasing our Tree Canopy Cover and Biodiversity Schemes, including planting
10,000 trees in the Borough in 2021/22 as part of the Queens Green Canopy
project.
7

Page 262

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Sustainable Recovery from the Pandemic
The COVID-19 Pandemic has drastically changed the economic and social context in
Wales, the UK and globally. This will, in turn, affect how the transition to a Net Zero carbon
position is planned.
By drawing on the principles set out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act, the Welsh
Government have produced the Economic Resilience and Reconstruction Mission10 which
outlines the pathway to recovery following the pandemic.
The mission sets three targets: ‘prosperous’, ‘green’, and ‘equal’ as outlined in the diagram
below. It aims to create a just, green recovery – addressing the socio-economic impacts
of the pandemic while simultaneously tackling the Net Zero challenge.

This Bridgend 2030 Strategy and the commitments and initiatives within will support a just
and green recovery for the Borough from the pandemic.
The response to the pandemic has demonstrated how significant and impactful change
can be enforced into the day-to-day life of the public and the approach to work. The
Council undertook an additional assessment of its carbon footprint for 2020/21 to
understand the impact of the pandemic on operations. It demonstrated that remote
working during the Coronavirus lockdown within this period reduced fleet and business
travel emissions by 16% and 47% respectively, and reduced emissions in buildings by
20% across the estate. With the pandemic demonstrating that rapid and significant
societal change is achievable, the goal now must be to stir similar urgency and
commitment to tackle the Climate Emergency.

8

Page 263

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Carbon Neutral by 2030 – What does this
mean?
Carbon neutrality or Net Zero Carbon means balancing the greenhouse gas emissions we
produce with the number of gases we are removing from the atmosphere. This is shown
in the diagram below. Currently, the world is producing more greenhouse gas emissions
than it absorbs which is causing global warming and climate change.

What is Bridgend’s Carbon Footprint?
The Council commissioned a carbon footprint assessment for its own operations. This is
shown below and provides a baseline to measure performance against the 2030 Net Zero
target. Total Bridgend Council Carbon Emissions 2019/20:

90,241 tonnes
CO2e

9

Page 264

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

The Council’s carbon footprint from 2019/20 has been calculated as approximately 90,241
tonnes of CO2e, using Welsh Government Carbon Reporting methodology. This
represents around 0.23% of Wales’s total greenhouse gas emissions11.
Welsh Governments Carbon Reporting looks at emissions being attributed to the three
categories or scopes: Scope 1 – Direct Emissions - are those that occur from an organisation at source, for
example by heating buildings or from the exhausts of vehicles.
Scope 2 - Indirect Emissions – are those that occur mainly from electricity used in our
activities but where generation and associated emissions are elsewhere.
Scope 3 – All other indirect emissions – this covers emissions associated with areas such
as procurement, staff commuting and direct waste.

10

Page 265

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

The diagram below illustrates what percentage of the Council’s emissions are in which
Scope. As is evident below, Scope 1 and 2 contain the lowest levels of carbon emissions,
whilst 87% of the Council’s emissions come via Scope 3. These are indirect emissions in
areas including the supply chain, business travel, commuting and direct waste.
Total BCBC Emissions by Scope 2019/20
7%

6%

Scope 1
Scope 2

87%

Scope 3

When we examine further the Council’s carbon emissions by source, it becomes clear that
one area, in particular, generates over two-thirds of the Council’s emissions; the
procurement of goods and services. The graph below shows the further categorisation of
the footprint by emissions source, effectively outlining all areas of the Council’s operations
that are included within the carbon footprint calculations as directed by the Welsh
Government.
BCBC Carbon Emissions by Source (tCO2e)
66,504
70,000
60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000

6,160

5,066
136

1,822

4,705
811

2,978
13

181

1,864

0

Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

11

Page 266

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

The Council recognise that there is a need to improve data accuracy and coverage in
some areas of its Carbon Footprint assessment. The requirement for ongoing data
improvement is needed, in particular for business travel and employee commuting related
emissions.

12

Page 267

Bridgend 2030 – Net Zero Carbon Strategy

Carbon Management Plan
Working with The Carbon Trust, the Council has been able to calculate its total carbon
emissions from its activities in 2019/20 as a baseline figure of 90,241 tonnes. This has
been achieved by using actual measurements where they were available. However, some
areas like the current level of sequestration (carbon offset from natural features) across
the Council-owned estate have not been possible to calculate at this point.
It is recognised that it will not be practical or possible for the Council to stop all carbon
emissions entirely from its operations. This will be the same for all Local Authorities across
Wales. The Council must strive to reduce its emissions as far as possible before using
offsetting measures as the final step to Net Zero.
This calculation is called the “Gap to Target”, which is the gap that will require offsetting
measures. A gap to target has been estimated in 2030 as 34,155 tCO2e. This represents
the Council’s estimated residual carbon emissions in 2030, plus the initiatives that were
unquantifiable at this point in terms of carbon savings. The Council will need to offset the
remaining carbon emissions using the correct and approved methods. The graph below
gives a visual representation of these savings as the Council ‘Decarbonisation Pathway’
to 2030. A business-as-usual (BAU) and Net Zero 2030 pathway have also been included
for context.

Current gap
to target

13

Page 268

Further decarbonisation pathways are outlined below for supply chain, buildings and
transport emissions. These represent in more detail the high-level modelling that is been
undertaken as part of this strategy. The Council recognises that further, more detailed
‘bottom up’ modelling will need to take place as it continues the journey to Net Zero 2030.

Buildings include – Electricity, Gas, Other Fuels, Water and Waste projections.

14

Page 269

15

Page 270

Bridgend’s Net Zero Commitments
The Council has aligned its Net Zero target with the Welsh Government ambition of
achieving a Net Zero public sector by 20306. This will require understanding the priorities,
costs, stakeholders and wider impacts of actions associated with council operations, whilst
improving understanding of the public sector’s role in influencing change in society and
the wider economic system. The Council’s 8 Bridgend 2030 commitments are as follows:-

Commitment 1

The Council will demonstrate leadership and commitment to deliver the
Bridgend 2030 Net Zero Carbon Strategy, to address the Climate Emergency
as declared by Welsh Government, the Senedd and the Council.

Commitment 2

The Council will integrate low and zero-carbon behaviours throughout the
organisation and carbon impact will become a key consideration in all
strategic decisions.

Commitment 3

The Council will decarbonise its built estate by 2030 with a strong focus on
energy efficiency, low carbon heating and on-site renewable generation.

Commitment 4

The Council will undertake a programme of fleet renewal to ultra-low emission
vehicles, such that all vehicles are ULEV by 2030.

Commitment 5

The Council will promote active and low-carbon travel options throughout its
own operations.

Commitment 6

The Council will decarbonise its procurement activity by engaging the supply
chain, supporting and mandating suppliers to decarbonise, and progressing
sustainable, local procurement practices.

Commitment 7

The Council will ensure its land holdings are developed and maintained to
support Net Zero objectives through high levels of carbon sequestration and
biodiversity.

Commitment 8

The Council will decarbonise its waste streams by ending landfill use and
adopting a reuse culture alongside sustainable methods of disposal.

16

Page 271

Route Map to a Net Zero Bridgend
The Route Map below lays out key milestones that need to be achieved on the way to
2030 and a fully Net Zero Council. It is ambitious and will be challenging to achieve,
with partnerships integral to an effective delivery. Detailed Actions plans have been
prepared against the 8 2030 Corporate Commitments and these are set out in
Appendix 2.

17

Page 272

Next Steps to achieving Bridgend 2030
The is no doubting that the Bridgend 2030 Strategy is ambitious in its commitments
and will be equalling challenging to deliver. Key to this will be ensuring that a robust
and effective governance structure is in place to make decisions, sustain momentum
and action over the long term and monitor and review progress against our carbon
reduction plans. The implementation of this strategy is detailed in Appendix 1.
It is also critical that focus is placed on putting the actions presented within the strategy
into motion immediately. We will use the content and quantifications (energy, carbon
and cost-saving potential) developed through our work with the Carbon Trust and
included throughout this document, as a building block for the development of detailed
business cases for action going forward. The Action Plans that build on the 8 Bridgend
2030 Commitments are included in Appendix 2.
It must also be recognised that access to additional resources and finance is critical
to ensure the success of the 2030 Strategy. Whilst many projects are already
resourced and funded via the Council’s Capital Programme or external grant schemes
and providers, such as UK Government, Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital
Region, there will be a requirement for additional resources in the future to deliver new
initiatives or schemes. The Council will continue to identify partnership opportunities
and funding streams to progress this decarbonisation agenda.
We will review our Action Plans annually to include new projects as they are developed
and approved and to monitor and measure progress both on emission reduction but
also against a broader spectrum of sustainability and wellbeing metrics. By reviewing
annually, we can ensure a dynamic response and evolving action plans that reflect the
needs and priorities of the Borough and its residents. However, much progress can
still be made by championing decarbonisation within the decision-making processes
of the Council, and by integrating this into corporate behaviours.
This Bridgend 2030 Strategy provides the direction for decarbonisation of the Council’s
own emissions as an organisation. However, as a Council there is a critical leadership
role in supporting a Net Zero transition across the communities, businesses, and
infrastructure for the county. It is recognised that the Council will require full support
and engagement from all parts of the county to ensure the climate emergency can be
overcome. Everyone will need to work together as one to reach Net Zero and support
the well-being of future generations in Wales.

18

Page 273

Appendix 1 – Bridgend 2030
Implementation Plan

19

Page 274

Strategy Governance
The Council have identified that governance and engagement are essential for a
successful decarbonisation strategy. To deliver the strategy, organisational change is
required to maintain a focus on long-term decarbonisation and carbon management.
This section describes the actions the Council will undertake to embed
decarbonisation into the organisation.
The Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board will be maintained to oversee and track
progress to Net Zero Carbon by 2030. The Programme Board will be Chaired by the
Cabinet Member for Communities and led by the Corporate Director of the
Communities, and the Decarbonisation Programme Manager will oversee the overall
organisation and delivery of the strategy.
Carbon Leads
The Council will assign each activity stream a ‘Carbon Lead’ to ensure that every area
is represented across the organisation. Carbon leads will review progress against
existing action plans and report back to the Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board
on an annual basis. A 2030 Steering Group will also be formed and will be led by the
Decarbonisation Programme Manager. The 2030 Steering Group will meet on a more
regular basis with the aim to bring together all carbon leads to encourage continual
collaboration across the organisation.
The Carbon Lead’s aim is to support the Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board in
understanding the progress made against the commitments within the strategy. The
initiatives included within the activity streams will often provide carbon reduction
across several of the activity streams. Carbon leads will also be required to drive and
empower decarbonisation initiatives in their departments.
Carbon Management and Waste will be included as additional programme areas,
alongside Transport, Buildings, Land Use and Procurement.

20

Page 275

Action Plans
Defined action plans will form the basis of the Council’s decarbonisation initiatives to
achieve Net Zero. Strategic initiatives are listed within the action plan section against
each of the defined activity streams. The Council have highlighted the following activity
streams to focus decarbonisation efforts. Carbon Leads for each activity stream will
be responsible for driving progress against the action plans and maintaining
momentum.
1. Carbon Management

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Buildings (Existing buildings & new builds)
Transport (Business travel and commuting included)
Procurement
Land Use
Waste

The Council recognises the challenge that achieving Net Zero by 2030 poses to
normal operations and delivery of service. It should be noted that all decarbonisation
initiatives presented in the action plans (Appendix 2) within this report will be subject
to resource, finance availability and an individual business case assessment.
Initiatives are ambitious to drive the transformational change within the organisation
that is required to achieve a Net Zero future.
Monitoring and Evaluation
Once the Bridgend 2030 Strategy is adopted, measuring progress will be an essential
part of its implementation.
Ongoing monitoring is crucial to understand if the strategy is on track. Evaluation of
the action plans will take place annually within the agreed timeframe. This will help the
Council to identify whether objectives have been met, alongside its impacts and
lessons learned from the initiative.
It is also recognised that the decarbonisation sector is developing rapidly. It is likely
that in the time up to 2030 that new innovative technologies and solutions will come
into the mix that may have not been considered at the time of this report. With that in
mind, this Bridgend 2030 Strategy will be reviewed in full in 2024 & 2027, to update
against the fast-moving sector.
Stakeholder Engagement
Robust engagement with stakeholders from across Bridgend will be crucial for
successful climate action. The Council will continue to explore innovative ways through
which the whole organisation can contribute towards achieving Net Zero by 2030. It
should ensure that an effective engagement strategy that actively involves all council
departments and employees is drawn up. Achieving the greatest possible input and
buy-in will allow the Council to work closely with key stakeholders to identify the areas
of the council that need to be prioritised to reduce emissions. It will need to remain
21

Page 276

transparent throughout all engagement activities, to grant stakeholders the opportunity
to contribute towards the decarbonisation initiatives that they intend to implement
across the estate.
The Council should focus on the following to deliver its Bridgend 2030 Strategy: •

Continue to engage with departments across the council and produce an
internal list of stakeholders to repeatedly engage with.

•

Form a ‘2030 Sub-Committee’ to unite carbon leads from each department to
ensure a collective approach is achieved across BCBC on a continual basis.

•

Communicate with external stakeholders on the continual development of the
Bridgend 2030 Strategy up to 2030 itself.

BCBC’s Mobilisation & Management Initiatives
The following table outlines the mobilisation and management initiatives that the
Council will adopt to ensure action is taken to achieve decarbonisation across the
organisation by 2030.

1

A Decarbonisation 2030 Programme Board will remain in place to oversee the
implementation of the Bridgend 2030 Strategy.

2

A ‘Decarbonisation Programme Manager’ will remain in place as a dedicated
role to drive the focussed implementation of the Bridgend 2030 Strategy.

3

A ‘2030 Steering Group’ will be formed to bring together carbon leads from each
activity stream to ensure a joined-up approach is achieved across the Council.

4

Carbon leads will be appointed for each activity stream and will be responsible
for reviewing progress against action plans and reporting back to the ‘2030
Programme Board’.

5

The Action Plans will form the basis of how the Council will reach Net Zero –
action plans will be reviewed and updated annually.

6

The Council will enable successful implementation of the Bridgend 2030
Strategy by identifying additional resources and finance for delivery through a

22

Page 277

robust business planning regime to scale up and accelerate implementation of
initiatives.

7

A ring-fenced financial allocation will be created for decarbonisation. This will be
used for developing specific projects and levering in additional external finance.

8

The Council will include a defined mission statement on its decarbonisation
ambitions as a distinct corporate objective; CMB, CCMB and Council Boards will
give high importance to decarbonisation in all investment decisions.

9

The Council will issue at least two revisions on the Bridgend 2030 Strategy in
2024 and 2027 to update against the rapidly changing landscape of the
decarbonisation sector.

10 The Council will engage with departments in the council to produce an internal
list of stakeholders to support collaboration and share expertise across all
activity areas on Net Zero.

11 The Council will communicate and collaborate with external stakeholders (e.g.
health board and local service board) on the progress of the Bridgend 2030
Strategy.

23

Page 278

Appendix 2 – Bridgend 2030 Action Plans

24

Page 279

2030 Actions Plans
This appendix contains 6 Actions Plans that will deliver the Bridgend 2030 Strategy
and reduce the greenhouse gas emissions of the organisation in order to get to a Net
Zero Position by the 1st of April 2030. Each Action Plan will have a Corporate Manager
as Senior Responsible Officer and will report on the progress of the Action Plan to the
2030 Programme Board.
These include the following: •

Action Plan 1 - Carbon Management

•

Action Plan 2 – Buildings

•

Action Plan 3 – Transport

•

Action Plan 4 – Procurement

•

Action Plan 5 – Land Use

•

Action Plan 6 – Waste.

It is the intention to review these plans annually in order to track the progress
against the carbon baseline, monitor effectiveness, resource appropriately and
include new initiatives, technology and projects as they arise.

25

Page 280

Action Plan 1 - Carbon Management
To achieve Net Zero emissions by 2030 a complete culture shift will be required across
all council operations. The Council recognises that a joined-up approach is needed,
and all departments will need to work together to achieve the decarbonisation goals.
Carbon impact and sustainability will become a key metric in the decision-making
process. The following table outlines the initiatives the Council will undertake to
implement effective carbon management across the organisation.
Carbon Management Initiatives
CM1 The Council will appoint a technical expert in 2022 to undertake a more specific
‘bottom-up’ reduction pathway, providing more detailed carbon and financial
modelling results for the agreed Action Plans in the 2030 Strategy.
CM2 Carbon impact and implications to be included in all council business cases for
investment, integrated with the wellbeing of future generations assessment.
CM3 The decarbonisation agenda will be proactively communicated to staff to
support the uptake of low-carbon behaviours.
CM4 Carbon Literacy training will have been completed by the end of the 2022/23
financial year and the training will be integrated into standard HR processes,
such as e-learning modules.
CM5 All council job descriptions will be updated to include the general carbon
responsibilities of employees and selected key council job descriptions will
include defined carbon responsibilities as part of their role within the Council.
CM6 Through its participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme, BCBC
acknowledges that climate change and carbon emission management is one
of the risk factors of responsible investment and will support and actively
monitor the delivery of the Fund’s commitment to an orderly carbon transition
and its active engagement with investee companies to reduce carbon exposure
across the Pension Fund.
CM7 Utilise the Welsh Government Public Sector Carbon Reporting Guide to report
annually the Carbon Footprints of Council’s operations, this will form the basis
for tracking progress against the Net Zero 2030 target.

26

Page 281

Action Plan 2 – Buildings
Carbon emissions associated with the operation of buildings represents the second
biggest contributor to the Council’s carbon footprint, behind the procurement of goods
and services.
The chart below shows a breakdown of total emissions in buildings split by water, gas
and electricity usage across the owned estate. Electricity is the greatest carbon emitter
in buildings (53%) with gas close behind (44%). Water usage and other fuels are
relatively low in comparison but should not be ignored.
The Council will need to focus on improving energy efficiency and developing onsite
generation projects throughout the estate to effectively decarbonise this area.
The approach to new buildings has also been addressed. The closer a new building
can be built to Net Zero standards now mitigates the need for additional retrofit projects
down the line.
Carbon Emissions - Buildings 2019/20
Water
136 tCO2e
1%

Gas
5,066 tCO2e
44%

Other Fuels
181 tCO2e
2%

Electricity
6,160 tCO2e
53%

The action plan for existing and new buildings are presented in the next 2 pages.

27

Page 282

Building Initiatives

B1

The Council will progress a transformational energy and water efficiency retrofit
programme across its estate – every building will have undergone a multitechnology energy efficient upgrade by 2030.

B2

The Council will undertake and commission surveys to collate a full asset &
conditions list of energy consuming equipment across its built estate by end of
2023.

B3

The Council will complete expert low carbon heat studies for all large strategic
sites to set the plan to transition away from fossil fuel heat sources.

B4

Decommissioning of traditional boilers will be preferred over replacement, with
low carbon heat solutions appraised and prioritised within the business case
process.

B5

Legacy lighting will only be replaced with modern LED alternatives; all lighting
will be LED by 2030.

B6

All buildings will be assessed to have standardised, effective building
management systems including a dedicated central resource to optimise energy
use across the built estate on a consistent basis.

B7

The Council will complete surveys to understand the overall viable potential for
onsite renewable energy generation across the estate, by 2026 half of this
potential should be installed, with the remainder by 2030.

B8

The Council will work closely with schools to develop a plan to better deliver
carbon reduction in these buildings.

28

Page 283

New Builds and Major Refurbishment Initiatives
NB1 New buildings must be built to a net zero standard, with a defined approach to
be set by 2022 – engage and collaborate across the UK on the emerging net zero
building standards that go beyond BREEAM excellent and adopt a net zero
building accreditation approach.

NB2 The Council will incorporate Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) into the
design and construction of new buildings – this will consider Passivhaus,
modular design elements, wood-framed buildings and just-in-time delivery to
minimise construction related carbon emissions.

NB3 Low carbon heating solutions will be a key design principle and the Council will
not install any fossil fuel combustion systems as a heat source in new builds
from 2024

NB4 The Council will install EV charging points in new developments beyond
minimum standards, and car parks will be future-proofed by installing
submerged cabling infrastructure in all new car parking spaces for the provision
of future charge points.

NB5 The Council will integrate sustainable transportation and active travel into the
design of new sites and developments, in line with Welsh Governments Active
Travel guidance and action plan.

NB6 The Council will consider the retention of buildings where possible to avoid
associated embodied carbon emissions from the creation of new buildings. A
carbon analysis will be undertaken when considering the replacement or retrofit
of a building to meet Net Zero standards.

29

Page 284

Action Plan 3 –Transport
Carbon emissions from transport are one of the highest emitters across Council
operations. Transport includes emissions from owned fleet, business travel and
commuting.
The following chart shows the split of transport emissions by commuting, business
travel and fleet. To decarbonise transport, the Council will need to prioritise introducing
ULEVs into their fleet and across Bridgend in the short term. This will require the
development of a best-practice approach for ULEVs and public vehicle EV charging
stations.
Carbon Emissions - Transport 2019/20
Commuting
13 tCO2e
<1%

Business Travel
811 tCO2e
31%

Fleet
1,822 tCO2e
69%

Transport Initiatives

T1

The Council will complete a business travel review to appraise the use of staff
vehicles, pool cars and public transport across all departments; Council
business travel policies will be updated accordingly.

T2

The Councils staff business travel policy will prioritise the use of virtual
meetings, active travel and public transport.

T3

The Council will undertake a detailed review of staff commuting patterns to
better understand the impact on its overall carbon footprint; guidance and
incentive schemes will be considered to support staff.

30

Page 285

T4

The Council will support the Welsh Government’s 30% work from home target
by continuing to facilitate home working, developing digital infrastructure, and
rationalising office space.

T5

The Council will oversee the development of a best-practice approach for
ULEV technology across the Council's own fleet, staff vehicles and public EV
charging.

T6

To encourage the transition to an EV fleet the Council will prioritise the
development of an EV charging infrastructure network plan for the existing
estate.

T7

EVs will be prioritised as replacements for Council owned cars and small vans
in the short term, with all conforming to ULEV standards by 2025.

T8

All new medium / large freight vehicles procured across the Council after April
2026 will be to the future modern standard of ULEVs.

T9

The Council will actively engage with innovation projects to help shape the
future landscape of the ULEV market, specifically hydrogen-powered vehicles.

T10 The Council will undertake a review of fuel used in small plant and equipment
to understand their carbon footprint and what assets can be replaced with
electric versions.

T11 The Council will pro-actively engage with other public bodies within the County
to ensure strategic travel plans do not counteract each other.

31

Page 286

Action Plan 4 – Procurement
It is estimated that emissions that occurred from procured goods & services is the
largest contributor to the Councils carbon footprint (74%). It should be noted that all
Local Authorities are seeing similar levels of emissions from procurement, in terms of
the % split across operations. Decarbonising supply chain emissions represent the
biggest challenge across the whole public sector in achieving Net Zero by 2030.
The graph below shows the Councils total emissions from procured goods and
services split by contract type.
Procured Goods & Services by Contract Type
Transit and ground passenger transportation services
Nursing and residential care services
Professional, scientific, and technical services…
Residential maintenance and repair services
Food (miscellaneous)
Junior colleges, colleges, universities, and…
Manufactured products (miscellaneous)
Community food, housing, and other relief services,…
Software, audio, and video media reproduction services
Personal care services
Grantmaking, giving, and social advocacy organizations
Nonresidential maintenance and repair services
Buildings and dwellings services
Employment services
Educational services
Hospital services
Home health care services
Printing services
Automotive equipment rental and leasing services
Computer terminals and other computer peripheral…
Other
-

51%
16%
6%
5%
3%
3%
2%
2%
2%
2%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
0.5%
0.5%
0.5%
0.4%
4%
5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000 35,000
tCO2e

Transit and ground passenger transportation services are estimated to be the highest
contributor (51%) with nursing and residential care services (16%) the second highest.
The Council will consider these as strategic areas in relation to decarbonisation; efforts
will also be focused on working across Bridgend to champion decarbonisation in the
supply chain, and influence decarbonisation ambitions for other emission hotspots
such as buildings and transport.
The following table outlines the initiatives that the Council will implement to reduce
emissions associated with procured goods & services.

32

Page 287

Procurement Initiatives

P1

The Council will develop a Sustainable Procurement Code of Practice to
include a framework for assessing the sustainability credentials of suppliers at
varying contract values and types; this will consider the evolving Welsh
Procurement Policy Notes (WPPN).

P2

The Council will aim to engage with and utilise the local and low carbon supply
chains whilst maintaining high standards for goods and services. This will be a
corporate initiative and not just the responsibility of the procurement team.

P3

The Council will build upon WPPN 06/21 and require carbon management
plans/decarbonisation improvement to be demonstrated in the highest carbon
impact and strategic contracts by 2025, this will include contracts as they come
to be procured associated with ‘Transit & Ground Passenger Transport
Services’ and ‘Nursing & Residential Care Services’.

P4

The Council will apply the principles of ‘WPPN 12/21 Decarbonisation through
Procurement’, to an increasing proportion of contracts such that by 2030, all
contracts above an agreed value are subject to carbon assessment and
reporting.

P5

The Council will work to ensure decarbonisation selection criteria and the
requirement for supplier carbon reduction plans is integrated into contract
procedure rules for contracts valued at £5 million or more (as per WPPN 06/21)
for contracts procured from 2025. This will be a corporate initiative and will
involve the development of a work plan which will be presented to Cabinet and
Council to amend the Contract Procedure Rules.

P6

The Council, through its Economic Development function, will engage with its
supply chain to communicate its ambition for Net Zero and the request for
suppliers to come on the journey; the Council will share its developing
procurement practice, resources for suppliers, and any opportunities for supply
chain decarbonisation funding.

P7

The Council will provide a training programme for internal service
commissioners by developing best practice and engaging experts; the Council
procurement and service commissioners will work in collaboration to champion

33

Page 288

decarbonisation in the supply chain. This will be resourced through the Climate
Change Response Programme.

P8

Contract management will be used to oversee decarbonisation progress and
carbon accounting in both short- and long-term contracts, this will be overseen
by the BCBC 2030 Programme Board and reported to Corporate Management
Board (CMB) as required.

P9

A task and finish group will be established to identify funding option to secure
a dedicated resource will be put in place to support development of the
Sustainable Procurement Code of Practice, Socially Responsible Procurement
Strategy, and ongoing management of decarbonisation through procurement.

P10 The Council recognises the need for a regional and national approach and will
identify other organisations and forums (e.g. TOMS, WLGA) for collaboration
across Wales to help develop its understanding and take note from best
practice approaches.

34

Page 289

Action Plan 5 – Land Use
The Council recognises that strategic planning on its owned estate is a key priority. It
is not realistic to assume that all carbon emissions associated with council operations
can be reduced to zero whilst still delivering services to the local community. The
Council will have a level of residual emissions that needs to be ‘offset’ to reach Net
Zero.
Promoting sustainable land use will have positive results for all parties involved. The
generation of renewable energy, carbon sequestration and creating spaces to
encourage biodiversity will have a positive impact on public health, wellbeing and
decarbonisation. The Council will sustainably manage its own land whilst engaging
closely with the communities in these spaces to recognise potential opportunities.
Maximising the use of Council land will be significant in reducing the carbon and wider
environmental impact of the council. The table below shows the initiatives the Council
will undertake.
Land Use Initiatives
L1 The Council will support the delivery of LDP identified renewables and offsetting
opportunities on its own land and neighbouring land, and also influence and
support broader county-wide schemes through the council’s role in planning.
L2 The Council will improve its understanding of all owned land assets to correctly
appreciate the levels of carbon sequestration by March 2023 and develop plans
to maximise carbon benefits in these areas.
L3 The Council will ensure all owned woodland and greenfield areas are
maintained in a way to promote enhanced biodiversity and avoid any
unnecessary loss of carbon sequestration.
L4 The Council will identify its own and neighbouring land for large-scale renewable
developments, primarily solar and wind projects. Private wire connections to
owned sites will be prioritised over exporting directly to the grid.
L5 Where large-scale renewable developments are not possible, the Council will
prioritise these areas for afforestation/reforestation and biodiversity
programmes on its own land.

35

Page 290

L6 The Council will undertake an assessment to understand the extent of peatland
across its estate; a continual maintenance and regeneration programme will be
put in place for any identified areas.
L7 The Council will identify the additional maintenance resource needed to help
kick start a more extensive green infrastructure programme across the county.

Carbon Offsetting
Despite the substantial carbon reductions achievable from implementing projects and
undertaking actions outlined in this report, the Council will still be emitting carbon
emissions in 2030. If we are to meet the Net Zero target, we will need to consider
offsetting the remaining carbon emissions. There are numerous methods for offsetting
carbon emissions, each with their pros and cons, these methods along with the
different principles involved in offsetting are discussed below. It should be noted that
offsetting is seen as a last step in the journey and reducing emissions from operations
is the first priority.
Avoided Emissions vs Emissions Removal
Carbon offsetting can be categorised into three broad groups: Avoided natural
depletion, avoided emissions and greenhouse gas removal. Examples of each of
these are given in the table below:
Avoided Natural
Depletion

•

•
•

Avoiding
deforestation/protecting
forests
Protecting wetlands
Protecting peatlands

Avoided Emissions

•
•

Greenhouse Gas Removals
(GGRs)
Natural

Renewable energy
projects
Energy efficiency
projects (LED
lighting, boiler
upgrade, etc.)

•
•
•

Afforestation
Ocean fertilisation
Mineral Carbonisation

Engineered
•

Direct air capture
technologies

36

Page 291

Tree Planting
The Council has already undertaken and is involved in programmes for tree planting
across the county. These include the I-Tree eco-study and the Queen’s Green
Canopy, but there is no doubt that more will need to be planted to successfully reach
Net Zero by 2030.
Trees and organic matter are excellent vessels for removing CO2 directly from the
atmosphere and have the ability to fix carbon through plant growth and directly into
the soil. Tree planting as a carbon offsetting programme needs to be implemented
carefully, ensuring a variety of tree species are planted to encourage an increase in
biodiversity and avoid monocultures. Tree planting can be an activity carried out
locally, involving the local community in both the planting of the trees and creating new
green spaces for them to enjoy; alternatively, the Council can support projects
elsewhere in the UK or internationally.
Tree planting as a form of greenhouse gas removals is a developing field. Whilst the
science is clear that trees remove CO2 from the atmosphere, how this is accounted for
within carbon accounting has yet to be agreed on. A new accounting standard that
explains how to deal with greenhouse gas removals is in development, being led by
the World Resource Institute and the Carbon Trust. The new standard was due for
public comment in 2021 and is primarily based on the IPCC 2006 Volume 4, Chapter
2 and 4.
Welsh Government has produced some guidance on carbon sequestration levels as
part of the Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon Reporting Guide 11, however, this is
a high-level land use approach rather than a detailed inventory approach per tree. The
guidance also states that organisations can follow a more detailed methodology if
available. The Council will follow WG guidelines until a more detailed methodology
can be adopted.
When undertaking local tree planting projects, the Council will keep records of tree
type, number of said type, and age of the tree (sapling/mature tree). This will ensure
any future accounting methodologies will be well informed.
Renewables
The ability to claim any carbon offsetting through investment in renewable energy is
nuanced. This form of offsetting may only count as an offset in certain situations and
can only really be used to offset scope 2 emissions.
Location versus Market Approach
At present, two methodologies can be used to account for scope 2 emissions, a
location based or market-based approach. A location-based approach is the most
37

Page 292

frequently used and uses an emission factor based on all generating supplies of
electricity to the grid (national grid). This is the approach that has been used within
this report. The introduction of any renewable generators exporting to the grid is
captured in a lower UK wide grid emission factor, that everyone benefits from within
their carbon accounting.
Alternatively, a market-based approach looks at where the consumer of electricity
purchases their electricity come from, such that if a consumer makes the conscious
decision to purchase electricity from a ‘green’ supplier then this is accounted for in
their carbon footprint. When a market-based approach is used and the footprint
reported, the location-based footprint must always be reported alongside this.
Under a market-based approach if a consumer of electricity wishes to offset their entire
scope 2 emissions, then they could simply ensure that they purchase electricity from
a ‘green’ supplier that offers a 100% renewable tariff. Under a location-based
approach, this form of ‘offsetting’ wouldn’t be possible.
WG confirmed within Welsh Public Sector Net Zero Carbon Reporting Guide11 that the
public sector will conform to a location-based approach. This confirms that the Council
cannot offset scope 2 emission through green procurement of electricity or renewable
generation being exported to the grid.
Building Integrated Renewables
Any on-site renewables that provide electricity directly to a Council owned asset will
result in a reduction in electricity consumption (thus reducing the carbon footprint) –
on-site generation is a key action within the existing buildings action plan.
Building renewable generators where the electricity is exported to the grid or private
wired elsewhere, wouldn’t typically be considered an offset as this will result in double
counting of emissions reductions where these are already captured through renewable
energy certificates/guarantees of origin that result in the reducing of the national rolling
grid emission factor.
Investing in Stand Alone Renewables
Investing in renewables is an excellent means to engage with the local community and
enable others to reduce their carbon footprint, an essential activity when considering
borough-wide emissions in the future. However, as the carbon reductions will be
accounted for elsewhere the council itself will not be able to realise any carbon
reductions as an offset. Even if the Council cannot claim offsets, it is important to show
leadership and help develop a sustainable economy for the whole borough

38

Page 293

Offsetting Schemes (credits)
There are a variety of offsetting schemes available that have been ‘gold certified’ that
can offer organisations the chance to offset the emissions they produce. Such
schemes will involve carbon reduction projects such as tree planting, biodiversity
restoration, international renewable installation.
Engaging with a reputable offsetting provider is recommended to ensure the scheme
matches expectations and social values. Offsetting schemes such as these should be
the last option for the Council with a focus put on direct removal schemes on Council
owned land. There is no reason to suggest that the Council should only select one
option, and the best mix of value, leadership, locality, and ambition will come from
investing in a range of carbon offsetting measures.

39

Page 294

Action Plan 6 – Waste
The Councils waste disposal can be split into landfill, combustion, closed-loop
recycling, open-loop recycling, anaerobic digestion, and composting.
Landfill includes waste that cannot be recycled, reused or recovered. This is the least
sustainable form of waste disposal. Landfills are a major source of pollution. The waste
materials within them i.e. plastics, take years to break down.
Combustion refers to incinerating waste for energy. Waste incineration has negative
environmental impacts but is considerably better than sending waste to landfill. The
incineration process generates usable electricity and heat as a by-product, offsetting
some of the carbon impacts from the incineration process itself.
Closed-loop disposal includes waste specific to one supply chain. Under a closedloop system, businesses will recycle materials to create products for the same activity
as their original purpose.
Open-loop includes any recycled materials that are converted into new raw materials
and waste products. Normally, materials that have been processed through open-loop
recycling will go on to be used for a different activity from their original purpose.
Anaerobic digestion involves using micro-organisms to break down waste material.
This process reduces the amount of landfill waste and produces a biogas by-product
that can be used as an energy source for electricity production and heating.
Composting involves reusing plant and food waste and organic materials to fertilise
and improve the soil.
Carbon Emissions Waste - 2019/20
Open-loop
130 tCO2e
3%
Combustion
239 tCO2e
5%

Closed-loop
361 tCO2e
7%

Anaerobic digestion
81 tCO2e
2%

Composting
40 tCO2e
1%

Landfill
3,854 tCO2e
82%

40

Page 295

Waste Initiatives

W1

The Council will build on its performance in regard to reducing waste sent to
landfills and increasing reuse and recycling in line with the Welsh
Government Towards Zero Waste strategy.

W2

All waste streams will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure the most
sustainable method of disposal is being undertaken, the waste hierarchy will
be used as a template for action.

W3

Undertake a more joined up approach across the Council on waste data
collection to ensure all waste streams are being identified.

W4

The Council will work with the schools to implement further food waste
initiatives to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfills.

W5

The Council will develop a plan to agree on future step changes to continue
working to achieve the outcomes set out by Welsh Governments: Towards
zero waste: our waste strategy.

W6

The Council will review best practice advice and develop a plan to support
highways and capital projects on hard to decarbonise waste streams such
as cement, concrete and Asphalt.

W7

The Council will increase the availability of battery-powered equipment and
tools in its supply chain to reduce disposal and replacement cycles.

W8

The Council will prioritise the purchase of reused and remanufactured
products that have recycled content, this will be embedded into best
practices for service commissioners.

W9

The Council will continue to engage with key stakeholders and work with our
communities to encourage the reduction of waste, reuse and recycling.

41

Page 296

References
1

UNCC, (2015). The Paris Agreement. Available at: https://unfccc.int/process-andmeetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement [Accessed 15 Oct. 2021].
2

Welsh Government, (2019). Welsh Government makes climate emergency
declaration. Available at: https://gov.wales/welsh-government-makes-climateemergency-declaration [Accessed 15 Oct. 2021].
3

Welsh Government (2021). Wales commits to net zero by 2050, but sets out
ambitions to get there sooner. Available at: https://gov.wales/wales-commits-net-zero2050-sets-out-ambitions-get-there-sooner [Accessed 15 Oct. 2021].
4

Climate Change Committee (2020), Advice Report: The path to a net zero Wales.
Available at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Advice-ReportThe-path-to-a-Net-Zero-Wales.pdf [Accessed 15 Oct. 2021].
5

Welsh Government, (2021). Net zero carbon status by 2030 - A route map for
decarbonisation across the Welsh public sector. Available at: https://gov.wales/netzero-carbon-status-2030-public-sector-route-map
6

Welsh Government, (2021). Welsh Public sector net zero reporting guide. Available
at: https://gov.wales/public-sector-net-zero-reporting-guide
7

Welsh Government, (2021). Net Zero Wales - Our second emissions reduction plan
for Carbon Budget 2 (2021 to 2025), setting the foundations to make Wales net zero
by 2050. Available at: https://gov.wales/net-zero-wales
8

Bridgend County Borough Council, (2021). Corporate Plan. Available at:
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/performance-plans-and-reports/corporateplan/ [Accessed 28 Oct. 2021].
Bridgend County Borough Council, (2018). Bridgend Public Services Board –
Wellbeing Plan. Available at: https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/3657/bridgendwellbeing-bps-plan-e-0518.pdf. [Accessed 28 Oct. 2021].
9

10

Welsh Government, (2021), Economic resilience and reconstruction mission.
Available at: https://gov.wales/economic-resilience-and-reconstruction-mission
11

Welsh Government, (2020). StatsWales Emissions of Greenhouse Gases by Year.
Available
at:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-andCountryside/Greenhouse-Gas/emissionsofgreenhousegases-by-year [Accessed 15
Oct. 2021].
42

Page 297

43

Page 298

Agenda Item 15
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES
BRIDGEND TOWN HEAT NETWORK PROJECT
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the development
of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project and to seek delegated authority to award
the contract for the construction and operation of the heat network subject to the
approval of the revised project Financial Model by the Council’s Section151 Officer.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015:


Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is included as a project within the BCBC
Smart Energy Plan (SEP) (approved by Cabinet February 2019). The Smart Energy
Plan details the projects that BCBC will participate in during the period 2019 – 2025.
This proposes to test various technologies, consumer propositions and business
models to provide a pathway to the decarbonisation of Bridgend County Borough. It
is also a key contributor to the Welsh Government’s decarbonisation strategy
(published March 2019) “Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales”.

3.2

The Bridgend Town Heat Network Phase 1 Project proposes to deliver heat, via a
gas combined heat and power (CHP) engine located within the Bridgend Life Centre,
to the Bridgend Life Centre, Civic Offices and the Bridgend Bowls Hall. The project
will also provide electricity to the Life Centre, Civic Offices and Bowls Hall.

3.3

In April 2018 Cabinet approved the Outline Business Case for the project and to the
submission of an application to UK Government through its Heat Network Investment
Programme (HNIP).

Page 299

3.4

A capital grant application was made to UK Government via the Heat Network
Investment Programme (HNIP) and this was approved in December 2019 for
£1,000,000 capital investment towards the construction of the heat network and
£241,000 for pre-construction activities.

3.5

A further report on the project was submitted to Cabinet in January 2021 updating
Cabinet on the project and covering elements such as the procurement of a Design
Build Operate Maintain contractor under the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 and
applications for the necessary permits (Environmental Permit due to the gas CHP
engine falling under the Medium Plant Combustion Directive) and permissions
(planning permission for the location of a thermal store at the rear of the Bridgend
Life Centre).

4.

Current situation/proposal
Environmental Permit

4.1

An application was made to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) in February 2021 for
an Environmental Permit for the gas CHP engine within the proposed energy centre
of the Bridgend Life Centre. NRW considered the application to be a bespoke
application which required additional information around air quality. The application
was then considered and approved by NRW in October 2021.
Planning Permission

4.2

An application was made to the BCBC Planning Authority in March 2021 for the
thermal store that will be located at the rear of the Bridgend Life Centre. No
objections were received to the application but the BCBC Highways Department
requested that a Traffic Management Plan for the scheme be submitted to them
ahead of them supporting the planning application. It was considered appropriate
that the appointed DBOM contractor is best placed to provide this and this will be
submitted to Highways after the appointment of the contractor.
Design Build Operate Maintain Contractor Procurement

4.3

The procurement for the main construction contractor was launched in February 2021
and followed a two stage process, with an initial Pre-qualifying Questionnaire (PQQ)
and then an Invitation to Tender (ITT) stage. Five bids were received at the PQQ
stage and these were scored and 3 bidders were invited to tender. The ITT was
launched in April 2021 and concluded in June 2021.

4.4

All of the bids received in June 2021 were outside the projects Capital Expenditure
(CAPEX) and Operational Expenditure (OPEX) budgets. Much of the price increases
were due to the impact of Covid-19 on the cost of raw materials and labour.

4.5

Extensive dialogue was carried out with all the bidders over the following months to
understand where savings could be made to re-align the costs of the project within
the project budget, whilst ensuring deliverables remained the same.

4.6

Final bids were invited in December 2021 and these were received at the end of
January 2022. The bids were assessed as compliant from a procurement process

Page 300

perspective and BCBC and the consultant team evaluated the bids from a quality and
cost perspective.
4.7

Following the evaluation of the bids an updated financial model is being produced by
the consultant team for the project containing the actual bid prices. The financial
model now needs to be approved by the Section 151 Officer.

4.8

At the meeting of Cabinet in January 2021, Cabinet noted that a further report would
be presented to it to make a decision on the approval of the award of the DBOM
contract. However, the meeting of Cabinet in March 2022 is the last meeting prior to
the local government elections due to take place in May 2022. It is not possible to
seek a decision from Cabinet in its meeting in March 2022 to make a decision on the
award of the DBOM contract because there is insufficient time to evaluate the bids
received, update the financial model and present the financial model to the finance
department for approval by the Section 151 Officer. In addition, a decision to award
the contract cannot wait until after the local government elections because the tender
prices submitted by bidders will not remain valid for that length of time.

4.9

It is therefore proposed that Cabinet delegates authority to the Corporate Director –
Communities, in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and
Change and Chief Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR & Corporate Policy to
award the DBOM contract and enter into and arrange execution of that contract on
behalf of the Council subject to the Section 151 Officer approving the updated
financial model (which will be updated following the evaluation of the bids) and
determines that the scheme is financially viable. This delegated authority shall only
be exercised if the Section 151 Officer determines that the scheme is financially
viable. If the Section 151 Officer does not approve the financial model and determines
that the scheme is not financially viable, a report shall be brought back to Cabinet for
a decision on how to proceed with the scheme.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

This report has no effect on the policy framework and procedural rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial EIA screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on those
with one or more of the protected characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage
or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA
on this policy or proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is a positive step in regard to the Council’s
role in complying with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
project demonstrates BCBC taking a positive proactive role within the
decarbonisation agenda in Wales which will ensure that the significant environmental,
social and economic opportunities created through the decarbonisation transition of
the energy market will be captured for Bridgend as well as the area being able to
demonstrate its compliance with national carbon reduction targets.

Page 301

7.2

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been
completed. A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five
ways of working is as follows:
1. Long Term: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide the
foundation for Bridgend Town to develop a decarbonised heat system that
meets the UK 2030 decarbonisation targets in line with BCBC’s Local Area
Energy Strategy and Smart Energy Plan.
2. Prevention: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide an
opportunity for all to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure
that solutions are designed and available for everyone within Bridgend Town.
3. Integration: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project offers an opportunity,
in the long term, to develop a heat network that serves Bridgend Town and
that offers carbon reductions, and creates economic opportunities through a
clearly identified value chain for the area supporting business and local
employment.
4. Collaboration: BCBC is working in partnership with both UK Government and
private and public sector partners to deliver the project.
5. Involvement: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project involves working with
a variety of stakeholders to deliver a sustainable solution for the
decarbonisation of heat within Bridgend Town.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

It was noted in the report to Cabinet in January 2021 that the financial model
developed for the project was based on estimated costs and the actual cost of
delivering the project would not be known until final prices had been received from
bidders.

8.2

As reported to Cabinet in January 2021, the latest model identified a capital cost of
£3.390 million, to be funded via £1 million HNIP grant, £0.5 million approved Council
capital funding, a BCBC loan to the scheme’s Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV)
company of £1.82 million, and connection charges and share capital of just under
£0.07 million.

8.3

The financial returns for the SPV were based over a 50 year scheme, with the loan
repayable over 40 years. The revised financial model for the delivery of heat and
power estimated an internal rate of return, over the 50 years, of 2.22%. Excluding
any residual value of equipment, the cash return was estimated to total £1.567 million
for the life of the scheme. This was based on a loan interest rate of 2.6%. However,
interest rates have started to increase. The current PWLB borrowing rates over 40
years is 2.65%. This is likely to increase should the Bank of England base rate
increase from the current 0.5%. As noted in the January 2021 Cabinet report, higher
interest rates require higher financing costs to the SPV and could have potential cash
flow difficulties in the earlier years of the SPV’s existence.

8.4

The most recent model suggested a return to the Council across the life of the
scheme of £4.076 million, via the payment of dividends. However, these were not
anticipated to commence until 2024-25, and the SPV was not anticipated to deliver a
profit until 2035-36, when it was anticipated dividend returns to the Council would
cease for a number of years. Dividends were not anticipated to be payable every
year, and the model included a significant payment at the end of the 50 year period

Page 302

of £1.092 million. Dividends in the first 10 years of the scheme were anticipated to
total £0.191 million. A revised financial model is being developed.
8.5

It will be necessary to assess a revised financial model following the submission of
the tenders. A number of changes will need to be factored into a revised model,
including a potential increase in the interest rate of the loan by the Council to the
SPV, the useful life of the existing CHP and ongoing lease costs of any replacement,
and the impact of likely increased costs on revenue budgets.

8.4

Following the January 2021 Cabinet Report, the Council’s Treasury Management
Strategy was amended to increase the limit on loans to third parties to £2 million.
This was approved by Council on 24 February 2021. The current proposed loan to
the SPV falls within this limit.

8.5

The bid prices are currently being evaluated and the financial model will be updated
to take account of these changes and allow a further financial re-evaluation of the
scheme.

9.

Recommendation(s)

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:



Note the update on the development of the Bridgend Town DHN Project.
Subject to the determination by the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
that the Bridgend Town DHN Project is financially viable, delegate authority to the
Corporate Director – Communities in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance,
Performance and Change and the Chief Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR
and Corporate Policy to award the contract for the design build operation and
maintenance of the Bridgend Town DHN Project and subject to no challenge being
received during the standstill period enter into and arrange execution of that contract
on behalf of the Council with the successful bidder.

JANINE NIGHTINGALE
CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES
8th MARCH 2022

Contact Officer:

Michael Jenkins
Decarbonisation Programme Manager

Telephone:

(01656) 643179

Email:

Michael.jenkins@bridgend.gov.uk>

Postal address:

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents:
None

Page 303

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES
BRIDGEND COUNTY ECONOMIC STRATEGY
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on work to develop a new Economic
Strategy and request approval of the Economic Strategy. The report also seeks
Cabinet approval of the terms of reference for the new Bridgend County Economic
Partnership Board and for the proposed use of the Economic Futures Fund.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county
borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions
for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – taking steps
to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council
and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can
help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

Prior to the coronavirus pandemic Bridgend County Borough had 3,770 enterprises,
58,700 employed jobs and an unemployment rate of 4%. However, significant
changes were imminent due to the closure of the Bridgend Ford Plant in September
2020 and impacts from the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union and
subsequent ending of the transition period in December 2020. The closure of the
Bridgend Ford Plant alone was predicted by Welsh Government to result in the loss
of 1,700 direct jobs and the removal of £190m Gross Value Added (GVA) from the
local economy. Work to plan for the closure and its impact was being coordinated
through a Welsh Government Task Force. At the same time evidence relating to the
challenges and opportunities resulting from exiting the European Union was
emerging and being closely monitored by Bridgend County Borough Council’s
(BCBC) Brexit Forum.

Page 305

3.2

The coronavirus pandemic presented significant challenges for the local economy
and business community and led to BCBC undertaking a substantial level of
support – financial and advisory – to mitigate the impacts. Over £60m in business
grants, made available by Welsh Government, was processed by officers to support
Bridgend businesses and a wide range of locally bespoke actions were made
available such as sneeze guards, Covid safety related training and hospitality
business guest registers to support Test, Track and Trace.

3.3

In June 2020 BCBC Cabinet approved the creation of an Economic Taskforce,
which is chaired by the Leader of BCBC, in response to economic uncertainties and
challenges arising from the coronavirus pandemic.

3.4

The Taskforce gave a mandate to BCBC officers, in partnership with key
stakeholders, to develop an economic plan – presented as part of this report as an
Economic Strategy - for the future of the County Borough which will include action
to help businesses adapt to the changing economic landscape and improve
resilience, as well as support for residents to develop new skills, training and
employment opportunities. Work was to be aligned with and feed into the Council’s
Corporate Plan and Strategic Recovery Planning.

4.

Current situation / proposal

4.1

The proposed Economic Strategy, as attached to this report at Appendix 1, has been
developed following an in-depth review of data and extensive engagement with
stakeholders. It will provide the basis for dialogue on prioritised actions with Welsh
and UK Governments, the Cardiff Capital Region, a range of funding sources,
investors and developers. This will support the Council’s ongoing ambitions to play
a full and active role supporting the local economy.

4.2

The Economic Strategy Data Report, as attached to this report at Appendix 2,
includes a comprehensive review of existing research, evidence and published
datasets as a core part of the basis on which the Economic Strategy is based. This
includes alignment with the replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) and recently
produced evidence base and an analysis of the Bridgend Business Engagement
Programme.

4.3

It is proposed that a new governance model be developed to support the delivery of
the Economic Strategy, including the development of a Bridgend County Economic
Partnership Board as an evolution from the current Economic Task Force with a
proposed membership, operating procedures and draft terms of reference as
attached to this report at Appendix 3.

4.4

The proposed Economic Strategy sets out a long-term strategic vision that clearly
articulates Bridgend’s growth ambitions for the economy of the County Borough. This
is based on a Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis
and Stakeholder matrix aligned with the overall vision. Within the strategy there are
a clear set of strategic interventions through which the Council can overcome
perceived barriers and maximise its capacity for supporting economic growth whilst
enabling the economy to make the most of its distinctive strengths.

4.5

The proposed Economic Strategy is ambitious and sets out a clear plan of action
that strengthens linkages into all sectors of the economy and with all relevant

Page 306

stakeholders within the short, medium and long term. It sets out, based on
stakeholder engagement and data analysis, what the key priorities are and what
roles exist for stakeholders at a UK, Wales, regional and local level to take action.
BCBC already has a great deal of work underway, and this proposed strategy and
proposed new governance model presents an opportunity to draw that together
within one framework, identify gaps and more clearly articulate current priorities and
future opportunities.
5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon the Council’s policy framework or procedure rules as a result
of this report.

6.

Equality Act 2010 Implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language. It is therefore not
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal at this stage.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Economic Strategy demonstrates the sustainable development principle by
ensuring that by meeting the needs of the present they do not compromise the
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. This is evidenced through the
5 ways of working as follows:
Long-term: The elements that make up the proposed early action to support Local
Economic Recovery Planning have been identified following discussion with key
stakeholders and in relation to current understanding of the potential long-term
challenges on the local economy. Through the process of developing and creating
the Economic Strategy for the area it will be possible to set out a long-term
response.
Prevention: BCBC has for many years worked closely with stakeholders and the
local business community to support the local economy in a wide variety of
proactive ways. Throughout the coronavirus pandemic a great deal of reactive work
also took place in relation to the impacts of the pandemic on the local economy. As
well as a continuation of this ability to react to the situation, the development of the
Economic Strategy builds on strengths to plan for the future, take proactive action
and support local businesses.
Integration: The work to develop the Economic Strategy is closely aligned with the
BCBC Corporate Plan, the Local Development Plan and the Public Service Board’s
Well-being Plan.
Collaboration: The development of the Economic Strategy has been steered by a
BCBC officer group and is being developed and will be delivered in partnership with
key stakeholders.
Involvement: For the Economic Strategy to successfully operate it will require the
involvement of senior members of local public sectors organisations, business

Page 307

leaders, representatives of business sectors and trade bodies and other key
stakeholders.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

The Economic Strategy and Economic Strategy Data Report have been developed
within existing resources within the Communities Directorate.

8.2

The support for the proposed Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board will be
provided through financial and staff resources within the Economy, Natural
Resources and Sustainability budgets within the Communities Directorate.

8.3

It is to be noted that the Corporate Director Communities, in consultation with the
Corporate Director – Education and Family Support, Chief Officer – Legal and
Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy and Chief Officer – Finance,
Performance and Change proposes to submit proposals to secure resources for
programmes, projects and activities from funders at the UK, Welsh and regional level,
such as, but not exclusively, the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and the forthcoming United
Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) that, if successful, will support delivery of
actions contained within the Economic Strategy. It is to be noted that dependent on
each funding body and their criteria an element of match funding may be required
from BCBC. As the specific detail of individual funding packages are not yet known
at this stage it is considered that any match funding requirement would be highlighted
by the Corporate Director Communities, and the most appropriate source of match
funding identified, which could require further reports to Cabinet and Council,
particularly if capital match funding is required. When external funds are offered,
these will not be accepted until the Chief Officer – Legal, and Regulatory Services,
HR and Corporate Policy and the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
are satisfied that BCBC can comply with all associated grant terms and conditions,
and BCBC contract and financial procedure rules.

8.4

In June 2020, BCBC Cabinet created an Economic Futures Fund of £1.687m. Initial
allocations from this fund were towards a Start-up Business Fund (£140k), a Business
Property Enhancement Fund (£350k) and an Innovation Fund (£200k). Whilst the
Start-up Business Fund and Business Property Enhancement Fund were
commenced, the Innovation Fund was held back to coincide with the completion of
the Economic Strategy.

8.5

It is proposed that, subject to approval and adoption of the Economic Strategy, that
a sum of £1.197m (inclusive of the current allocation of £200k) will be allocated
towards the delivery of an enhanced Innovation Fund via the internal panel
mechanism previously agreed by Cabinet. Spend from the capital programme will be
subject to approval by Council and monitoried through the capital programme. The
fund will be locally focused and will respond to the challenges and demands that have
been identified through the development of the Economic Strategy. Resources would
seek to support the development of new business opportunities, business adaptation
and enabling innovation and resilience in the local economy.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:

Page 308

9.1.1 note the progress to develop an Economic Strategy;
9.1.2 approve and adopt the Economic Strategy, set out in Appendix 1;
9.1.3 note the Economic Strategy Data Report, set out in Appendix 2, as the evidence
base for the Economic Strategy;
9.1.4 approve the terms of reference for the Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board,
set out in Appendix 3, and;
9.1.5 approve the proposed use of the Economic Futures Fund, as set out in section 8.5.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities
17th February 2022
Contact Officer:

Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability

Telephone:

(01656) 815333

E-mail:

Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents
None

Page 309

This page is intentionally left blank

Bridgend County Borough Council

An Economic Strategy for
Bridgend County Borough
Framing Economic Planning and Development for the Next 10
Years

Created By:

Perform Green Limited,
in collaboration with BCBC Economic Development Team

Date of issue:

Page 311

1 February 2022

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Contents
Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 4
Addressing Economic Challenges and Supporting Economic Opportunities .......... 5
Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development ........................................ 7
Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure .................................................................. 7
Pillar 3: Foundational Economy and the role of the Public Sector .......................... 8
Pillar 4: Low Carbon Economy and the Natural Environment ................................. 8
Potential Sources of Funding .................................................................................. 9
Governance Model ................................................................................................. 9
About this Economic Strategy .................................................................................. 11
Ambition for the Bridgend County Economic Strategy.............................................. 12
Context and Challenges Facing Bridgend County .................................................... 13
Input from Stakeholders........................................................................................ 14
Datasets, Literature and Reports Informing the Economic Strategy ..................... 16
National and Regional Context ................................................................................. 17
Socio-economic Context of Bridgend ....................................................................... 20
“Big 4” Projects in Progress in Bridgend................................................................... 25
An Economic Strategy for Bridgend County ............................................................. 28
4 Pillars of the Economic Strategy ........................................................................ 29
The Strategic Pillars within the context of other sources of information ................ 30
Economic actions to address the 4 Key Pillars ......................................................... 31
Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development ...................................... 31
Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure ................................................................ 38
Pillar 3: Foundational Economy and the role of the Public Sector ........................ 44
Pillar 4: Low Carbon Economy ............................................................................. 52
Potential Sources of Funding ................................................................................... 58
Broad Financing Options ...................................................................................... 58
Financing Examples ............................................................................................. 60
Governance Model ................................................................................................... 62
Current Situation ................................................................................................... 62
Proposed Economic Strategy Governance Model ................................................ 63
Summary of Strategic Actions for Bridgend County Borough Council and Partners 65
Pillar 1: Capacity Building and Workforce Development ....................................... 66
Pillar 2: Digital and Physical Connectivity ............................................................. 69

Page 312

www.bridgend.gov.uk

2

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 3: The Foundational Economy and the Role of the Public Sector ................ 72
Pillar 4: The Low Carbon Economy and the Natural Environment ........................ 75
Concluding Remarks ............................................................................................ 77
Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................... 78
Key datasets ......................................................................................................... 78
Reports and Literature Informing the Economic Strategy ..................................... 79

Page 313

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Executive Summary
This report is an economic strategy for Bridgend County, which presents overarching
economic development recommendations informed by considerations at a national,
regional/subregional, and local level. It is based on an analysis of current economic
conditions and opportunities and presents overarching economic development
recommendations informed by considerations at a national, regional/subregional,
and local level. Aligned to the objectives in the BCBC Corporate Plan, it is intended
to provide an analysis and framework to guide economic development interventions
across Bridgend County over the next 10 years. During this time, progress executing
the strategy will be monitored and Perform Green have been commissioned for two
annual reviews of progress. The strategy will be updated as needed to suit the
prevailing economic conditions with this update driven by the BCBC Economic
Development team.
The economic strategy sets out a path to a sustainable recovery that can yield
economic, social, and environmental returns. It describes a Bridgend County that
meets its economic potential by ensuring a highly-skilled workforce, strong
connectivity infrastructure and thriving business culture, whilst creating a Bridgend
County that meets the wider social needs of all its people and in a sustainable
manner.
For an economic strategy to deliver real and lasting community benefit, it must
command widespread business and community support. Consequently, the
development of the strategy has been informed by input from the business
community, from elected representatives and from key stakeholder organisations
across Bridgend County (these consultations are detailed in a later section). The
strategy is also underpinned by evidence from a comprehensive review and
assessment of relevant economic data and existing literature.
Delivery of strategic actions informed by this strategy will require a partnership
between BCBC and key partners across the foundational economy, the business
community, Cardiff Capital Region, Welsh Government and the UK Government.
However, the key focus is on the actions that can be led or initiated at a Bridgend
County level.
The ambition for the Bridgend County economic strategy is that it will provide a
reference framework to ensure that the requirements for business and economic
growth are balanced with community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and
ecological health. This strategy sets the basis for an economic strategy for all in
which no one gets left behind. Consequently, this economic strategy is designed to
be used in conjunction with the BCBC corporate Plan, Bridgend County Local
Development Plan, Wellbeing Plan and Net Zero Plan to create a holistic picture of
the needs of the borough. Further, this strategy aligns with the UK Government
agenda as set out in the Levelling Up White Paper published in Feb 2022 on key
themes of skills, transport and internet connectivity, cultural life and well-being.
Specific ambitions of this strategy include:
•
•

Supporting business growth
Capacity building across Bridgend County-based businesses and the wider
labour force

Page 314

www.bridgend.gov.uk

4

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Addressing skills shortages
Stimulating high-skilled jobs in the future economy and boosting regional
integration
Shifting to a low-carbon economy
Preserving and enhancing ecological/natural capital
Future-proofing education
Improving physical and digital connectivity
Strengthening the role for the public service and the foundational economy

Several substantial economic development initiatives are already being progressed
in Bridgend County. This economic strategy has been developed to complement
these major projects and to strengthen and underpin the economic benefits accruing
from them. The key strategic recommendations in this report will create an economy
with the necessary capacity and infrastructure to make the existing projects a
success and provide the rationale for their necessity.
The 4 major projects ongoing in the County Borough are:
•
•
•
•

the proposed plan for Bridgend Town Centre in the Bridgend Town Centre
Masterplan;1
the renovation of the Maesteg Town Hall;
the development plans for Porthcawl waterfront;
and the “Employment Land” plans for the industrial areas outside Bridgend
Town.

Addressing Economic Challenges and Supporting Economic
Opportunities
The main challenges and barriers that Bridgend County faces generally fall into two
broad and interrelated economic issues, that combine to limit Bridgend County’s
performance and economic development as a wider area.
The first is around creating the conditions for growing the economy through:
•
•
•
•

developing a skilled workforce that meets the needs of the businesses in the
area but also positions Bridgend County as a high-skilled hub
strengthening the transport infrastructure that means businesses can move
their resources and their people efficiently
substantial increase in the number of commercial premises to meet demand
and increase capacity
a supportive, collaborative and business-friendly local authority

The second relates to challenges that arise from deep-rooted economic and social
problems within the areas. This is most clearly recognised in the labour market
where there are issues of high economic inactivity and geographical inequality.
Addressing the challenge can be achieved through:

1

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/9844/bridgend-town-centre-masterplan-executive-summary.pdf

Page 315

www.bridgend.gov.uk

5

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•
•

a focus on skills provision both to the individual and to businesses
ensuring economic development is achieved through the lens of the
foundational economy and with equitable outcomes as a goal
ensuring digital and transport connectivity is to a high level throughout the
borough.

This economic strategy sets out 4 key pillars that are central to addressing these
structural barriers. The 4 pillars categorisation is the result of hearing from
stakeholders across the Borough, analysing the available datasets and reviewing
existing policy and strategy from local, regional and national organisations. The 4
pillars capture the areas that were considered the most significant for the economic
prospects of the Borough and reflect the priorities for the Borough from all levels.
These 4 pillars encompass the points above, form the backbone of the economic
strategy for Bridgend County and provide structure for our strategic
recommendations. The 4 pillars are
1.
2.
3.
4.

Connectivity and Infrastructure,
Business and Workforce Support,
Public Sector and Foundational Economy, and
Low Carbon Economy.

In addressing underlying issues in these 4 areas Bridgend County can create a
thriving social and economic ecosystem that is attractive for incumbent and new
businesses alike and has a skilled and prosperous workforce.
The evidence for demonstrating a need to address these pillars comes from a range
of sources, from local stakeholders, economic data, regional and national
governments, and other sources of literature:
Pillar

Topic

Data

Stakeholders

CCR /
Regional

Wales
Gov

UK
Gov

Other
sources

1. Business &
Workforce
Support

Capacity
Building

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Business
Support

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

2. Connectivity Digital
& Infrastructure
Physical
3. Foundational Public Sector
Economy & the
Foundational
role of the
Economy
Public Sector
4. Low Carbon
Economy

Low Carbon
Economy

The Summary of Strategic Actions section at the end of this report indicates how a
“line-of-sight” can be drawn between the economic evidence, the strategy, the
strategic actions, and the data needed to monitor progress and outcomes.

Page 316

www.bridgend.gov.uk

6

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development
Bridgend County has historically been home to some major high-skill employers
largely focused on a small number of industries. Most notably this has been in
skilled manufacturing jobs, firstly in car production and more recently in medical
device engineering and technology. At the same time in some sectors, Bridgend
County has historically suffered from a low skill base, and as a result, Bridgend
County has performed below its economic potential.
Workforce capacity building requires a holistic approach encompassing both bottomup and top-down approaches. Historically, infrastructure spending has tended to
dominate economic strategy across the entirety of Bridgend County and the
surrounding region. Infrastructure alone does not provide a sufficient basis to nurture
and sustain the required skill-base. Low skill levels are seen as major barriers to
making the transition to work, with a considerable proportion of those who are
economically inactive lacking not only basic skills and specific work-related skills but
also more generic skills that are core to a healthy economy.
Key opportunities and strategic actions are set out to address:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Capacity Building
Skills Shortages
Preparing for Industries of the Future: Advanced Manufacturing
Preparing for Industries of the Future: Low Carbon Economy
Business Support
Business Capacity Building: Supply Chains
Business Skills
Commercial Premises

Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure
Ensuring good digital connectivity for the entirety of Bridgend County will unlock the
ability for all communities to access and engage in the economic opportunities that are
present as well as provide a key cornerstone that will underpin the green economy as
we move towards a future of smart inclusive communities. Furthermore, the economic
importance of providing quality physical infrastructure is of vital importance to ensuring
sustained social development and inclusive growth. The relationship between digital
connectivity and physical infrastructure is mutually interconnected and will play a
pivotal role in the future success of Bridgend County.
Key opportunities and strategic actions are set out to address:
1. Digital Connectivity
• Internet connectivity: Individuals
• Internet connectivity: Businesses
2. Physical Connectivity and Infrastructure
• Travel and Transport connectivity
• Sustainable Transport

Page 317

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 3: Foundational Economy and the role of the Public Sector
The public sector has an important role to play beyond its primary function of
delivering services, indeed its impact reaches from reducing carbon emissions,
supporting its supply chain, to its position as a significant property owner.
In particular, the Public Sector in Bridgend County is a significant employer across a
range of job types and a large consumer of goods and services. Recognising and
capitalising on this has the potential to benefit the local economy and work is already
underway via the public sector services board to ensure the public sector
understands and plays its role as anchor organisation.
Relatedly, the theme of Foundational Economy (that part of the economy that
creates and distributes goods and services consumed by all because they support
everyday life e.g. healthcare, education, housing, utilities and food) is a fundamental
part of this economic strategy. The economic strategy in this report should be
viewed through the lens of the Foundational Economy. In discussing the future of
Bridgend County, we are envisioning a successful economy that can complement
and support a thriving community and culture with a strong Foundational Economy.
Key opportunities and strategic actions are set out to address:
•
•

Public Sector
o Procurement and Anchor Organisations
o Digital Delivery
Foundational Economy
o Placemaking
o Well-being
o Educational Equality and Online Learning
o Cultural support

Pillar 4: Low Carbon Economy and the Natural Environment
The development of the low carbon economy and an ever-increasing emphasis on
green infrastructure in the future has created an opportunity for Bridgend County to
upskill its workforce to take advantage of the economic opportunity that this
presents. There are going to be significant economic opportunities to be gained by
regions and economies which take a lead in championing and developing expertise
in low carbon technologies.
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) is leading the way in its response to the
challenges of climate change with a target to achieve a position of net-zero carbon
as a public body by 2030. Bridgend County needs to add to this by leveraging
change across the rest of the public and private sector by focussing on retrofit,
energy sourcing and protection of nature.
Key opportunities and strategic actions are set out to address:
•
•
•
•

Low Carbon Economy
Retrofitting
Energy
Travel/Transport

Page 318

www.bridgend.gov.uk

8

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•

Natural Capital

Potential Sources of Funding
Bridgend County like many other local authorities will now have to decide which
financing sources and mechanisms to use to fund their strategic recovery and
economic development programmes. There are various forms of financing available
for local and national governments to leverage. Public finance institutions, banks,
institutional investors, corporations, and capital markets all have a crucial role to
play. If local authorities can use this financing to power a sustainable economic
recovery, there is potential to deliver a return on investment that far exceeds the
initial capital outlay, both in the short and long term.
A range of potential funding options are presented, which will need to be fully
researched before they can be considered by BCBC to fund economic development
and, where appropriate approval sought from Cabinet and Council. These include
the following priority areas:
•

•
•
•

•

The recent Levelling Up White Paper and the subsequent confirmation of
funding details. We expect that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund will be a major
source of funding for Bridgend County’s ambitions to improve communities
and place, people and skills, and support local business.
BCBC should seek to access Levelling Up funds, in collaboration with the
Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital Region.
National/regional funds from the Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital
Region may provide funding for specific projects, including digital
infrastructure; innovation; protecting natural capital etc.
The increase in the prevalence of Sustainability Bonds in recent years
provides a real opportunity for BCBC to access funding, particularly as they
look to expand on their existing projects in retrofitting, electric vehicles and
alternative energies. Similarly, the new UK Infrastructure Bank is a timely
source of funding as BCBC looks to expand its public transport infrastructure
throughout the borough.
On a micro-scale, the example of projects such as the Bike Workshop in
Exeter serves to show the value that innovative solutions backed by the
community (crowdfunding) can bring to solving real social problems.

Governance Model
An economic strategy Governance Model needs to balance democratic
accountability with agility and good process, whilst ensuring that appropriate
stakeholder input is sought and heard. Success in this vital element of strategy
execution will ensure that delivery of the economic strategy commands widespread
business and community support, and balances requirements for business growth
with community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and ecological health.
A two-tier governance model is proposed, with one tier being advisory, and one as
the decision tier, as represented in the following diagram:

Page 319

www.bridgend.gov.uk

9

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

It is proposed that to enable timely responses to the rapidly changing external
economy and economic pressures/shocks, the Bridgend Economic Partnership
Board (BEPB) would meet initially on a bi-monthly basis, potentially moving towards
a quarterly meeting schedule as appropriate (once Covid-19, Brexit and climate
change considerations allowed). It is further proposed that to take into consideration
a wide range of stakeholder views and gain the greatest value from the BEPB, it is
formed and operated on the principles of co-production:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Recognising people as assets.
Building on people's capabilities.
Developing two-way, reciprocal relationships.
Encouraging peer support.
Blurring boundaries between delivering and receiving services.
Facilitating rather than delivering

This would require representatives of communities to be involved alongside the
stakeholder interest groups that are traditionally involved in such bodies.

Page 320

www.bridgend.gov.uk

10

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

About this Economic Strategy
This report is an Economic Strategy for the Bridgend County Borough, developed as
a collaboration between Perform Green and Bridgend County Borough Council
(BCBC) Economic Development Team. This Economic Strategy is based on an
analysis of current economic conditions and opportunities, and presents overarching
economic development recommendations informed by considerations at a national,
regional/subregional, and local level. Aligned to the objectives in the BCBC
Corporate Plan, it is intended to provide an analysis and framework to guide
economic development interventions across Bridgend County for the next 10 years.
During this time, progress executing the strategy will be regularly monitored, and the
strategy will be updated as needed to suit the prevailing economic conditions.
For an economic strategy to deliver real and lasting community benefit, it must
command widespread business and community support. Consequently, the
development of the strategy has been informed by input from the business
community, from elected representatives and from key stakeholder organisations
across Bridgend County (these are consultations are detailed in a later section). The
strategy is also underpinned by evidence from a comprehensive review and
assessment of relevant economic data and existing literature.
Delivery of strategic actions informed by this strategy will require a partnership
between BCBC and key partners across the foundational economy, the business
community, Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government. However, the key
focus is on the actions that can be led or initiated at a Bridgend County level.
As we move out of the initial COVID period and from crisis response to recovery,
there is an opportunity to take stock and choose a path of sustainable recovery that
can yield economic, social, and environmental returns. This strategy sets out the
ambitions for a Bridgend County that meets its economic potential by ensuring a
highly-skilled workforce, strong connectivity infrastructure and thriving business
culture, whilst creating a Bridgend that meets the wider social needs of its people
and in a sustainable manner; with no one and no part of the County left behind.
The strategy provides clarity on the sectors and themes where a concerted focus of
resources would be most impactful for the Bridgend County economy and details a
set of proposed actions for the council to take to achieve these. These actions range
from those fully within the control of BCBC to those that require collaboration with
regional or national governments.
The strategy describes an approach that couples together both physical regeneration
and social dimensions of economic development. These two are closely linked in
the Bridgend County context due to the strong connection between the physical
geography of Bridgend County and the impact that has on the social outcomes of
individuals. This strategy recognises that several ‘macro’ themes are beyond the
control of local government for Bridgend County. However, it is our view that any
credible economic strategy requires joined-up working between national,
regional/sub-regional and local governance.
This strategy sits alongside and has been informed by the Local Development Plan,
the draft Wellbeing Plan, and is aligned with the recently approved Procurement
Strategy and the (in development) Net Zero Strategy.

Page 321

www.bridgend.gov.uk

11

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

We believe that Bridgend has the foundations of a thriving economy that can be truly
extraordinary with careful strategic oversight in the years ahead - this is what we
hope to achieve with this strategy.
Progress executing the strategy will be monitored and Perform Green have been
commissioned for two annual reviews of progress. The strategy will be updated as
needed to suit the prevailing economic conditions with this update driven by the
BCBC Economic Development team.

Ambition for the Bridgend County Economic Strategy
The BCBC Corporate Plan contains three overarching objectives:
•
•
•

Objective 1: Supporting a successful and sustainable economy
Objective 2: Helping people and communities to be healthier and more
resilient
Objective 3: Smarter use of resources

The ambitions for Bridgend County economic strategy are that it will provide a
reference framework to ensure that the requirements for business and economic
growth are balanced with community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and
ecological health, whilst ensuring that no one gets left behind.
Specific ambitions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Supporting business growth
Capacity building across Bridgend-based businesses and the wider the labour
force
Addressing skills shortages
Stimulating high-skilled jobs in the future economy and boosting regional
integration
Shifting to a low-carbon economy
Preserving and enhancing ecological/natural capital
Future-proofing education
Strengthening the role for the public service and the foundational economy

The objective of this economic strategy is not to provide overly exhaustive coverage
across all aspects of economic development in Bridgend County, but, rather provide
a strategic approach that outlines the context, weaknesses, and opportunities as a
basis for the integration of economic and social objectives, whilst attempting to
bridge the divide between strategy and delivery. It is the ambition of this report to
present a holistic strategy that can then be used to leverage the economic case for
future funding whilst building on a wholly integrated economic agenda, which is
paramount to both stimulate and sustain deep economic regeneration.
The economic strategy recognises that there are several major economic
development initiatives already planned or underway across Bridgend County
(Bridgend Masterplan; Maesteg Town Hall Redevelopment; Porthcawl Waterfront

Page 322

www.bridgend.gov.uk

12

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Regeneration; Employment Land element of the LDP). Each of these will have a
significant economic impact in the locations where they are situated and have the
potential to bring economic improvements more broadly across Bridgend County.
This economic strategy is about strengthening the underpinning economic, social
and environmental landscape that enables these and many other initiatives to truly
deliver on their potential, balancing requirements for business growth with
community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and ecological health.

This economic strategy has been designed to align to and support the delivery of these
ambitions and objectives, across all sectors and all geographies of the Bridgend
County economy, addressing currently known issues and creating a robust economy
resilient to future external shocks.

Context and Challenges Facing Bridgend County
The County Borough of Bridgend lies at the geographic heart of South Wales,
equidistant between Cardiff and Swansea. Bridgend Town owes its origins to its
strategic location at the lowest bridging point on the River Ogmore, which led to its
initial establishment as a market town that expanded when the coal mining industry
flourished to the north. The locality’s position within the Cardiff Capital Region, and
the historical transport links that facilitate key connections to Cardiff and Swansea,
have proved critical to the County Borough’s development as a major regional
employment hub, with specific strengths in advanced manufacturing. Bridgend Town
is in a unique position as the gateway to both the Swansea Bay Region and the
Cardiff Capital Region. The interdependencies and relationships between the two
regions are of particular importance to Bridgend Town, and indeed, the success of
the wider regions more broadly.
There are three main towns within Bridgend County, each has its own community
and a strong sense of place. This is also true of the areas outside the three main
towns and in particular the valley communities where there is a strong sense of
community-based on a shared history and culture. This sense of place and
community is an asset of the area and should be built upon to create a healthy,
thriving and sustainable borough.
Bridgend County is not without its challenges. The location between the urban hubs,
although an asset in many ways, anecdotally may also have helped to mask some of
the long-term structural issues plaguing Bridgend County in more recent decades.
Bridgend County like many other locations that heavily depend on industry has
undergone a relatively rapid process of deindustrialisation over the last three
decades. This has had a serious impact on the local economy and the employment
prospects of the working-age population. The percentage of the population who are
classified as Economically Inactive, meaning they are not working and are not
looking for or able to work, is high (almost 30%) and significantly above the averages
for Wales and Great Britain. Therefore, there is a large pool of jobless people who
are potentially available to work, although a significant proportion of whom are likely
to require varying degrees of assistance to re-enter the labour market one of the

Page 323

www.bridgend.gov.uk

13

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

large drivers of the higher economic inactivity rate is a comparatively high number of
people who are long-term sick. These issues are often further compounded by the
fact that the communities within Bridgend County, where part of this economically
inactive population lives, lie in rural areas. This means that they are further
marginalised by a lack of connectivity, both physical and digital, that would allow
them to engage with the opportunities in the wider borough.

Input from Stakeholders
Economic Challenges highlighted through Stakeholder
Engagement
Insights from a range of local and regional stakeholders have pinpointed some
specific challenges (including some described above), but also demonstrated the
significant strengths and opportunities in Bridgend County Borough. The most
common challenges have included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A perception of poor marketing and PR for Bridgend County (outside of the
county) as a place to live and work
Lack of, or deficiencies in, public transport infrastructure, especially regarding
“last mile” connectivity, especially in the valleys.
The need to expand active travel infrastructure beyond current plans
Bridgend Town Centre in particular needs improvement, but all the town
centres need attention
Substantial inequalities between areas
Significant challenges to households, businesses and the public sector due to
climate change, and the imperative to move to a low-carbon economy
Lack of suitable business premises
Difficulties to recruit skilled individuals, specifically in hospitality, tourism, care
etc., but more widely too

It is acknowledged that there are already programmes in place to address several of
these challenges, including the Bridgend Town Master Plan, the Active Travel
Expansion Consultation etc.2

Economic Strengths highlighted through Stakeholder
Engagement
Nevertheless, these challenges were balanced by some significant strengths in the
Bridgend County economy, including:
•
•
•
•
2

Bridgend County has a strong sense of community and is a great place to live
and work
Incredible natural capital – from the mountains to the coast
Good rail connections to Cardiff, Swansea, Bristol, and London
Bridgend County is safe, with a relatively low crime rate

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/9844/bridgend-town-centre-masterplan-executive-summary.pdf

Page 324

www.bridgend.gov.uk

14

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•
•

There is a strong manufacturing base, with good levels of skilled labour
There is good access to high-quality healthcare
Housing is more affordable than elsewhere in South Wales

Stakeholder Engagement
Bridgend County Business Community Engagement: Business Survey
Over the spring/early summer of 2021 BCBC undertook an online survey of
businesses in the borough to understand the challenges that they are facing and
assess the impact on the business environment of both COVID and leaving the
European Union. Over 2,000 businesses were invited to participate and the link to
the survey was publicly available on the Council website
(https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/survey-to-help-shape-future-business-support/).
In total 349 responses were recorded from a broad cross-section of industries.
Whilst the focus of the survey was to gather data relating to business recovery from
the Covid-19 pandemic, the data was useful in informing the development of the
economic strategy.
The survey data were used to complement other qualitative stakeholder data (form
interviews and workshops), to ensure that the Economic Strategy is addressing the
"real world" concerns and input of a wide range of views from across the county and
the South Rales region.
Stakeholders Interviews, 1-1 meetings, email correspondence
Due to restrictions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic, it was not possible to hold inperson meetings or stakeholder workshops. However, remote semi-structured
interviews, telephone calls and email exchanges have been held with the following
organisations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Federation of Small Businesses
Regional Skills Partnership
Awen Trust
BAVO
EMMAUS
Wales Coop centre
Business in Focus
Rockwool
Bridgend College
Valleys to Coast
Cardiff Capital Region (Business Development & Inclusive Growth)
Cardiff Capital Region Regional Skills Partnership
Natural Resources Wales
Southwest Wales Regional Learning & Skills Partnership
Data Cymru
Public Health Wales
Bridgend County Borough Council (various departments)
Welsh Government (Department for Economy & Transport)

Page 325

www.bridgend.gov.uk

15

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•
•

PSL
Carbon Trust
Visit Wales

Stakeholder Engagement Workshops
There have been a series of stakeholder workshops, both to inform and to seek input
from a broad range of interested parties, from within BCBC, and from local and
regional bodies.
•
•
•

Bridgend Council Economic Futures Oversight Group
Bridgend Public Services Board (x2)
Bridgend Council Scrutiny Committee

Datasets, Literature and Reports Informing the Economic Strategy
In addition to stakeholder input, the Economic Strategy has been developed
following a comprehensive review of literature, reports and datasets relevant to the
economic development of Bridgend County.
Details of datasets, literature and reports are provided in Appendix 1

Page 326

www.bridgend.gov.uk

16

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

National and Regional Context
Below is the summary of a small number of key reports, strategies and legislation
that has guided the creation of this economic strategy. This BCBC economic
strategy sits within the context of existing UK, national and regional strategy and it is
important to understand the overlaps with the existing strategy. A full list of the
reports etc. that fed into the creation of this report can be found in Appendix 1.

Build Back Fairer, The Marmot Review3
The Marmot Review was produced to provide a strategy for a post-COVID economy
and society. Primarily a Health Report it encompasses several of the ways that a
post-COVID economy has to provide for the wider needs and wellbeing of the
population, beyond just providing high-level economic growth. The pandemic
provides a unique opportunity in time to re-evaluate the direction of economic
strategy and to interrogate the underpinning assumptions of pre-pandemic policy.
The earlier '10 Years On' review released just before the pandemic in February 2020
already highlighted the high levels of inequality and basic failings of the UK health
and wellbeing. The Marmot review, therefore, makes the clear point that as we work
on economic policy to bring us out of the pandemic a goal of returning to 'normal' as
defined by the conditions pre-pandemic is not acceptable. The pandemic must be
taken as an opportunity to build a fairer society.
It is noted that this is becoming ever-more increasingly common in local, regional,
and national rhetoric across the globe. Indeed, the New Zealand Treasury in its
2019 policy statement put its people's wellbeing at the heart of its government
mission and integrated it completely into its economic policy.
The Marmot Review calls for a commitment at all levels (national, regional and local)
to social justice and putting equity of health and wellbeing at the centre of
policymaking.

Future Wales: National Plan 20404
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 is the national development framework for
Wales as set out by the Welsh Government. The plan sets the direction and strategy
for development in wales up until 2040.
Several key areas are highlighted in the report and commitments are made to ensure
progress in these areas in the years up to 2040. Amongst them include a
commitment that the cities, towns and villages within Wales will become wellconnected places, both physically and digitally; the importance of ensuring job
opportunities and community services to rural areas; creating cities and towns that
are magnets for jobs and investment; a commitment to low-emission travel; and to
use the natural capital of Wales to support a range of sectors.

3

https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Build-back-fairer-the-COVID19-Marmot-review.pdf
4 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf

Page 327

www.bridgend.gov.uk

17

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Wales 4.0: Delivering Economic Transformation for a Better
Future of Work5
Wales 4.0 is a Welsh Government review into the future of work, industry and
economy in Wales and the implications and repercussions of that future economy.
The result of that review laid out in the report is a national strategy in response to the
'fourth industrial revolution' that calls for the transformation of key industries to build
a "productive, sustainable and inclusive society". The strategy is driven by a
commitment to the well-being of both today’s and future generations.
The report breaks down the areas that Wales needs to develop into seven key items.
These include:
•
•
•
•
•

Supporting Business for Better Jobs and Skills
Delivering Education and Skills for the Future of Work
Mainstreaming Digital in the Foundational Economy
Becoming a World Leader on Skills, Work and Industrial Analytics
Delivering Digital Government and Leadership

These key tenets that the report identifies as key for the future of Wales as it
navigates the fourth industrial revolution have informed the content of this economic
strategy and the steps that Bridgend County needs to take to ensure that Bridgend
County can excel in this new economy.

The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (2015)6
The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 is a piece of Welsh
Government legislation that aims to improve the social, economic, environmental,
and cultural well-being of people in Wales. One of the key outputs of the legislation is
a 'sustainable development principle' it creates for all public bodies to "act in a
manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs".
The Act identifies seven well-being goals that provide a framework for public bodies
to make decisions to keep to the Sustainable Development Principle, these are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a prosperous Wales
a resilient Wales
a healthier Wales
a more equal Wales
a Wales of cohesive communities
a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
a globally responsible Wales

5

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-abetter-future-of-work.pdf
6 https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/

Page 328

www.bridgend.gov.uk

18

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, Growth and Competitiveness
Commission Report7
The Growth and Competitiveness Commission Report from the Cardiff Capital
Region City Deal looks at the wider region based around Cardiff including the
Bridgend County and assesses its economic prospects and the key to unlocking the
best economic outcomes for the area going forward. The report highlights the need
for better connectedness between the areas to facilitate economic growth and to use
increased connectivity to foster a broad economy with improved productivity and
readiness for innovation, and improve the wellbeing of all people in the area.
It also emphasises the importance of investing in education and skills in the area. It
calls out the need to increase the share of adults with qualifications at all levels as a
specific economic objective due to its connection to improved productivity and to
invest in education as a mode to increase opportunity for all of the population.

Prosperity For All: Economic Action Plan8
The Prosperity For All: Economic Action Plan sits alongside the broader Prosperity
For All strategy and supports it by detailing the economic actions that will be taken to
support that delivery.
The Plan creates a new approach summarised by a new ‘Economic Contract’. This
new contract prioritises a combination of factors for government funding, notably
growth potential, Fair Work, Promotion of Health and progress in reducing carbon.
Some of the sectors highlighted in the Economic Action Plan are decarbonisation,
innovation, high quality employment and skills development. The plan also
highlights the importance of the Foundational Economy and calls out Tourism, Food,
Retail and Care.

Welsh Government Framework for Regional Investment in Wales9
The Regional Investment Framework builds on the work of the Prosperity For All
strategy and provides a framework to deliver on that plan and monitor progress over
time.
This framework outlines the method and mode of investment opportunities in Wales
and emphasises the key areas for investment as outlined in the Prosperity For All
strategies. It also creates a governance model for the continued monitoring of this
framework to ensure that it meets its stated goals.

7

https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/item-6-appendix-c-growth-andcompetitiveness-commission-recommendati....pdf
8 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/prosperity-for-all-economic-action-plan.pdf
9 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/regional-investment-in-wales-framework.pdf

Page 329

www.bridgend.gov.uk

19

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 330

Socio-economic Context of Bridgend
The wider picture of the socio-economic profile of Bridgend County and its comparative strengths and weakness, opportunities and
threats have been found by combining the views and information from a range of sources; from stakeholders and data to regional
and national reports. Below is a summary of the headline findings from each level of information.

Strengths

Stakeholder Feedback

Data Gathering

•

Strong sense of community and is
a great place to live and work.
Incredible natural capital – from
the mountains to the coast.
Good rail connections to Cardiff,
Swansea, Bristol, and London.
Safe, with a relatively low crime
rate.
Strong manufacturing base.
Good access to high-quality
healthcare.
Housing is more affordable than
elsewhere in South Wales.

•

Lack of or deficiencies in public
transport infrastructure, especially
regarding “last mile” connectivity.
Insufficient support for active
travel.

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Weaknesses

•
•

•
•

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Regional/Cardiff Capital
Region

Earnings are in line with the
•
Welsh average.
House prices c. 10% lower than
the Welsh average.
Bridgend business births are
higher over the last 10 years
than business deaths.
•

Economically inactive and long
term sick percentage is
significantly higher in Bridgend
than in Wales and GB.

•
•

Bridgend
college’s existing
work on
decarbonisation
and
decarbonisation
programme.
Strength of public
sector with Public
Services Board
(PSB) member
organisations
accounting for
around a third of
working people in
Bridgend County.
Lack of Public
Procurement
skills.
Bridgend
County’s tourism

20

Welsh and UK Government

•
•

•

2016 Tourism employed
4.2k jobs and was worth
330mil for the area.
Wales is becoming
more diverse as a
population whilst the
sense of Welsh identity
is broadly stable.

Wales’s performance on
GVA is less positive
than on other measures,
reflecting both
demographic factors

20

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 331

Stakeholder Feedback

Data Gathering

•

•

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

Poor marketing and PR for
Bridgend County (directed outside
of the county) as a place to live
and work.
Bridgend Town Centre especially,
but all the town centres need
attention.
Substantial inequalities between
areas.
Significant challenges to
households, businesses and the
public sector due to climate
change, and the imperative to
move to a low-carbon economy.
Lack of suitable business
premises.
Difficulties to recruit skilled
individuals, specifically in
hospitality, tourism, care etc., but
more widely too.
Bridgend County needs more
spaces to meet/cocreate/innovate.
Significant issues in the social
care industry.

•

•

•
•

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Bridgend County has a higher
percentage of JSA claimants
(disproportionately ESA and
Incapacity Benefit).
There is a high level of
inequality between areas within
Bridgend County. The
percentage of non-working
families is much higher in some
areas and school performance
varies by geography.
Coming out of the pandemic
the young people of Bridgend
County have been particularly
impacted negatively and more
negatively than their national
and UK counterparts.
Bridgend County job density is
below Wales/Great Britain.
This is a historic trend.
Geographical inequality is
based on transport links,
internet connectedness, school
performance and household
worklessness.

Regional/Cardiff Capital
Region

•

•

is
disproportionally
weighted towards
day trips and
visitors from
other parts of
Wales. Day trips
have the least
economic value
per day to the
economy.
There appears to
be relatively
limited
accommodation
that wouldn’t
support an
expansion of
overnight stays in
its current form.
High level of
young adults Not
in Employment,
Education or
Training (NEET)
after year 13
despite good
schools.

21

Welsh and UK Government

•

•

(including a higher
dependent population
relative to other parts of
the UK) and the lack of
‘economic mass.
There is a difference of
around 8 years in
overall life expectancy
between the most and
least deprived areas,
while the difference in
healthy life expectancy
is around 18 years.
There has been an
increase in the amount
of under 18s in
persistent poverty over
recent years.
•

21

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 332

Opportunities

Stakeholder Feedback

Data Gathering

Regional/Cardiff Capital
Region

Welsh and UK Government

•

•

Priority
growth:

•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Remote/Flexible working should
enable more work to be less
dependent on public/private
transport, and allow some who
would have moved for work to
stay in the area.
Net-zero and the green agenda
will create opportunities for
innovation, jobs and education.
The untapped potential of the
night-time economy: coordinated
with public transport
improvements.
Porthcawl as a tourist centre.
Skills development, especially
concerning the transition to a low
carbon future, advanced
manufacturing, digital etc.
Better promotion of the area is a
great place to live and work.
Using the skills of local people
and upskilling them to attract new
businesses.
Supporting innovation and
entrepreneurship.
Making more of the natural beauty
of the valleys.
The large public sector – can use
its economic clout for good.

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The vast majority (98%) of
businesses in Bridgend County
are micro or small businesses
(0-49 employees)

•
•
•
•
•

•

sectors

for

Advanced
Materials and
Manufacturing
•
Construction
Creative
(especially Film &
TV)
Compound
Semiconductors
Digital Enabling
Technologies
(includes cyber
security, data - a
massive sector,
software
development, AI)
Human
Foundational
Economy (Public
Services
(Childcare,
Healthcare,
Education, Social
Care, Emergency
Services)

22

The Welsh public sector
is the largest user of
goods and services in
Wales, spending £6.7
billion per year
Wales has great
untapped growth
potential to generate
energy, including from
renewable sources.
There is currently
significant growth in the
community level low
carbon energy sector in
Wales.

22

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 333

Stakeholder Feedback

Data Gathering

Regional/Cardiff Capital
Region

•
•

Threats/Risks

•

•

•

•
•
•

Moving away from EU funding
•
means that it is not clear how
much or how funding will be
distributed in future.
Being between Cardiff and
Swansea: Bridgend County might
get forgotten or missed out of
conversations and funding.
Long term implication of being
unable to recruit staff with the right
skills, specifically in digital,
marketing, project management,
and supporting green
technologies.
Not being ambitious enough.
Climate change and transition to a
low carbon future.
Digital exclusion.

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Population forecast to grow but
almost exclusively through the
older population (65+).
Therefore, the distribution of
the population will skew more
towards the older population.

•

Service Sector
(Hospitality,
Retail, Tourism)
Lots of new jobs
are expected
from the Low
Carbon economy
(e.g. heat pump
engineers, offsite
retrofit)
Financial security
is a key pressure
for those on low
incomes, on low
paid temporary
contracts, or
unemployed.
People say they
are concerned
about the lack of
employment
opportunities
locally for young
people.

23

Welsh and UK Government

•

•

Over the next 20 years,
the percentage of over
75s in Wales is
projected to increase
from 9% of the
population in 2014 to
around 13% in 2030.
Climate hazards are
projected to increase
both in frequency and
severity. Infrastructure
such as transport
networks, underground
infrastructure, energy
and digital infrastructure
and public water
supplies could be
impacted.

23

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 334

Stakeholder Feedback

•

Data Gathering

Regional/Cardiff Capital
Region

•

Ensuring a nuanced approach to
the different places within the
area.

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Welsh and UK Government

24

Emissions fell by 20% in
just two years from
2016 to 2018, with the
closure of Wales’ last
coal-fired power station.
Despite good progress,
Wales is not yet on
track to meet its
existing, less stringent,
80% emissions target.

24

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

“Big 4” Projects in Progress in Bridgend
This economic strategy recognises that there are several substantial economic
development initiatives that are already being progressed in Bridgend County.
These significant projects already in place will serve to improve the offering of the
area to both residents and visitors. We focus on 4 major projects that are increasing
the capacity of the borough in the areas of Retail and Leisure, Community and
Foundational Economy, Visitor Economy and Employment Opportunities.
This economic strategy has been developed to complement these major projects
and to strengthen and underpin the economic benefits accruing from them. The key
strategic recommendations in this report will create an economy with the necessary
capacity and infrastructure to make the existing projects a success and provide the
rationale for their necessity.
The 4 major projects ongoing in the County Borough are:
•
•
•
•

10

the proposed plan for Bridgend Town Centre in the Bridgend Town Centre
Masterplan;10
the renovation of the Maesteg Town Hall;
the development plans for Porthcawl waterfront;
and the “Employment Land” plans for the County Borough

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/9844/bridgend-town-centre-masterplan-executive-summary.pdf

Page 335

www.bridgend.gov.uk

25

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
The Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan has set out its proposal to rejuvenate the
Town Centre and surrounding areas to transform it into a cultural and employment
hub. Based on the key themes of Growth, Resilience, Well-being and Identity, the
Masterplan outlines a vision for the Town Centre and a set of 4 actionable themes to
make changes in the area. The themes are:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Growth
Resilience
Well-being
Identity

These key themes align closely to the key themes included in this report and hence
both reports, the Masterplan and this economic strategy should be read as
complementary to one another.
The Masterplan outlines a transformative plan to develop the Railway Station area,
the Brackl, Nolton and Oldcastle area, the core retail area around the High Street,
the Café and Cultural Quarter, the Northern Gateway, the Riverfront, the Newcastle
area, and the Sunnyside area. The Masterplan sets out an ambitious plan to
revitalise the retail and leisure offering of the Town Centre. Within these areas are
included such plans as the relocation of the Bridgend College campus to the centre
of Bridgend town and redevelopment of the Train and Bus stations. This plan to
develop the Bridgend Town is fully supported by this Economic Strategy report and
the proposals in this report will create a successful background for these
developments to impact the Bridgend economy over the long term.

Maesteg Town Hall
The project to redevelop the Town Hall in Maesteg is underway. The Town Hall has
a long history of being a cultural centre in the town and the surrounding area.
Opening its doors in 1881, over the 140 years since it has been a host to drama,
dance, comedy, music, art and more. In addition, it has served as a central location
in the community for weddings, conferences and other civic functions.
The renovated Town Hall will form a cultural hub for the local and wider areas and
ensure that these cultural events are protected, securing their benefits for future
generations. In addition, it is hoped that the development will enhance its existing
offering drawing in visitors from in and outside the Borough into Maesteg and acting
as a catalyst for the wider regeneration of Maesteg. It is hoped that the project could
amplify the Town Hall's benefits two or three times over.11

Porthcawl
Plans for the significant redevelopment of Porthcawl to turn it into a thriving town for
locals and visitors are currently in consultation. Bridgend Council recently published
their placemaking proposal for the town.12 This proposal would transform the
11

https://maestegtownhall.com/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/council-reveals-more-potential-opportunities-for-porthcawl-sfuture/
12

Page 336

www.bridgend.gov.uk

26

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

waterfront area, develop new leisure and accommodation facilities and improve the
transport connectivity and active travel in the town.13
These plans are in their early stages and are not finalised or committed to, but they
provide a clear strategy to develop Porthcawl into a thriving area by increasing its
capacity in fundamental areas (accommodation and connectivity) to take advantage
of the existing natural capital advantage and local businesses that provide a quality
option for visitors. These fundamental areas of improvement are supported by this
Economic Strategy.

Employment Land14
The final of the big 4 development projects being undertaken is the work on land
across the County, referred to as 'Employment Land' in the Local Development Plan.
This plan has been designed to attract high-quality businesses and investment into
the County Borough to increase job opportunities and strengthen the wider economy
of the borough.
The planned work will facilitate growth by directing employment generating
development to the most appropriate and sustainable locations, including the
Industrial Estates of Brocastle, Waterton and Bridgend and the Pencoed Technology
Park and the former Ford site and sites throughout the County in the ownership of
BCBC. This will encourage the expansion of existing businesses whilst providing an
attractive location for new businesses to the area to locate their premises. The
Employment Land strategy will allocate 71.7 hectares of new employment land and
accommodate up to an estimated 7,500 jobs.

13
14

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/update-on-porthcawl-regeneration-plans/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/10937/consultation-document.pdf

Page 337

www.bridgend.gov.uk

27

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

An Economic Strategy for Bridgend County
Several of the main challenges and barriers that Bridgend County faces generally fall
into two broad and interrelated economic issues, that combine to limit Bridgend’s
performance and economic development as a wider area.
The first relates to Bridgend County's capacity to attract and sustain a diversified
industry in a highly competitive global environment. To achieve this BCBC should
focus on the development of a few key issue areas that once resolved will facilitate
growth and increase the attractiveness of the borough as a place to do business.
The first key focus area is around creating the conditions for growing the economy
through:
•
•
•
•

developing a skilled workforce that meets the needs of the businesses in the
area but also positions Bridgend County as a high-skilled hub
strengthening the transport infrastructure that means businesses can move
their resources and their people efficiently
substantial increase in the number of commercial premises to meet demand
and increase capacity
a supportive, collaborative and business-friendly local authority

The second key focus area relates to challenges that arise from deep-rooted
economic and social problems within the areas. This is most clearly recognised in
the labour market where there are issues of high economic inactivity and
geographical inequality. Addressing the challenge can be achieved through:
•
•
•

a focus on skills provision both to the individual and to businesses
ensuring economic development is achieved through the lens of the
foundational economy and with equitable outcomes as a goal
ensuring digital and transport connectivity is to a high level throughout the
borough.

This economic strategy sets out 4 key pillars that are central to addressing these
structural barriers. The 4 pillars categorisation is the result of hearing from
stakeholders across the County, analysing the available datasets and reviewing
existing policy and strategy from local, regional and national organisations. The 4
pillars capture the areas that were considered the most significant for the economic
prospects of the County and reflect the priorities for the County from all levels.
These 4 pillars encompass the points above, form the backbone of the economic
strategy for Bridgend County and provide structure for our strategic
recommendations. The 4 pillars are Business and Workforce Support, Connectivity
and Infrastructure, Public Sector and Foundational Economy, and Low Carbon
Economy. In addressing underlying issues in these 4 areas Bridgend County can
create a thriving social and economic ecosystem that is attractive for incumbent and
new businesses alike and has a skilled and prosperous workforce.

Page 338

www.bridgend.gov.uk

28

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

4 Pillars of the Economic Strategy
Due to its importance in addressing both aforementioned challenges, skills and
capacity-building form a key cornerstone of this report.
•
•
•
•

Business Support and Workforce Development
Connectivity and Infrastructure
Public Sector and Foundational Economy
Low Carbon Economy

These four pillars are the basis for Bridgend County to realise large scale opportunities
and the areas of improvement that will have the most significant impact on Bridgend's
economy and future economic success. It is essential to note that the above strategic
pillars are not mutually exclusive, and are cross-cutting foundations for a healthy and
diversified economy.

Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development
Bridgend County has a structural economic constraint of skill shortage which has
caused a trend of long-term unemployment. This has meant that over time, families
and communities have become embedded in cycles of unemployment, exacerbating
already existing issues of deprivation and inequality.
For Bridgend County, capacity building is essential across all levels of the
community. This is especially true for the poorest and most disadvantaged of the
population, to develop skills and competencies to take greater control of their own
lives and contribute to inclusive local development.
Bridgend County's business community has also historically had a few key
constraints that have held it back from its true potential. By addressing the issue of a
relative lack of commercial property and by working with businesses to increase their
capacity to take advantage of the economic opportunity created by the public sector,
anchor organisations and their respective supply chains the Bridgend business
economy has the potential to thrive.

Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure
Connectivity is an essential building block to the social and economic fabric of any
economic strategy. Good digital connectivity for the entirety of Bridgend County will
unlock the potential for all communities to access and engage in the economic
opportunities that are present as well as provide a key cornerstone for the green
economy as we move towards a future of smart inclusive communities.
Connectivity in this report has two major components: digital and physical (i.e.,
transport). For both components, there is poor infrastructure in some areas of the
borough in Bridgend County, particularly (but not solely) the more deprived
communities in the valleys to the north of the county. Bridgend County has a high
percentage of people who cannot access sufficient internet in their area. In addition,
we heard repeated feedback from stakeholders that the public transport

Page 339

www.bridgend.gov.uk

29

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

infrastructure across the borough was lacking and in particular that the valley areas
suffer from a lack of public transport connectivity.

Pillar 3: Public Sector and the Foundational Economy
The public sector and foundation economy are key in Bridgend County. Not only as
a significant employer in the area but also as a bedrock of the community due to its
role in facilitating and enabling the activities of the wider community. In addition, it
also provides a lot of key services that are crucial to the Bridgend County
experience.
As a major economic contributor in the county borough, both as a spender and an
employer, the public sector and foundational economy has a key role to play as a
stimulator of economic activity, as a leader in its direction of travel and as a role
model for the type of economy Bridgend County wants to create.
Within the type of economy that Bridgend County is creating the theme of
Foundational Economy is a fundamental component and as such is a key concept to
this economic strategy. All the further work on specific sectors will be undertaken
through the lens of the foundational economy and the commitment to creating a
sustainable and equitable community for all.

Pillar 4: Low Carbon Economy
The Low Carbon agenda will expand significantly in the coming years and will
dominate decision-making for the foreseeable. Over the next 5 years, the rate of
growth of the low carbon economy is predicted to increase each year, accelerating
the growth of the industry as a whole. As this significant change to our culture and
economy comes it will create new industries and opportunities, as well as create new
social obligations. It is paramount that the Bridgend County economy is shaped in a
way that is environmentally and ecologically sustainable, whilst also taking full
advantage of this as a window for positioning itself as a hub for the low carbon
economy.

The Strategic Pillars within the context of other sources of
information
The table below shows where insights from the different sources of information have
overlapped and supported the case for the 4 pillars in this report.
Pillar

Topic

Data

Stakeholders

CCR /
Regional

Wales
Gov

UK
Gov

Other
sources

1. Business &
Workforce
Support

Capacity
Building

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Business
Support

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

2. Connectivity Digital
& Infrastructure
Physical
Public Sector

Page 340

www.bridgend.gov.uk

30

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar

Topic

Data

Stakeholders

CCR /
Regional

Wales
Gov

UK
Gov

Other
sources

3. Foundational Foundational
Economy & the Economy
role of the
Public Sector

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

4. Low Carbon
Economy

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Low Carbon
Economy

Economic actions to address the 4 Key Pillars
The 4 Pillars describe the 4 broad areas of focus that were perceived to be the most
significant from the stakeholder engagement, analysis of datasets and review of
reports and strategies across the different levels of government and public sector
organisation. The result is the 4 Pillars as described above. These 4 pillars form the
structure for the analysis and recommendations in the rest of this strategy.
In the following section, each of the 4 pillars is explored and expanded upon in turn
to understand the importance of each as an economic driver and the relevance that it
has in the Bridgend County Borough economy.

Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development
Bridgend County has historically been home to some major high-skill employers
largely focused in a small number of industries. Most notably this has been in skilled
manufacturing jobs, firstly in car production and more recently in medical device
engineering and technology. At the same time in some sectors, Bridgend County
has historically suffered from a low skill base, and as a result, Bridgend County has
performed below its economic potential.
Workforce capacity building requires a holistic approach encompassing both bottomup and top-down approaches. Historically, infrastructure spending has tended to
dominate economic strategy across the entirety of Bridgend County and the
surrounding region. Infrastructure alone does not provide a sufficient basis to nurture
and sustain the required skill-base. Low skill levels are seen as major barriers to
making the transition to work, with a considerable proportion of those who are
economically inactive lacking not only basic skills and specific work-related skills but
also more generic skills that are core to a healthy economy.
There is a significant economic opportunity available through supporting smaller
local businesses to support the upskilling of their existing workforce and adoption of
productivity-improving technologies, particularly in the areas of digital skills (basic
skills and advanced skills), and engaging in procurement as part of the supply-chain
economy. Equally, there is a need for a deeper solution for acknowledged skills
shortages across the Bridgend economy. With no university in the borough, Bridgend
College is the key provider of technical (Further Education) and some higher (Higher
Education) skills provision through in-work training and apprenticeships. It is key
that the local authority works closely with Bridgend College to ensure that they are

Page 341

www.bridgend.gov.uk

31

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

providing the right skills to add value in the workplace and to be prepared for the
future economy.
Away from skills at an individual level, there is also an opportunity for businesses to
upskill themselves to take advantage of the supply chain network into larger
businesses, the third sector and the public sector. These institutions are large
consumers of goods and services, but businesses do not always have the necessary
skills or knowledge to access this spending.
In this section:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Capacity Building
Skills Shortages
Preparing for Industries of the Future: Advanced Manufacturing
Preparing for Industries of the Future: Low Carbon Economy
Business Support
Business Capacity Building: Supply Chains
Business Skills
Commercial Premises

For Bridgend County, capacity building is essential across the community. This is
especially true, for the poorest and most disadvantaged of the population, to develop
skills and competencies to move individuals closer to employment, take greater
control of their own lives and contribute to their own and local economic
development.

Capacity Building
Skills Shortages
Capacity-building strategies are the cornerstone of a healthy community. They
require a decisive vision for change that takes a longer time horizon to realise the
impact. However, they are essential to creating greater social cohesion and
resilience, therefore, enabling Bridgend County to be better placed to confront
economic and social challenges in the future. To build meaningful and effective
workforce capacity across Bridgend County we advocate for both bottom-up
(building on existing capacity) and top-down (policies that stimulate and foster skill
capacity through national and local government).
Community Capacity Building is a developed concept based on a series of
strategies that are aimed at addressing the major social and economic decline in
towns, cities and regions that are experiencing significant economic change and the
consequences of deep-seated and long term worklessness and benefits
dependency.

The priorities at all levels are to build community capacity, to rebuild capacity across
the region and particularly across the deprived areas of Bridgend County, and to
sustain such activity in difficult economic times. Jobs, entrepreneurship, and

Page 342

www.bridgend.gov.uk

32

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

business performance are key tangible areas to which community capacity building
can contribute, and this is accompanied by more intangible factors including
increased social capital and social cohesion. Strategic policies that embody a multifaceted approach i.e. core workplace skills for those furthest from the job market,
reskilling the existing workforce, taking stock of capacity building across the entire
educational system will facilitate short and longer-term growth strategies that will
ultimately lead to better jobs, increased levels of entrepreneurship, positive social
capital indicators, better business performance and sustainability.
Skills Gaps & Shortages
The entire UK is experiencing a shortage of skills and many industries are finding it
increasingly hard to hire a workforce with sufficient skills. Below are some areas
that have been highlighted as suffering from difficulty to hire:
• Skilled trade occupations
• Professional and managerial occupations
• Machine and technical operators
• Care and leisure services
• Administrative and secretarial occupations
In addition, the UK workforce lacks both basic and advanced digital skills. This is
expected to worsen in the future as demand increases at a rate that is not matched
by the supply of these skills.

Preparing for Industries of the Future: Advanced Manufacturing
Advanced Manufacturing already plays a significant role in the local economy, with
major manufacturing employers such as Rockwool & Sony and a cluster of medical
device manufacturing firms providing high-skilled, well-paid jobs in the borough. It is
important to the County to protect these jobs for the future and to ensure the supply
of a highly skilled workforce that can meet the future demand for workers in this
space from existing businesses as well as encouraging other businesses to move to
the area due to the skilled nature of the workforce. Bridgend County is in a strong
position already in this space. The key for the council going forward is to nurture the
businesses that are already incumbent and build from the current situation to create
an even more attractive proposition for new businesses.
The total impact of manufacturing on UK GDP was £446 billion in 2016. For every
£1 million that the manufacturing sector contributes to UK GDP itself, a further £1.5
million is supported across the wider economy through indirect and induced
multiplier effects. On the same basis, manufacturing supported a total of 7.4 million
jobs in 2016. For each job in the manufacturing sector itself, a further 1.8 are
supported in other sectors of the UK economy.

Page 343

www.bridgend.gov.uk

33

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Preparing for Industries of the Future: Low Carbon Economy
The development of the low carbon economy and an ever-increasing emphasis on
green industries in the future means that Bridgend County can upskill its workforce to
take advantage of the economic opportunity that this presents. Work in the
industries of the future, and in particular the low carbon economy, will rely on a high
level of skills across a wide range of areas but they will hinge to a large extent on
high-tech and high-level skills. This will cut across all areas including building on
Bridgend County’s existing strength in the advanced manufacturing sector.
The demand for low-carbon energy will increase significantly and rapidly over the
coming years and with it the corresponding market for employees with the necessary
skills. Bridgend already is a leader in this area with leading businesses like engsolve
based in the borough. The council have already shown their commitment with their
work to support the Bridgend Town Heat Network, an example of innovation in
action. There is a strong existing relationship between businesses and the council
on this issue which puts Bridgend County in a strong position to take advantage of
this expanding market. Bridgend must act now to ensure that its workforce is equally
as prepared as its businesses and council to take part in this new economy and
share in the value that it will bring. Bridgend College is an invaluable asset in this
process and should be encouraged in its direction of increasing its Low Carbon
courses.
Equally, skills to improve the sustainability of existing infrastructure are increasingly
becoming more in demand with a focus on retrofitting buildings expected shortly. The
council is developing a low-carbon strategy and has already launched The Re:fit
programme which aims to retrofit schools and other public sector buildings with
conservation measures such as LED lighting replacement and solar PV systems. It
is also expected that demand for insulation retrofitting will increase. Bridgend
County should ensure its workforce can meet this demand so that the direct
economic value from these projects remains in the borough.

Business Support
Business Capacity Building: Supply Chains
As with individuals, there is an opportunity for local businesses to upskill and build
their capability. One area of potential is for smaller businesses working in the supply
chain network into larger businesses, the third sector and public sector. The public
sector is the biggest spender in Wales and tapping into this existing spend poses a
significant opportunity for local businesses.
Currently, there is a good understanding in the borough and within the council of the
power of procurement to create a thriving local economy. The 2021 procurement
strategy is a large step towards implementing a progressive procurement strategy
that will direct funding towards local businesses where appropriate and foster an
economy that supports local businesses by design. However, there are many
businesses that for legitimate reasons are unable or unwilling to procure services
directly from the public sector. This can be due to size (government tenders being
too large), reputational risk or perceived logistical/practical difficulties. These
businesses can still benefit indirectly from public spending. There is a large
opportunity available to businesses if they can unlock and tap into the supply chain

Page 344

www.bridgend.gov.uk

34

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

benefits from public spending. They may be unable, not have the skills or be
unwilling to apply for public sector tenders, but there is huge value, particularly for
small businesses, in them being able to provide services to main contractors and in
doing so benefit from public spending. The council can support smaller businesses
to engage in this process by working alongside small businesses to ensure that they
have the requisite skills and information necessary for them to enter at the
appropriate stage along the supply chain.

Business Skills
Businesses require a skilled workforce but they also need specific business skills to
meet their full potential. The 2021 business survey undertaken by the council
indicated that marketing, social media and digital skills (ranging from basic
knowledge of Microsoft products to more technical IT knowledge) were deemed
particularly important for local businesses. Industry-specific skills such as food
hygiene were also indicated as important. The council can support businesses by
coordinating and promoting training in key skill areas, which in turn should improve
the productivity of businesses and provide the individuals with additional business
and digital skillsets.
Bridgend County has a tremendous opportunity to facilitate significant growth across
the digital sector. The latest report from the EU Digital Economy and Society Index
(DESI) shows that while businesses are digitalising functions and services, only a
fraction of SMEs rely on advanced cloud (17%) and big data applications (12%). This
needs to change for strong post-pandemic recovery to take place. The use of more
advanced digital technologies, such as cloud computing, big data analytics, AI and
the Internet of Things will enhance productivity, improve efficiency, and open new
opportunities for businesses in all sectors, all of which are crucial for economic
recovery.
To support local businesses and to continue the more sustainable behaviours
adopted during lockdown, investment will be needed to strengthen the digital
foundations of Bridgend County, namely ensuring equitable access to high-speed
high-capacity internet for businesses and households, and enhancing the digital
skills of its business population.
Commercial Property
A lack of available and suitable business premises prevents the Bridgend County
business community from reaching its full potential with businesses required to be
put on a waiting list for premises. This issue was a common theme in the feedback
from stakeholders. In the latest data on Job Density from the Office of National
Statistics, Bridgend falls significantly behind the Welsh and GB averages. As of
2019 in Bridgend County, there were 0.68 jobs per person, compared to 0.77 in
Wales and 0.87 across Great Britain. Facilitating the adequate provision of suitable
small and large business premises in Bridgend County will enable existing
businesses to expand and grow, and provide suitable spaces for inward investing
businesses to locate in the county. It is, therefore, important that the council focuses
on solving the issue of an insufficient supply of business premises. As a key landlord
in Bridgend County, BCBC is well-positioned to lead on this issue.

Page 345

www.bridgend.gov.uk

35

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Opportunities
Capacity Building
•
•
•

There is significant untapped economic potential to be unlocked by facilitating
re-skilling and up-skilling of the existing workforce.
Continued focus on basic skills is needed to ensure workforce (and potential
workforce) with a strong and broad set of basic skills that encourages people
into work and ensures they can succeed.
Bridgend County can capitalise on its strong background in the advanced
manufacturing sector, bringing economic advantage as that sector develops
and enabling Bridgend County to consolidate its position as a regional hub.
o The Low Carbon economy is set to expand rapidly and create a wealth
of new jobs. Bridgend County can capitalise on this with the right
training programmes, aligned to national and local strategies to decarbonise the economy.

Business Support
•

•
•

The public sector and anchor organisations are large purchasers of goods
and services, but not all businesses are able or willing to procure directly from
the council. A programme to help businesses understand how they can,
directly and indirectly, benefit from the supply chain could have significant
economic benefits.
Upskilling businesses themselves can increase productivity, unlock new
operational possibilities and help expand the reach of their marketing.
Working to provide adequate commercial premises will remove a barrier to
growth.

Strategic Actions
National
•

Align local policies and actions to national policies that are aimed at
stimulating enterprise, social capital, and community capacity. Broad-based,
concurrent strategies that stimulate capacity and activity at the personal and
household-level across public, industry and third sectors are essential.

Regional/Sub-regional
•
•
•

Develop employer-assisted housing that ensures a mix of incomes in the local
housing market.
Partner with CCR as well as other key stakeholders and allow participation
and feedback along all stages of the development process.
Set-aside new commercial space for local businesses to stimulate local job
growth through a sub-regional partnership.

Page 346

www.bridgend.gov.uk

36

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Bridgend County Borough and Partners
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Increase the ‘skills for life’ levels of adults through facilitating training
programmes in the areas where it is most needed. This may include targeted
support for particular age groups.
Improve access to learning and employment for local people through
removing barriers to entry (see connectivity) and raising confidence, basic
workplace skills, digital skills and self-esteem.
Work with local training providers to understand the IT training needs in more
detail and consider how to provide an offer that meets these needs.
Continue to support and build on the work being undertaken to get disabled,
people with long term conditions, and long term unemployed into appropriate
employment or community engagement.
Work with Bridgend College to review the advanced manufacturing and low
carbon industries and ensure that the required skills for these industries in the
future are being provided for by the existing training programmes or create a
new programme where gaps are missing. Support recruitment to target
programmes through County-wide marketing.
Update and maintain a database of all Bridgend County-based businesses to
enable communication, support and feedback with the business community.
This can also be distributed to suppliers when they contract with the council or
partner organisations.
Facilitate a programme to educate businesses on how they can win business
with the council and other major procuring organisations, both directly and
indirectly.
Support business activity by providing an adequate level of small and large
commercial properties, and flexible working spaces / co-working spaces.
Work with the business community to identify needs and potential needs, and
to identify suitable business locations linked with public transport and active
travel plans.
Support businesses and third-sector organisations that help to facilitate
democratic/widespread access to digital and financial literacy that are
essential to the fabric of capacity-building.
Consider how to encourage more young people to stay and establish
careers/homes in the area and consider how to encourage people with
children to move to the area
Continue to monitor the ongoing funding of Business Wales to ensure that
Bridgend County businesses continue to be adequately supported.

Page 347

www.bridgend.gov.uk

37

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure
Ensuring good digital connectivity for the entirety of Bridgend County will unlock the
ability for all communities to access and engage in the economic opportunities that
are present as well as provide a key cornerstone that will underpin the green
economy as we move towards a future of smart inclusive communities. Furthermore,
the economic importance of providing quality physical infrastructure is of vital
importance to ensuring sustained social development and inclusive growth. The
relationship between digital connectivity and physical infrastructure is mutually
interconnected and will play a pivotal role in the future success of Bridgend County.
In this section:
3. Digital Connectivity
• Internet connectivity: Individuals
• Internet connectivity: Businesses
4. Physical Connectivity and Infrastructure
• Travel and Transport connectivity
• Sustainable Transport

Digital Connectivity
Internet Connectivity: Individuals
To understand the weaknesses and potential opportunities we look to the evidence
base on digital connectivity for Bridgend County. At an aggregate level, Bridgend
County’s download speeds at 52.9 are slightly below the Welsh average of 58.3.
However more concerningly, when we interrogate these headline findings 11.4% of
Bridgend County’s population receives less than 10Mbps; a Universal Service
Obligation. The implications of this are stark for that section of the population and
this inequality has been exposed and exacerbated by the COVID pandemic. People
in areas of poor digital connectivity, or unable to afford high-speed connectivity are
unable to access work that requires or allows for home working using the internet as
well as being excluded from accessing key online services, decreasing their ability to
stay connected to others. There are substantial economic and social benefits to
solving this digital connectivity problem for the communities in question, in addition to
tackling a root of inequality.
This inequality does present a strong case for Bridgend County to weigh into a wider
economic case at a regional and national level to ensure that the poorer connected
areas within Bridgend County are not left behind and further disconnected from
economic opportunities.

The Centre for Economics and Business Research (CEBR) has identified five key
areas in which individuals who acquire basic digital skills can benefit:
earnings benefits: these relate to increased earnings of between 3% and 10%
through acquiring digital skills.

Page 348

www.bridgend.gov.uk

38

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

employability benefits: this reflects the improved chances of finding work for
someone who is unemployed and an increased likelihood that someone inactive will
look for work.
retail transaction benefits: shopping online is 13% cheaper on average than
shopping in-store.
communication benefits: basic digital skills can enable people to connect and
communicate with family, friends, and the community 14% more frequently.
time savings: these relate to the time saved by accessing government services
and banking online rather than in person, estimated to be about 30 minutes per
transaction.

It is also expected that the digitally excluded will be increasingly at a disadvantage in
the employment market over time unless they are specifically catered for. In terms
of earnings and employability benefits, the Industrial Strategy identified Artificial
Intelligence and Data as an important challenge and opportunity for creating good
quality jobs and driving economic growth. In 2016 it was estimated that within the
next 10 to 20 years, 90% of jobs will require some sort of digital skills (PDF, 735KB)
and in the Lloyds Bank research, half of those online indicated that the internet had
helped them find a job (PDF,3.1 MB), a share that is likely to only increase over time.

What Is Digitalisation?
Digitalisation can be defined as the use of digital technologies to change existing
infrastructure. In a business, this can involve the implementation of new systems
and tools to increase efficiency and provide the potential for new revenue. At a city
– or country–level, the premise is the same, but the scale is much wider.

Internet Connectivity: Businesses
Equitable access to excellent digital connectivity (full-fibre broadband, 5G etc,) is
expected to have significant benefits to local businesses. Evidence from the
Broadband Stakeholder Group suggests that investment in advanced
communications (including full-fibre and 5G) can deliver broad economic benefits,
including:
Existing businesses will see an increase in productivity which should result in an
expected increase in turnover per worker of up to 3.8% per worker per annum.
•
•

New businesses will be attracted to the area with growth in the total business
of at least 0.4%, rising to 3.2% in other areas. This will result in increased tax
and business rates for the local authority.
Both of the above benefits will result in new jobs being created in the local
area. Areas can expect to see 0.7-1.7% more jobs.

Page 349

www.bridgend.gov.uk

39

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Physical Connectivity and Infrastructure
Travel & Transport Connectivity
Although major East-West transport links (rail and road) are good, during
stakeholder interviews in the borough, the issue regarding the lack of public transport
running at times to support people getting to and from their place of work was raised
many times. Where there are public transport links such as trains to Maesteg,
anecdotal evidence suggests that the frequency and timing of these can severely
limit access to employment and access to the night-time economy in other locations.
Bus times are not always coordinated with train times. Anecdotal evidence supports
poor “last mile” public transport, in issue particularly in the north of the valleys.
The economic potential of Bridgend County, particularly of people in the less wellserved areas, is currently restricted by this lack of infrastructure. It causes issues for
individuals to access services, socialise and gain or maintain employment. Young
people are disadvantaged as car ownership is expensive and rural jobs often have
lower rates of pay than in urban areas, in addition, it puts a constraint on pupils
taking part in after-school sport and social activities. A progressive, radical, and
sustainable travel infrastructure strategy to allow easy, regular and affordable access
to all areas of the borough will unlock employment opportunities and economic
growth and reduce the existing geographic inequality.
The Bridgend County economy is also being held back by a lack of public transport
to support the night-time economy. There is great potential for a thriving night-time
economy with cultural venues in the major towns and a host of restaurants and bars.
However, access to these by public transport in the evening is difficult or, in some
cases, simply not possible. Anecdotally this is impacting the economy with people
either having to drive or get a taxi, both of which may pose difficulties. Expanding
public transport infrastructure, particularly buses, so that they provide access later
into the evening will boost the night-time economy and provide support to those
businesses.

Sylvia Barrett, Head of Policy, Research and Projects at Campaign for Better
Transport, said:
“It’s hard to overstate the importance of good public transport. Communities
that struggle to access jobs, training and essential services have no chance
of thriving. The Government must invest in public transport to ensure that no
communities are left behind and that we build back better in a way that is fair
and sustainable.
Reconnecting lost rail links, reinstating cut bus routes and ensuring local
authorities have the funds and skills to provide the public transport local
communities need is key to reinvigorating the areas featured in this report
and, crucially, ensuring these communities don’t get further left behind.”

Page 350

www.bridgend.gov.uk

40

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Sustainable Transport
Decisions about improving and extending public transport must be done through the
lens of creating a sustainable and green travel infrastructure. Inherently the increase
in public transport will be positive for the environment by decreasing the use of
personal vehicles, however, this is not sufficient to meet the net-zero plans. An
increase in public transport use and associated active travel will also contribute to
the Health Weight Wales Strategy.
Bridgend County is already leading in this space with several active transport and
electric vehicle (EV) charging schemes in place. There are already existing electric
vehicle schemes in place that are part of a programme to shift all council vehicles to
electric vehicles, testing electric vehicles as taxis and expanding the electric
charging infrastructure in the borough. Further to that, BCBC will explore hydrogen
use across a number of service areas
Bridgend County already has a network of dedicated traffic-free cycle routes and is
in consultation about expanding this network. One example of a desired active travel
route development (cited by Rockwool) is a dedicated walk and cycle route from
Pencoed station to the Rockwell plant. To support economic growth people need to
be able to access work, and to deliver net-zero there has to be a significant move
towards active and public transport
Bridgend County should continue to focus on sustainable transport as part of the
expansion of public transport.

CASE STUDY: Electric Vehicles on a Global Scale
Transitioning to a more efficient electric vehicle (EV) fleet in cities would require a
total incremental investment of $8.6 trillion.15 This investment would pay for itself
within eight years. By 2030, annual returns would reach $320 billion. By 2050, that
figure would exceed $1 trillion annually, for a net present value of $3.7 trillion. These
returns largely represent the savings from avoided fuel costs: the economic benefits
of lower emissions and pollution would provide even higher returns. This transition
to an EV fleet would avoid releasing 0.71 gigatons of GHGs into the atmosphere by
2050 and has the potential to create 3.6 million jobs by 2030.16
In many cities, EVs represent a small but rapidly growing part of the transport
sector. Localities can support this transition through a wide range of measures,
including investing in financial and non-financial incentives. Oslo provides a
success story that we can learn from. More than half of all new cars sold in Oslo
are either fully battery-electric or plug-in hybrid. To enable this shift, national and
local governments worked together to introduce a mixture of financial and non-

15

https://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/why-sustainable-urban-transport-greatinvestment#:~:text=Transitioning%20to%20a%20more%20efficient,vehicles%20with%20higher%20fu
el%20efficiency
16 https://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/why-sustainable-urban-transport-greatinvestment#:~:text=Transitioning%20to%20a%20more%20efficient,vehicles%20with%20higher%20fu
el%20efficiency

Page 351

www.bridgend.gov.uk

41

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

financial incentives, including zero VAT or import tax on electric vehicles, free
parking, access to bus lanes and well-developed public charging infrastructure.17

CASE STUDY: Cycling infrastructure
Many cities are already investing in cycling infrastructure to reduce congestion,
increase the ‘walkability’ of their cities and reduce pressure on public transport.
Investing in improved cycleways can also create significant cumulative savings in
public health costs and support job creation.18
There are multiple economic benefits to investing in cycling infrastructure:
•
•

Public Health and Economic Savings: According to NICE, physical inactivity
costs the NHS around £1 billion per year, and wider society £7.4 billion per
year.19
A recent study of 264,337 people found that cycling to work is linked with a
45% lower risk of developing cancer and a 46% lower risk of cardiovascular
disease.20

Opportunities
Digital Connectivity Opportunities
o Expanding good quality digital connection across the whole borough
will support individuals in finding and keeping employment, especially
in roles where work-from-home is encouraged.
o Expanding good quality digital connection will also help to remove
social inequalities, as individuals with a poor internet connection will
get left behind in an increasingly digital world.
o Expanding good quality digital connection will also allow easier access
to services (e.g. government/banking) which in turn will be time saved
(estimated to be about 30 minutes per transaction).
o Strong digital connectivity to business premises will increase business
productivity and is necessary to position Bridgend as a good place for
businesses to locate to.
Physical Infrastructure Opportunities
•
•

Improving last-mile transport connectivity and the regularity of access to more
remote areas will improve the economic and social prospects of people in
those areas.
Expanding public transport services into the evening has the potential to
radically improve the nighttime and visitor economy.

17

https://urbantransitions.global/urban-opportunity/
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/304529942_Economic_Benefits_of_Increased_Cycling
19 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng90/chapter/Context
20 https://www.cyclinguk.org/article/20-reasons-cycle-work
18

Page 352

www.bridgend.gov.uk

42

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•

Electric and hybrid public transport solutions will deliver return on investment
through their reduction of emissions.
Expansion of the already existing sustainable transport projects can position
Bridgend County as a leader in this space and create employment in these
new sectors.

Strategic Actions
National Level
•

•
•

Align with the national Levelling-Up Agenda,
o Lobby the Welsh Government and Network Infrastructure providers for
the provision of the Universal Service Obligation (USO)21 across the
whole borough.
Tap into National programmes to ensure effective delivery of affordable USO
reaches the Bridgend population.
Take advantage of Pandemic Recovery funds to facilitate the digital
connectedness of the borough.

Regional / Sub Regional
•
•
•

Ensure digital skills training programmes and further education programmes
are aligned at the regional level.
Target investment pots around last-mile transport to connect the strong
central travel infrastructure (Cardiff-Swansea rail and M4) with the rest of the
borough.
Ensure that the whole borough has access to adequate public transport. The
valley communities suffer from an inability to sufficiently access the rest of the
borough through public transport.

Bridgend County Borough and Partners
•
•
•
•
•

Work to ensure a delivery plan that the whole borough has a minimum of
10Mbps of affordable broadband coverage as per Universal Service
Obligation, and thereafter to much higher connectivity speeds
Plan for the emergence of 5G implementation and subsequent developments
in connectivity.
Work with transport providers to plan the service of public transport into the
evening to support the local night-time economy and last-mile public transport
connectivity.
Ensure new public transport supports the move to a green economy by being
designed sustainably.
Explore options for incentivising Electric Vehicle use in Bridged by providing
free parking for Electric Vehicles and other options and expanding public
charging infrastructure.

21

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/phones-telecoms-and-internet/advice-for-consumers/broadband-usoneed-to-know

Page 353

www.bridgend.gov.uk

43

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 3: Foundational Economy and the role of the Public Sector
The public sector has an important role to play beyond its primary function of
delivering services, indeed its impact reaches from reducing carbon emissions,
supporting its supply chain, to its position as a significant property owner.
In particular, the Public Sector in Bridgend County is a significant employer across a
range of job types and a large consumer of goods and services. Recognising and
capitalising on this has the potential to benefit the local economy and work is already
underway via the public sector services board to ensure the public sector
understands and plays its role as anchor organisation.
Relatedly, the theme of Foundational Economy (that part of the economy that
creates and distributes goods and services consumed by all because they support
everyday life e.g. healthcare, education, housing, utilities and food) is a fundamental
part of this economic strategy. The economic strategy in this report should be
viewed through the lens of the Foundational Economy. In discussing the future of
Bridgend County, we are envisioning a successful economy that can complement
and support a thriving community and culture with a strong Foundational Economy.
In this section:
•
•

Public Sector
o Procurement and Anchor Organisations
o Digital Delivery
Foundational Economy
o Placemaking
o Well-being
o Educational Equality and Online Learning
o Cultural support

Public Sector
Procurement and Anchor Organisations
The public sector is a major player in the Bridgend County economy and provides
significant value as both a consumer and an employer.
As a consumer, the Bridgend Public Sector has a progressive approach to
procurement which is reflected in the council’s 2021 Socially Responsible
Procurement Strategy that encourages generating local value and includes other
value-adds alongside value-for-money in its decision criteria. By adopting and
following this existing BCBC strategy, the council can increase its support for the
local economy. This should be supported by a programme to reduce barriers for
local businesses to help them to apply for and win tenders. Such a programme,
alongside a supply chain building programme, will provide local businesses with the
skills and knowledge to benefit from public sector spending. The long-term ambition
is to create a strong ecosystem of local businesses that benefit from regional public
sector spending.
As an employer, the Public Sector plays a significant role in the area. The footprint
of the public sector is large with significant economic activity being created by the

Page 354

www.bridgend.gov.uk

44

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Princess of Wales Hospital, the South Wales Police Headquarters, the College and
Schools and the Council itself. Not only do these institutions employ many people
but they do so across a breadth of job types including high-skilled and well-paid
work. Recognising the role these institutions play in the fabric of the community and
being conscious of that in their decision-making is crucial.
Anchor institutions like these invest heavily in and have great influence over local
real estate and infrastructure development. Where and how institutions choose to
build greatly affects the neighbourhoods where they are located. Thoughtful decision
making regarding real estate acquisition and development can leverage this
institutional power for the benefit of the community in a way that creates healthy
places, stimulates economic revitalisation, and supports the local housing market. To
reach mutually beneficial goals, anchor institutions should align their real estate
plans with broader community goals and partner with residents, city officials and
other stakeholders to ensure community participation in the planning, decisionmaking and development process. Partnering with local community development
corporations is one way to build trust and address broader community development
needs.
Closely partnering with community groups and stakeholders, and opening the
planning and development process to these partners requires anchor institutions to
cede a degree of control over physical development projects. This is made easier by
leadership that frames the role of the institution as a civic leader and community
partner. With a mutually beneficial development agenda, Bridgend institutions would
be better able to create vibrant places for community residents and institutions alike.
Digital Delivery
In the UK, as the Government Digital Strategy explains, digitised transactional
services present a high potential return on investment. There is a strong body of
evidence to support the idea that digital delivery of public services can produce a
service at least as strong as that offered through other channels at a lower unit cost.
For some government services, the average cost of a digital transaction is almost 20
times lower than the cost of a telephone transaction, about 30 times lower than the
cost of a postal transaction and about 50 times lower than a face-to-face
transaction.22 A move to digitising certain public services where the efficiency gains
are large and the service provision still meets the standard will save the public sector
money. However, it must be accompanied with core digital skills programmes to
ensure that residents and businesses can access services digitally. In cases where
service provision is improved then significant social benefits can be realised through
the digitalisation of public services.

Foundational Economy
Wellbeing
Well-being is paramount across all aspects of society and is foundational to any
sound economic strategy. This is acknowledged in Bridgend County with a regularly
22

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-efficiency-report/digital-efficiency-report#fn:1

Page 355

www.bridgend.gov.uk

45

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

updated Well-being plan produced by the Public Services Board – the latest of which
is expected to be released next year. Wellbeing is a broad term that encompasses a
myriad of interconnected aspects of daily life from physical and emotional well-being
to our perceptions of our environment both literally and figuratively. To the strength
of Bridgend County, Bridgend County boasts a strong sense of place and community
which has come across anecdotally from almost all of the stakeholders who have
input to this report.
However, there are significant existing health inequalities with temporary and longterm sick comprising 27.4% of claimant counts. In addition, there is a high
percentage of non-workers who do not want a job (75.6%). Addressing this
structural issue has the dual benefit of improving the welfare of the population and
unlocks these people to join the workforce.

Building on The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Bridgend
revised its Wellbeing objectives for 2020-21;
1) Supporting a successful sustainable economy.
2) Helping People and Communities to be healthier and more resilient.
3) Smarter use of resources.

Health and Social Care
The population of Bridgend County is forecast to grow but primarily through the older
population (65+). Therefore, the distribution of the population will skew more
towards the older population. Thus, it is of paramount importance to ensure that this
economic strategy supports the growing needs of the population through the
provisioning of adequate social support, social care and healthcare. There is already
a known issue of under-staffing in this sector and the council must work with the
college and with existing providers to ensure that a sufficient number of people are
being trained with the skills to enter into and progress within this sector.
Over a longer timeframe, digital connectivity has a large role to play in providing
access to otherwise hard to reach communities whilst reducing the overall costs of
service delivery. Before the Covid-19 pandemic, there was a general reluctance to
embrace the potential of digital healthcare appointments. During the pandemic, the
need to prevent our surgeries and hospitals from becoming contagion points
necessitated the adoption of digital healthcare and revealed its potential. Research
shows that digital healthcare is growingly rapidly. In the US, for example, demand
has increased by over 64 per cent in 2020 and is expected to grow sevenfold by
2025.
The move towards digital healthcare can only be achieved by everyone having
access to good connectivity, and the core digital skills to use it. Without this
cornerstone being in place, a move to digital healthcare would only serve to
exacerbate existing inequalities. This process has begun through the Digital Health
and Care Wales.

Page 356

www.bridgend.gov.uk

46

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Case Study: Digital Healthcare
Before the pandemic, the application of telehealth appointments was already
starting to show its potential to improve health outcomes and save money for the
National Health Service in the UK. Evidence demonstrates that the use of telehealth
in care homes resulted in a fall in infections, and subsequent hospitalisations, by
7.7%. This represented an estimated saving to the NHS of £7.5 million. We now
have an opportunity to scale this impact. Based on an average of approximately 6
million hospital admissions per year in the UK, if telehealth could reduce the number
of admissions by even 5%, the cost-saving to the NHS would be £120 million per
year.

Educational Equality and Online Learning
Remote learning was widely employed throughout the UK’s lockdown period, from
reception aged children up to university-level students. This has served to prove the
viability of online learning on a mass scale and has demonstrated that it has the
potential to increase access to education and training.
As part of cities’ and countries’ recovery packages, online learning has the potential
to support the re-skilling of the labour force. In June, the International Labour
Organisation released figures showing that working hours fell 14 per cent during the
second quarter of 2020 – equivalent to the loss of 400 million full-time jobs. Given
the steep contraction in global working hours and an increase in the population not
working, online learning provides a tangible opportunity for local and regional
economic development initiatives.
As with the case of digitally enabled healthcare and social care, a successful online
learning programme is predicated on equitable and sufficient connectivity to allow all
people to partake in the opportunities it presents (so as not to further entrench
existing inequalities). This is particularly relevant in Bridgend County where both
educational attainment (at a school level) and connectivity are worse in the north of
the borough. Therefore, implementing an online learning programme without first
resolving the issues of connectivity would not effectively benefit the north of the
borough, where intervention has the potential to be most valuable.
Placemaking
Green Spaces
Good quality, accessible green spaces make towns better places to live and work
and for businesses to invest. During lockdown, the importance of accessible green
space in residential centres became increasingly important as these spaces became
a refuge, a place where people can relax, exercise, and socialise. Green features
are a critical part of any town’s green infrastructure network and can provide a high
return on investment, with potential for significant economic, social, and
environmental gains.

Page 357

www.bridgend.gov.uk

47

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Ensuring access to green, walkable streets and spaces can provide several social
and health benefits for the people of Bridgend County and associated cost savings
for public services. Access to green space has been linked to significant physical
and mental health benefits, ranging from reducing levels of blood pressure to
decreasing rates of anxiety and depression; supporting greater productivity,
wellbeing, and creativity in the workplace; and strengthening social cohesion in
communities. Evidence also suggests that the health benefits of living in greener
spaces are higher for disadvantaged communities so urban greening is also an
important tool to reduce inequality.23

A study by Public Health England found that if everyone had access to green
space, £2.1 billion could be saved in health costs per year.24 At the city level, the
study found that in Sheffield, for every £1 spent on maintaining parks, there is a
benefit of £34 in health costs saved. Yet the rate of urbanisation, growing need for
housing and previous patterns of planning and construction have turned large
areas of cities into concrete landscapes with limited access to green spaces. For
example, in the UK, 2.6 million people do not live within a 10-minute walk of green
space.25

Creating attractive green spaces has been proven to draw investment, jobs and
enhance the value of property. For example, the City of Trees Project in Manchester
(UK) has resulted in a 15% increase in revenue for local businesses, as well as
providing the environmental benefits of improving air quality and reducing surface
water flood risk.26
This highlights the importance to Bridgend County of its green spaces and the role
they play in the wellbeing of the community. It is important to protect the vast natural
capital assets that the borough possesses whilst also ensuring that within the towns
and major residential settlements people have access to useable green spaces.

Case Study: Farmers Markets
They are particularly important to lower-income, marginalised and vulnerable
people, providing access to good quality, healthy and affordable fresh food,
opportunities for social and cultural interaction and relatively low-cost and
accessible trading.

23

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
4439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
24 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11252-020-00929-z
25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
4439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
26

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/90
4439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf

Page 358

www.bridgend.gov.uk

48

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

They are an important source of direct and indirect employment and contribute to
local economies. A recent analysis of footfall data nationally by the Institute of Place
Management shows markets have a statistically significant impact on footfall in
towns and cities. Thus, in the context of a shift towards online retailing, markets can
play an important role in the future of the high street.
Bridgend has limited activity in this space, although talks were had to open one in
Bridgend town. The council can encourage placemaking and foster the community
by supporting the development of Farmers Markets

Case Study: Tourism and the Visitor Economy
Tourism The current economic contribution from tourism is vital to Bridgend
County’s economy. According to Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor
(STEAM) figures, the sector brought £347m into the county borough in 2018. This
supported the equivalent of 4,041 full-time jobs. Tourism not only creates jobs in
the tertiary sector but also encourages growth in the primary and secondary sectors
of industry.
The tourism sector is hampered by a lack of key infrastructure, most notably
insufficient accommodation for people to stay overnight, limited breadth of the type
of accommodation available and poor transport connectivity outside of the train into
Bridgend County.
There is also a lack of knowledge of the borough as a tourist destination in the rest
of Wales and further afield. There is a significant economic benefit to solving these
issues and increasing the capacity of the tourism industry in Bridgend County to
support more visitors and move away from a predominantly day-visitor economy.
The economic benefit is due to the multiplier effect of spending. Tourism not only
creates jobs in the tertiary sector but also encourages growth in the primary and
secondary sectors of industry. Deloitte suggests that for £1 increment in GVA at
the UK level, there is likely to be an additional £1.20 generated in the UK because
of this activity due to the impact of supply chain effects. Type 1 multiplier. The
analysis suggests that for a £1 increment in GVA at the UK level, there is likely to
be an additional £1.80 generated in the UK because of this activity due to both
supply chain and consumer spending effects. Type II multiplier

Supporting Culture and the Creative Industries
Bridgend County has the potential for a flourishing creative and cultural sector.
There is already a strong existing sense of community, culture, language, and history
in the area that create a backdrop for a successful cultural environment. The work of
AWEN Cultural Trust as a centralised hub for cultural events and venues provides
strong organisation within the borough. Their work on the refurbished Maesteg
Town Hall will provide an opportunity to host cultural events and shows that the
outlook is strong.
However, there is more that can be done to support the creative sector across the
County. There are a significant number of microbusinesses and freelancers in this

Page 359

www.bridgend.gov.uk

49

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

space. They have been supported through the pandemic by the likes of the Wales
Culture Recovery Freelancer Fund, however, they will need further support as we
move into the recovery phase of the pandemic. There is also further opportunity to
make Bridgend County a place for more and larger cultural events, including building
on existing infrastructure such as the Grand Pavilion in Porthcawl to host a higherlevel of event and the unique opportunity Bridgend has to host international golf
tournaments. A thriving cultural scene will feed into Bridgend County’s Foundational
Economy and contribute to creating a place for people to thrive.
Social Housing
Social housing in Bridgend County is provided (for the most part) by Valleys to Coast
(V2C), the only social housing provider based in Bridgend County. V2C owns or
manages circa 8,000 properties, mostly housing, but including some commercial
properties and garages. V2C see opportunities to collaborate more closely with the
council and other foundational economy and supply chain partners on place-based
development activities (for example on Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan) and
rapidly progressing plans to transition to a low carbon organisation and economy
(working with Bridgend College on retrofit skills, apprenticeships and modern
methods of construction/offsite construction, and with the council to align net-zero
plans/activities where appropriate).

Opportunities
Public Sector
•
•
•
•

Opportunity to increase the value of public sector spending within the borough
by implementing the new council procurement strategy and encouraging other
public sector partners/anchor institutions to do likewise.
Understanding the importance of the public sector as an employer and
feeding that into decision making.
Leveraging the influence of anchor institutions in real estate to have a positive
impact on the community and place.
Identifying where digitising government services can bring value to the
individuals that use them and cost savings for the council.

Foundational Economy
o Using digital services to help meet the needs of the elderly population
and those in need of care.
o Encouraging the use of online learning and democratising access so
that all people can benefit from skills and training.
o Ensuring access for all Bridgend County residents to usable green
space has the potential to greatly increase their health and wellbeing.
o Provision of property and transport infrastructure as well as improved
marketing, could significantly improve the prospects of the tourism
industry and unlock economic activity.

Page 360

www.bridgend.gov.uk

50

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•

Building off the work AWEN does in the cultural space to make Bridgend an
attractive place to host cultural events.
Work with V2C and other housing providers to align on place-based activities
and low carbon strategies.

Strategic Actions
National Level
•
•

Tap into funding for Pandemic Recovery's hardest-hit sectors i.e. Travel &
Tourism, Hospitality, Economic Development funding across Recreation and
hoteling
Encourage the creation of visitor accommodation options that broadly
supports the entirety of Bridgend County and surrounding regions to maximise
the impact of the visitor economy.
o Work closely with the Welsh Government as they implement their
‘Welcome to Wales: Priorities for the Visitor Economy’ strategy.27 Take
advantage of any opportunities through commercial partnerships,
marketing collaborations etc.

Regional/Subregional
•
•

•
•
•

Establish linkages with tourist and activity developments in neighbouring
boroughs to ensure alignment on impact and employment outcomes.
Support the attractions in the Valleys (e.g., Parc Calon Lân and associated
Mountain Bike Trail, Bryngarw Country Park, other Natural Capital assets of
the Valleys etc.) by facilitating their marketing, increasing the capacity to
support visitors and improve the awareness of these attractions in the
borough through reciprocal support.
Work to improve the signage that directs people to Bridgend County and its
visitor attractions.
Work closely with Cardiff Capital Region to ensure alignment on their
programme to support the creative industry.
Work closely with Cardiff Capital Region to understand the supply chain
opportunities available to Bridgend County businesses from their work and
that of other regional initiatives.

Bridgend County Borough and Partners
•
•
•

Fully implement the new procurement strategy and use it to maximise value
retained in the borough from public sector spending.
Upskill both businesses and council employees to be able to efficiently use
the new procurement strategy.
Partner with community groups and stakeholders to open up the planning and
development process when anchor organisations are making big decisions
that could impact the community.

27

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/welcome-to-wales-priorities-for-the-visitoreconomy-2020-to-2025.pdf

Page 361

www.bridgend.gov.uk

51

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•
•
•
•

•

Explore the use of digital healthcare and digitally enhanced social care in the
borough. Quantify the impact it would have, to whom and in what areas.
Work with local educational institutions to understand the role that online
learning can play in reskilling and training people.
Increase/improve signposting to aid awareness and visibility of Bridgend
cultural and tourism attractions.
Support the creation of more accommodation options to increase the capacity
of the area to support staying-visitors.
Support organisations to work together and collaborate with regional/national
organisations to promote Bridgend as a tourist destination.
o Improve access to natural capital resources by identifying suitable
locations and ensuring there is adequate waymarking for facilities such
as toilets, cafes, bike and Stand-Up Paddleboard hire facilities.
o Consider further development of the land near the surf centre in
Porthcawl to offer adventure activity (e.g. indoor rock
climbing/playpark) or cultural (e.g. outdoor theatre) to make use of the
land in a prime location.
o Work with the AWEN Trust to identify opportunities to develop cultural
activities across the area including enhancing walking trails with art,
outdoor theatre, music events, signposting/information boards for
cultural/historical assets of interest, pop-up activities.
Work with V2C to align on place-based activities and low carbon strategies.

Pillar 4: Low Carbon Economy
The development of the low carbon economy and an ever-increasing emphasis on
green infrastructure in the future has created an opportunity for Bridgend County to
upskill its workforce to take advantage of the economic opportunity that this
presents. There are going to be significant economic opportunities to be gained by
regions and economies which take a lead in championing and developing expertise
in low carbon technologies.
What Is Green Infrastructure?
Green infrastructure refers to physical infrastructure with a low carbon footprint.
This can be renewable energy assets; storage (including hydrogen); grid
modernisation, carbon capture and storage technology; building efficiency
retrofits; natural capital investment for ecosystem resilience and regeneration,
including restoration of carbon-rich habitats and climate-friendly agriculture.

Investing in green infrastructure is widely accepted as a critical strategy to lower
emissions, improve public health, and fight climate change. However, green
infrastructure is also an attractive economic investment and can provide places with
the necessary economic engine to spur growth and job creation in the wake of the
pandemic. In September 2019, the Coalition for Urban Transitions reported that
implementing 16 low-carbon investments and measures in cities, including within the
transport, energy, and waste sectors, could provide a collective return on investment

Page 362

www.bridgend.gov.uk

52

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

of $23.9 trillion – equivalent to nearly one-third of the 2018 global GDP. These
measures would also cut global urban emissions by 90% by 2050.
BCBC is leading the way in its response to the challenges of climate change with a
target to achieve a position of net-zero carbon as a public body by 2030. Bridgend
County needs to add to this by leveraging change across the reset of the public and
private sector by focussing on retrofit, energy sourcing and protection of nature.
In this section:
•
•
•
•
•

Low Carbon Economy
Retrofitting
Energy
Travel/Transport
Natural Capital

Retrofitting
The deployment of energy efficiency measures to buildings is a key pillar of any
credible strategy to tackle Green House Gases (GHG) emissions. Investments in
energy-efficient upgrades, commonly referred to as retrofits, have the potential to
deliver long-term socio-economic returns. As such, these measures should also be a
key pillar in post-pandemic recovery strategies. These energy efficiency programmes
can include measures for high-efficiency insulation and building fabric, high
efficiency, low carbon heating, cooling, hot water, lighting systems, rooftop solar
panels and battery storage.28
In addition to the strategic role in reducing GHG emissions, stimulus policies
targeting the building and construction sector often have the greatest economic
impact. Investments have been shown to effectively inject money into local value
chains and labour markets while regenerating the built environment. Building
programmes focused on energy efficiency retrofitting are no exception.
Case Study: Retrofit programmes can contribute significantly to job creation.
Analysis suggests that approximately 60% of expenditure on energy efficiency
upgrades goes towards labour, helping to maintain existing jobs and create new
ones. For example, in the United States between 2009-2011, the Government
launched a stimulus package of USD 11 billion for building upgrade programmes
focused on homes, businesses, government buildings and public facilities. This
programme created 20,000 jobs across the country and, for every dollar invested,
2 dollars were generated in energy cost savings.

Increasing the energy efficiency of buildings can also deliver significant benefits to
citizens’ health and wellbeing. We spend 90% of our time in our homes, workspaces
and other buildings. For many, during Covid-19 the proportion of time spent at home
increased during periods of extended lockdown. The quality of our indoor environment
28

https://www.irena.org//media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Apr/IRENA_Global_Renewables_Outlook_2020.pdf

Page 363

www.bridgend.gov.uk

53

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

can impact our physical and mental health, wellbeing and economic productivity. For
example, cold homes are damaging to both physical and mental health. In London,
evidence suggests that for every £1 invested in renovating cold homes, the NHS saves
42 pence in reduced hospital admissions and GP visits.29
There is a large opportunity here for Bridgend County to build on the existing Re:fit
programme and extend that to nurture a workforce that can effectively meet the
demand for retrofitting homes and position itself as a hub for a skilled workforce in
this space. Bridgend College will be a key player in developing the necessary skills,
however, there are also other training options being piloted in Manchester where a
not-for-profit retrofit service has raised £550,000 in a community share offer to train
3,500 people with the skills to retrofit homes.
Energy
Investing in renewable energy can provide economic stimulus and create jobs. Before
Covid-19, many countries and cities were on a trajectory to shift investment from fossil
fuels to renewable energy. As governments design their recovery packages, there is
a window of opportunity to be more ambitious and scale up these investments.30
Projections indicate that ambitious investment in renewable energy could reap
significant economic rewards. A study conducted by The International Renewable
Energy Association (IRENA) found that if a transformative energy pathway is
taken, based largely on renewable sources of energy and steadily improved
efficiency, it would effectively pay for itself, bringing between a $3-8 dollar return
on every $1 spent. At a global level, taking this transformative approach would
cost $19 trillion more than the current planned energy scenario (based on planned
targets and policies as of 2019) but it would bring benefits of at least $50 trillion by
2050.31

Renewable energy projects are also job intensive. Globally, already more than 11
million people work in the renewable energy sector. IRENA’s study shows that if a
transformative energy pathway is taken 42 million jobs in renewable energy could be
created by 2050. At a city scale, taking London as a case study, an investment of
£500m in renewable energy has the potential to generate an additional 3,500 jobs. In
comparison, analysis shows that fossil fuel-based investment of the same magnitude
would only yield 1,987 jobs.
Bridgend County is already making strides in this space with the Heat Network and
the council's own plan to reach net-zero emissions by 2030 and the Council should
support any Hydrogen initiatives as they emerge. This should be a continued focus
moving forward and Bridgend County must take the learnings from these initial pilot
programmes and expand them across the rest of the borough. There is a great
29

https://www.theade.co.uk/resources/energy-efficiency-in-norwich-south
https://www.irena.org//media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Apr/IRENA_Global_Renewables_Outlook_2020.pdf
31 https://www.irena.org//media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Apr/IRENA_Global_Renewables_Outlook_2020.pdf
30

Page 364

www.bridgend.gov.uk

54

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

opportunity here to work collaboratively with other stakeholders e.g. Bridgend
College, Valley 2 Coast to align on a strategy to achieve this.
Travel/Transport
Investing in green infrastructure is widely accepted as a critical strategy to lower
emissions, improve public health, and fight climate change.
The current infrastructure in Bridgend County inadvertently incentivises car
ownership and use, with limited train routes, poor last-mile bus connectivity and
limited public transport options in the evening and into the night.
There has been progress towards encouraging more sustainable, active travel with a
programme to improve and increase the number of active travel routes in the area
which will help individuals to walk or cycle as an alternative in these particular areas.
However it does not solve the issue for journeys or individuals where that is not
viable, or the active travel network doesn't reach.
There is also progress being made with the Electric Vehicle (EV) infrastructure in the
borough. The council has been awarded £762,000 (Welsh Government – Ultra Low
Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund - £462,000; WLGA – Fleet transition and
related infrastructure charging - £300,000) to invest in the electric vehicle charging
infrastructure in the borough. This complements other developments in this space
including moving the council's vehicles to Electric Vehicles powered by solar panels
and a pilot programme with the Cardiff Capital Region that has made six Electric
Vehicles available for use by taxi operators.
However, the key issues of public transport connectivity, particularly north-to-south
connectivity, last-mile connectivity and night-time connectivity remain key issues and
incentivise unsustainable transport choices. Tackling this could have a massive
impact on reducing car use and encouraging a more sustainable and healthier
lifestyle.
Natural Capital and Biodiversity
Bridgend County is blessed with some fantastic natural capital, which is widely
regarded as one of the areas’ biggest assets. Bridgend County’s natural capital,
which includes valleys to the north of the borough, through the towns in the centre to
the coast at the south, offers a unique opportunity. In particular, there is huge
potential for the area to attract visitors from wider Wales and the rest of the UK, but it
also places an obligation on the council to protect and manage these assets.
The Council has a programme of protecting and enhancing natural capital already in
place. During the autumn of 2021 15,000 trees were planned to be planted in six
different parts of the county borough on council-owned land. As part of the initiative
and to extend this into a community-owned cultural event a special Green Day event
is being planned which will include input from partner organisations, the community
and schools.
The council must continue to protect its natural capital, but there is also a lot more
that can be done to advertise its attractiveness to a wider audience. Currently,
Bridgend County’s visitor economy is skewed towards day visitors and commercial
visitors. This implies that the natural capital of the area is less-known outside of the
borough and less known when compared to neighbouring areas. There is more that

Page 365

www.bridgend.gov.uk

55

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

can be done to market the area as a place to visit to support the local economy,
whilst protecting the natural assets.

Opportunities
•
•
•
•
•

Investing in green infrastructure will have significant economic benefits
alongside taking steps to reduce emissions and the carbon footprint of the
borough.
Appreciating the magnitude of the economic opportunity that the Low Carbon
economy will present in the future and taking steps now to prepare the
workforce for that can set Bridgend County up to be a leader in the future.
Expanding on existing programmes in Retrofitting and Alternative Energies
will position Bridgend County as a leader in this space and create jobs.
Expanding active travel routes and public transport connectivity will incentivise
more sustainable travel methods.
Using the natural capital of the borough to encourage increased visitor activity
and healthy interaction with nature.

Page 366

www.bridgend.gov.uk

56

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Strategic Actions
National
•
•

Align actions with national reports including the Climate Change Committee
‘The Path to a net-zero report’ and the Welsh Government’s ‘Low Carbon
Delivery Plan’
Collaborate on a national scale to ensure efficient use of resources and find
synergies between areas that are trying to achieve the same goal.

Regional/Subregional
•

Collaborate with Cardiff Capital Region to ensure that the development work
in infrastructure, innovation and skills continues to be achieved sustainably.

Bridgend County Borough and Partners
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Identify properties requiring retrofit.
Work closely with the college and other partner organisations to create a
shared long-term strategy for rolling out retrofitting solutions to the wider
borough including a process to ensure the required level of skills is available
in the workforce.
Nurture a strategic renewable energy programme that is cross-cutting across
industry, public and private settings.
Expand the Re:fit Programme to a wider range of buildings.
Identify suitable Hydrogen initiatives as they emerge.
Coordinate net-zero strategies across the borough – including with partner
organisations and non-public sector
Understand the environmental impact of the council (and partner) supply
chain in the push for net-zero.
Encourage movement to zero single-use plastics and increase recycling with
an advocacy campaign.
Accelerate the build-out of active transport routes/infrastructure in the borough
to incentivise physical exercise, and undertake publicity campaigns to
encourage the use of them as alternatives to the car. Investigate opportunities
to promote e-bikes and cargo e-bikes through loan schemes or similar.

Page 367

www.bridgend.gov.uk

57

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Potential Sources of Funding
Bridgend County like many other local authorities will now have to decide which
financing sources and mechanisms to use to fund their strategic recovery and
economic development programmes. There are various forms of financing available
for local and national governments to leverage. Public finance institutions, banks,
institutional investors, corporations, and capital markets all have a crucial role to
play. If local authorities can use this financing to power a sustainable economic
recovery, there is potential to deliver a return on investment that far exceeds the
initial capital outlay, both in the short and long term.

Broad Financing Options
Sustainability Bonds
National governments, and some sub-national governments, can issue green bonds
and social/sustainable bonds to fund projects that have social and/or environmental
benefits. These can be leveraged to finance a broad range of projects from green
infrastructure, renewable energy, green buildings, neighbourhood and public space
development, and affordable housing.
Sustainability-linked bonds are an important avenue of financing that governments
should consider as a means to support a sustainable economic recovery. There has
been rapid growth in the supply of sustainability-linked bonds in recent years to fund
green and social projects in urban areas, be it renewable energy, local carbon
transport, neighbourhood regeneration or social housing. In 2019, over $200 billion
worth of green bonds were issued worldwide, setting a new global milestone.
As of 2020, a new breed of sustainability bonds - coronavirus bonds – have also
entered the market to finance Covid-19 response and recovery projects. To date,
well over $60 billion Covid-19 bonds have been issued worldwide, and estimates
indicate that this figure could reach $100 billion by the end of 2021.

Case Study: Some UK cities and local authorities are already taking advantage of
sustainability-linked bonds to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic. For example,
West Berkshire Council issued the UK’s first local government green bond, raising
£1 million to fund solar power projects, urban tree planting and nature conservation
projects. A group of 30 local councils are planning to follow suit and aim to issue
three collective bonds through the UK Municipal Bonds Agency, with a total
projected value of at least £750 million.32
Public Sector Financing
Public sector financing includes UK and Welsh national government support,
including intergovernmental transfers in the form of direct grants, subsidies, lowinterest loans, and/or various forms of credit enhancements. When available,
32

https://www.iisd.org/sustainable-recovery/news/financing-a-sustainable-recovery-uks-first-localgovernment-green-bond/

Page 368

www.bridgend.gov.uk

58

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

governments should also exploit existing financial instruments put in place in cases
of crisis, including contingency funds/ reserves and lines of credit. This will include
the funding sources in the Levelling up White Paper published in February 2022.
Private Sector Financing
Private sector financing is generally perceived to be more expensive because it
almost always involves at-risk equity capital. Also, unlike public sector financing, the
risks underlying the investments are fully manifested as risk premiums in the
financing costs of both the equity and debt capital.
Public-Private Partnerships
Public-Private partnerships are generally long-term contracts created between
governments and the private sector for the provision or construction of a public asset
or service. The private party generally bears significant risk and management
responsibility and remuneration is linked to performance.
International Financial Institutions
Public sector development banks and development finance institutions that are
owned by one or more national governments can provide lower interest loans and
grants. IFIs have become important sources of large-scale investment, particularly
for green and social impact investing. This year, the Council of Europe Development
Bank set up a new facility – the Green Social Investment Fund – to finance projects
which demonstrate a positive social impact and a contribution to climate action.
Brownfield Recycling
Brownfield recycling involves leveraging existing public infrastructure or land assets
by leasing or selling them to the private sector and using the proceeds to fund new
infrastructure projects. This could provide significant revenue to fund new green
infrastructure projects, free from repayment obligations.
Credit Enhancements and other Leveraging Tools
Most of these tools are intended to decrease the risk and increase the liquidity of
overall investments. Low-interest subordinated loans and standby contingent credits
are often provided by national governments or by IFIs to help reduce risks to
investors and allow cities to borrow at lower interest rates.
Examples include:
•
•
•
•

Taxes and user charges.
Certificates of Potential Additional Construction (CEPAC) bonds, which can
leverage private investment in neighbourhood upgrading through a process of
rezoning and construction permit auctions.
Crowdfunding for small projects.
Local Government Funding Agencies as a multi-city pooled approach.

Crowdfunding
Crowdfunding is a great tool for empowering communities to propose ideas and
projects that can create change on a local level, raise awareness of social

Page 369

www.bridgend.gov.uk

59

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

challenges and inspire communities to participate and engage with local projects and
get involved!
It can provide a mechanism for communities to be public decision-makers and
engage with citizen-led change; to take the lead on implementing ideas or projects
that could benefit local communities and build communities that they and other
people want to live in and be a part of.

Financing Examples
Grants
•
•

•

The Local Digital Fund aims to help local authorities implement the Local
Digital Declaration by funding digital skills training and projects that address
common local service challenges in common, reusable ways.
Enabling Natural Resources and Well-being Fund. ENRaW supports the
development and delivery of projects that make clear links between improving
the resilience of our natural resources and well-being. The well-being benefits
span economic, social, environmental, and cultural well-being. The grant
supports projects that involve cross-sector cooperation and collaboration in
their delivery.
Innovation Funds & Vouchers e.g. from Business Wales, UK Government and
UK Research and Innovation.

Community-based Crowdfunding Platforms
•

•

Spacehive is a civic-crowdfunding platform and is the UK's dedicated platform
for 'places' specifically focusing on supporting projects that make local places
better. Spacehive links projects to local councils, businesses and grantmakers
willing to fund them. Spacehive operates an 'all-or-nothing' model, meaning
that if a financial target is not hit, none of the pledges from the crowd are
collected.
Crowdfunder is the UK’s No. 1 rewards-based platform convening personal,
community, business and commercial projects in one place. Extra funding can
be accessed from their creative and culture, community and social enterprise,
innovation, business and local authority partners. Crowdfunder offers two
options; all or nothing or keep what you have raised.

Example Crowdfunding Projects
•
•

•

Exeter Bike Workshop: A team of bike mechanics and employment specialists
in 2017, successfully crowdfunded to enable homeless and excluded
individuals back into work.
Pop–Up Compost successfully raised funds in their local community to help
raise more awareness about the benefits of composting food waste on their
estate thus reducing the amount going into landfills, offering a community
composting space and providing nutrient-rich soil to local urban gardeners.
Mill Hill East Community crowdfunded for a community garden, their aim to
bring the community together in a shared, open, nature-filled space.

Page 370

www.bridgend.gov.uk

60

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

•
•

Outdoor Learning through Greenwood Construction was backed by the crowd
to support the young people, not fitting into a traditional educational system, to
gain practical skills to use hand tools, woodwork and learn about teamwork.
Street-Factory United fundraised to open a community venue for all young
people to attend dance programmes to ‘feel physically, mentally and spiritually
safe – & free to express, respect and learn together’.

Financing Recommendations
Whilst all funding options should be considered, the following are suggested as
priority areas to seek funding:
•

•
•
•

•

The recent Levelling Up White Paper and the subsequent confirmation of
funding details, we expect that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund will be a major
source of funding for Bridgend County’s ambitions to improve communities
and place, people and skills, and support local business.
Bridgend Council should seek to access Levelling Up funds, in collaboration
with the Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital Region.
National/regional funds from the Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital
Region may provide funding for specific projects, including digital
infrastructure; innovation; protecting natural capital etc.
The increase in the prevalence of Sustainability Bonds in recent years
provides a real opportunity for Bridgend Council to access funding, particularly
as they look to expand on their existing projects in retrofitting, electric vehicles
and alternative energies. Similarly, the new UK Infrastructure Bank is a timely
source of funding as Bridgend Council looks to expand its public transport
infrastructure throughout the borough.
On a micro-scale, the example of projects such as the Bike Workshop in
Exeter serves to show the value that innovative solutions backed by the
community (crowdfunding) can bring to solving real social problems.

Page 371

www.bridgend.gov.uk

61

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Governance Model
An economic strategy Governance Model needs to balance democratic
accountability with agility and good process, whilst ensuring that appropriate
stakeholder input is sought and heard. Success in this vital element of strategy
execution will ensure that delivery of the economic strategy commands widespread
business and community support, and balances requirements for business growth
with community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and ecological health.

Current Situation
There is already a Bridgend Economic Recovery Taskforce, established in June
2020 to advise the council on economic actions to address economic challenges
related to the Covid-19 pandemic33.

Bridgend Economic Recovery Taskforce
Designed to help the local economy recover following several months of Covid-19
lockdown and deliver long–term benefits, the plans are based on the Welsh
Government’s ‘Unlocking Our Society And Economy’ framework and are firmly
focused on the core themes of business and the economy, transport, digitalisation
and the public realm and natural environment.
With significant input from the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, they set out
structured options for helping the county borough emerge from the current
restrictions, with a new economic engagement programme and a specific ringfenced budget, the Economic Futures Fund, in place to support the task force’s
activities and aims.34

There is also the wider-ranging Bridgend Public Services Board, comprised of
Bridgend County a group of public sector and not for profit organisations who work
together to create a better Bridgend County Borough (membership of the PSB35).
Whilst the PSB could become the vehicle for a new economic strategy governance
model (perhaps via a sub-committee), it is felt that the infrequency of the meeting
could slow down decisions on economic development, and the lack of broad
business sector representation could lead to a disconnect between the business
sector and public sector elements of the economy. Nevertheless, given its broad
remit, it will be important for the PSB to be regularly updated/consulted and have an
opportunity to input to the governance of the economic strategy.
However, there is an opportunity for the Bridgend Economic Recovery Taskforce to
evolve into a broader Economic Partnership Board. The membership of this panel
(currently only BCBC Councillor / Officer panel) would be significantly broadened to

33

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s21826/Recovery%20Planning%20from%20Covid19%20Cabinet%20Report%20June%202020.pdf
34 https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/plans-for-new-economic-task-force-approved/
35 https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/working-together/bridgend-public-services-board/

Page 372

www.bridgend.gov.uk

62

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

include representatives of the business community and other key stakeholders in the
ongoing evolution of the Bridgend County economy.
There also already exists a vibrant business community body, namely the Bridgend
Business Forum, which has a membership of over 1000 small and large businesses
from across Bridgend. It is suggested that the BBF should be invited to participate in
the governance of the execution of the Bridgend County Economic Strategy, to
ensure the ongoing representation of local businesses.

Proposed Economic Strategy Governance Model
A two-tier governance model is proposed, with one tier being advisory, and one as
the decision tier, as represented in the following diagram:

It is proposed that to enable timely responses to the rapidly changing external
economy and economic pressures/shocks, the Bridgend Economic Partnership
Board (BEPB) would meet initially on a bi-monthly basis, potentially moving towards
a quarterly meeting schedule as appropriate (once Covid-19, Brexit and climate
change considerations allowed). It is further proposed that to take into consideration
a wide range of stakeholder views and gain the greatest value from the BEPB, it is
formed and operated on the principles of co-production:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Recognising people as assets.
Building on people's capabilities.
Developing two-way, reciprocal relationships.
Encouraging peer support.
Blurring boundaries between delivering and receiving services.
Facilitating rather than delivering

This would require representatives of communities to be involved alongside the
stakeholder interest groups that are traditionally involved in such bodies.

Page 373

www.bridgend.gov.uk

63

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

To deliver (and maintain over time) a co-production approach, it is suggested that
the BEPB is facilitated by someone skilled in co-production techniques. A broader
source of expertise in this area is the Co-production Network for Wales36.
The remit of the BEPB would be explicitly focussed on balancing requirements for
business recovery/growth with community wellbeing, environmental imperatives and
ecological health, and recommending short-, medium- and longer-term actions to
address these.
The council already has well-established governance models for programme
execution in the existing Programme Board model. It is proposed that this model,
along with the existing council Scrutiny Committee be employed to ensure
democratic oversight, decision making and accountability for decisions that will affect
the communities, businesses and the natural environment for many years hence.
Typically, council programme boards are comprised of representatives from key
council departments, are chaired by the relevant council cabinet member or director,
and report into the council cabinet and corporate management board (CMB).

36

https://copronet.wales

Page 374

www.bridgend.gov.uk

64

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Summary of Strategic Actions for Bridgend County Borough
Council and Partners
This economic strategy has set out evidence-based analysis of the economy of
Bridgend County Borough, along with strategic actions that BCBC and partners can
take to deliver structural improvements to the economy.
These actions will address underpinning weaknesses and challenges in the local
economy, and optimise the positive outcomes for businesses, communities and the
natural environment from existing, planned and potential future economic
development initiatives.
This section presents a summary of the key actions, along with KPIs and data that
will enable progress to be measured.

Governance and Oversight of the Economic strategy
It is strongly recommended that, at the earliest possible stage, a suitable governance
model is confirmed, and the necessary structures put in place that will enable broad
stakeholder involvement delivering ongoing economic development initiatives, and
ensure appropriate democratic oversight by elected representatives.
A recommended model for the governance approach is included in this strategy
which will need to be confirmed by the council. This entails establishing a Bridgend
Economic Partnership Board (BEPB).
One of the first tasks of the BEPB will be to prioritise strategic actions to provide
direction and focus on the implementation of the economic strategy.

Economic data
This strategy and the accompanying data report identify key data sets that will be
useful for monitoring economic progress in Bridgend County Borough.
It is recommended that the BCBC Economic Development Team put in place the
appropriate processes to collect and analyse these data, establishing new data
sources where needed. This will enable tracking and reporting on progress across
the range of recommended economic initiatives.

Page 375

www.bridgend.gov.uk

65

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 1: Capacity Building and Workforce Development
What is the challenge for Bridgend County and the BCBC?
The challenge facing Bridgend County and the BCBC is the need to ensure that the
workforce of the County has the skills and training to tackle the existing issues in the
labour market and prepare the workforce for the future as the demand for skills
changes.
The parallel challenge for BCBC is to ensure that the business environment and
infrastructure is created and maintained at a high level so that Bridgend Borough
businesses can thrive and the County is an attractive place for people to set up and
relocate businesses.

Why is this of importance?
This is important for the economy of the County as it addresses a structural weakness
in the economy bringing more people into employment and creating a skilled workforce
that will be able to find employment, both now and in the future, and therefore increase
their levels of personal prosperity and also that of the County at large. A thriving
business environment will provide the employment backdrop for this to take place.

What action should be taken to tackle this?
The actions that should be taken are summarised in the table below. The key actions
revolve around the need to identify the key skill gaps in the workforce, both now and
future gaps, and ensure that the infrastructure is in place for people to access relevant
training; creating strong business infrastructure through a supply of commercial
properties, high-quality digital connectivity and transport infrastructure; and utilising
the size and spend of the Public Sector to support the local supply chain economy.

Which partners are required to do this?
There are several key partners that BCBC will need to work with to achieve these
goals. Most important amongst them will be the existing business community within
the County to understand and support businesses appropriately and the college and
training/apprenticeship providers to ensure that the workforce has adequate
opportunities to get the necessary skills.

What data needs collecting?
The key datasets to record are summarised below. A combination of survey and
quantitative data will be required to fully understand the impact of actions. Notable
datasets to track include the business death/birth numbers and rate, changes to
business sizes by turnover/employee numbers and the inactivity rate amongst the
Bridgend County workforce,

Page 376

www.bridgend.gov.uk

66

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 377

Pillar 1: Business Support and Workforce Development Summary Table

Area of importance
Business and
employment growth

Challenge/Opportunity
Attracting new business into
the area

Resilience to
external shocks

Preventing serious damage
to businesses from the
pandemic

Business and
employment growth

Action
Create thriving digital, physical and
commercial infrastructure with a skilled
workforce to make Bridgend County an
attractive place to do business.

KPI and Data
New business registrations by
industry

Dataset
Business Demography,
Office for National
Statistics

Continue to support businesses financially
through Grants/Funding as they deal with
the impact of the pandemic

Business closures by industry

Business Demography,
Office for National
Statistics

Encourage growth of
businesses

Engage with the business community on an
ongoing basis to identify barriers to growth
and opportunities for expansion

Business Turnover

Inter-Departmental
Business Register

Bridgend County
business
community

Business and
employment growth

Ensure that business
success is translating to
employment opportunities
for local people

Encourage the business community to
employ local and to buy local

Number of Employees

Inter-Departmental
Business Register

Bridgend County
business
community

Capacity building

Lack of commercial
properties for businesses

Build off the work of the LDP and the
Masterplan to facilitate the growth of
commercial premises across the borough

Business premises by business
rate bands

Business Rates
database

Developers
(including BCBC),
Housing
Associations

Capacity building

Lack of working spaces for
flexible working

The developments ongoing across the
borough must include provisions for flexible
working space.
Assess the existing council property stock
for appropriateness as a co-working space.

The number of new commercial
mixed-use properties + that
also support flexible workspace
i.e. hot desks

New - commercial
property database

Developers
(including BCBC),
Housing
Associations

www.bridgend.gov.uk

67

With Whom?
Transport
providers,
network
operators, CCR
and Welsh
Government
The Welsh
government, UK
government

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 378

Area of importance
Job growth
associated with
Low-Carbon

Challenge/Opportunity
The low-carbon economy
will create a massive
employment opportunity

Action
Partner with the college and key partners in
industry to facilitate the expansion of
training courses and apprenticeships in key
low carbon industries

KPI and Data
Training programmes in the
low-carbon sector - number and
uptake

Dataset
New - training programme
database

With Whom?
Bridgend College,
Bridgend County
Business
Community

Supporting Supply
Chain Businesses

Public sector spending is not
efficiently retained in the
local area

List of businesses in the
borough and keep updated

New - borough business
register

N/A

Supporting Supply
Chain Businesses

Public sector spending is not
efficiently retained in the
local area

Improve the Council's knowledge of the
businesses in the borough for use in
upskilling/training them in working with the
council and being able to reach out to
them/provide names to a subcontractor on
new projects.
Keep records of % spending retained in the
borough to measure improvement over time

Record the % of public
spending being retained by
Bridgend businesses

New - public Sector
spending tracker database

N/A

Capacity building
and employment
growth

Ensure people in the area
have the skills to meet the
jobs

Act as facilitator and disseminator of
information to partners on the preparedness
of the Bridgend population for the work
available.

Job Vacancies and the
unemployment rate

Labour Force Survey,
Office for National
Statistics

Capacity building
and employment
growth

Ensure that the County stays
on top of emerging indemand skills and that the
college and employers are
providing training for these
skills
Skills shortages in key areas

Work with key partners to ensure that the
training and skills programmes remain up to
date with the latest changes to skills
demand

Survey of most In-Demand
Skills from Bridgend
Businesses. Annual review of
changes in skills demand
nationally.

New - in-demand skills
survey data

Bridgend County
Business
Community and
Foundational
Economy Partners
Bridgend County
Business
Community and
Foundational
Economy Partners

Working with key partners including the
college and in industry to use the identified
in-demand skills to inform training
programmes and apprenticeships etc.

The number of businesses
offering
reskilling/upskilling/apprentices
hips

New - business survey
data

Bridgend College,
Bridgend County
Business
Community

Long-term out-of-work and a
lack of basic employment
skills

Work with stakeholders to increase the
‘skills for life’ levels of adults through
facilitating training programmes

Economically inactive rate

Office for National
Statistics

Bridgend College,
DWP, Training
Providers

Capacity building
and employment
growth
Capacity building
and employment
growth

www.bridgend.gov.uk

68

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 2: Digital and Physical Connectivity
What is the challenge for Bridgend County and the BCBC?
The challenge is that the County suffers from a lack of both digital and physical
connectivity infrastructure. There is still a significant portion of the County that does
not have access to broadband speeds that meet the Universal Service Obligation. The
public transport in the County does not provide adequate service to the communities
in the valleys nor does it support the night-time economy by running services into the
evening to key towns.

Why is this of importance?
This is important for businesses in the area, to enable communities to thrive and for
the wellbeing of the population. Businesses in areas that are poorly connected or that
are industries within the evening/night-time economy are having demand for their
business restricted as people are not able to confidently access it by public transport.
Further, both poor digital and physical connectivity increase the isolation of
individuals/communities. This impacts both their ability to access employment and
their wider wellbeing and involvement in the wider community of the region.

What action should be taken to tackle this?
The key actions are to work with partners to deliver a high-quality digital service to the
whole borough and to extend public transport services both to geographies where they
currently underserve and to later times to support business.

Which partners are required to do this?
A collaborative approach with CCR, national government and network providers is
required to have the digital needs of Bridgend County prioritised. The key partners to
increase the public transport provision are the transport providers active in the areas,
particularly the bus companies.

What data needs collecting?
BCBC needs to track the quality of connectivity to the borough both on an overall level
and by sub-region within the borough. To understand the success of an extension of
public sector transport, usage of new services data should be coupled with both
anectodical or quantitative data on the uplift to businesses in areas that are made
accessible through the extended provisions and by survey data of the communities
that were isolated previously to understand the wellbeing improvement from the
additional services.

Page 379

www.bridgend.gov.uk

69

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 380

Pillar 2: Connectivity and Infrastructure Summary Table

Area of importance
Business and
employment growth

Challenge/Opportunity
11.4% of the borough still
receives under 10Mbps
which is below the USO

Action
Work with CCR, national government and
network providers to ensure that the
people of Bridgend County have their
USO met.

KPI and Data
Number of households who
receive a minimum threshold of
10Mbps

Dataset
Connectivity Data, House
of Commons Library

With Whom?

Business and
employment growth

Digital connectivity
inequality across the
borough exacerbates
economic inequality

Work with CCR, national government and
network providers to ensure that the
people of Bridgend County have their
USO met.

Track the level of digital
connectivity against the Indices of
Multiple Deprivation

CCR, Welsh
Government,
Network
Providers

Business and
employment growth

Poor digital infrastructure
holds back business
performance

Work with CCR and national government
to ensure a forward-looking view that
encompasses 5G and Full Fibre rollout to
economic centres

Measure the progress of 5G and
full-fibre roll-out to key economic
centres in the borough
(Employment Land, Bridgend
Town, Maesteg Town)

New - geographical
connectivity (House of
Commons Library) and
Index of Multiple
Deprivation (UK Gov)
Connectivity
Data, House
databases
of Commons Library

Business and
employment growth

Poor support of the nighttime economy

Work with transport partners to extend
train/bus times into the evening

New - public transport and
usage data (transport
providers)
New - business survey
data

Transport
providers, CCR

Business and
employment growth

Poor bus connectivity to the
valleys

Work with transport partners to extend
bus journeys and frequency into less
connected areas.

The number of extended train/bus
times and the general uptake of
fairs
Increase in footfall/restaurant
bookings etc. in towns with
extended bus connection
The number of buses and the
usage numbers. Survey locals to
understand the impact that this
has on them.

Transport
providers, CCR

Accelerating the
shift to low carbon
personal transport

Prepare for the
electrification of personal
vehicles

Continue the rollout of EV charging
infrastructure across the borough

New - public transport and
usage data (transport
providers)
New - business survey
data
New - Electric Vehicle
Infrastructure rollout (EV
Installers)

www.bridgend.gov.uk

EV charging ports usage over
time

70

CCR, Welsh
Government,
Network
Providers

CCR, Welsh
Government,
Network
Providers

Electric Vehicle
Charging Point
Installers

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 381

Area of importance
Accelerating the
shift to low carbon
personal transport

Challenge/Opportunity
Improve County’s support
for active travel

Action
Continue the rollout of active travel routes.
Work with business partners to
understand use cases e.g. Rockwool

KPI and Data
Cycling – anecdotally, what does
commuting by bike look like in
terms of take-up?

Dataset
New - wellbeing survey
data

With Whom?

Accelerating the
shift to low carbon
personal transport

Electrification of the travel
infrastructure

Work with transport partners to ensure
plans to move to an electric/renewable
fleet

Monitor the share of
journeys/vehicles of public
transport that are electric

New - electrification of
public transport database
(transport providers)

Transport
providers,
Vehicle Providers

www.bridgend.gov.uk

71

Infrastructure
developers,
property
developers

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 3: The Foundational Economy and the Role of the Public
Sector
What is the challenge for Bridgend County and the BCBC?
To ensure that the spending from the Council, partners and anchor organisations is
being optimised to impact the local economy and businesses as best as possible.
The challenge for the Council is also to ensure that the wellbeing of the population is
a factor and a priority in decision-making and that economic decision-making is
appropriately influenced by the need to provide a healthy and thriving community
and environment.

Why is this of importance?
The size, scale and reach of both the Public Sector and the Foundational Economy
in the County Borough are large. Due to this, they play is significant role n the lives
of residents, both as major employers but also as providers of services that are
fundamental to the lives of citizens. The Public Sector and Foundational Economy
are therefore both important in that they reach the lives of everyone in the County
and are key to their wellbeing, as well as having significant economic importance.

What action should be taken to tackle this?
A programme should be run to educate businesses on the size and merit of the
opportunity of working with the Public Sector. As part of this businesses should be
trained in the best practice involved in working with the Public Sector and the
Council. This should be done alongside collecting an updated list of businesses that
can be provided to contractors who can then employ Bridgend Businesses in their
supply chain.
The Council should also investigate the potential to move both council and social
care services online to improve the efficiency of their delivery.
There should also be a concerted effort to focus on the cultural offering of the area,
encouraging cultural events, use of the natural capital and wider community activities
and to market this broader image of Bridgend County to encourage longer-stay
visitors.

Which partners are required to do this?
This can be achieved through working with businesses and contractors to improve
the amount of council and wider public sector spending that is retained in the
borough. Further work with social care providers, Awen and other cultural event
providers and the visitor/marketing sector will be necessary to encourage cultural
activity and improve the marketing of the County.

What data needs collecting?
A record of the Council/wider public sector contracting spend and the percentage of
that which is retained in the borough will help identify progress over time. BCBC
should also track the regularity and uptake of cultural events as well as use STEAM
data to track the share of visitors to the area for overnight stays.

Page 382

www.bridgend.gov.uk

72

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 383

Pillar 3: The Foundational Economy and the Role of the Public Sector Summary Table
Area of importance
Supporting Supply
Chain Businesses

Community and
individual wellbeing

The efficiency of
public service
delivery

The efficiency of
public service
delivery

Challenge/Opportunity
Ensure Public Sector
procurement benefits the
local economy and
communities
Leverage the influence
that the anchor
organisations have to
improve the well-being of
the population
Digitising government
services

Digitising social care

Action
Fully implement the BCBC 2021
Socially Responsible Procurement
Strategy

KPI
Record the % of public
spending being retained by
Bridgend County
businesses
N/A

Dataset
New - Public
Spending database

With Whom?
N/A

N/A

Communities

Assess the extent of existing digitised
council services

Internal review of existing
council services

Communities

Identify the most appropriate areas of
the council's functions for
digitalisation. Assess each area of
council operations and identify the
possibility of digitisation.
Assess the extent of existing digitised
social care services

Survey uptake of different
government services if they
were digitised

New - share of
council services
digitised
New - wellbeing
survey data

Social care
providers,
communities

Identify the most appropriate areas of
social care functions for digitalisation.
Assess each area of social care
operations and identify the possibility
of digitisation.

Survey uptake of digital
social care services/survey
social care providers on
preference for digitising
some services

New - share of
care services
digitised (care
providers)
New - wellbeing
survey data
Connectivity Data,
House of
Commons Library

Assess the connectivity levels of the
locations where social care is
delivered

Connectivity assessment of
locations within the borough

Include a community feedback
element in any major decisions by
anchor institutions especially
concerning location

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Review of existing social
care service provision

73

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 384

Area of importance
Capacity building
and employment
growth

Challenge/Opportunity
Online training
programmes

Action
Work with College and other
education partners to facilitate
courses being available online
Identify gaps in connectivity or device
ownership that might be barriers to
online learning amongst prospective
users

KPI
% of training programmes
that are available online
(either as digital-first or
recordings of in-person
training)
Connectivity assessment of
locations within the borough
Survey of the learner
population

Community and
individual wellbeing

Greenspace

Prioritise green space in urban
planning decisions

Community and
individual wellbeing

Cultural events

Monitor access to and attendance at
cultural events

Business and
employment growth

Tourism is over-reliant on
day visitors

Business and
employment growth

Bridgend County is
perceived to be poorly
advertised outside of the
County

Encourage more longer-term visitors
by improving connectivity,
encouraging accommodation through
redevelopment and marketing the
area better
Review the reach and effectiveness
of marketing of the area outside of
the County. Establish an approach
for improving external marketing.

www.bridgend.gov.uk

% of Bridgend population
that consider that they have
good access to green space
/ % who use green space
regularly
Record the number of
events/tickets sold in the
borough over time to see
the impact that
redevelopment of Maesteg
Town Hall/Porthcawl plus
the increase in transport
connectivity has on the
cultural wellbeing of the
population
Measure the % of visitors
that are day visitors over
time and % of visitors that
stay overnight
Measure the % of visitors
that are day visitors over
time. Measure reach and
effectiveness of marketing
campaigns outside the
County.

74

Dataset
New - share of
training
programmes
available online
(College and
training providers)
New - wellbeing
survey data
Connectivity Data,
House of
Commons Library
New - wellbeing
survey data

With Whom?
Bridgend
College,
Bridgend County
Business
Community,
Training
Providers

Developers,
Natural
Resources Wales

New - event data
(event providers)

Event providers
and venues,
Awen

STEAM data

Developers,
Transport
Providers,
Network
Providers, CCR
Marketing
Agencies

STEAM data and
marketing reach
data

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Pillar 4: The Low Carbon Economy and the Natural Environment
What is the challenge for Bridgend County and the BCBC?
The Low-Carbon economy is forecast to expand significantly in the future. This will
provide a large employment opportunity for the borough and the workforce. To take
advantage of this economic opportunity the workforce will be required to be highly
skilled in key skill areas.
Further, there is a wider obligation for BCBC (on behalf of all residents, businesses
and visitors) to encourage sustainable practices amongst its population and to
protect the environment and natural capital that falls under its jurisdiction.

Why is this of importance?
BCBC already has a strong commitment to reducing carbon emissions and the
County is a leader in several aspects of renewable energy and other low carbon
sectors.
The additional economic importance is that this sector is poised to expand
significantly as the urgent need to tackle these issues proliferates to the highest
levels of government. There will therefore be huge job opportunities and large
amounts of spending available for those who are poised to be able to complete this
work.

What action should be taken to tackle this?
BCBC should work closely with the college to identify the key sectors that are likely
to expand in the near future e.g. retrofitting insulation, boilers/energy sources and
ensure that the correct training and provisions are available for the Bridgend County
population to become skilled in these areas.
BCBC also need to work with stakeholders such as Natural Resources Wales to
ensure that the correct decisions are being made to protect the Natural Capital
across the County.

Which partners are required to do this?
Key partners to deliver these actions will be the college, industry partners, training
providers and specialist organisations such as Natural Resources Wales with
expertise in environment and biodiversity.

What data needs collecting?
BCBC will need to track the properties in the County that require retrofitting to
facilitate the process for both the environmental and employment benefit.

Page 385

www.bridgend.gov.uk

75

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Page 386

Area of importance
Reducing carbon
emissions

Reducing carbon
emissions

Challenge/Opportunity
Properties will be required
to be retrofitted with
insulation

Properties will be required
to be retrofitted with
renewable energy
sources

Reducing carbon
emissions

Encourage more
sustainable travel habits

Business and
employment growth

Bridgend County is not
widely recognised for its
natural capital compared
to similar local areas
Protect and enhance the
natural environment

Improvements in
environment and
biodiversity

Action
Identify properties requiring retrofit.
Work with the college and key
stakeholders e.g. V2C to ensure
sufficient people are being trained in
these skills
Identify properties requiring retrofit.
Work with the college and key
stakeholders e.g. V2C to ensure
sufficient people are being trained in
these skills
Continue to expand active travel,
work with the transport companies to
improve frequency and interconnectivity of public transport
modes and continue the rollout of EV
charging infrastructure across the
borough
Improve the marketing of the area's
natural capital

KPI
% of identified properties
with retrofitted insulation
over time

Dataset
New - property
database

% of identified properties
with renewable energy
sources over time

New - property
database

Measure the proportion of
the population regularly
using public transport,
active travel routes and
electric vehicles

New - Public
transport use
database
(transport
providers),
wellbeing survey
data
New - marketing
reach and tourism
survey data

Survey - share of visitors
who include natural capital
as a reason for the visit

Build on the existing programme to
protect and enhance the natural
capital in the borough

www.bridgend.gov.uk

With Whom?
Bridgend
College,
Bridgend County
Business
Community,
Housing
Associations
Bridgend
College,
Bridgend County
Business
Community,
Housing
Associations
Transport
providers, CCR

Marketing
Agencies

Natural
resources Wales
and other
environmental
partners

76

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Concluding Remarks
Bridgend County Borough has many assets that make it an attractive place to live,
work and do business. Its strong sense of community and identity, coupled with a
fantastic range of natural resources, provide the background for a thriving community
and a strong sense of wellbeing.
However, as discussed throughout, there are key points where Bridgend County falls
below its economic potential. This strategy has attempted to identify these key
points by providing a background into the issues that are apparent in the area and a
rationale on how those issues are holding back the economic potential of Bridgend
County. It has then endeavoured to address these and proposed recommendations
on how to approach tackling these issues.
In summary, actions should be focussed on 4 key areas:
•
•
•
•

Business Support and Workforce Development
Connectivity and Infrastructure
Public Sector and the Foundational Economy
The Low Carbon Economy.

These 4 pillars for economic development have been identified as the areas that
could have the biggest impact on the Bridgend County economy and which target
the key barriers and economic challenges that are currently holding it back.
By addressing each of these 4 areas, Bridgend County can build on the existing
economic strengths to develop a sustainable future economy for the county borough,
with a population that is thriving and businesses that have the infrastructure and
support to succeed.

Page 387

www.bridgend.gov.uk

77

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Appendix 1
Key datasets
Theme

Source

Population and Age

Welsh Government and Office for National Statistics

Demographics

Office for National Statistics

Migration Flows

Office for National Statistics

Economic Activity (Overall)

Office for National Statistics

Economic Activity by Age

Local Labour Force Survey

Economic Inactivity (Breakdown)

Office for National Statistics

Industry Type

Annual Population Survey

Job Type (Breakdown)

Business Register and Employment Survey

Occupation Type (Gender Split)

Labour Force Survey

Job Density

Office for National Statistics

Business Turnover

Office for National Statistics

Business Size (Employees)

Inter-Departmental Business Register

Business Size (Turnover)

Inter-Departmental Business Register

ILO Unemployment Rate

Labour Force Survey

Long Term Sick

Office for National Statistics

JSA

Office for National Statistics

Claimants by Age

Office for National Statistics

Claimants by Type

Department for Work and Pensions

Workless Households

Annual Population Survey

Workless Households by area

Department for Work and Pensions

50+ Working Population

Labour Force Survey

Earnings Annual

Office for National Statistics

Earnings Weekly

Office for National Statistics

Hours Worked

Office for National Statistics

Education

Welsh Examination Database and Pupil Level Annual
School Census

Qualifications

Annual Population Survey

Year 11 Leavers

Careers Wales

GCSE A-Level

Annual Population Survey

Schools

Pupil Level Annual School Census

Wellbeing Measure

Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

Health and Social Care

Office for National Statistics

Commuting

Annual Population Survey

Page 388

www.bridgend.gov.uk

78

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Theme

Source

Commuting (detail)

Annual Population Survey

Travel and Access

WIMD travel indicators

Digital

Parliament Commons Library

House Prices

Office for National Statistics

Household Tenure

Office for National Statistics

Household Composition

Office for National Statistics

Property Construction

Welsh Government

Renewable Energy Sites

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy

Renewable Energy Capacity

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy

Renewable Energy Generation

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy

Risks and Priorities

Climate Change Committee Risk Assessment

Recycling

Info Base Cymru

Carbon Emissions

Info Base Cymru

Reports and Literature Informing the Economic Strategy
Theme

Report

Broad Sources – UK Government

Grand Challenges: Policy Paper
Industrial Clusters Challenge
Build Back Fairer

Broad Sources – Welsh Government

Future Wales National Plan 2020
The Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015
Evaluation of the SE Wales Community Economic
Development Programme
Wales 4.0 Delivering Economic Transformation for a
Better Future of Work
Cardiff City Region
Swansea City Region Deal

Broad Sources - Bridgend County Borough

BCBC Annual Report
Bridgend Local development plan
Bridgend Country Borough Profile 2017, 2018 and 2019
Better Bridgend Purpose, Vision and Priorities 2021
Bridgend Corporate Plan reviewed for 2021 and 1-page
summary
Strategic Equalities Plan

Economic background

BCBC Economic Evidence Base Study 2019
BCBC Economic Evidence Base Update 2021
Unemployment etc

Page 389

www.bridgend.gov.uk

79

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Theme

Report
Skills survey results 2019
Advanced skill shortages
Advanced skill shortages
Employment
Commuting stats
Nomis Unemployment Data
Employability/Economic Outcome Data
Welsh European Funding Office Framework for Regional
Investment in Wales Report 2020 - Economic Analysis
Appendix
Chief Economists Report 2020
PSL Presentation (internal-use only)
Economic Intelligence Wales Quarterly Report September 2020
KPMG UK Economic Outlook Report June 2020
Atlas of Deprivation
Prosperity and Placemaking Report, No Place Left Behind
Dasgupta Review on Economics of Biodiversity

Wellbeing

Bridgend Wellbeing Statement
Impoverished community rank
Bridgend County Wellbeing Plan
BCBC Well-being of Future Generations
Communities Dashboards
Wales Centre for Public Policy Briefing on Wellbeing
(COVID and Brexit)
Wales Centre for Public Policy Briefing on Wellbeing
(Cultural)
ONS Wellbeing Data
Bridgend Public Services Board Wellbeing Assessment
Report 2017
WELLBY Report
More In Common Report
Future Trends Report
Ageing well in Bridgend

Sustainability

Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy
A systems approach for delivering net-zero
Welsh Government Prosperity for all: a low carbon Wales
Carbon Trust BCBC Carbon Footprint Report (internal-use
only)

Page 390

www.bridgend.gov.uk

80

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Theme

Report
Dasgupta Review on Economics of Biodiversity
Decarbonising Welsh Homes Report 2018
Kmatrix, Low Carbon Status Report
Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience
Climate Change Committee - Wales National Summary
Climate Change Committee - The Path to a Net Zero
Wales

Business Support

ONS businesses size and type
Economic Services for Businesses
Business Survey - Initial Results

Public Sector

Bridgend Procurement Strategy and Delivery Plan
Welsh Government Ethical Supply Chains
Welsh Procurement Community Benefits Policy
Welsh Procurement Community Benefits Policy Report
Welsh Government New Procurement Landscape
Welsh Government Supplier Guidance
Welsh Government Social Value Paper
Procurement Benefits Measurement Tool - Core
Procurement Benefits Measurement Tool - Non-Core

Natural Capital and Placemaking

Bridgend Local Development Plan
Bridgend Local Development Plan Proposal Map
Bridgend Local Development Plan Consultation Document
Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Bridgend Council Vision Brainstorm results
SoNaRR Report 2020
Welsh Government Building Better Places
Prosperity and Placemaking Report, No Place Left Behind
Natural Resources Wales, South Central Wales Area
Our Valleys, Our Future Delivery Plan 2019
Spirit of Llynfi Woodland

Visitor Economy

Bridgend Destination Management Plan and Action Plan
2018 and Evidence Base Review 2018
Tourism profile of South-East Wales

Wales Transport Strategy 2017 and 2021
Beaufort Research Report on Visitor Survey 2019
Beaufort Bedstock Audit 2021
Steam Visitor Summary Reports

Page 391

www.bridgend.gov.uk

81

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy Report

Theme

Report
Outdoor Pursuits Report 2010
Rural Tourism Report 2009
Welsh Government Tourism profile reports on South East
Wales and by Local Authority
Afan Valley Outdoor Resort Application 2018
Map of Accommodation in Bridgend County
Visit Bridgend website and other

Active Travel and Transport

Wales Transport Strategy
National Assembly Wales Future Development of
Transport for Wales 2019
South Wales Metro

Property

South Wales RSL Partnership Affordable Housing Report
2019
Welsh Government Reimagining Social Housing in Wales
2020
Decarbonising Welsh Homes Report 2018
Housing Market Assessment, 2009
Housing Summary Measures Analysis 2016
Local Housing Strategy 2016-18
Bridgend County Borough Council Local Housing Market
Assessment Update 2021
Bridgend Social Housing Stock in 2015
Bridgend Rents
Bridgend Common Housing Register as at 04-11-15

Digital

BCBC Digital Strategy
Connectivity
OfCom Connectivity Report:
Bridgend Broadband availability profile ppt
Broadband Communications in Wales Briefing Paper
Connected Nations Report 2019 and 2020
Digital Communications Infrastructure Wales Report 2020
Openreach planned rollout
Q1 2021 Update on Wales BT Broadband Rollout
National Assembly Wales Digital Infrastructure in Wales
2017
National Infrastructure Commission for Wales Digital
Communications Infrastructure in Wales 2020

Page 392

www.bridgend.gov.uk

82

Bridgend County Borough Council

Economic Strategy for
Bridgend County Borough:
Data Report

Created By:

Perform Green Limited,
in collaboration with BCBC Economic Development Team

Date of issue:

Page 393

1 February 2022

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Contents
Introduction & Purpose of Data Report ......................................................................... 3
Context........................................................................................................................... 3
Local Development Plan ............................................................................................ 3
Business Engagement ............................................................................................... 4
Datasets Informing the BCBC Economic Strategy ....................................................... 7
Reports and Literature Informing the Economic Strategy ............................................ 8
Key Findings ................................................................................................................ 13
Introduction to Bridgend .............................................................................................. 14
Population ................................................................................................................ 14
Economy ...................................................................................................................... 17
Unemployment ......................................................................................................... 20
Inactivity ................................................................................................................... 21
Young People .......................................................................................................... 26
Earnings and Hours ................................................................................................. 29
Business Support ..................................................................................................... 30
Education ..................................................................................................................... 32
Connectivity ................................................................................................................. 36
Digital Connectivity .................................................................................................. 36
Commuting ............................................................................................................... 39
Public Sector and Foundational Economy.................................................................. 41
Public Sector ............................................................................................................ 41
Foundational Economy ............................................................................................ 42
Low Carbon Economy ................................................................................................. 46
Monitoring the Economic Strategy Implementation: Datasets to Track ..................... 48

Page 394

www.bridgend.gov.uk

2

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Introduction & Purpose of Data Report
During 2021, Perform Green were commissioned to research and develop an
Economic Futures package on behalf of, and in collaboration with Economic Strategy
for Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC).
This data report is a comprehensive review of existing research, evidence, and
published datasets reviewed as part of the development of an Economic Strategy for
BCBC. It provides an evidence-based account underpinning the strategy
development, providing context for and informing the Economic Strategy, its focus
areas and recommendations.
Firstly, it looks at the complementary work that has been done on the Local
Development Plan and the Bridgend Business Engagement Programme.

Context
Local Development Plan
This data report and the strategy report which it informs both sit alongside and
complement the work that has already gone ahead in the borough, in particular
relating to the Local Development Plan. The Local Development Plan (LDP)
contains a comprehensive analysis of the key national and regional issues relevant
to the Bridgend Borough. As this data report sits in tandem with the work of the
Local Development Plan, many of these issues are also relevant to the Bridgend
Economic Strategy. The work of the Local Development Plan has also played a role
in influencing the key pillars included in the Economic Futures Strategy report and
therefore it is valuable to understand the issues highlighted in the LDP.
The Local Development Plan identifies the key role that the local towns play as
regional hubs of employment and services. Equally the plan highlights the
comparative difficulties of the valleys and the economic and social challenges that
they face. These challenges can be tackled by developing adequate housing with
sustainable transport links to the larger settlements to facilitate access to jobs and
services.
Another key facet emphasised in the LDP is the need for good provision of local land
for employment. This issue also came across clearly in the stakeholder interviews
that were conducted as part of the economic strategy development, and is a key
underpinning element of the business development and capacity building in the
economic strategy.
Protecting and enhancing wellbeing is a key component of both the LDP and the
economic futures strategy. It is apparent from all sources that this is a crucial focus
for the borough and that all recommendations for economic growth and development
should be considered through a lens of the wellbeing of the people of the borough.
Both the LDP and the Economic Strategy align with the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Page 395

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

https://gov.wales/well-being-of-future-generations-wales
A final issue identified in the LDP that is a key part of the Economic Strategy is a
focus on the climate emergency and ensuring that economic decisions for Bridgend
are guided by a commitment to reducing emissions and contributing to preventing a
climate catastrophe. The LDP highlights the need for the borough to contribute to
meeting the national goals for renewable and low carbon energy generation and to
make all new homes net zero. The Economic Futures Strategy outlines key ways
the borough can achieve this including a significant focus on ensuring the workforce
has the skills to deliver a low-carbon future for Bridgend.
The LDP identifies the need to grow and diversify the borough’s visitor economy
beyond the predominant day visitor economy that it currently serves. This is a key
issue that has been prominent in both our stakeholder research and data analysis
and is an area highlighted for growth in the Economic Strategy.

Business Engagement
In June 2020, a Bridgend Economic Recovery Taskforce was established to advice
the council on economic actions to address economic challenges related to the
Covid-19 pandemic.
Bridgend Economic Recovery Taskforce
Designed to help the local economy recover following several months of Covid-19
lockdown and deliver long–term benefits, the plans are based on the Welsh
Government’s ‘Unlocking Our Society And Economy’ framework and are firmly
focused on the core themes of business and the economy, transport, digitalisation
and the public realm and natural environment.
With significant input from the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, they set out
structured options for helping the county borough emerge from the current
restrictions, with a new economic engagement programme and a specific ringfenced budget, the Economic Futures Fund, in place to support the task force’s
activities and aims.
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/news/plans-for-new-economic-task-force-approved/

Page 396

www.bridgend.gov.uk

4

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Business Grants
During the COVID pandemic, BCBC economic development team have established
and administered a range of business support grants, to help business survive.
These included:
•
•
•

Economic Futures Fund
(https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/business/funding/economic-futures-fund/)
Economic Resilience Fund
(https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/business/funding/economic-resilience-fund/)
Business Development Funding
(https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/business/funding/business-developmentfunding/)

Below is a summary of the grants that BCBC have administered over the duration of
the COVID pandemic. In total the council has administered over £4million worth of
grants.
Name of fund

Number of Applicants
Paid

Start Up Grant

73

Cultural Freelancer

104

Childcare Provider

2

Local Lockdown Discretionary

496

Restrictions Discretionary

610

Restrictions Extension

555

Economic Resilience Fund
(Combined)

168

Kick Start Grant

46

Business Start-up Fund

45

Business Survey
Over the spring/early summer of 2021 BCBC undertook a survey of businesses in
the borough to understand the challenges that they are facing and assess the impact
on the business environment of both COVID and leaving the European Union. Over
2,000 businesses were invited to participate and the link to the survey was publicly
available on the Council website. In total 349 responses were recorded from a broad
cross-section of industries.
A large proportion of businesses had been significantly impacted by the COVID
pandemic and subsequent restrictions. At the time of the survey 32% had started
trading again after being forced to stop for a while and a further 22% remained
closed but had intention to start trading again. A small percentage (2%) stated that
they had either already permanently ceased trading or had paused but without
intention to restart. Related to this situation the most common concern for
respondents was cash flow, a reflection of reduced trading in the months leading up

Page 397

www.bridgend.gov.uk

5

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
to the survey. The next 2 most common concerns were also related to COVID;
finding new customers and sales, and government restrictions.
There was significant evidence that the business support that the council and
national government had provided had been taken-up by local businesses. 43% of
respondents had had support from BCBC in the last 12 months with a further 22%
having had support from the Welsh Government in the same period. The majority of
this support was in the form of financial support and funding.
The survey provided insight into the skills that businesses were lacking and their
attitude towards training. Respondents identified that computer skills, social media
and marketing were the most common skills needed for the future. Similarly,
businesses identified marketing skills, computer literacy/basic IT and specialist IT
skills as the 3 most common areas for training currently. The significance of this is
highlighted by the fact that 57% of respondents did not trade online either through a
website or on social media. Of the respondents 25% stated they would benefit from
training (the majority of the 75% stated it wasn’t relevant for their business) and 42%
would like more information on potential training.
There was also good traction with businesses for supporting a Kickstart employment
programme for 16–24-year-olds. 17% could offer a Kickstart placement and a
further 23% would like more information.
The survey data were used to complement other qualitative stakeholder data to
inform the development of the Economic Strategy.

Page 398

www.bridgend.gov.uk

6

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Datasets Informing the BCBC Economic Strategy
Theme

Source

Population and Age

Welsh Government and Office for National
Statistics

Demographics

Office for National Statistics

Migration Flows

Office for National Statistics

Economic Activity (Overall)

Office for National Statistics

Economic Activity by Age

Local Labour Force Survey

Economic Inactivity (Breakdown)

Office for National Statistics

Industry Type

Annual Population Survey

Job Type (Breakdown)

Business Register and Employment Survey

Occupation Type (Gender Split)

Labour Force Survey

Job Density

Office for National Statistics

Business Turnover

Office for National Statistics

Business Size (Employees)

Inter Departmental Business Register

Business Size (Turnover)

Inter Departmental Business Register

ILO Unemployment Rate

Labour Force Survey

Long Term Sick

Office for National Statistics

JSA

Office for National Statistics

Claimants by Age

Office for National Statistics

Claimants by Type

Department for Work and Pensions

Workless Households

Annual Population Survey

Workless Households by area

Department for Work and Pensions

50+ Working Population

Labour Force Survey

Earnings Annual

Office for National Statistics

Earnings Weekly

Office for National Statistics

Hours Worked

Office for National Statistics

Education

Welsh Examination Database and Pupil Level
Annual School Census

Qualifications

Annual Population Survey

Year 11 Leavers

Careers Wales

GCSE A-Level

Annual Population Survey

Schools

Pupil Level Annual School Census

Wellbeing Measure

Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

Page 399

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Theme

Source

Health and Social Care

Office for National Statistics

Commuting

Annual Population Survey

Commuting (detail)

Annual Population Survey

Travel and Access

WIMD travel indicators

Digital

Parliament Commons Library

House Prices

Office for National Statistics

Household Tenure

Office for National Statistics

Household Composition

Office for National Statistics

Property Construction

Welsh Government

Renewable Energy Sites

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial
Strategy

Renewable Energy Capacity

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial
Strategy

Renewable Energy Generation

Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial
Strategy

Risks and Priorities

Climate Change Committee Risk Assessment

Recycling

Info Base Cymru

Carbon Emissions

Info Base Cymru

Reports and Literature Informing the Economic Strategy
Theme

Report

Broad Sources – UK Government

Grand Challenges: Policy Paper
Industrial Clusters Challenge
Build Back Fairer

Broad Sources – Welsh Government

Future Wales National Plan 2020
Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015
Evaluation of the SE Wales Community Economic
Development Programme
Wales 4.0 Delivering Economic Transformation for a
Better Future of Work
Cardiff City Region
Swansea City Region Deal

Broad Sources - Bridgend County Borough

BCBC Annual Report
Bridgend Local development plan
Bridgend Country Borough Profile 2017, 2018 and
2019

Page 400

www.bridgend.gov.uk

8

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Theme

Report
Better Bridgend Purpose, Vision and Priorities 2021
Bridgend Corporate Plan reviewed for 2021 and 1page summary
Strategic Equalities Plan

Economic background

BCBC Economic Evidence Base Study 2019
BCBC Economic Evidence Base Update 2021
Unemployment etc
Skills survey results 2019
Advanced skill shortages
Advanced skill shortages
Employment
Commuting stats
Nomis Unemployment Data
Employability/Economic Outcome Data
Welsh European Funding Office Framework for
Regional Investment in Wales Report 2020 - Economic
Analysis Appendix
Chief Economists Report 2020
PSL Presentation (internal-use only)
Economic Intelligence Wales Quarterly Report September 2020
KPMG UK Economic Outlook Report June 2020
Atlas of Deprivation
Prosperity and Placemaking Report, No Place Left
Behind
Dasgupta Review on Economics of Biodiversity

Wellbeing

Bridgend Wellbeing Statement
Impoverished community rank
Bridgend County Wellbeing Plan
BCBC Well-being of Future Generations
Communities Dashboards
Wales Centre for Public Policy Briefing on Wellbeing
(COVID and Brexit)
Wales Centre for Public Policy Briefing on Wellbeing
(Cultural)
ONS Wellbeing Data
Bridgend Public Services Board Wellbeing
Assessment Report 2017
WELLBY Report
More In Common Report
Future Trends Report

Page 401

www.bridgend.gov.uk

9

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Theme

Report
Ageing well in Bridgend

Sustainability

Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy
A systems approach for delivering net zero
Welsh Government Prosperity for all: a low carbon
Wales
Carbon Trust BCBC Carbon Footprint Report (internaluse only)
Dasgupta Review on Economics of Biodiversity
Decarbonising Welsh Homes Report 2018
Kmatrix, Low Carbon Status Report
Biodiveristy and Ecosystem Resilience
Climate Change Committee - Wales National
Summary
Climate Change Committee - The Path to a Net Zero
Wales

Business Support

ONS businesses size and type
Economic Services for Businesses
Business Survey - Initial Results

Public Sector

Bridgend Procurement Strategy and Delivery Plan
Welsh Government Ethical Supply Chains
Welsh Procurement Community Benefits Policy
Welsh Procurement Community Benefits Policy Report
Welsh Government New Procurement Landscape
Welsh Government Supplier Guidance
Welsh Government Social Value Paper
Procurement Benefits Measurement Tool - Core
Procurement Benefits Measurement Tool - Non-Core

Natural Capital and Placemaking

Bridgend Local Development Plan
Bridgend Local Development Plan Proposal Map
Bridgend Local Development Plan Consultation
Document
Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan
Bridgend Council Vision Brainstorm results
SoNaRR Report 2020
Welsh Government Building Better Places
Prosperity and Placemaking Report, No Place Left
Behind
Natural Resources Wales, South Central Wales Area
Our Valleys, Our Future Delivery Plan 2019
Spirit of Llynfi Woodland

Page 402

www.bridgend.gov.uk

10

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Theme

Report

Visitor Economy

Bridgend Destination Management Plan and Action
Plan 2018 and Evidence Base Review 2018
Tourism profile of South-East Wales

Wales Transport Strategy 2017 and 2021
Beaufort Research Report on Visitor Survey 2019
Beaufort Bedstock Audit 2021
Steam Visitor Summary Reports
Outdoor Pursuits Report 2010
Rural Tourism Report 2009
Welsh Government Tourism profile reports on South
East Wales and by Local Authority
Afan Valley Outdoor Resort Application 2018
Map of Accommodation in Bridgend County
Visit Bridgend website and other
Active Travel and Transport

Wales Transport Strategy
National Assembly Wales Future Development of
Transport for Wales 2019
South Wales Metro

Property

South Wales RSL Partnership Affordable Housing
Report 2019
Welsh Government Reimagining Social Housing in
Wales 2020
Decarbonising Welsh Homes Report 2018
Housing Market Assessment, 2009
Housing Summary Measures Analysis 2016
Local Housing Strategy 2016-18
Bridgend County Borough Council Local Housing
Market Assessment Update 2021
Bridgend Social Housing Stock in 2015
Bridgend Rents
Bridgend Common Housing Register as at 04-11-15

Digital

BCBC Digital Strategy
Connectivity
OfCom Connectivity Report:
Bridgend Broadband availability profile ppt
Broadband Communications in Wales Briefing Paper
Connected Nations Report 2019 and 2020
Digital Communications Infrastructure Wales Report
2020
Openreach planned rollout

Page 403

www.bridgend.gov.uk

11

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Theme

Report
Q1 2021 Update on Wales BT Broadband Rollout
National Assembly Wales Digital Infrastructure in
Wales 2017
National Infrastructure Commission for Wales Digital
Communications Infrastructure in Wales 2020

Page 404

www.bridgend.gov.uk

12

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Key Findings
Some of the headline findings in this data report are listed below. These provide
insight into some of the most critical and important conclusions drawn from the data.
A number of these have been key in influencing the content of the economic
strategy.
Population and demographic changes
•

The population distribution of Bridgend is expected to get older over time. In
particular the proportion of the population that is 65 or older will increase over
the next 20 years.
Labour Market
•

Bridgend’s labour market has strengths and weaknesses. The unemployment
rate is low showing that people are ablet to find work. However, the inactivity
rate is high which shows that there is a large proportion of the population that
is out-of-work and not actively looking.
• The inactivity rate is partly driven by a high level of long-term sick population.
• Young people have a higher claimant rate in Bridgend than the Welsh
average and the inactivity rate has recently increased.
Business
•

The public sector is a large economic player in Bridgend. It employs a large
portion of the workforce and is a major consumer of goods and services.
• Within the private sector the wholesale and retail industry is a major industry
in the borough.
Connectivity
•

Over 10% of the borough does not have the 10Mbps Universal Service
Obligation level of digital connectivity.
• There is a high degree of digital inequality within the borough.
Wellbeing
•

Specific areas within the borough rank highly on the index of multiple
deprivation.
• A significant proportion of the population have physical issues.
Low Carbon
•

Progress on renewable energy has been more limited in recent years.

Page 405

www.bridgend.gov.uk

13

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Introduction to Bridgend
Population
Bridgend has a population of c. 150,000 people. Bridgend’s population distribution
reflects a standard story from across Wales. Bridgend has a similar proportion of its
population that are aged 0-15. Bridgend differs from the Welsh average as it has a
slightly lower proportion of 65+ year olds, and correspondingly a slightly higher level
of 16–64-year-olds.

Bridgend - Population and Age
100,000

90,000
80,000

Population

70,000

60,000
50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
-

2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 2028 2030 2032 2034 2036 2038 2040 2042
0-15

16-64

65+

Sources: Office of National Statistics and Welsh Government
Notably, in the Welsh Government population forecasts, the Bridgend population is
expected to grow but the vast majority of that growth will be in the 65+ population.
This is the population which will contain a high percentage of retired people. In
comparison the number in the young population (0-15) and the bulk of the working
age population (16-64) will remain relatively stable over the same period. Therefore,
by the 2040s it is forecast that the population will be more skewed towards the 65+
age group and retirees.
Bridgend’s demographic by ethnicity make-up has been relatively consistent over the
last 20 years. The vast majority of Bridgend citizens identify as White with only a
small single digit percentage falling outside that categorisation. Although the overall
numbers remain low there has been significant growth in the share of the population
identifying as mixed/multiple-ethnic-group and Asian/Asian British.

Page 406

www.bridgend.gov.uk

14

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Demographic Breakdown by Ethnicity
Other ethnic group

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Asian/Asian British

Mixed/multiple ethnic group

% White

-

20.0

40.0
2011

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

2001

Source: Office for National Statistics
Bridgend has a net positive migration flow which indicates that more people are
moving into the area than are leaving. Split by age group, the net impact is largest
across the age 30-44 range – a key demographic for the local workforce. The
positive net migration is significant as a proportion of the outward migration. The
total net migration of 766 is 23.5% of the 4,024 outward migration.

Page 407

www.bridgend.gov.uk

15

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Methyr Tydfil Outward migration
Methyr Tydfil Inward migration
Methyr Tydfil Net migration
RCT Outward migration
RCT Inward migration
RCT Net migration

Cardiff Outward migration
Cardiff Inward migration
Cardiff Net migration
Vale of Glamorgan Outward migration
Vale of Glamorgan Inward migration
Vale of Glamorgan Net migration
Bridgend Outward migration
Bridgend Inward migration
Bridgend Net migration
Neath Port Talbot Outward migration
Neath Port Talbot Inward migration
Neath Port Talbot Net migration
Swansea Outward migration

Swansea Inward migration
Swansea Net migration
-5000
Aged 0 to 14 1314

0

5000

Aged 15 to 29 5188

10000

Aged 30 to 44 1653

15000
Aged 45 to 64 4309

20000

25000

Aged over 65 402

Source: Office for National Statistics

Page 408

www.bridgend.gov.uk

16

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Economy
The Bridgend economy has several key industries as shown below. Firstly, the
below graph indicates that the public sector is a significant employer in the borough.
According to the Annual Population Survey the public sector (public administration,
defence, health, and education) employs 31% of the Bridgend employed population.
In addition to the Public Sector, the area has some key private sector industries.
The most significant employer is the Wholesale, Retail, Transport, Hotels and Food
industries which employ 26% of the population.
The Business Register and Employment Survey also shows a similar breakup of the
Bridgend economy by industry. In their survey the biggest industries in the borough
are Public Administration and Defence, Manufacturing and Wholesale and Retail
Trade.
The data from the Annual Population Survey is supported by the outputs from the
Business Engagement Survey where 23% of respondents where in the Wholesale
and Retail sector.
This data also highlights the importance of the Visitor Economy with associated
industries employing a significant number of people in both the Annual Population
Survey (Wholesale, Retail, Transport, Hotels and Food) and the Business Register
and Employment Survey (Wholesale and Retail Trade/Accommodation and Food
Service Activities).

Page 409

www.bridgend.gov.uk

17

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Bridgend (2019)

Agriculture Forestry and Fishing
Realestate Activities
Production

Professional scientific and technical activities; administrative and support service activities
Construction
Public Administration, defence, education and health
Wholesale, Retail, Transport, Hotels and Food
Other service activities

Information and Communication
Finance and Insurance Activities

Source: Annual Population Survey

Page 410

www.bridgend.gov.uk

18

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Bridgend

Mining And Quarrying
Manufacturing
Electricity, Gas, Steam And Air Conditioning Supply
Water Supply; Sewerage, Waste Management And Remediation Activities
Construction
Wholesale And Retail Trade; Repair Of Motor Vehicles And Motorcycles
Transportation And Storage
Accommodation And Food Service Activities
Information And Communication
Financial And Insurance Activities
Real Estate Activities
Professional, Scientific And Technical Activities
Administrative And Support Service Activities
Public Administration And Defence; Compulsory Social Security

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey

Page 411

www.bridgend.gov.uk

19

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Unemployment
The data shows that Bridgend’s workforce has some underlying structural issues,
namely: high levels of inactivity, long-term sickness and young people leaving formal
education with no qualifications.
Nevertheless, an initial assessment of the unemployment rate in Bridgend indicates
a healthy labour market. The unemployment rate increased significantly because of
the financial crisis (2007-2009) and remained at that high level as it developed into a
world recession. However, since 2013/14 the unemployment rate has been
consistently dropping and the latest data in 2019/20 indicated the unemployment
rate was now below the levels in 2004/05.
Further the unemployment trend in Bridgend County has broadly followed the Welsh
average trend, therefore suggesting Bridgend is not faring worse than other areas of
Wales.

Unemployment Rate
10

Unemployment Rate (%)

9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Bridgend

Wales

Source: Labour Force Survey
This trend is supported by the data on the percentage of the working population that
is claiming Job Seekers Allowance. Job Seeker Allowance claimant percentage
shows the proportion of the population who is out of work but seeking work (and in
doing so are eligible for Job Seeker Allowance). The data shows a massive increase
in the rate between April and November 2008 as the impact of the financial crisis and
worldwide recession was felt. The rate remained high until 2013 where the trend of
decreasing levels of claimants begun and has continued until the latest data in
September 2021. The JSA claim rate since 2019 has been at very low levels.

Page 412

www.bridgend.gov.uk

20

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Job Seeker Allowance Claimant Rate
5
4.5

JSA Claimant Rate %

4
3.5
3
2.5
2

1.5
1
0.5

Sep-21

Feb-21

Jul-20

Dec-19

Oct-18

May-19

Aug-17

Mar-18

Jan-17

Jun-16

Nov-15

Apr-15

Sep-14

Jul-13

Feb-14

Dec-12

Oct-11

May-12

Aug-10

Mar-11

Jan-10

Jun-09

Apr-08

Nov-08

Sep-07

Jul-06

Feb-07

Dec-05

May-05

Oct-04

0

% of all population

Source: NOMIS Web

Inactivity
However, the data shows that Bridgend does have a relatively large population of
people who are not in work, but who are also not looking for work, and therefore are
outside of the official unemployment rates. Unemployment rates measure the
percentage of the population that is out of work but who is actively looking for work.
In that way it can be used as a measure of the health of an economy as it shows the
failure of the economy to provide jobs to those who would want one.
However, not everyone who is out-of-work falls under the category of ‘unemployed’
and therefore in the unemployment rates. This group is called the economic
‘inactive’ group. Commonly this is understood to be the case for retired individuals
who are no longer working but they do not feature in the unemployment statistics as
they are not looking for work. Students are another common group in this category.
There are a number of other reasons why a person may be out-of-work but not
looking for employment, in Bridgend’s case there is a large portion of the population
that are long-term sick.
This population falls under an ‘inactive’ categorisation. The opposite of the
economic inactivity rate is the economic activity rate. According to the Office of
National Statistics Bridgend’s overall economic activity rates have consistently been
below the Welsh and UK average since the start of 2017 (asides from the start of
2020) showing that the workforce of Bridgend is less likely to be economically active
than elsewhere in Wales and the wider UK.

Page 413

www.bridgend.gov.uk

21

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
There was a significant drop in the economic activity rate in Bridgend in 2016-17 that
took the area from above the Welsh average to significantly below. It has remained
below up until the beginning of 2020. The Bridgend activity rate numbers show more
vulnerability to fluctuations than the Welsh average (partly due to smaller numbers).

Economic Activity Rate
80

Economic Activity %

78
76
74
72
70
68
66
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Bridgend

Wales

United Kingdom

Source: Office for National Statistics
In the second half of 2020 the Bridgend economic activity rate decreased
significantly. This decrease is best explained by the impact of the Covid 19
pandemic and related restrictions on the economy. The impact of Covid can be seen
in both the UK and Welsh numbers, however the drop has been notably less
significant. This suggests that the impact of Covid has been felt by the Bridgend
economy more than the average across both Wales and the UK.
By age demographic the impact on the economic activity rate has been most
significant for the young person demographic. The activity rate for 16–24-year-olds
in Bridgend has fallen from 65-70% in the period 2018-20 to 42.7% in the period
2020/21. This stands in stark comparison to both the trend in 16–24 year-olds for
the Welsh and UK average and the other age groups within Bridgend.

Page 414

www.bridgend.gov.uk

22

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Economic Activity Rate

Rate % Rate %
ActivityActivity
Economic
Economic

80

Economic Activity Rate amongst 16-24 year olds

79
80
78
70
77
76
60
75
50
74
40
73
30
72

71
20
70
10

Mar Jun

0

Sep

Dec Mar Jun

2016
2016/17

Sep

Dec Mar Jun

2017

Sep

Dec Mar Jun

2018

2017/18

Dec Mar Jun

2019

Bridgend2018/19 Wales
Bridgend

Sep

Wales

Sep

2020

2019/20

2020/21

UK

Source: Local Labour Force Survey
Assessing the breakdown of the inactive population gives insight into the causes of
this level of inactivity. Within the inactive population Bridgend has a higher
proportion of its inactive population that fall under ‘Long-Term Sick’ and ‘Looking
After Family/Home’ definitions than the comparative Welsh and GB averages.
Breakdown of Inactive Population

Bridgend

Wales

Great Britain

Student

7.1%

6.8%

6.2%

Looking After Family/Home

6.5%

4.0%

4.2%

Temporary Sick

N/A

0.4%

0.4%

Long-Term Sick

8.4%

7.1%

5.1%

Discouraged

N/A

0.1%

0.2%

Retired

3.5%

3.3%

2.9%

Other

2.9%

2.8%

2.6%

Overall

28.9%

24.6%

21.6%

Source: Office for National Statistics

Page 415

www.bridgend.gov.uk

23

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Breakdown of Inactive Population
30%

Inactivity Rate %

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%
Bridgend

Wales

Great Britain

Student

Looking After Family/Home

Temporary Sick

Long-Term Sick

Discouraged

Retired

Other

Source: Office for National Statistics
Focusing in on the Long-Term sick population within the inactive group gives us an
insight into the causes of the higher rate of inactivity. The Long-Term sick population
has historically been a factor in the Bridgend workforce with the Bridgend levels of
Long-Term sick significantly higher than the Wales and GB averages from 2004
(earliest the ONS data is available) to the beginning of the pandemic. This is a key
group of the population as they represent those who are out of work indefinitely and
are not looking for work – indeed c.80% of the population that are long-term
unemployed do not want a job.

Page 416

www.bridgend.gov.uk

24

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Long Term sick as share of Economically Inactive
50
45

Long Term Sick %

40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5

Jan 2004-Dec 2004
Jul 2004-Jun 2005
Jan 2005-Dec 2005
Jul 2005-Jun 2006
Jan 2006-Dec 2006
Jul 2006-Jun 2007
Jan 2007-Dec 2007
Jul 2007-Jun 2008
Jan 2008-Dec 2008
Jul 2008-Jun 2009
Jan 2009-Dec 2009
Jul 2009-Jun 2010
Jan 2010-Dec 2010
Jul 2010-Jun 2011
Jan 2011-Dec 2011
Jul 2011-Jun 2012
Jan 2012-Dec 2012
Jul 2012-Jun 2013
Jan 2013-Dec 2013
Jul 2013-Jun 2014
Jan 2014-Dec 2014
Jul 2014-Jun 2015
Jan 2015-Dec 2015
Jul 2015-Jun 2016
Jan 2016-Dec 2016
Jul 2016-Jun 2017
Jan 2017-Dec 2017
Jul 2017-Jun 2018
Jan 2018-Dec 2018
Jul 2018-Jun 2019
Jan 2019-Dec 2019
Jul 2019-Jun 2020
Jan 2020-Dec 2020
Jul 2020-Jun 2021

0

Bridgend %

Wales %

Great Britain %

Source: Office for National Statistics
This higher level of inactivity can be seen in the overall numbers on Workless
Households. The Annual Population Survey shows that 17.3% of households in the
borough were workless. This compares favourably to the Welsh average, but it is a
much higher level than the British average. Note that this is all workless households
and therefore will include households of retirees etc.
Household

Bridgend

Wales

Great Britain

Number of Workless Households

7,600

178,200

2,854,000

Percentage of Households that are Workless

17.3%

18.4%

13.9%

Source: Annual Population Survey
This only tells part of the story of workless households in the Bridgend County
Borough. The data on household worklessness by Local Authority Ward within
Bridgend shows that the spread of this worklessness is unequal by geography.
According to data from the Department of Work and Pensions in areas such as
Caerau the split between workless and working households is close to 50:50,
whereas at the opposite end of the spectrum an area such as Bryncethin would have
a closer to 80:20 split in favour of working households. There are issues with some
of the data points in the Department of Work and Pensions package and it does not
line up to the Annual Population Survey but as a standalone data point, it evidences
the inequality between different geographies within the borough.

Page 417

www.bridgend.gov.uk

25

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Young People
Young people in Bridgend are a key demographic whose economic outcomes are
lower in Bridgend compared to their counterparts in the rest of Wales. The chart
below shows that students at Year 11 age are more likely to find themselves Not in
Education, Employment or Training (NEET). This means that a higher percentage of
Bridgend students are immediately entering into the unemployed population after
education and therefore have a higher propensity to subsequently enter the
economically inactive population.
This story is supported by the Bridgend County Wellbeing Report which notes the
high level of young adults in NEET after year 13, despite good schools in the area,
and relatedly that there is a concern about the lack of employment opportunities
locally for young people (Source: Bridgend County Wellbeing Report).

Share of Y11 students who become NEET
3
2.5

NEET %

2
1.5
1
0.5
0
Year 11
Bridgend

Wales

Source: Careers Wales

Page 418

www.bridgend.gov.uk

26

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
This is further reflected in the percentage of the young population that are on the
ONS Claimant Count. For both the age groups of 16-17 and 18-24 the young people
of Bridgend are on the Claimant Count at a higher rate than the Welsh and Great
British equivalent values.

Claimant Count by Age
8
7

Claimant Count %

6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Aged 16 To 17
Bridgend (%)

Aged 18 To 24
Wales (%)

Great Britain (%)

Source: Office for National Statistics
In addition, the young people of Bridgend have been more negatively impacted by
the pandemic than other age demographics and more negatively impacted in
Bridgend than across Wales and the UK. As in the below graph the economic
activity rate for the Bridgend young people has dropped from 65% in 2019/20 to 43%
the following year of 2020/21.

Page 419

www.bridgend.gov.uk

27

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Economic Activity Rate for 16-24 year olds
80
70

Economic Activity Rate %

60
50

40
30

20
10

0
2016/17

2017/18

2018/19
Bridgend

Wales

2019/20

2020/21

UK

Source: Local Labour Force Survey

Page 420

www.bridgend.gov.uk

28

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Earnings and Hours
Annual earnings and hours worked can give an indication of the health of an
economy and labour market. In both instances the data does not suggest any major
issues as both largely align with the Welsh average.

Annual Earnings (Full Time)
£40,000
£35,000

£30,000

Earnings

£25,000
£20,000
£15,000

£10,000
£5,000
£0
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Bridgend Mean

Wales Mean

Source: Office for National Statistics

Hours Worked (Weekly)
40
39
38

Hours Worked

37
36
35
34
33
32
31

30
2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Bridgend

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Wales

Source: Office for National Statistics

Page 421

www.bridgend.gov.uk

29

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Business Support
As discussed, the Business Engagement Survey highlights some key areas of
strength and opportunity for supporting the business community in Bridgend. The
following data can be used to further contextualise this.
Over the last 10 years Bridgend has recorded a larger number of businesses ‘born’
in the area than those that had ‘died’. A positive net birth rate indicates that the total
number of businesses in Bridgend is growing, a positive indicator for the area and
suggestive of a relatively healthy place for businesses to form and work.

Business Births and Deaths
600

Business Numbers

500

400

300

200

100

0
2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Business deaths

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Business births

Source: Office for National Statistics
Jobs density measures the total number of jobs as a ratio of the bulk of the working
age population (16-64). In doing so it measure the concentration of jobs in an area
whilst normalising for the different populations that exist in different areas.
Bridgend’s jobs density lags below both the Welsh and Great British averages. The
most recent data from 2019 shows that Bridgend at 0.68 is significantly below that of
Wales at 0.77 which itself is below the GB average of 0.87. The impact of this is that
there are fewer jobs per person in Bridgend than elsewhere which will in turn be
reflected in the higher levels of unemployment and worklessness.

Page 422

www.bridgend.gov.uk

30

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Jobs Density
100%
90%
80%

Job Density %

70%
60%

50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
20002001200220032004200520062007200820092010201120122013201420152016201720182019
Bridgend (Density)

Wales (Density)

Great Britain (Density)

Source: Office for National Statistics
This is not expected to change significantly in the coming years with a significant
number of business in Bridgend working in areas impacted by the pandemic that are
still partly uncertain of their future (e.g., Sport and Leisure, Tourism and Hospitality
and Health/Beauty/Social Care) (Source: Business Survey – Initial Results). In
addition, when surveyed only 25% of businesses indicated that they expect to hire in
the next 12 months (Source: Business Survey – Initial Results).
Bridgend’s businesses are predominantly classified as either micro business (fewer
than 10 employees) or small businesses (fewer than 50 employees). 98% of
businesses are classified as one of these two. This is in-line with other areas but
does serve to highlight the key role that SMEs play in the Bridgend economy and
their importance in providing employment to the local population.
Year

Location

Micro
(0-9)

Small
(10-49)

Medium
(50-249)

Large
(250+)

2021

Bridgend

88%

10%

1.8%

0.3%

Wales

90%

9%

1.4%

0.3%

Source: Inter Departmental Business Register

Page 423

www.bridgend.gov.uk

31

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
This is also supported by the data on the turnover of businesses in the County
Borough. Over 90% of businesses in Bridgend Borough recorded an annual
turnover of less than £1 million.
Turnover (000s)

Bridgend

0-49

580

50-99

965

100-249

1,205

250-499

480

500-999

275

1000-1999

155

2000-4999

125

5000-9999

40

10000-49999

40

50000+

10

Total

3,875

Source: Inter Departmental Business Register

Education
Bridgend has a comparable educational attainment to the whole of Wales. In key
metrics of GCSE attainment, Literacy Point score, Numeracy Point score and
Science Point score Bridgend compares favourably to Wales whilst having a higher
score in many of those key metrics.

2018/19

Percent
achieving 5
A*-A
GCSEs or
equivalent

Literacy
point score

Numeracy
point score

Science
point score

Skills
Challenge
Certificate
point score

Bridgend

21%

39.8

37.3

36.2

36.9

Wales

18%

39.0

37.2

36.8

36.4

Source: Welsh Examinations Database
However, this stands in contrast to the proportion of Bridgend young people at the
extreme end of the attainment scale who leave with no qualifications and/or find
themselves not in further Education, Employment or Training soon after completing
their formal education.

Page 424

www.bridgend.gov.uk

32

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
The Annual Population Survey shows that the population of people in Bridgend with
no qualifications has been falling relatively consistently over the last 5 years.
However, the Bridgend figure has been higher than the Welsh figure over each of
those last 5 years. Although the gap has closed in 2019 and 2020 which is a
positive sign.

Population with no qualifications
16%
14%

Population Share %

12%
10%
8%
6%
4%
2%
0%
2015

2016

2017
Bridgend

2018

2019

2020

Wales

Source: Annual Population Survey
As previously discussed, Bridgend has a higher level of people who fall into the
category of ‘Not in Employment, Education or Training (NEET)’ after leaving either
year 11 or year 13 than the Welsh average. This stands in contrast to the overall
view of Bridgend’s education system as good and in-line with Welsh average and
perhaps indicates an inequality within the borough.
Looking at school specific data indicates that there is an inequality of outcome
between schools in the borough.
School

Literacy
points
score,
2019

Numeracy
points
score,
2019

Science
points
score,
2019

Welsh
Baccalaureate Skills
Challenge
Certificate points
score, 2019

Porthcawl Comprehensive School

46

44

46

37

Bryntirion Comprehensive.

43

43

43

35

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd

43

41

36

49

Pencoed Comprehensive

39

41

35

41

Brynteg School

42

40

42

35

Page 425

www.bridgend.gov.uk

33

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
School

Literacy
points
score,
2019

Numeracy
points
score,
2019

Science
points
score,
2019

Welsh
Baccalaureate Skills
Challenge
Certificate points
score, 2019

Archbishop McGrath Catholic High
School

45

39

41

45

Cynffig Comprehensive

39

37

36

41

Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen

39

35

33

36

Maesteg Comprehensive School

38

30

32

40

39.0

37.2

36.8

36.4

Wales Average

Source: Pupil Level Annual School Census
This inequality of educational outcome amongst schools is correlated with the
proportion of students that are eligible for Free School Meals. This indicates that
education system is not currently providing equal opportunities for young people
from all socioeconomic backgrounds.

Bridgend Schools - Free school meals and Literacy Points Score
48

46

Literacy Points Score

44
42
40

38
36
34
32

30
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Free School Meals

Source: Pupil Level Annual School Census

Page 426

www.bridgend.gov.uk

34

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Bridgend Schools - Free school meals and Literacy Points Score
48
46

Literacy Points Score

44
42

40
38
36
34

32
30
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Free School Meals

Source: Pupil Level Annual School Census

Bridgend Schools - Free school meals and Literacy Points Score
48
46

Literacy Points Score

44

42
40

38
36

34
32

30
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Free School Meals

Source: Pupil Level Annual School Census

Page 427

www.bridgend.gov.uk

35

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Connectivity
Digital Connectivity
Although Bridgend as a whole borough has good Superfast and Gigabit availability at
a borough level there are a few key weaknesses, namely:
•
•
•

Average download speed in Bridgend is below both Wales and UK averages
High % of people who have connection speeds under 10Mbps (which is a
below the Universal Service Obligation as laid out by Ofcom)
Digital connectivity inequality across the Bridgend region

The image below from the Commons Library shows the Bridgend area has relatively
low average download speed (a standard measure of quality of internet connection).
The borough average download speed is 52.9, below the Welsh average of 58.3 and
the UK average of 72.9 (Source: Constituency Data Broadband Coverage and
Speeds, Parliamentary Commons Library).
Bridgend lags significantly behind the urban areas of Swansea and Cardiff, however
notably it also has significantly worse average download speeds than other areas
outside of the two major commercial hubs. For instance, average download speeds
in the Pontypridd, Barry, Tonyrefail West and Pont-y-Clun areas are all higher than
Bridgend. (Source: Constituency Data Broadband Coverage and Speeds,
Parliamentary Commons Library)

Source: House of Commons Library

Page 428

www.bridgend.gov.uk

36

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
Within Bridgend 11.4% of the population still receive less than 10Mpbs internet
speeds. This is below the Universal Standard Obligation set by Ofcom (Source:
Constituency Data Broadband Coverage and Speeds, Parliamentary Commons
Library). Since 2020 this level of internet connection has been deemed insufficient
enough that individuals are able to request a better connection when it drops below
10Mbps.
There is also inequality between areas within the borough. The proportion of people
receiving less than 10Mbps internet speeds by area varies significantly. In Pyle,
Kenfig Hill and Cefncribwr the proportion is 7.1% compared to Pen-dre, Laleston and
Merthyr where the proportion is 16.4%. Therefore, the proportion of lines receiving
under 10Mpbs in the Pen-dre, Laleston and Merthy area is 131% higher than in Pyle,
Kenfig Hill and Cefncribwr.
The average download speed is also unevenly distributed with Cornelly having as
high as 74 Mbps on average whilst 4 areas have download speeds of 40-45Mbps
(Source: Constituency Data Broadband Coverage and Speeds, House of Commons
Library).

Page 429

www.bridgend.gov.uk

37

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 430

Average
download speed
(Mbps)

Superfast
availability

Gigabit
availability

Unable to
receive decent
broadband

Lines receiving
under 10 Mbps

Lines receiving
over 30 Mbps

Brackla East &
Coychurch Lower

48.2

96.6%

52.0%

0.0%

12.5%

79.9%

Brackla West

42.7

99.5%

62.1%

0.0%

15.2%

71.6%

Broadlands

63.6

99.7%

82.8%

0.0%

10.3%

78.9%

Cefn-glas & Brynitirion

57.9

100.0%

87.1%

0.0%

13.3%

79.7%

Central Bridgend

50.2

97.8%

51.6%

0.0%

7.3%

70.6%

Cornelly

74.0

98.8%

77.3%

0.0%

12.2%

76.8%

Pen-dre, Litchard &
Coity

48.7

96.4%

61.2%

0.0%

16.4%

66.9%

Pen-y-fai, Laleston &
Merthyr

41.3

95.8%

34.7%

0.1%

15.2%

62.8%

Porthcawl East

44.9

99.0%

0.0%

0.1%

12.2%

71.7%

Porthcawl West

43.0

96.4%

0.5%

0.0%

9.4%

66.1%

Pyle, Kenfig Hill &
Cefncribwr

59.4

97.1%

55.3%

0.0%

7.1%

70.1%

Area

Source: House of Commons Library

www.bridgend.gov.uk

38

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Commuting
Bridgend has a larger number of people commuting out of the area than it does into
the area, however both are relatively large. Therefore, large numbers of people are
using the travel infrastructure in the Bridgend area on a regular basis. Evidence
from stakeholders indicates that many of these journeys are still completed by
personal vehicle which leads to congestion at Junction 36 of the M4.

Commuting
30,000

Number of Commuters

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Number of people commuting out of the area Bridgend
Number of people commuting into the area Bridgend

Source: Annual Population Survey

Page 431

www.bridgend.gov.uk

39

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
The destination of those commuting out of the area are shown below. The data
shows that the majority of the Bridgend population work in Bridgend, with the next
most significant being to Cardiff.

Bridgend Residents - Commuting To (2020)

Bridgend

Vale of Glamorgan

Cardiff

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Mid and South West Wales

Source: Annual Population Survey

Page 432

www.bridgend.gov.uk

40

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Public Sector and Foundational Economy
Public Sector
The Welsh public sector is the largest user of goods and services in Wales (Source:
WPPN 01/20 Social value clauses/community benefits through public procurement).
In Bridgend Borough member organizations of the Public Services Board accounts
for employing around of third of working people (Source: Bridgend Public Services
Board Well-being Plan). The £6.8 billion that the Welsh public sector spends each
year has the power to influence market development, ensuring that the market meets
the required social and environmental outcomes, and to radically support local
businesses (Source: WPPN 01/20 Social value clauses/community benefits through
public procurement).
The Preston Model has provided a blueprint for how a council can use its
procurement, anchor institutions and wider spending to benefit the local economy
(Source: https://www.preston.gov.uk/article/1339/What-is-Preston-Model). The
Welsh Government have acknowledged this and their Welsh Government New
Procurement Landscape speaks to the development of procurement strategy to
benefit the local economy (Source: Welsh Government New Procurement
Landscape).
The Better Jobs Programme has looked at various innovations in this field including
(Source: Welsh Government New Procurement Landscape);
•
•
•
•

reserving contracts for social enterprises;
buying prosperity through new approaches to tendering and the application of
State Aid;
establishing local provision to overcome supply voids; and
setting up special purpose vehicles and bringing together supply and demand.

In addition, the Welsh Government Community Benefits Policy stated in 2016 the
need for procurers must identify any opportunity to deliver the benefits during the
course of the contract including the following (Source: Welsh Procurement
Community Benefits Policy):
•
•
•
•

Job opportunities for economically inactive
Training opportunities for economically inactive
Retention and training opportunities for existing workforce
Promotion of open and accessible supply chains that provide opportunities for
SMEs to bid for work; and promote social enterprises

Bridgend County Borough Council’s new procurement strategy has been developed
in this mold with emphasis on making procurement spend more accessible to local
small businesses and the third sector, increasing community benefits delivered by
suppliers and improving fair work practices adopted by suppliers (Source: Bridgend
Procurement Strategy and Delivery Plan).
The Welsh Government Social Value Paper defines secondary objectives of a
procurement policy. These include supply chain initiatives where opportunities are

Page 433

www.bridgend.gov.uk

41

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report
created for Welsh businesses outside of the official tendering (Source: Welsh
Government Social Value Paper).

Foundational Economy
Deprivation
Bridgend is home to some of the most deprived areas in Wales. Based on the
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation Caerau ranks as the 5th most deprived area in
Wales. The Bridgend County Wellbeing Report gives some context as to why this is
a problem.
There are significant differences in life expectancy between the most and least
deprived areas in the borough. This inequality has increased over the last decade
(Source: Bridgend County Wellbeing Report). This is a trend that is true across
Wales (Source: Future Trends Report). In addition, there has been an increase in
the amount of under 18s in persistent poverty over recent years (Source: Future
Trends Report).
The Bridgend County Wellbeing Report provides insights into some of the core
wellbeing benefits and issues facing the people of Bridgend. In terms of wellbeing
citizens reported that they value the environment, culture, and heritage of the area.
They also flagged the importance of the third sector as a key partner as a local
employer and through the groups that provide sports, cultural and social activities,
and community activities through volunteering opportunities and support for people
with health issues (Source: Bridgend County Wellbeing Report).

Social care
Bridgend’s social care data from the Office for National Statistics shows that 13% of
the population provide unpaid care each week and that 24% describe that their dayto-day activities are limited to some extent through long-term health problem or
disability. This is in-line with the Welsh averages but shows the importance of social
care delivery. Half of that 24% are in the population of aged 16-64. The need for this
will increase more as the share of the population over 65 increases over time.
Activities

Care

Disability, health, and care

%

Day-to-day activities limited a lot

13%

Day-to-day activities limited a little

11%

Day-to-day activities limited a lot: Age 16 to 64

6%

Day-to-day activities limited a little: Age 16 to 64

6%

Provides 1 to 19 hours unpaid care a week

7%

Provides 20 to 49 hours unpaid care a week

2%

Provides 50 or more hours unpaid care a week

4%

Source: Office for National Statistics

Page 434

www.bridgend.gov.uk

42

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Education
Education as it relates to economic capacity was discussed earlier. Headlines as
they relate to Wellbeing are included again below.
Bridgend has a good education system with most major metrics on education quality
being approximately in-line with the Welsh average. A selection of those high-level
metrics are included below.

2018/19

Literacy point
score

Numeracy point
score

Science point
score

Bridgend

39.8

37.3

36.2

Wales

39.0

37.2

36.8

Sources: Welsh Examinations Database, Welsh Government / Pupil Level Annual
School Census (PLASC)
The Bridgend population has a larger group of the population who are at the extreme
end and have no qualifications at all. This is % is improving over time, but it remains
above the Welsh average.

Share of population with no qualifications
16%
14%

Population share %

12%
10%
8%
6%
4%
2%
0%

2015

2016

2017
Bridgend

2018

2019

2020

Wales

Source: Annual Population Survey

Page 435

www.bridgend.gov.uk

43

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Housing
The breakdown of household composition shows the split of households in the
borough by those that are owned by the tenant, socially rented, privately rented,
shared ownership and living rent free.

Household Composition in Bridgend County Borough

Owned

Social rented

Shared ownership (part owned and part rented)

Private rented

Living rent free

Source: Office for National Statistics
The number of households in Wales looks set to increase significantly. For example,
the number of single person households is predicted to rise by over 30% in the next
20 years (Source: Future Trends Report). With that will come increased demand for
Social Housing. The pandemic has further negatively impacted many people with
Bridgend County Borough Council seeing a 25% rise in homelessness applications
between March and October 2020, compared with the same period in 2019 (Source:
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/homeless-bridgend-councilhousing-finance-20781207).
The Welsh Government is committed to encouraging building of social housing and
the surrounding ecosystem. However, these is a shortage of key construction skills
which makes this a particular challenge (Source: Reimagining social house building
in Wales). In 2020 there were 8,635 social housing properties in the County
Borough with a need for a further 1,762 (short term solutions reduce that number to
the low hundreds). There were 1,293 applicants on the Bridgend Common Housing
Registered in 2020 (Source: Reimagining social house building in Wales). However,
the volume of properties constructed in the borough has been slowly decreasing
over the last 5 years.

Page 436

www.bridgend.gov.uk

44

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Property Construction
600

Propety Numbers

500

400

300

200

100

0
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Source: Welsh Government

Tourism & the Visitor Economy
In 2016 Tourism employed 4.2k jobs and was worth 330mil for the area (DMP
Evidence base 2018). PR activity has been very successful resulting in achieving, in
2017, approximately £7 worth of AVE for every £1 spent (Source: Bridgend
Destination Management Plan Evidence Base Review). Bridgend’s tourism is
disproportionally weighted towards day trips and visitors from other parts of Wales.
STEAM and Beaufort Research both conclude that 94-95% of visitors to Bridgend
are day visitors, compared to a national average of 89%. Relatedly the proportion of
visitors to Bridgend who are Welsh (92%) is much higher than the national average
(69%) (Source: Steam Final Trend Report for 2009-2020). Working from the total
spend value of each of an international visit, domestic visit and day visit to calculate
the average daily spend for each type of visitor day visitors are shown to spend the
least. Domestic day trip visitors spend £36 per day, domestic overnight spend £44,
and international overnight visitors spend £59.

Page 437

www.bridgend.gov.uk

45

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Low Carbon Economy
Emissions fell by 20% in just two years from 2016 to 2018, with the closure of Wales’
last coal-fired power station. Despite that, Wales is not yet on track to meet its net
zero target by 2050 (Source: Climate Change Committee, Path to Net Zero) and
therefore there is a need for Wales to do more.
Infrastructure across Wales is already exposed to a range of climate hazards, which
are projected to increase both in frequency and severity. Flooding poses the
greatest long-term risk to infrastructure performance from climate change, but the
growing risks from heat, water scarcity and slope instability caused by severe
weather could also be significant (Source: Future Trends Report).
The Climate Change Committee has proposed four key areas to achieve Net Zero
for Wales (Source: Climate Change Committee, Path to Net Zero):
•
•
•
•

Taking up low carbon solutions.
Expanding low-carbon energy supplies
Reducing demand for high-carbon activities
Transforming land

There has been significant growth in the community level low carbon energy sector
in Wales but there is great untapped growth potential (Source: Future Trends
Report). There has been progress in the last 8 years with development of
sustainable energy sources in Bridgend County Borough itself. The number of
photovoltaics has increased 50%, Onshore Wind 42% and Hydro 33% in the period
2014-2020. However, significant amounts of that progress was made before 2015.
Since then, progress has been less significant.

Year

Photovoltaics Sites

Onshore Wind Sites

Hydroelectric Sites

2014

1601

12

3

2015

2100

14

4

2016

2287

15

4

2017

2314

16

4

2018

2335

16

4

2019

2381

16

4

2020

2398

17

4

Source: Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy

Page 438

www.bridgend.gov.uk

46

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Year

Photovoltaic Installed
Capacity (MW)

Onshore Wind
Installed Capacity
(MW)

Hydroelectric
Installed Capacity
(MW)

2014

6.931

69.82

0.041

2015

23.203

71.55

0.046

2016

28.994

76.55

0.046

2017

34.867

96.55

0.046

2018

36.436

97.754

0.046

2019

36.646

102.754

0.046

2020

36.862

101.354

0.046

Source: Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy
Year

Photovoltaics

Onshore Wind

Hydro

2014

5,877

168,467

117

2015

6,782

207,534

144

2016

27,571

185,470

134

2017

32,504

227,678

135

2018

36,576

249,350

111

2019

35,086

247,855

117

2020

37,519

298,857

111

Source: Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy
In terms of waste management, Bridgend compares favourably to Wales as it
reused, recycled, or composted 69% of its municipal waste compared to 65% across
Wales in the financial year 2020/21.
Local Authority

% of municipal waste sent for reuse/recycling/composting

Bridgend

69.2

Wales

65.4

Source: InfoBase Cymru

Page 439

www.bridgend.gov.uk

47

Page 440

Monitoring the Economic Strategy Implementation: Datasets to Track
Robust data that is reported consistently, is an integral component to understand the wider economic health of Bridgend across
several interrelated aspects of the economy.
Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Business and
employment
growth

Attracting new business into
the area

Create thriving digital, physical, and
commercial infrastructure with a
skilled workforce to make Bridgend
an attractive place to do business.

New business registrations
by industry

Business
Demography, Office
for National
Statistics

Resilience to
external
shocks

Preventing serious damage
to businesses from the
pandemic

Continue to support businesses
financially through Grants/Funding as
they deal with the impact of the
pandemic

Business closures by
industry

Business
Demography, Office
for National
Statistics

Business and
employment
growth

Encourage growth of
businesses

Engage with the business community
on an ongoing basis to identify
barriers to growth and opportunities
for expansion

Business Turnover

Inter Departmental
Business Register

Business and
employment
growth

Ensure that business
success is translating to
employment opportunities
for local people

Encourage business community to
employ local and to buy local

Number of Employees

Inter Departmental
Business Register

Capacity
building

Lack of commercial
properties for businesses

Build off the work of the LDP and the
Masterplan to facilitate the growth of
commercial premises across the
borough

Business premises by
business rate bands

Business Rates
database

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 441

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

Capacity
building

Lack of working spaces for
flexible working

Within the developments on-going
The number of new
across the borough include provisions commercial mixed-use
for flexible working space.
properties + that also
support flexible workspace
Assess the existing council property
i.e. hot desks
stock for appropriateness as a coworking space.

New - commercial
property database

Job growth
associated
with LowCarbon

Low-carbon economy will
create a massive
employment opportunity

Partner with the college and key
partners in industry to facilitate the
expansion of training courses and
apprenticeships in key low carbon
industries

Training programmes in the
low-carbon sector - number
and uptake

New - training
programme
database

Supporting
Supply Chain
Businesses

Public sector spending is
not efficiently retained in the
local area

Improve the Council's knowledge of
the businesses in the borough for use
in upskilling/training them in working
with the council and being able to
reach out to them/provide names to a
subcontractor on new projects.

List of businesses in the
borough and keep updated

New - borough
business register

Supporting
Supply Chain
Businesses

Public sector spending is
not efficiently retained in the
local area

Keep records of % spending retained
in the borough to measure
improvement over time

Record the % of public
spending being retained by
Bridgend businesses

New - public Sector
spending tracker
database

Capacity
building and
employment
growth

Ensure people in the area
have the skills to meet the
jobs

Act as facilitator and disseminator of
information to partners on the
preparedness of the Bridgend
population for the work available.

Job Vacancies and
unemployment rate

Labour Force
Survey, Office for
National Statistics

www.bridgend.gov.uk

What data to collect?

49

Dataset

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 442

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Capacity
building and
employment
growth

Ensure that borough stays
on top of emerging indemand skills and that the
college and employers are
providing training for these
skills

Work with key partners to ensure that
the training and skills programmes
remain up to date with the latest
changes to skills demand

Survey of most In-Demand
Skills from Bridgend
Businesses. Annual review
of changes in skills demand
nationally.

New - in-demand
skills survey data

Capacity
building and
employment
growth

Skills shortages in key
areas

Working with key partners including
the college and in industry to use the
identified in-demand skills to inform
training programmes and
apprenticeships etc.

The number of businesses
offering
reskilling/upskilling/apprenti
ceships

New - business
survey data

Capacity
building and
employment
growth

Long-term out-of-work and
a lack of basic employment
skills

Work with stakeholders to increase
the ‘skills for life’ levels of adults
through facilitating training
programmes

Economically inactive rate

Office for National
Statistics

Business and
employment
growth

11.4% of the borough still
receives under 10Mbps
which is below the USO

Work with CCR, national government
and network providers to ensure that
the people of Bridgend have their
USO met.

Number of households who
receive minimum threshold
of 10Mbps

Connectivity Data,
House of Commons
Library

Business and
employment
growth

Digital connectivity
inequality across the
borough exacerbates
economic inequality

Work with CCR, national government
and network providers to ensure that
the people of Bridgend have their
USO met.

Track the level of digital
connectivity against the
indices of multiple
deprivation

New - geographical
connectivity (House
of Commons
Library) and Index of
Multiple Deprivation
(UK Gov) database

www.bridgend.gov.uk

50

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 443

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Business and
employment
growth

Poor digital infrastructure
holds back business
performance

Work with CCR and national
government to ensure a forwardlooking view that encompasses 5G
and Full Fibre rollout to economic
centres

Measure the progress of 5G Connectivity Data,
and full fibre roll-out to key
House of Commons
economic centres in the
Library
borough (Employment Land,
Bridgend Town, Maesteg
Town)

Business and
employment
growth

Poor support of the nighttime economy

Work with transport partners to
extend train/bus times into the
evening

The number of extended
train/bus times and the
general uptake of fairs
Increase in
footfall/restaurant bookings
etc. in towns with extended
bus connection

New - public
transport and usage
data (transport
providers)
New - business
survey data

Business and
employment
growth

Poor bus connectivity to the
valleys

Work with transport partners to
extend bus journeys and frequency
into less connected areas.

The number of buses and
the usage numbers. Survey
locals to understand the
impact that this has on
them.

New - public
transport and usage
data (transport
providers)
New - business
survey data

Accelerating
the shift to
low carbon
personal
transport

Prepare for the
electrification of personal
vehicles

Continue the rollout of EV charging
infrastructure across the borough

EV charging ports usage
over time

New - Electric
Vehicle
Infrastructure rollout
(EV Installers)

www.bridgend.gov.uk

51

Dataset

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 444

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Accelerating
the shift to
low carbon
personal
transport

Improve borough's support
for active travel

Continue the rollout of active travel
routes. Work with business partners
to understand use cases e.g.
Rockwool

Modes of transport used for
commuting and in personal
life

New - wellbeing
survey data

Accelerating
the shift to
low carbon
personal
transport

Electrification of the travel
infrastructure

Work with transport partners to
ensure plans to move to an
electric/renewable fleet

Monitor the share of
journeys/vehicles of public
transport that are electric

New - electrification
of public transport
database (transport
providers)

Supporting
Supply Chain
Businesses

Use public sector spending
to support local business

Implement the new procurement plan Record the % of public
with a focus on investing public sector spending being retained by
money in the local area
Bridgend businesses

New - Public
Spending database

Community
and individual
wellbeing

Leverage the influence that
the anchor organisations
have to improve the
wellbeing of the population

Include a community feedback
element in any major decisions by
anchor institutions especially with
respect to location

N/A

N/A

Efficiency of
public service
delivery

Digitising government
services

Assess the extent of existing digitised
council services

Internal review of existing
council services

Identify the most appropriate areas of
the council’s functions for
digitalisation. Assess each area of
council operations and identify the
possibility of digitisation.

Survey uptake of different
government services if they
were digitised

New - share of
council services
digitised
New - wellbeing
survey data

www.bridgend.gov.uk

52

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 445

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Efficiency of
public service
delivery

Digitising social care

Assess the extent of existing digitised
social care services

Review of existing social
care service provision

Identify the most appropriate areas of
social care functions for digitalisation.
Assess each area of social care
operations and identify the possibility
of digitisation.

Survey uptake of digital
social care services / survey
social care providers on
preference for digitising
some services

New - share of care
services digitised
(care providers)
New - wellbeing
survey data
Connectivity Data,
House of Commons
Library

Assess the connectivity levels of the
locations where social care is
delivered

Connectivity assessment of
locations within the borough

Work with College and other
education partners to facilitate
courses being available online

% of training programmes
that are available online
(either as digital-first or
recordings of in-person
training)

Capacity
building and
employment
growth

Online training programmes

Identify gaps in connectivity or device
ownership that might be barriers to
online learning amongst prospective
users

Connectivity assessment of
locations within the borough
Survey of learner population

Community
and individual
wellbeing

Green space

Prioritise green space in urban
planning decisions

www.bridgend.gov.uk

% of Bridgend population
that consider that they have
good access to green space
/ % who use green space
regularly

53

New - share of
training programmes
available online
(College and
training providers)
New - wellbeing
survey data
Connectivity Data,
House of Commons
Library
New - wellbeing
survey data

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 446

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Community
and individual
wellbeing

Cultural events

Monitor access to and attendance at
cultural events

Record the number of
events/tickets sold in the
borough over time to see
the impact that
redevelopment of Maesteg
Town Hall/Porthcawl plus
increase in transport
connectivity has on the
cultural wellbeing of the
population

New - event data
(event providers)

Business and
employment
growth

Tourism is over reliant on
day visitors

Encourage more longer-term visitors
by improving connectivity,
encouraging accommodation through
redevelopment and marketing the
area better

Measure the % of visitors
that are day visitors over
time and % of visitors that
stay overnight

STEAM data

Business and
employment
growth

Bridgend is perceived to be
poorly advertised outside of
the County

Review the reach and effectiveness
of marketing of the area outside of
the County. Establish approach for
improving external marketing.

Measure the % of visitors
that are day visitors over
time. Measure reach and
effectiveness of marketing
campaigns outside the
County.

STEAM data and
marketing reach
data

Reducing
carbon
emissions

Properties will be required
to be retrofitted with
insulation

Work with the college and key
stakeholders e.g. V2C to ensure
sufficient people are being trained in
these skills

% of identified properties
with retrofitted insulation
over time

New - property
database

Identify properties requiring retrofit.

www.bridgend.gov.uk

54

Bridgend County Borough Economic Strategy: Data Report

Page 447

Area of
importance

Challenge/Opportunity

Action

What data to collect?

Dataset

Reducing
carbon
emissions

Properties will be required
to be retrofitted with
renewable energy sources

Work with the college and key
stakeholders e.g. V2C to ensure
sufficient people are being trained in
these skills

% of identified properties
with renewable energy
source over time

New - property
database

Identify properties requiring retrofit.
Reducing
carbon
emissions

Encourage more
sustainable travel habits

Continue to expand active travel,
work with the transport companies to
improve frequency and interconnectivity of public transport modes
and continue the rollout of EV
charging infrastructure across the
borough

Measure the proportion of
the population regularly
using public transport,
active travel routes and
electric vehicles

New - Public
transport use
database (transport
providers), wellbeing
survey data

Business and
employment
growth

Bridgend is not widely
recognised for its natural
capital compared to similar
local areas

Improve the marketing of the area's
natural capital

Survey - share of visitors
who include natural capital
as a reason for visit

New - marketing
reach and tourism
survey data

www.bridgend.gov.uk

55

This page is intentionally left blank

Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board
Terms of Reference
1. Aim
The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board has been established as a
response to development of the Bridgend County Economic Strategy. Along with
a business engagement programme and the creation of an Economic Futures
Fund it will be a core element of Bridgend’s approach towards supporting the
local economy.
The Partnership Board will provide Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC)
with advice on how with the tools at its disposal it can protect and grow the
economic environment to support the County’s businesses, employees and
communities. The Partnership Board will also create an opportunity for
partnership members to identify ways in which they can also individually and
collectively use the tools at their disposal for the same purpose.
2. Focus
The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board will be established by BCBC
and chaired by an independent Chair, to be agreed. It will build on and add value
to action undertaken by UK and Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital
Region (CCR) City Deal and be positioned to best secure funding and
opportunities for Bridgend by identifying and putting in place the specific and
locally focused measures needed to support the County’s residents and
businesses in the short, medium and long-term.
The Partnership Board will oversee and strategically steer the Bridgend County
Economic Strategy for the future of the County Borough which will include action
to help businesses adapt to the changing economic landscape and improve
resilience, as well as support for residents to develop new skills, training and
employment opportunities. Work will be aligned with and feed in to the Council’s
Corporate Plan and the Public Service Board’s (PSB) Wellbeing Plan.
The Bridgend County Economic Strategy is structured around the following core
themes:
• Business and Workforce support
• Connectivity and Infrastructure
• Foundational Economy and Public Sector
• Low Carbon Economy
The implementation of the Partnership Board’s prioritised actions and the delivery
of the Economic Strategy will be supported by the Economic Futures Fund. All
members of the Partnership Board will be urged to add to the initial budget of
what will come to be a key resource in supporting the County Borough’s
economic future.

Page 449

3. Context
Prior to the coronavirus outbreak Bridgend County Borough had 3,770
enterprises, 58,700 employed jobs and an unemployment rate of 4%. However,
significant changes were imminent due to the closure of the Bridgend Ford Plant
in September 2020 and impacts from the United Kingdom’s exit from the
European Union and subsequent ending of the transition period in December
2020. The closure of the Bridgend Ford Plant alone was predicted by Welsh
Government to result in the loss of 1,700 direct jobs and the removal of £190m
GVA from the local economy. Work to plan for the closure and its impact was
being coordinated through a Welsh Government Task Force. Evidence relating
to the challenges and opportunities resulting from exiting the European Union
was emerging and being closely monitored by Bridgend County Borough
Council’s (BCBC) Brexit Forum.
The process of developing and now delivering a Bridgend County Economic
Strategy, following the coronavirus pandemic and set against this context
presents a wide range of challenges, many of which are clear but many of which
will emerge in the coming months and years. Whilst BCBC and its partners have
so far worked collaboratively to deliver a wide range of responses to the
coronavirus outbreak much of this has been as a short term reactions. The ability
to react will still be required but must now be coupled with a proactive longer term
approach towards delivering the Economic Strategy and an economic future for
the County Borough.
4. Objectives
The Bridgend Economic Partnership Board will:
• Assess factors that negatively impact on the local economy as they
arise and take the necessary collective and individual actions to
facilitate the economic and business recovery of the County Borough
and support diversification and aid resilience.
• Draw together senior members of local public sectors organisations,
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, business leaders, representatives of
business sectors and trade bodies and other key stakeholders.
• Draw on research and evidence and through on-going engagement
with the local business community and key economic actors will
‘ground-truth’ this in the County Borough.
• Work together to deliver and review the Bridgend County Economic
Strategy and provide recommendations for the implementation of the
Economic Futures Fund, which will initially be targeted towards what
have been identified as key areas in the Economic Strategy.

Page 450

5. Support
The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board secretariat support will be
provided by officers from BCBC’s Economy, Natural Resources and
Sustainability Group.
6. Timing
The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board will initially be established for
a period of 24 months. A review will be undertaken at 12 months and a further
review at 24 months. Changes to these terms of reference may be agreed by
Partnership Board members at these points.
7. Membership
Membership will be flexible but is initially proposed as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chair – To be confirmed
Cllr Huw David, Leader, Bridgend County Borough Council
Local Authority Representation
Bridgend Business Forum
Trade Body Representation (CBI, Chambers, FSB)
Further and Higher Education
Careers Wales
Welsh Government Officials
UK Government Officials
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal representative

8. Communications and engagement
BCBC will lead communications on behalf of the Bridgend County Economic
Partnership Board. An Economic Engagement Programme will be agreed and
kept under review by the Partnership Board.
9. Principles of Operation
•

•

The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board will establish and
maintain trust – within the Partnership Board, with Governments, with the
community.
The Bridgend County Economic Partnership Board is a jobs, enterprise,
and place initiative, with a delivery focus.

Page 451

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND
WELLBEING
FOSTERING ALLOWANCES POLICY
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:


Provide Cabinet with details of the proposed Fostering Allowances Policy.
Request Cabinet approval of the policy and delegate authority to the Head of
Children’s Social Care to implement the new policy.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on
the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and communities to build
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and
independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.
Background

3.
3.1

There are a number reasons why some children are unable to live with their birth
parent(s) and at these times, arrangements need to be made for children to be cared
for by others. Some children may live with other members of their family, with foster
parents, adoptive parents or in care homes.

3.2

Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) delivers its Fostering Service (Foster
Wales Bridgend) in line with the Regulatory Requirements set out in “The Local
Authority Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2018”, and all Foster Carers are
assessed, approved and reviewed in line with requirements set out in “The Fostering
Panels (Establishment and Functions) (Wales) Regulations 2018”. There is no
differentiation between General Foster Carers and Connected Persons Foster Carers
within these Regulations.

3.3

In R (on the application of X) v Tower Hamlets LBC [2013] EWHC 480 (admin), Mr
Justice Males (at first instance) ruled that Tower Hamlets policy, which stated that
they were paying family and friends (Connected Persons) foster carers less than

Page 453

professional (general) foster carers as they were not eligible for the fee element, was
unlawful.
3.4

In Wales the National Fostering Framework has, over a number of years, been
undertaking work regarding developing greater consistency in the use of Kinship care
for children who are looked after and harmonisation of policies across Wales in
relation to the payment of fees and allowances to Foster Carers. BCBC, like others,
have been awaiting the outcome of this work prior to making any changes to the fees
and allowances that are paid to all Foster Carers.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

At the present time all foster carers in BCBC receive a basic allowance for looking
after a child. This basic allowance is paid at the level recommended by the Welsh
Government and the recommendations for payments are based on an estimation of
the actual costs of looking after a child.

4.2

In addition to this basic allowance, Fees are paid to foster carers who are assessed
to provide care to a range of children and are not applicable to those who are
approved for specific children. This Fee is paid to our General Foster Carers but not
to our Connected Persons Foster Carers.

4.3

The Fee Element is split into two levels:



Level 2 – paid to foster carers post approval
Level 3 – paid to foster carers once they have had their 1st Annual Review and
have completed the Qualification Credit Framework (QCF) training requirement

4.4

Work completed by the National Fostering Framework in relation to Foster Carer
Allowances has recognised that changes need to be made in respect of fees (which
will become an Additional Allowance) which are paid to Foster Carers whether they
are General Foster Carers or Connected Persons Foster Carers and a new Eligibility
Criteria has been established.

4.5

Following the outcome of the work by the National Fostering Framework, Bridgend
Fostering Service has drafted its Fostering Allowances Policy (Appendix 1) which
sets out all of the allowances that approved Foster Carers are entitled to claim and
the Eligibility that a Foster Carer needs to meet in order to be entitled to the
“Additional Allowance” (Formerly Fee).

4.6

The new policy will be equally applicable to all BCBC Foster Carers i.e. Connected
Persons Foster Carers will also be entitled to an Additional Allowance, if they are
assessed as meeting the Eligibility Criteria.

4.7

There has been no requirement for public consultation in relation to this policy.
During 2022/23 Bridgend Fostering Service plans to undertake a review of the
Allowances which will include full consultation and engagement with our Foster
Carers.

4.8

If the new Policy is agreed:

Page 454







The current “Fee” structure will be replaced with an “Additional Allowance”. The
amount of this Additional Allowance will be in two bands and is connected to the age
of the child (0-10yrs and 11-17yrs).
All current unrelated Foster Carers will receive the appropriate level of Additional
Allowance as they have already been assessed as able to meet the needs of a range
of children. In addition their annual review will consider whether they continue to
demonstrate that they meet all aspects of the eligibility criteria.
All current Connected Persons Foster Carers will be written to, advising them that
they may be eligible for an “Additional Allowance” and asking them whether they wish
to be assessed against the new Eligibility Criteria.
All new Connected Persons Foster Carers will have the option to be assessed against
the new Eligibility Criteria from the outset of their Assessment.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

The Fostering Allowances Policy is a new policy that seeks to clarify the financial
aspects of the support that is available and as such does not have an impact on the
current policy framework and operating procedure.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language.
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the
Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people. The following is a
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have
been considered in this report:




Long Term – Children’s Social Care always seek to support children to live
with their family wherever it is safe for them to do so. When a child needs to
become looked after by the Local Authority it is vital that BCBC has sufficient
numbers of carers available to be able to offer that child a home within their
local community, that will allow them to maintain their family and social
relationship. Clearly setting out the Allowances available to all foster carers in
one schedule will assist with the recruitment of carers. For prospective
Connected Persons Foster Carers finances can be a barrier to them
proceeding with an assessment and offering a child a home within their wider
family as they have to make changes to working arrangements to
accommodate the child’s needs. Establishing the Criteria would also, if
assessed as meeting the criteria, potentially allow more Connected Persons
Foster carers to access the additional allowance which would support them to
offer a home to a child from their family when this is required.
Prevention – It is imperative that children are safeguarded from harm.
However, wherever possible they should be allowed the opportunity to grow
up within their family which in turn supports the maintenance of friendship,

Page 455







schools, health practitioners etc. Sufficient numbers of BCBC foster carers are
also required to prevent the need for children to be placed with high cost
Independent Fostering Agencies, that are often outside of the County. As
stated above this Policy will be used as part of the first steps to supporting the
recruitment of foster carers and potentially providing greater financial
assistance to prospective Connected Persons foster carers. In addition it
should be recognised that by supporting a child to remain within their family or
to maintain a school placement and friendship groups will promote greater
placement stability enabling a child to achieve better outcomes.
Integration – A key component of the support that is available to Foster Carers
is any financial allowance that they receive. The Fostering Allowance Policy
details all allowances that Foster Carers can receive. The Policy also sets out
the eligibility for receiving an “Additional Allowance”.
Collaboration – Members of the Kinship Care and Permanence Team attend
the Association for Fostering and Adoption (AFA (Cymru) National interest
group in relation to Connected Person Foster Carers and Special Guardians.
This Group provides team members with an opportunity to learn about and
share practice developments and best practice with colleagues across Wales.
Involvement – There is regular engagement with Foster Carer throughout the
year. This is the first step in undertaking a full review of Foster Carer
allowances which brings all of the information together. During 2022/23 there
will be further consultation and engagement as part of the next steps of this
review.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

By implementing this Policy there will be a small increase in the budget for Fostering
in Bridgend with all unrelated Foster Carers moving from a Level 2 “Fee” to the age
appropriate Enhanced Allowance.

8.2

There is also potentially a more significant impact which is dependent on the number
of Connected Persons Foster Carer who a) express a wish to be assessed against
the new Eligibility Criteria and b) are assessed as meeting the criteria.

8.3

However, Case Law identifies a Policy that states that payments to Connected
Persons foster carers are less than general foster carers, as they were not eligible
for the fee element, would be unlawful.

8.4

In light of the above, as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-23 to 202526, Council approved a £191,000 Budget Pressure for 2022-23 to meet the
anticipated increase to ‘Connected Persons’ Fostering Fees.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

Cabinet is requested to approve the Fostering Allowances Policy and to delegate
authority to the Head of Children’s Social Care to implement the new policy.

Page 456

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing
March 2022
Contact Officer:

Laura Kinsey
Head of Children’s Social Care

Telephone:

(01656) 642314

E-mail:

laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address

Bridgend County Borough Council, Civic Offices, Bridgend,
CF31 4WR

Background documents


None

Page 457

This page is intentionally left blank

Bridgend County
Borough Council
Fostering
Financial Policy
February 2022

Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate

1

Page 459

Document Name and Location
Author

Document Owner

Review Date

Accessibility

Fostering Financial Policy
Steven Howell
Rheolwr Grwp, Y Gyfarwyddiaeth
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles
Group Manager Social Services and
Wellbeing Directorate
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr
l Bridgend County Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642330
E-bost / Email:
Steven.Howell@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk
Laura Kinsey
Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol I Blant l Head
of Children’s Social Care
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Penybont ar Ogwr l
Bridgend County Borough Council
Ffôn / Phone: (01656) 642314
E-bost / Email: Laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk
Gwefan / Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk
This document is to be reviewed on an annual
basis after its approval date, the next review to
occur no later than 31st March 2023.
Incremental reviews may take place as
required.
This document can be made available in Welsh.

Updates, Revisions and Amendments
Version Details of Change

2

Page 460

Date

Table of Contents
Section

Details

Page

1

Introduction

4

2

Legal and Regulatory Framework

4

3

Definitions

5

4

Key Principles

5

5

Payment Scheme

6

6

Appendix 1

18

7

Appendix 2

18

8

Appendix 3

18

9

Appendix 4

18

10

Appendix 5

19

11

Appendix 6

19

12

Appendix 7

19

13

Appendix 8

19

14

Appendix 9

20

3

Page 461

1. Introduction
This policy aims to provide a clear and comprehensive summary of what
payments are made to persons approved by Bridgend County Borough Council
as foster carers as defined within this policy below.
This policy applies to all foster carers approved in accordance with regulation
8 of the Fostering Panels (Establishment and Functions) (Wales) Regulations
2018. It applies to all approved foster carers whether they are related to the
child(ren) placed with them. It applies to long term and short-term placements
with approved foster carers.
This policy applies to the payment of allowances and enhanced allowances
(otherwise known as fees). An allowance is a weekly fostering allowance which
is designed to cover the cost of caring for a fostered child. Allowances vary
according to the age and needs of the fostered child. All approved foster carers
receive at least the National Minimum Allowance. Enhanced allowances are
sometimes known as fees. They may be paid in addition to an allowance to
recognise a foster carer’s time, skill and experience. The Enhanced allowance
is paid to those that meet the eligibility criteria set out in this policy. Not all
approved foster carers will meet the eligibility criteria.

2. Legal and Regulatory Framework
In the formulation of this policy, the Council has considered case law decisions,
the applicable legislation and statutory guidance including:








4

Page 462

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003
The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales) Regulations
2015
Code of Practice to Part 6 of the Social Services and Well-being
(Wales) Act 2014
The Local Authority Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2018
Fostering Panels (Establishment and Functions) (Wales) Regulations
2018
R(X) v London Borough of Tower Hamlets [2013] EWHC 480 (Admin);
[2013] EWCA Civ 904.

3. Definitions

Foster Carer
A foster carer is a person approved as a foster parent in accordance with the
Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Fostering Panels
(Establishment and Functions) (Wales) Regulations 2018. For clarity this
refers to both unrelated and related approved foster carers.

4. Key Principles

4.1 This policy is to apply equally to all foster carers, approved by a fostering
service in Wales, who are approved under the Fostering Services (Wales)
Regulations 2003 or Fostering Panels (Establishment and Functions) (Wales)
Regulations 2018.
4.2 All approved foster carers will receive an allowance payment which covers the
cost of caring for each child within their care. That allowance will include the
core allowance calculated in accordance with the National Minimum Fostering
Allowance specified for Wales and any additional sum calculated to cover the
specific needs of an individual child.
4.3 All approved foster carers will be entitled to an enhanced allowance (formerly
fee) provided that they meet the eligibility criteria set out below. It is open to all
approved foster carers, if they so wish, to be assessed against the eligibility
criteria.
4.4 In addition, all approved foster carers will be entitled to an additional allowance
provided that they meet the eligibility set out below. That eligibility criteria has
been set in relation to specific fostering tasks. It is open to all foster carers if
they so wish to undertake the tasks to meet all of the eligibility criteria and to be
assessed against those criteria.
4.5 The Regulation 8 of The Fostering Panels (Establishment and Functions)
(Wales) Regulations 2018 require the approving agency (Bridgend County
Borough Council) to enter into a written agreement with a Foster Carer at the
time of their approval and following each annual review of their approval.
4.6 All foster carers approved under Regulation 8 will be allocated a supervising
social worker who will make contact with them on at least a once-a-month basis
5

Page 463

and will be able to assist in any matters relating to all payments while a child is
in placement.
4.7 All payments will be made by BACS electronic transfer within two weeks of
placement and thereafter on a weekly basis.
4.8 Any one-off payments incurred by the foster carer can be reimbursed via their
supervising social worker subject to the proper approval and authorisation
process.
4.9 Basic Allowance payments are non-taxable and are specifically for the needs of
the child in placement
4.10 Enhanced Allowance payments are taxable at a rate determined on an annual
basis by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC).
4.11 Foster Carers will be consulted prior to any major changes to the payment
scheme.
4.12 All payments will be reviewed on an annual basis or more often should
circumstances require.

5. Payment Scheme
In Wales, the government has introduced National Minimum Fostering
Allowance for fosters carers to cover the cost of caring for a child in their home
and there is an annual increase on 1st April every year. All foster carers
fostering for Bridgend County Borough Council will receive this allowance,
details of which can be found at Appendix 1. In addition, foster carers for
Bridgend County Borough Council may also receive an Enhanced Allowance
(formerly fee) (Appendix 2) if they are able to demonstrate that they meet the
Eligibility Criteria set out within this Policy and is a reflection of the skills, abilities
and any additional tasks that the carer may be asked to undertake, such as
assisting with training and recruitment.

5.1 Eligibility for an Enhanced Allowance
5.1.1 In order to receive the enhanced allowance all approved foster carers must
be able to demonstrate all of the following:
a)

The required skills, ability and competence to care for the range of
children a local authority may need to look after.

b)

A commitment to continued individual professional learning,
development of their fostering skills and reflection on practice. They
must have attended at least 2 training sessions organized or approved

6

Page 464

by the local authority in any one year and engaged in regular
supervision;
c)

A commitment to co-production with the fostering service through active
participation in foster carer support groups, consultation events, the
recruitment of new foster carers and the provision of peer support.

5.1.2 All approved foster carers will be given the opportunity, if they so wish, to
be assessed against the eligibility training during the Form F assessment or
at the beginning of the placement for which the allowance is to be paid and
thereafter at each annual review.

5.1.3 All approved foster carers will be given the opportunity, if they so wish, to
attend on training courses etc. and to participate in co-production with the
fostering service.

5.2 Process
An allowance eligibility flowchart to demonstrate the process that must be
followed for each applicant enquiring to foster is included in this policy
framework and can be found at Appendix 3. An enhanced allowance
assessment has been designed to ensure consistent approach and delivery
and can be found at Appendix 4.

5.3 Payment of the enhanced allowance
Payment of the enhanced allowance will commence from the date of
recommendation of approval at foster panel following the presentation of the
full Form F assessment and ratification by the Agency Decision Maker.

5.4 Agency Carers transferring to Bridgend County Borough Council with a
child in placement
Carers currently approved by other agencies who have a Bridgend County
Borough Council (BCBC) child (ren) placed in their care will continue to receive
the current rate of allowance as contracted with their agency for the length of
the placement(s) of the child (ren) in placement at the time of transfer.

5.6 Caring for children with disabilities
7

Page 465

Foster carers for children with disabilities receive allowances at the appropriate
rates using the same criteria as applied for carers who look after non-disabled
children.
Family Link Carers offer family-based short break care to disabled children and
young people and are paid session payments.
The sessions are made up of 6-hour blocks and carers are paid £8.17/session.
A carer will receive payment for a full session where they provide care for
between 0-6hrs. Where a carer provides care for 7-12hrs they will receive
payment for two sessions and if they provided care for 24 hours this would be
4 sessions etc.
(Note there is no enhancement to the session payments for providing overnight
stays).
The family link carer will additionally receive a 1 off ‘Household Amenity
Payment’ of £42.66 only if they provide link care for a child that week. Should
carers provide link care for more than 1 child in any given week, they will
continue to receive the session payments for each child but only 1 Household
Amenity Payment.
Foster Carers who look after children with disabilities full time, may be entitled
to receive Disability Living Allowance in addition to their fostering allowances.
Supervising Social Workers should ensure that all foster carers are assisted in
making a claim for DLA to the Benefits Agency. The Foster Carer will be
responsible for the DLA and should take steps to ensure they can provide
evidence of how this money is spent. It is strongly advised that the money be
placed in a separate bank account and that the carer keeps a record of what
the money has been spent on and ensures that statements are available to be
viewed by the Supervising Social Worker, if required.

5.7 Transitional Foster Carers
Transitional Foster Carers provide a therapeutic fostering placement to a young
person aged 0-18 years old for a maximum period of 24 – 36 weeks with the
aim of developing a supportive relationship to enable the young person to move
onto a long-term foster placement and/or return to birth family. Any approved
foster carer can ask to be assessed as a Transitional Foster Carer.

Transitional carers will receive an enhanced allowance whether or not they
have a child in placement in order to retain transitional foster carers and in
recognition of the expectations that transitional carers have:
•
8

Page 466

The skills required to support complex placements.

•

A willingness to provide support to their peers and provide respite
placements.

When a child is in placement the transitional carer will also receive the agerelated fostering allowance for that child.
Where a child is matched to a transitional carer, payments can commence at
the point a transition plan to the placement is agreed. This will enable the foster
carer to be available for suitable introductions to be made as part of a
therapeutically informed transition plan.

5.8 Parent and Child Placements
In undertaking parent and child fostering foster carers will be paid a weekly
allowance of £756.86 for 1 parent placements where the parent is not in receipt
of benefits. Where a parent is in receipt of benefits this will be deducted from
the weekly fostering allowance. Breakdown of the allowance can be found at
Appendix 5.
At the outset of placement, the parent should come with ‘caring materials’ from
their Maternity Grant such as buggy, sterilising unit, and cot. The Maternity
Benefit Payment must be used for obtaining necessary items for a baby and
not for general living expenses. The parent’s social worker can advise and
support if there has been difficulty in obtaining the Maternity Benefit.
Parent & child foster carer needs to pay from the care payment part of their
weekly fostering allowance to the parent s/he is supervising having regards for
the following:


The payment of an allowance to the parent is an important part of the
support and supervision of the parent & baby placement by the foster carer.
This financial support significantly aids the overall aims of such placements,
of avoiding the need to separate a mother from her newborn child,
assessing the potential of the parent to care permanently for their child (or
not) and helping them move onto more independent living.



Having an allowance is good for the parent in placement. It helps to give a
sense of independence, a measure of choice in making decisions about
how money is spent, an understanding of the value of money and helps to
develop budgetary skills.

The amount to be paid to the parent must be clarified at the outset of the
placement and explicitly addressed within the placement plan and at the initial

9

Page 467

placement set-up meeting. The rate of allowance should be kept under review
by all concerned.

At the initial placement set-up meeting it must be explicitly clarified what the
foster carer will be responsible for providing for, and with, the parent in terms of
physical care such as meals, heating, use of washing machine etc. If in receipt
of Income Support, the parent will have income to cover her/his own personal
expenses.
The following, which are approximate guidelines based on 2021/2022 benefits
rates, should be followed:
•

Universal Credit Personal Allowance (lone parent age 18 or over) =
£74.70

•

less Child Benefit - £21.50
(if in receipt of Child Benefit)

•

therefore baby allowance =£53.20

If the parent leaves the placement and the child remains, the carer will revert to
the appropriate payment for a child of that age.
If the parent is looked after and remains in the placement and the child moves
the carer will revert to the appropriate payment for a child of that age.

5.9 When I am Ready
The When I am Ready (WIR) provider will also need to sign an Excluded
Licence Agreement along with the Young Person. They will receive the
following payments as part of the WIR arrangement:•

Rent from the young person (usually through Housing Benefit)

•

Contribution to household costs from the young person

•

A WIR Support Allowance paid by the Local Authority

The ‘WIR’ Support Allowance paid to the Provider is exclusively for the practical
and emotional package of support that is being provided by them. Unlike the
fostering allowance previously paid to the foster carer, it does not include any
element to be given to or spent on the young person such as personal items,
clothing, travel, holiday allowances and costs associated with birthdays,
Christmas or other religious festivals.

10

Page 468

The ‘WIR’ Support Allowance is exclusive of the contribution to Household
Costs paid by the young person to the WIR Provider. It is also exclusive of
Rent which will be paid direct to the WIR Provider.
For full details regarding how a person’s household contributions are calculated
please refer to the “‘When I am Ready Scheme’ – Financial Arrangements
Policy”

5.10 Supported Lodgings
Each supported Lodgings provider will receive a weekly allowance of £160.00
via BACS payment. This will be paid whilst there is a young person in
placement, however BCBC do not offer a retainer, there will be no payment
whilst the supported lodgings provider is vacant.
In terms of contribution to household costs, each young person will be expected
to claim housing benefit and start the application process from the age of 18
years old. This will be an individualised amount for each young person. The
young person will be expected to contribute to housing costs with 80% of this
benefit once in receipt of it.
This is with the view of encouraging independence, and preparing the young
person to live independently once they transition from the Supported Lodgings
placement into independent living.
The remaining 20% of the housing benefit will be for the young person to use
towards living costs, such as furniture, decoration, television etc.
The local authority will then decrease their payment to the Supported Lodgings
provider by the amount they will receive from the young person via the housing
benefit.

5.11 Initial Clothing Allowance
This allowance is to be paid only in those situations where children are placed
in a foster home without adequate basic clothing in line with the amounts set out
at Appendix 6.




When a child is placed without adequate basic clothing, the foster carer
should discuss with their supervising worker what clothing will be required in
order to meet the child’s basic needs for the first month of placement. An
initial payment can then be requested to ensure the carer is able to purchase
basic clothing for the child/ children.
Following this, carers would be expected to purchase replacement clothing
from the allowances they receive for a child.

11

Page 469




Initial clothing can only be paid during the first 6 months of placement.
If when a child is placed they do not have the required school uniform, the
carers can make a separate request for payment for school uniform in line
with the amounts set out in Appendix 7.
Receipts should be obtained and given to the supervising social worker, who
will pass these to the fostering manager. The money will be reimbursed in
the next payment.
The emergency clothing grant is only payable for new placements not for
changes of placement.





5.12 Payments to all carers regardless of approval status
None of the above payments for foster carers cover:


Costs in relation to leisure, therapy or specific tasks in relation to
rehabilitation, preparation for permanence or independence, which are
identified in the placement plan, care plan or at child care review and which
are specific to that plan and significantly more expensive than ordinary family
activities.
Costs in relation to mileage in relation to the child for facilitating contact,
transporting a child to school out of the local areas, or the foster carer’s
attendance at meetings in relation to the child, or training for the carer. This
will be paid at 47p a mile.
Costs in relation to loss or damage caused by a foster child/legal liability in
respect of a claim by a foster child or member of their family as the council
has a separate insurance policy for this purpose.





Mileage payments are not made for the following - such trips are expected
to be covered within the basic fostering allowance:





To and from nursery / school within your school catchment area.
Regular health appointments such as GP and dental appointments.
Out of school activities such as cubs, football practice etc unless further
than a 6 mile round trip.
Family trips and holidays.

5.13 Tax relief for Foster Carers
The introduction of tax relief in 2003 means that foster carers in the UK do not
pay tax on their income from fostering, up to a maximum of £10,000 plus
allowances.
Tax threshold
There are two elements to the exemption or ‘qualifying amount’.
12

Page 470




Fixed amount - £10,000 per household a year
Additional amount per fostered child: £200 per week for a child aged under
11 and £250 per week for a child aged 11 or over.

Income below this qualifying amount is tax free. If your total amount received
from fostering exceeds the qualifying amount you can either pay tax on:



Your total amount received less the qualifying amount or
Your total amount received from foster care minus expenses. This means
keeping records of precise expenditure throughout the tax year using
receipts.

If you are exempt, these tax arrangements will not affect any other income you
may have (for example income from employment or investment income), which
will be taxed in the normal way.
Neither will the tax arrangements affect your personal allowance. If you are
exempt, the full amount of your personal allowance is available to use against
other income. You should always consult the HMRC website for more detailed
information on taxation of your income.
Parent and baby schemes
HMRC will treat both parent and baby as being in foster care and you will be
able to claim a weekly amount for each of them when calculating your qualifying
amount.
National Insurance contributions
As a foster carer you may be entitled to National Insurance Credits
https://www.gov.uk/national-insurance-credits/eligibility
If you are exempt from tax – you will not have to pay NICs. However, the
Fostering Network recommends that you should look at whether it is in your
interest to pay NICs. The number of years that you pay NICs may affect benefits
you receive in future, for example the state pension.
Record keeping
You will need to keep a record of:



your total receipts for the year from your local authority, and
the number of weeks that you care for each child placed with you in the year
and the age (or birthday) of each child. A week runs from Monday to Sunday.
Count any part of a week as a full week.

If you are not exempt and you intend to calculate your actual profit from foster
care worked out using total income, with separate tax relief for allowable
expenses or capital allowances, you will need to keep sufficient records to
support your figures. You will need to keep these records for six years.
13

Page 471

Further advice on tax issues
You can contact your local HMRC office by phone or via the internet - see
HMRC website for details, on http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/individuals/fostercarers.htm or contact Tax Aid, a charity which offers free, independent and
confidential advice to anyone with a tax question or problem tel: 0845 120 3779.
You can visit the Low Incomes Tax Reform Group website:
www.litrg.org.uk/help/lowincome/selfemployed/assessment.cfm#foster

Foster carers’ pension
Foster carers are entitled to 'Home Responsibilities Protection' (HRP). This
means the number of years foster carers need to work to qualify for the state
pension will be reduced to take into account their years of caring for foster
children. This change will increase a foster carers financial security and
recognise the importance of the work that they carry out. For more information
visit the pensions website at:
www.pensionsservice.gov.uk
HMRC have also created a free e-learning module for foster carers which
provides detailed information about tax credits and benefits along with advice
about registering as self-employed, qualifying for care relief, what records you
need to keep for HMRC and how to foster in partnership. You can access the
course here: http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/courses/syob/fc/index.html

5.14 Foster carers’ property – Insurance, damages, theft etc.
Where a foster carer’s home or property is damaged or items are alleged to
have been stolen by the activities of a young person in their care, the foster
carer should first report the matter to their supervising social worker. They
should then refer to their domestic/car insurance policy and the police if
necessary. Where an insurance policy does not provide cover, or the claim is
refused, BCBC will consider making a payment depending on the
circumstances.
The supervising social worker will need to prepare a report for consideration by
the Head of Service. Only the Head of Service, in conjunction with BCBC’s
Insurance Officers, can agree any compensation.

5.15 Payment adjustments
14

Page 472

Where over payments or under payments occur, the money will be recovered
or supplemented as quickly as possible. This will usually be by an adjustment
of the next payment.
All foster carers have a responsibility to notify their social worker AND the
Fostering Service by phone or email on the day a child leaves the placement
or the next working day.
If a foster carer continues to receive payments after reporting that a child has
left their care then they must contact the Fostering Service immediately. Any
overpayments must be repaid in full to Bridgend County Borough Council.

5.16 Temporary absence from placement (admission to hospital):
Full payments continue for up to 4 weeks and we will review this thereafter.

5.17 Christmas/Festival and Birthday allowances
No additional payment is made in relation to Christmas/Festival and birthday
allowances as an amount is included within the weekly fee to pay for this.

5.18 Holiday allowance
No additional payment is made in relation to holidays as an amount is included
within the weekly fee to pay for this.

5.19 Pocket Money
The following principles should guide the payment of pocket money to care
experienced children and young people:






Having pocket money is good for the child/young person. It gives a sense of
independence and a measure of choice in making decisions about how the
money is spent.
Receiving pocket money helps children understand the value of money and
is the start of developing budgeting skills.
Carers must encourage children/young people to open a personal savings
account.
The amount to be paid must be clarified at the outset of a placement and
addressed within the placement plan. The rate of pocket money paid should
be kept under review by all concerned. Setting the appropriate level is
dependent on close communication between the carer, child/young person
and their social worker and your supervising social worker. If a child/young

15

Page 473












person is not happy with amount paid, it should be clear how they can raise
their dissatisfaction.
Increase pocket money by a fixed amount at each birthday. In many families
an understanding may be reached that once a child is old enough to help out
with basic household chores, top-ups to pocket money can be arranged in
exchange for jobs done. In some foster placements this could be appropriate,
especially in long term placements where such an understanding and trust
could be built up over time. In shorter term placements this may be less easy
to achieve or inappropriate.
As a child gets older s/he may want more expensive extras which can be
reflected in pocket money or be paid for by the carer out of the basic
allowance received.
To promote a child/young person’s positive contact with their birth family topups to their pocket money will need to be made to enable birthday and
Christmas presents to be bought for birth and foster family members.
It would be unfair if foster children received either more or less than the foster
carer’s own children where their ages are similar.
The rate of pocket money paid to young people should be realistic and
guidelines can be found at Appendix 8. It is the responsibility of carers and
social workers to help ensure the smooth transition to independent living
after foster care. It would be unhelpful to this process if a young person’s
pocket money enabled her/him to enter into a lifestyle which was not possible
if s/he later had to live independently.
The withholding of pocket money as a punishment is not permissible and
alternative acceptable sanctions should be used instead.

5.20 Payments to carers facing an allegation who have children removed as
a result
Where carers are subject to an allegation and a child or children placed with
them are removed as a result, the carer will continue to receive the Enhanced
Allowance for a period of up to four weeks (for each child) whilst investigations
are undertaken i.e. a payment of £148.88 per week per child placed for a child
or children aged 0-10 years to £189.61 per week if the child or children are aged
11-17 years of age. Should an investigation still be ongoing after the four week
period, the situation will be referred to the Head of Service for consideration to
continue the payment.

5.21 Refer a Friend Recruitment Reward Payment
Our ‘refer a friend’ recruitment reward payment is designed to reward carers
who refer someone to us who goes on to become a foster carer. We will pay a
16

Page 474

£250 reward payment to any BCBC foster carer who successfully refers a family
member or friend to our service. If the friend or family member becomes one of
our approved foster carers, the referring foster carer will receive their £250
reward payment as soon as they take their first placement for us.

5.22 Liaison Foster Carers
Liaison Foster Carers are experienced carers available to provide guidance
with queries, concerns and emotional support. The Liaison Carers also run
regular coffee mornings providing foster carers with an opportunity to meet and
provide support to one another. Liaison Carers also support carers to attend
meetings with the team, or if they experience an allegation. Each Liaison carer
will receive £90 per week for undertaking this role.

5.23 Complex Needs Allowance
Any Approved Foster carers who support children who require a solo placement
or present with complex health or behavioural issues, may receive an additional
allowance to enable them to support the child’s needs. Such circumstances may
include but are not limited to:



A child’s needs requiring a foster carer to make significant adjustments to
their working hours over and above reasonable expectations.
A child being out of education for a significant period or subject to a
substantially reduced timetable as a result of complex needs.
Significant risks posed to the child or placement household from others
requiring additional safety measures to be put in place.

Complex needs allowances are considered on a case-by-case basis at the
discretion of the local authority in extraordinary circumstances. Complex needs
allowances are subject to regular review and are agreed on a time limited basis.
The process for agreeing complex needs allowances can be found at Appendix
9.

17

Page 475

Appendix 1
Fostering Allowances 2021/2022
Age
0 – 4yrs
5 – 10yrs
11 – 15yrs
16 – 17yrs

Allowance (weekly)
£194.00
£177.00
£220.00
£224.37

Fostering Allowances 2022/2023
Age
0 – 4yrs
5 – 10yrs
11 – 17yrs

Allowance (weekly)
£200.00
£183.00
£228.00

Appendix 2
Enhanced Allowances
Age
0 – 4yrs
5 – 10yrs
11 – 17yrs
Appendix 3

Acrobat Document

Appendix 4

Enhanced Allowance
Assessment.docx

18

Page 476

Allowance (weekly)
£148.88
£148.88
£189.61

Appendix 5
Parent and Child Placements
Payment for
Baby
Parent

Fostering Allowance (weekly Enhanced
(weekly)
£194.00
£148.88
£224.37
£189.61
£418.37
£338.49
Total
£756.86

Allowance

Appendix 6
Initial Clothing Allowances
Age
0-4
5 - 10
11 - 15
16 - 17

Amount
£87
£109
£135
£154

Appendix 7
School Uniform Allowance
Age
3 - 10
11 - 17

Amount
£46
£60.50

Appendix 8
Pocket money guidelines
Age of Child
Under 5 Years
5 years – 7 years
8 years – 10 years
11years – 12 years
13years – 15 years
16 years – 17 years (year 11)
16 years – 17 years (in continuing education)
16 years - 17 years (unemployed)
19

Page 477

Weekly minimum amount
£3.00
£5.00
£6.00
£7.50
£9.00
£14.00
£26.00
£15.00

Appendix 9
Complex needs allowance
Complex need identified by Supervising Social Worker

Memo produced for the Fostering Team Manager outlining supporting information for
the complex needs allowance:





Child’s needs
Impact on carer
Amount and duration of payment
Frequency of review

If the Team Manager is in support of the allowance, the memo will be submitted to
Accommodation and Permanence Panel for approval

In situations where a complex needs allowance has been identified by the Team
Manager prior to or during placement searches, this can be agreed via the Group
Manager for Placements and Provider Services (or another Group Manager in their
absence). In such situations the complex needs allowance will need to be reviewed
via Accommodation and Permanence Panel 3 months after the placement has
commenced.

20

Page 478

Agenda Item 18
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
08 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
NATIONAL COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR WELSH (LOCAL AUTHORITY)
ADOPTION AND FOSTERING SERVICES
NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE FOR WALES AND FOSTER WALES – ENHANCING
GOVERNANCE, LEADERSHIP AND ENABLING
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to:










approve the Council entering into the Joint Committee Arrangement;
delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
and the Chief Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate
Policy to agree the final terms of and enter into the Joint Committee
Agreement for the National Adoption Service as the legal document that
formally establishes the Joint Committee with delegated functions;
approve the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing sitting as
the Council’s representative on the Joint Committee
approve Cardiff Council acting as host authority for the arrangement and
delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
and the Chief Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate
Policy to agree the final terms of and enter into the hosting agreement;
delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing
in consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
and the Chief Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate
Policy to agree the terms of and enter into any ancillary documents which the
Council is required to enter into as a result of this arrangement;
note that a report will be presented to Council to amend the Council’s
Constitution as necessary to facilitate the operation of the Joint Committee
Agreement for the National Adoption Service.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015:


Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or

Page 479

dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.


Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The National Adoption Service (NAS) has been in existence since 2014 and has
enabled significant change and improvement in adoption services across Wales. Its
structure and governance through national, regional and local arrangements were
agreed by all councils at that time; a review in 2018 led to proposals to streamline
governance and improve accountability. Some of these e.g. creating a Combined
Governance Board (bringing together the Advisory Group and Governance Board
required by the legislation) and a new Partnership Agreement to replace the original
functional model have been already implemented.

3.2

Legal advice obtained by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA)
determined that in order for NAS to operate effectively on behalf of all 22 Welsh
local authorities, and for there to be a robust hosting arrangement with the host
authority for the national and enabling functions (Cardiff), co-operation between
Welsh local authorities needed to be put on a formal footing. The preference of the
WLGA and the Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADDSC) was
that this should be through a Joint Committee. Work on a National Joint
Committee, to give proper effect to the co-operation and oversight from all 22 local
authorities, has continued and is ready for implementation.

3.3

Since 2015, the National Adoption Service Director and central team has been
supporting the work of the National Fostering Framework (NFF) to create a similar
national, regional and local collaborative arrangement to improve Welsh fostering
services albeit not through the creation of a national fostering service. Foster
Wales has now emerged from the NFF and will support a defined range of fostering
functions linked to recruitment and retention of local authority foster carers.
Throughout this time, the WLGA and ADSS-Cymru as lead bodies wanted the
national functions for fostering to be linked to the National Adoption Service national
functions to reduce duplication and costs as well as to maximise resilience,
flexibility and longevity across both functions.

3.4

The proposed Joint Committee and the agreement underpinning it have been
extended to include Foster Wales as has the capacity and functions for national coordination and enabling through a combined Central Team. The linking to the Joint
Committee is critical for Foster Wales given the lack of a legislative basis for such
co-operation for fostering services.

Page 480

4.

Current situation/proposal
Governance - Establishment of a Joint Committee

4.1

The National Joint Committee will, on behalf of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities,
exercise their powers for the provision of the collaborative arrangements for the
National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) and for Foster Wales (FW). It will be
comprised of Council Members meeting twice yearly.

4.2

WLGA lawyers have drafted a Joint Committee legal Agreement to be signed by all
22 local authorities. This also contains a formal Scheme of Delegation and
provision for the formal agreement with the host local authority for national
functions.

4.3

The Joint Committee will provide the mechanism for all Welsh local authorities to
discharge an executive and oversight role for NAS and FW. It will approve /
receive:





The Annual Report of NAS and of Foster Wales;
The annual programme of work for the NAS and for Foster Wales;
The budget for the office of the Director and national work for NAS and for FW;
and
The agreement, and any changes to the agreement, for the host authority
support of the office of the Director and national work for NAS and FW.

For the National Adoption Service only it will also oversee how the authorities work
together to exercise their powers and comply with the National Assembly Directions.
Enabling - National infrastructure
4.4

A functional structure is proposed which, below the Director, has separate lead
functions for adoption and fostering but a combined business and enabling function
supporting both.

4.5

The core funding for the national functions for the National Adoption Service and
Foster Wales is provided from a top slice of the Revenue Support Grant made
available through the WLGA. This allocation, currently £473k per annum for
adoption and £400k per annum for fostering, is subject to the agreement of the
relevant WLGA committee periodically. Foster Wales has been awarded Welsh
Government grant funding up to the end of March 2023 to fund specific purposes,
this is £573k for 2021/22 reducing by a small amount for 2022/23. Although Welsh
Government investment is available to adoption this is fully utilised for direct service
delivery through the regional structure. There are resources in both the Foster
Wales WLGA allocation and the Foster Wales Welsh Government grant aid that
part fund posts on a regional basis to directly support local authority activities.

4.6

The total cost of the proposed national structure is £586,384 for 2021/22 salary
rates. Total available core budget across NAS and Foster Wales for 2021/22 is circa
£1,449,000 albeit that over half the Foster Wales funding stream is subject to Welsh
Government grant conditions for specific purposes as indicated above.

4.7

The structure is affordable up to the end of the Welsh Government Grant period
(31.03.23) but there are pressures on staffing and operating budgets for both NAS
and Foster Wales beyond that. The financial pressures have been flagged with

Page 481

Welsh Government, but work is commencing to consider how to resolve this beyond
the current grant aid period. Resolving this will require the commitment of both
Local Government and Welsh Government.
4.8

The proposals outlined are being progressed in order to formalise and consolidate
the existing position of the Central Team in respect of the work it is currently doing
for the National Adoption Service and for Foster Wales. This will allow both
collaborative arrangements to continue to function and meet agreed plans and
commitments in the short to medium term.
Engagement of stakeholders

4.9

Local authority members have been kept informed throughout via the WLGA, most
recently, during September 2021 via the Cabinet Members (social care and health)
Network and the WLGA Council.

4.10 The National Adoption Service Governance Board, the Foster Wales Lead Heads of
Children’s Services and Social Services Directors via ADSSC have agreed these
proposals in principle.
4.11 The proposals have been informed by and developed with the full engagement of
these key stakeholder groups.
4.12 Individual local authorities remain legally responsible and accountable for the
provision of adoption and fostering services. In respect of adoption services, the legal
provisions outlined in section 4.13 below require adoption responsibilities to be
delivered in accordance with the arrangements for the National Adoption Service.
4.13 The legal basis underpinning the National Adoption Service is contained in section
3A of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (which was inserted by the Social Services
and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014) and the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint
Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015.
These set out in detail
expectations on local authorities to co-operate at regional and national level to deliver
and improve adoption services. They do not, however, contain provisions that
explicitly create a mechanism that gives proper legal effect to the co-operation at
national level or for the agreement with one local authority to host the national
functions. The Joint Committee, and the Agreement that will accompany it, will put
this on a formal legal footing as well as providing greater clarity and certainty for all
authorities, the WLGA as well as the National Adoption Service and Foster Wales.
4.14 There are no regulations underpinning Foster Wales so the Joint Committee will
provide the basis for the co-operation that is needed so it can operate as proposed.
5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

A report will be presented to Council to amend the Council’s Constitution as
necessary to facilitate the operation of the Joint Committee Agreement for the
National Adoption Service.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty
and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,

Page 482

strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.
7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the
authority should work to deliver outcomes for people. The following is a summary to
show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have been
considered in this report:
Long term – Adoption and fostering services provide stable, loving homes for care
experienced children and therefore support their long-term wellbeing.
Prevention – Adoption and fostering services are effective in preventing breakdown
of children’s accommodation, care and support arrangements.
Integration – Regional adoption collaboratives which come under the governance of
the NAS include partners from health and third sector employment agencies as well
as local authorities.
Collaboration – There is an expectation upon local authorities to co-operate at
regional and national level to deliver and improve adoption and fostering services.
The Joint Committee, and the Agreement that will accompany it, will put this on a
formal legal footing as well as providing greater clarity and certainty for all authorities
Involvement – Key stakeholders have been involved and informed throughout, and
proposals have been developed with full engagement of key stakeholder groups.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

As outlined above, funding for the governance arrangements and central / national
leadership and enabling, is provided from the WLGA via a top slice of the Rate
Support Grant plus grant funding from the Welsh Government. There is no
expectation that individual councils will incur additional costs in relation to these
functions.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:






approves the Council entering into the Joint Committee Arrangement;
delegates authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing in
consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and the Chief
Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy to agree the final
terms of and enter into the Joint Committee Agreement for the National Adoption
Service as the legal document that formally establishes the Joint Committee with
delegated functions;
approves the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing sitting as the
Council’s representative on the Joint Committee;
approves Cardiff Council acting as host authority for the arrangement and delegates
authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing in consultation

Page 483





with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and the Chief Officer –
Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy to agree the final terms of and
enter into the hosting agreement;
delegates authority to the Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing in
consultation with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and the Chief
Officer – Legal & Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy to agree the terms
of and enter into any ancillary documents which the Council is required to enter into
as a result of this arrangement;
note that a report will be presented to Council to amend the Council’s Constitution as
necessary to facilitate the operation of the Joint Committee Agreement for the
National Adoption Service.

Claire Marchant
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
March 2022

Contact officer:

Laura Kinsey
Head of Children’s Social Care

Telephone:

(01656) 642314

Email:

laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:
None

Page 484

Agenda Item 19
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
EXTENDING THE TERM OF THE CURRENT SECTION 33 AGREEMENT FOR ADULTS
AND OLDER PEOPLE SERVICES
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to the extension of the
current Section 33 Agreement for Adults and Older People Services which covers
partnership arrangements with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board for
Intermediate Care Services through the integrated community resource team . This
will enable sufficient planning time to progress a number of service and strategic
developments across the region and in the locality.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

Following transition to Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Heath Board from the former
Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board, a formal partnership agreement
took effect for Adults and Older People Services from 1st April 2019. This
agreement ends 31st March 2022.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

In 2019 the integrated services in Bridgend embarked on a programme of change
as part of the bid for Welsh Government’s transformation funding. This programme
is known as “Accelerating the Pace of Change”.

4.2

This programme was building upon a suite of intermediate care services and also
looked to extend this wider multi-disciplinary team (MDT) approach within the

Page 485

integrated cluster networks with primary care, community service and social care.
Underpinning this ambitious approach was to build more resilient communities.
4.3

Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board clarified their intention to continue
with and progress further with integration. In order to progress this, the Bridgend
Integrated Locality Group and Social Care embarked on a piece of work in Summer
2021 to:



establish a baseline assessment of the current service model
develop a new optimal model for integrated community services in Bridgend
enable the service to adopt a model of best practice which could be used
across the region.

4.4

The focus of health and social care services, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, has
meant this work has not been able to progress as originally anticipated. There are
ongoing discussions at the senior level in both organisations of the next steps in
terms of service development and the regional approach to integration.

4.5

Due to the delays identified at the Joint Partnership Board for the Integrated
Community Services, which was held on 20th October 2021, it was a recommended
that the current Section 33 agreement be extended for 2 years to 31st March 2024
whilst the work to accelerate further integration progresses as we recover from the
pandemic and return to more strategic work.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon Policy Framework or Procedure Rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic
Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The request to extend the current Section 33 agreement for Adults and Older People
Services supports the five ways of working under the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015, as follows:
Long Term – The proposal aims to increase the time available for strategic planning
for the future of integrated community services.
Prevention – Integrated community services work in a pre emptive way and are
therefore essential preventative services that aim to maintain independence and
support people to live for longer within their own homes for as long as is possible.
Integration – Integrated community cervices are an integrated service governed
under a Section 33 agreement with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board.

Page 486

The request for this extension has originated from the Joint Partnership Board for
Integrated Community Services.
Collaboration – The integrated community services are founded on close
collaboration between the primary care, third sector, community services and
secondary health services.
Involvement – Key stakeholders have been involved in the decision to request
additional time to develop a new optimal model for integrated community services in
Bridgend.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

The current percentage of the council’s financial contribution to the Section 33
agreement would remain unchanged during the two year extension period.

8.2

The Section 33 agreement is funded from Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate
core budgets. There are therefore no financial implications arising as a result of this
report.

9.

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:


Approve the extension of the current Section 33 agreement for the Adults and Older
People Services with Cwm Taff Morgannwg University Health Board Board for a
further two years to 31st March 2024 to support the strategic planning of the future
service model.



Delegate authority to the Corporate Director for Social Services and Wellbeing, in
consultation with the Chief Officer - Finance, Performance & Change and the Chief
Officer, Legal Regulatory Services, HR & Corporate Policy, to negotiate and enter
into a variation agreement to the Section 33 agreement for Adults and Older People
Services with Cwm Taff Morgannwg University Health Board Board to effect the
above extension.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing
March 2022
Contact officer:

Michelle King
Integrated Community Services Manager- CRT

Telephone:

(01656) 815888

Email:

Michelle.King@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Trem y Mor, Bettws Road, Bettws, Bridgend.

Background documents: None

Page 487

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 20
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT
FAMILY GROUP CONFERENCE SERVICE
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is in relation to the delivery of the Family Group
Conference (FGC) Service and to seek approval from Cabinet to suspend the
Council’s contract procedure rules (CPRs) to enter into a contract with TGP Cymru
for 6 months to deliver the FGC service.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:


Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.



Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to
have active, healthy and independent lives.



Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

FGC is an approach to working with children and families which enables parents,
carers and wider family support networks manage the risks related to the care of
their children. It is an approach that has been identified by Welsh Government as
an essential area of practice for local authorities to use, to prevent children
becoming looked after or to return children home to their families.

3.2

Since 2019, Bridgend County Borough Council has been working in partnership
with the sole provider of this service in the region, TGP Cymru. Funding has been
provided through Welsh Government grants or slippage within existing service
budgets. The Council waivered the CPRs at this time and direct awarded to TGP
Cymru via delegated powers.

Page 489

3.3

TGP Cymru is a Wales-based charity that works with children, young people and
families. TGP Cymru is working with 15 other local authorities on this and other
agendas such as advocacy. TGP Cymru has a history of achieving positive
outcomes for families by providing good quality family group conferencing services
to local authorities across Wales and has been doing so since 2000. The model
includes all elements of the traditional family group conferencing model and an
ethos and value base for working with people, rather than doing things to them or
for them. The support is underpinned by the principles of non-judgement, openness,
transparency, mutual respect and inclusion.

3.4

Welsh Government provided specific funding in relation to the delivery of FGCs
across Wales for 2020-2021. Funding for 2021-22 has been provided from under
spends in existing budgets within the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate.
The current service arrangement is due to expire on 31 March 2022.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The existing contract in relation to the Family Group Conferencing service with TGP
Cymru ends on 31 March 2022, with no option to extend. The Council is required
under its CPRs and the Public Contract Regulations 2015 to conduct a tender for
the provision of this service via a competitive procurement exercise. However, if a
procurement exercise were to be run, it will not be concluded by the contract expiry
date of 31 March 2022.

4.2

With the increase in demand for FGCs in Bridgend, (100 referrals in 2021 compared
with just 27 in 2020) cessation of the service would pose a risk to the ongoing
delivery of essential services to children and young people and their families.
Maintaining this provision via TGP Cymru for a six-month period would ensure
continuity of support for families already engaged with the service and continuity for
children’s social care staff who have attended awareness raising sessions, training
and joint working with TGP Cymru. These relationships have been built and
enhanced over the past two years and have led to positive working relationships
being established.

4.3

Positive outcomes have been generated for families engaged with TGP Cymru.
Feedback from families who have been involved with the service has been positive.

4.4

It is therefore proposed that the Council’s CPRs be suspended and a contract be
entered into for a six-month period in order for continued support to be provided via
TGP Cymru. The value of this contract for a six-month period would equate to £70k.
During this period, a commissioning exercise will be undertaken to appoint a
provider via a competitive procurement process and in accordance with the
Council’s CPRs.

4.5

The CPRs ensure that procurement exercises are lawful and carried out in
compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 to satisfy principles of
transparency, non-discrimination and equal treatment. Cabinet should be aware,
that by not complying with the CPRs the Council is exposed to the risk of potential
challenge from other providers of such services, as we are entering into a contract
without any competition which breaches the requirements of procurement
legislation.

Page 490

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules
5.1

This report seeks the suspension of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic
Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh language have been considered in the
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider the
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies,
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

A summary of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment
is listed below:
Long-term

Children and families are enabled to take control and
responsibility for the care and protection without intervention
from the local authority. Children remain in the care of the
families and are supported by their carers to reach their full
potential.

Prevention

The focus of the service is to prevent children becoming looked
after by the local authority and to remain in the care of their
immediate or wider family where it is safe to do so.

Integration

The service is a multi-agency partnership where integration is
key to good service delivery arrangements.

Collaboration

Collaboration is a key approach of the service and involved
children, young people, parents, carers, wider family members
and professionals to ensure the safety of children and families.

Involvement

Participation and engagement arrangements will be
strengthened as part of this working arrangement.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

An earmarked reserve of £70k will be utilised to support the 6 month contract with
TGP Cymru.

8.2

The Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate and the Education and Family Support
Directorate will seek to identify future funding opportunities to support the service
beyond the six-month period, by when, the outcome of the procurement exercise will
be known.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:

Page 491



suspends the relevant parts of the Council’s CPRs in respect of the
requirements relating to the procurement of the contract for the provisions of
the FGC Service; and



delegates authority to the Group Manager (Family Support) in consultation
with the Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and Section 151
Officer and Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate
Policy to enter into a contract for the provision of the FGC service with TGP
Cymru from 1 April 2022 until 30 September 2022.

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director – Education and Family Support
18 February 2022
Contact officer:

David Wright
Group Manager - Vulnerable Groups Support

Telephone:

(01656) 815424

Email:

david.wright@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address:

Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 492

Agenda Item 21
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND
FAMILY SUPPORT
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY 2023-2024
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval of the School Admissions
Policy 2023-2024.

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:
Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications
and ambitions for all people in the county borough.

3.

Background

3.1

Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 2013 (the Code) imposes
requirements on local authorities and admission authorities, regarding the discharge
of duties in respect of school admissions. The Council must act in accordance with
the Code, as determined by the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.

3.2.

The local authority has a statutory duty to consult with the governing bodies of
schools who have delegated admission powers, all neighbouring local authorities,
the admission authorities for all other maintained schools in the county borough and
the governing bodies of all other schools (ie community and voluntary controlled
schools that do not have delegated admission powers) in Bridgend.

3.3.

The local authority is required to annually publish an admissions policy and
guidance on the admission arrangements for its schools.

4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The Bridgend Admissions Forum agreed a draft School Admissions Policy for 20232024, as per the requirements under the Code.

4.2

The subsequent consultation on the 2023-2024 policy, including the published
admission numbers for the schools, took place with all parties between 21 January
2022 and 21 February 2022 (refer to paragraph 3.2).

4.3.

No representations were received in response to the consultation.

Page 493

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh language.
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.

6.2

It is a statutory duty that admission authorities are mindful of their duties with
regards to equalities legislation. The School Admissions Policy 2023-2024 adheres
to these requirements.

6.3

A Welsh Language Impact Assessment has been carried out (see Appendix B) and
in light that the local authority’s school admission arrangements remain
substantively the same as in previous years, the local authority is satisfied that
school admission arrangements to Welsh-medium schools will be at least
comparable with existing provision and that implementing the proposal should result
in a neutral impact on Welsh language development.

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been
completed. A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five
ways of working is as follows:
Long-term
The school admissions policy sets out how the local authority will balance the
discharge of its statutory duty in relation to parental preference, the need to
safeguard the delivery of effective education and the safety of pupils, and the need
to support pupils in particular circumstances (for example, learners with specific
vulnerabilities), in circumstances where the applications for places at a school
exceed the number of available places.
Prevention
Consultation on the school admissions policy allows stakeholders to raise issues or
make comments on proposals, for consideration of appropriate actions.
Integration
The school admissions policy supports the provision of education in the
communities in which pupils live.
Collaboration
Each year, the local authority works in conjunction with key stakeholders to develop
proposed school admission arrangements, for those schools for which it is the
admissions authority.
Involvement
In accordance with the specified requirements of the Education (Determination of

Page 494

Admission Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2006 and the School Admissions
Code 2013, the local authority consults each year on the proposed admission
arrangements for those schools for which it is the admissions authority.
Consultation for an academic year takes place two years in advance.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

There are no financial implications regarding this report.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

Cabinet is recommended to approve the Schools Admissions Policy 2023-2024 (as
in Appendix A).

Mr Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director – Education and Family Support
8 March 2022
Contact Officer:
Telephone:
E-mail:
Postal Address:

Dawn Davies
Principal Officer – Business Strategy and Performance
(01656) 642694
Dawn.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk
Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Attachments:
Appendix A: School Admissions Policy 2023-2024
Appendix B: Welsh Language Impact Assessment
Background documents:
None

Page 495

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg/This document is available in Welsh

School Admissions Policy
2023-2024
(1 September 2023 – 31 August 2024)

Page 1 of 48

Page 497

Appendix A
Table of contents
1.
The admission authority ...................................................................................... 4
1.1
Admission to voluntary controlled schools ..................................................... 4
1.2
Admission to voluntary aided schools ............................................................ 4
1.3
Admissions to sixth forms .............................................................................. 5
1.4
Admissions to special schools ....................................................................... 5
2.
Parental preference ............................................................................................. 5
3.
School catchment areas ...................................................................................... 7
4.
School capacity and published admission number .............................................. 7
5.
Infant class size limit ........................................................................................... 8
6.
Welsh-medium education .................................................................................... 9
7.
Arrangements with other local authorities ........................................................... 9
8.
Ensuring fair access ............................................................................................ 9
8.1
Children from overseas and UK children living abroad ................................ 10
8.2
Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a
local authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP) .................................... 10
8.3
Children with additional learning needs (but without a statement of SEN or a
local authority-maintained IDP) .................................................................................. 10
8.4
Children with disabilities .............................................................................. 10
8.5
Children with challenging behaviours .......................................................... 10
8.6
Looked after and previously looked after children ....................................... 11
8.7
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller children ........................................................... 12
8.8
Children of serving UK service personnel and other serving Crown Servants
(including diplomats)................................................................................................... 12
8.9
All vulnerable or hard-to-place children ....................................................... 13
8.10
School ‘managed moves’............................................................................. 13
9.
Requests for admission outside of the normal age group ................................. 13
10. Information or circumstances that the local authority does not consider when
making admission decisions ....................................................................................... 14
11. Equalities........................................................................................................... 14
12. Data protection and information sharing............................................................ 15
13. Admissions rounds ............................................................................................ 15
13.1
Submission of applications ......................................................................... 15
13.2
Nursery class admissions rounds ............................................................... 17
13.3
Primary/infant school admission round (reception year) ............................ 25
13.4
Junior school admission round (Year 3) ..................................................... 28
13.5
Secondary school admission round (Year 7) ............................................. 30
14. Explanations of oversubscription criteria ........................................................... 33
14.1
Looked after and previously looked after children ...................................... 33
14.2
Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a
local authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP) .................................... 34
14.3
Children for whom a placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons .......................................................................................... 34
14.4
Child’s address / place of ordinary residence .............................................. 34
14.5
Siblings ........................................................................................................ 36
14.6
Multiple birth children ................................................................................... 37
14.7
Proximity to school ...................................................................................... 38
15. The offer process for admissions rounds .......................................................... 38
15.1
Offer dates ................................................................................................... 38
Page 2 of 48

Page 498

Appendix A
15.2
Communication of the outcome ................................................................... 38
15.3
Waiting lists ................................................................................................. 39
16. In-year admissions/transfers ............................................................................. 39
16.1
Circumstances in which an in-year admission/transfer application is required
................................................................................................................................... 39
16.2
School transfers ............................................................................................ 39
16.3
‘Advance’ requests ....................................................................................... 40
16.4
Availability of places ..................................................................................... 40
16.5
Consideration of applications........................................................................ 40
16.6
Communication of the outcome .................................................................... 40
16.7
Offer of a place at an alternative school ....................................................... 41
16.8
Waiting lists .................................................................................................. 41
17. Admission appeals ............................................................................................ 42
17.1
General ......................................................................................................... 42
17.2
Registering an appeal ................................................................................... 42
17.3
Arrangements for the appeal hearing ........................................................... 43
17.4
Repeat appeals ............................................................................................ 43
18. The Bridgend Admission Forum ........................................................................ 44
19. Additional information ........................................................................................ 44
20. Queries.............................................................................................................. 45
Appendix A - Admission numbers............................................................................... 46

Page 3 of 48

Page 499

Appendix A
1.

The admission authority

The entry of children to schools is controlled and administered by an ‘admission authority’. In
the case of community schools in Bridgend, the admission authority is Bridgend County
Borough Council (also referred to in this document as ‘the local authority’).
In accordance with the Education (Relevant Areas for Consultation on Admission
Arrangements) Regulations 1999, the relevant area for the admission authority is the
geographical area of the County Borough of Bridgend.
Where the local authority is the admission authority, the school’s governing body is under a
duty to implement the local authority’s decisions on applications, and to act in accordance
with the local authority’s admission arrangements.
The local authority continuously reviews and reserves the right to amend its
admissions procedures for statutory and non-statutory education.
The local authority has no arrangements for the provision of education at schools not
maintained by the local authority.
1.1

Admission to voluntary controlled schools

The one voluntary controlled school in the Bridgend County Borough is Pen y Fai Church in
Wales Primary School, which is financed by the local authority. The admissions criteria are
consistent with that of the local authority, as detailed in this policy, and with the Trust Deed
of the school. Appeal arrangements are managed by the local authority and are consistent
with the provision of the Trust Deed.
1.2

Admission to voluntary aided schools

There are five voluntary aided schools in the Bridgend County Borough, which are financed
largely by the local authority. These are:
1. St Mary’s Catholic Primary School
2. St Mary’s and St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School
3. St Robert’s Roman Catholic Primary School
4. Archdeacon John Lewis Church in Wales Primary School
5. Archbishop McGrath Catholic High School
The governing body of each voluntary aided school is the admission authority with
responsibility for all admission arrangements. Parents/carers who wish to seek admission/s
to these schools will need to contact the school/s directly for further information.

Page 4 of 48

Page 500

Appendix A
1.3

Admissions to sixth forms

The local authority is the admitting authority for post-16 admissions to sixth forms in the
community schools within the Bridgend County Borough. However, the individual schools
administer the admission arrangements on behalf of the local authority. Therefore,
applications in this category should be made directly to the school.
While the local authority has a policy of open access to schools’ sixth forms, the individual
schools are responsible for determining and issuing entry criteria on sixth-form admissions.
Admission arrangements for other post-16 further education institutions are determined by
those institutions and applications should be made directly to the institution/s concerned.

1.4

Admissions to special schools

The two special schools in the Bridgend County Borough are regional centres with pupils
admitted from neighbouring local authorities. Admissions to these schools are not included
within, or subject to the provisions of this policy.

2.

Parental preference

2.1 The duty to comply with parental preference
In relation to admissions to primary schools (excluding nursery classes), junior schools and
secondary schools (including sixth forms), the local authority has a statutory duty to have
regard to the general principle that pupils are to be educated in accordance with the wishes
of their parents/carers, so far as that would be compatible with the provision of efficient
education and the avoidance of unreasonable public expenditure (S.9 Education Act 1996).
The local authority applies the same principle of parental preference to applications for nonstatutory, nursery education in a local authority-maintained school.
The duty of the local authority to comply with parental preference does not apply where:
1. To admit would be incompatible with the statutory duty to meet infant class size
regulations.
2. To admit the child would prejudice the provision of efficient education or efficient use
of resources.
3. Where arrangements for entry to a school’s sixth form are based wholly on selection
by reference to ability or aptitude and compliance with the preference would be
incompatible with selection under those arrangements.
Page 5 of 48

Page 501

Appendix A

4. The child has been permanently excluded from two or more schools. Where this is
the case, the local authority is not required to comply with parental preference for a
school place for a period of two years from the first school day of the second exclusion.
This disapplication from the requirement to comply with parental preference does not
apply to:
 pupils who were below compulsory school age when they were excluded;
 pupils who were reinstated after permanent exclusion or pupils who would have
been reinstated following a permanent exclusion had it been practicable to do so;
 pupils with statements of special educational need; and
 pupils who are looked after (the application for admission must be made by the
corporate parent), or previously looked after children (the application for admission
must be accompanied by evidence of the previously looked-after status).
2.2 Compliance with parental preference
Within the Bridgend County Borough, each school has an area it serves (its catchment);
however, the local authority must allow all parents/carers the opportunity to express a positive
preference for the school they wish their child to attend. While most parents/carers are happy
to choose their catchment school, it is necessary for that school to be selected by
parents/carers on a school admission or in-year school admission/transfer application. The
application allows parents/carers to list more than one school in order of preference. The
local authority will offer a place at the highest available preferred school.
The local authority is committed to the principle of providing local schools for local children
and will make every effort to ensure that parents/carers are able to secure a place for their
child/ren at the catchment school, where parents/carers have expressed a positive
preference for that school. However, parents/carers must not automatically assume that a
place will be available for their child at their catchment school, or any particular school.
The local authority will meet the preferences for admission expressed by parents/carers
ahead of those who have expressed no preference. Consequently, for the admissions
rounds, parents/carers must ensure they record their preference/s on the school admission
application and that the application is submitted to the local authority by the stated deadline.
2.3 Changes to an expressed parental preference
For admission rounds, if the parent/carer wishes to make a change to the school preference/s
after the application has been submitted to the local authority:

Page 6 of 48

Page 502

Appendix A
1. The change must be notified to the local authority in writing (email or letter).
2. If the change is notified to the local authority before the published closing date for the
admission round, the change will be taken into consideration in the application of
oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places.
3. If the change is notified to the local authority after the closing date for the admission
round, the school preference/s recorded on the application will be used in the
application of oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places. The parent/carer
will have the option to complete and submit a late application if the allocated place is
at a school that is no longer the preferred school, which would be subject to the
provisions relevant to late applications (see section 13.1). However, in these
circumstances, the local authority will offer the applicant the option to, instead,
maintain the original application and school preference/s.
If a parent/carer expresses a preference for only one school and a place is not offered at that
preferred school, the local authority will take no further action in respect of the application.
The parent/carer will be required to complete and submit a new application for any alternative
school, which will be processed as a late application in accordance with the provisions of
section 13.1.

3.
3.1

School catchment areas
Welsh-medium and faith schools

There are no catchment areas for the Welsh-medium schools and faith schools within
Bridgend.
3.2

All other schools

School catchment area maps are published on the local authority’s website.
Catchment areas are subject to change, with any changes being subject to consultation prior
to implementation.
There is no right to, or guarantee of, an offer of a place at a child’s catchment area
school.

4.

School capacity and published admission number

The capacity of a school is the number of pupil places it contains.
Welsh Government has published a capacity calculation methodology for all schools. This
aims to provide a robust and consistent method of assessing the pupil capacity of all
community, voluntary aided, voluntary controlled and foundation schools in Wales.
Page 7 of 48

Page 503

Appendix A
A school’s calculated capacity is based on existing accommodation at a school and its usage.
For statutory-age year groups (reception to Year 11) the calculated capacity informs the
published admissions number for a school.
Appendix A provides the published admission numbers for all schools for which the local
authority is the admitting authority.
For a normal year of entry (ie reception and Year 7), the local authority must admit pupils up
to the published admission number (with the exception of twice-excluded pupils – see section
2).
For all other years, it is not a statutory requirement that the local authority admits pupils up
to the published admission number, although the local authority will generally do so.
However, in the case of infant classes (reception, Year 1 and Year 2), infant class size
legislation is relevant (see section 5). The local authority is entitled to refuse admission for
places in any year other than the normal year of entry (ie reception), if offering a place would
result in class size prejudice (eg necessitating that the school employs an additional teacher
or creates another classroom). This means that the local authority may refuse admission to
Year 1 and Year 2 if offering a place would result in class size prejudice, even if the admission
number has not been reached in relation to these year groups.
As the published admission number reflects the school’s ability to accommodate pupils, the
local authority will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional
circumstances.

5.

Infant class size limit

To improve educational standards in schools, The School Admission (Infant Class Size)
(Wales) Regulations 2013 limit the number of children in reception, Year 1 and Year 2 classes
to 30 when a single qualified teacher is present.
The local authority will refuse admission to classes in these year groups if an admission would
result in the infant class size limit being breached (ie it would result in infant class size
prejudice), unless the situation is such that an exception to the infant class size limit is
permitted by the legislation, eg the admission of children who are looked after or previously
looked after.
In relation to the reception year, infant class size prejudice does not arise if the number of
pupils in the reception year has not reached the school’s published admission number.
Decisions on the structure of classes at a school is reserved to the headteacher. If a
headteacher decides to operate a mixed-age class where some of the pupils in the class are
reception, Year 1 or Year pupils, the infant class size limit will only apply if the majority of the
pupils in the class are reception, Year 1 or Year 2 pupils.
Page 8 of 48

Page 504

Appendix A
6.

Welsh-medium education

In accordance with statutory requirements, the local authority policy is that every child should
have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language.
With regard to school admissions, provision is made for this in the following ways:
1. The teaching of Welsh as a second language in English-medium schools.
2. Welsh-medium education at four Welsh-medium primary schools and one Welshmedium secondary school located within the Bridgend County Borough.
Admission to the Welsh-medium schools in the Bridgend County Borough is controlled by the
provisions and criteria specified within this policy.
There are no catchment areas for the Welsh-medium schools in Bridgend.
A parent/carer can make an application for a place for their child at any Welsh-medium
school within the county. However, if a parent/carer chooses to apply for place at a Welshmedium school that is not the nearest Welsh-medium school to the child’s place of ordinary
residence, and that application is successful, there is no entitlement to free home-to-school
transport to that requested school.
Eligibility for school transport only applies where the child’s place of ordinary residence is
more than two miles from the nearest Welsh-medium primary school or three miles from the
nearest Welsh-medium secondary school.

7.

Arrangements with other local authorities

The local authority has made the following arrangements with Rhondda Cynon Taf County
Borough Council, where surplus admission places are available:
1. Pupils from Abercerdin Primary School may attend Tonyrefail Comprehensive School
with Bridgend County Borough Council being responsible for transport costs.
2. Pupils from Dolau Primary School, Brynnau Primary School and Llanharan Primary
School may attend Pencoed Comprehensive School with Rhondda Cynon Taf County
Borough Council being responsible for transport costs.

8.

Ensuring fair access

Considerations apply in respect of specific groups of children, as detailed below.

Page 9 of 48

Page 505

Appendix A
8.1

Children from overseas and UK children living abroad

The local authority will treat applications for such children on an individual basis and in
accordance with all applicable Welsh Government legislation/requirements, UK legislation
and Home Office rules. Also, any European Union law that may be applicable to the UK.
It should be expected that the local authority will seek information on a range of relevant
factors, including but not necessarily limited to:

8.2



when the child is expected to be resident in the UK; or



whether the parents/carers’ application for leave to enter the UK has been or will be
successful, or if it has been, on what terms entry has been granted.
Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a local
authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP)

Where a mainstream place in a community school is the named placement in a final
statement of SEN or a local authority maintained IDP, the local authority will admit the child
to that school.
8.3

Children with additional learning needs (but without a statement of SEN or a
local authority-maintained IDP)

Applications in respect of such children will be considered in the same way as all applications
on the basis of the procedures and admission criteria set out in this policy.
If a child is currently being assessed under the statutory process for a statement of SEN or a
local authority-maintained IDP, and at a later date, the local authority concludes that the child
should have a statement of SEN or a local authority-maintained IDP, the appropriate school
placement will be addressed as part of that statutory process.
8.4

Children with disabilities

The local authority will comply with the reasonable adjustments duty owed to disabled pupils,
as defined in the Equality Act 2010.
8.5

Children with challenging behaviours

The local authority will not refuse to admit a child on the basis of his/her behaviour. Such
children will include those who are considered to be potentially disruptive, exhibiting
challenging behaviours or those who may be considered as requiring assessment for special
educational needs.

Page 10 of 48

Page 506

Appendix A
After admission, a school may consider such disciplinary action as appropriate, in response
to challenging behaviour. However, children exhibiting challenging behaviours may be
disabled as defined by the Equality Act 2010 and require reasonable adjustments to be made
for them in school.
8.6

Looked after and previously looked after children

In respect of looked after children, the following provisions apply even if the corporate parent
is Bridgend County Borough Council.
Admissions rounds
Applications in respect of looked after and previously looked after children are prioritised
under the applicable oversubscription criteria, subject to:
1. The application for a looked after child is completed and submitted by the corporate
parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for looking after the child) and
supporting evidence is provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).
2. The application for a previously looked after children is accompanied by supporting
evidence from the former corporate parent.
In-year admissions/transfers
In accordance with the statutory School Admissions Code 2013, where in-year
admission/transfer of a looked after child is being sought, the corporate parent must consult
with the local authority before making the application. This is to ensure the appropriateness
of the preferred school in light of the child’s background and circumstances. This consultation
and completion of an application is also required in respect of looked after children who have
been permanently excluded from two or more schools.
Additionally, in the case of a looked after child who has been permanently excluded from two
or more schools, the corporate parent must also consult with the governing body of the
identified school.
In both instances, the consultation need not be onerous.
For applications for in-year admission/transfers in respect of looked after children, a place
will be offered at the agreed school and an exception to the infant class size limit (if relevant)
will be applied, subject to the application having been completed and submitted by the
corporate parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for the child) and supporting
evidence having been provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).
For applications for in-year admission/transfers in respect of previously looked after children,
a place will be offered at the preferred school and an exception to the infant class size limit
Page 11 of 48

Page 507

Appendix A
(if relevant) will be applied, subject to the application being accompanied by supporting
evidence from the former corporate parent.
The relevant supporting evidence referred to above must be submitted with the application.
8.7

Gypsy, Roma and Traveller children

When considering admission applications relating to Gypsy and Traveller children, the local
authority will take account of Welsh Government Circular No: 003/2008 (Moving Forward –
Gypsy Traveller Education) and sections 3.25 and 3.26 of the statutory School Admissions
Code for Wales, 2013.
8.8

Children of serving UK service personnel and other serving Crown Servants
(including diplomats)

‘UK service personnel’ refers to persons serving in the military forces. ‘Crown Servants’ are
officers of the UK government, including diplomats.
There is no automatic right to a place at a preferred school for children of serving UK service
personnel and other serving Crown Servants.
The local authority will accept a ‘unit’ postal address for applications from serving service
personnel in the absence of a new home postal address.
For normal admissions rounds, the local authority will treat children of serving UK service
personnel and serving Crown Servants as if they are already resident at a future address
provided that the application is accompanied by an official Ministry of Defence (MOD) or
Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) letter declaring a return date and confirmation of
the new home. The local authority will allocate a school place in accordance with the
applicable criteria for the relevant admission round.
In respect of in-year admission/transfer applications for children of serving UK service
personnel and serving Crown Servants:


such children will be given ‘excepted status’ for infant class size limit purposes (if
relevant), if admitted to a preferred school; and



if the application is unsuccessful and a place at the preferred school is refused, the
parents/carers may appeal against the decision and any appeal hearing would be
heard as a normal prejudice appeal.

Applications for children of former UK service personnel or former Crown Servants will be
treated as all other applications.

Page 12 of 48

Page 508

Appendix A
8.9

All vulnerable or hard-to-place children

The provisions of this policy will apply. However, in accordance with the requirements of the
statutory School Admissions Code 2013, the local authority is additionally required to
maintain fair access protocols for such children. The local authority has a panel whose role
is to recommend placements that can meet the needs of these children.
8.10

School ‘managed moves’

The local authority has a separate policy for the managed moves (transfers) of pupils between
schools.
Managed moves of pupils are treated differently to regular admissions. The pupil will remain
on roll at the current school during the managed move period. At the end of the managed
move period, if the managed move is deemed successful, the pupil will be placed on roll at
the receiving school. If the managed move is deemed to have been unsuccessful, the pupil
will return to the school at which they are on roll.
The Managed Move Policy does not apply in any instances where the parent/carer completes
a school admission application; the School Admissions Policy applies in all such cases.

9.

Requests for admission outside of the normal age group

Occasionally, a parent/carer or school may seek a place outside of the chronological age
group for a child who they consider to be gifted/talented or experiencing problems, or who
has missed part of a school year, for example, due to ill health.
The local authority will consider each request carefully and make decisions on the basis of
the circumstances of each case. The local authority will consider what is most beneficial for
the child and, in every case, will consider information from the parents/carers, the school, an
educational psychologist and any other appropriate parties, to inform its decision.
If the local authority decides that an out-of-year group application is appropriate, but that
application is refused due to no places being available in the requested year group at the
school, the parents/carers have a statutory right of appeal. However, there is no right of
appeal if the local authority has offered a place but not in the requested year group (ie where
the place offered is in the correct year group for the child’s chronological age).
If the local authority decides that an out-of-year group application is appropriate and the
application is for a part-time nursery place in the following January or April, or a full-time
nursery, reception, junior school Year 3 or secondary school Year 7 place from the following
September, the application will be subject to, and considered in accordance with, the
conditions and criteria applicable to those admissions rounds.
Page 13 of 48

Page 509

Appendix A
10. Information or circumstances that the local authority does not consider when
making admission decisions
The following is not an exhaustive list, but details the principal information and circumstances
that have no bearing on admission decisions:


Any school that the child has previously attended.



Any particular school that the child might attend in the future.



A parent/carer communicating to any school that there is an intention to apply for a
place at the school. This would include any instance when a parent/carer believes that
they have ‘registered’ their child’s name for a place at the school.



An invitation to, or attendance by a child, at a ‘taster’/transition day at any school.



Allowance by any school of a visit by the parents/carers and/or child.



Any indication either explicitly given, or assumed by a parent/carer to have been given,
by a school that there are places available at the school in any year group, with the
exception of sixth form places.

11. Equalities
The local authority’s admissions policy and arrangements seek to achieve full compliance
with all relevant legislation and guidance, with regard to equal opportunities and human rights
(Equality Act 2010, the Human Rights Act 1998, the Welsh Language Act 1993 and the Welsh
Language (Wales) Measure 2011).
The local authority wants its services to be accessible to the whole community and will
challenge discrimination in our communities, whether it is based on a person’s transgender
status, race, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy and
maternity marriage or civil partnership.
The local authority’s Corporate Equality Scheme sets out how the local authority will comply
with its Public Sector Equality Duty in the exercise of its functions, having due regard to the
need to:


eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited under the legislation;



advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and



foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not.

Page 14 of 48

Page 510

Appendix A
12. Data protection and information sharing
The local authority complies with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the
Data Protection Act 2018. The full Data Protection guidance and principles of the local
authority may be viewed on the website.
Any information recorded by an applicant in a school admission application will be held
electronically and used by the local authority for the purpose of processing the application.
The local authority will share the information provided in a school admission application
with the relevant school/s in accordance with the Fair Processing Statement – Education
and Family Support.
The local authority will investigate any school admission applications where there is doubt
about the information that has been provided. This will be to assist in the prevention and
detection of fraud for the purpose of gaining an unfair advantage in the school application
system and under Schedule 2, part 1, 2(1) of the Data Protection Act 2018.

13. Admissions rounds
13.1

Submission of applications

The requirement to apply for a school place
For both admissions rounds and in-year admissions/transfers, a school admission application
must be completed by a parent/carer.
A separate application is required for each child.
A child will not be permitted to start at a school until an application has been received and
processed by the local authority, and a school place has been offered by the local authority.
The applicant
In respect of applications for nursery children and children of statutory school-age, the
application must be made by a ‘parent’ of the child, as defined by Section 576 of the
Education Act 1996. This states that a ‘parent’, in relation to a child or young person, includes
any person who is not a biological parent but who has parental responsibility, or who has
care of the child.
Therefore, for the purposes of education law, a ‘parent’ is deemed to include:


all biological parents, whether they are married or not;

Page 15 of 48

Page 511

Appendix A


any person who, although not a biological parent, has parental responsibility for a
child or young person - this could be an adoptive parent, a step-parent, guardian or
other relative; and/or



any person who has care of a child or young person but is not a biological parent
and does not have parental responsibility.

A person typically has care of a child or young person if they are the person with whom the
child lives, either full or part-time and who looks after the child, irrespective of what their
biological or legal relationship is with the child.
The local authority uses the term ‘parent/carer’ throughout this policy to reflect the legal
definition of ‘parent’, as detailed above.
The local authority will only accept an application from a person who is not a parent/carer if
it is accompanied by an appropriate written authorisation from a parent/carer.
An applicant will be required to make a declaration of the relationship to the child and provide
such information as the local authority requires, including documentation, evidencing that
relationship, at the time the admission application is submitted.
The local authority expects that the parents/carers of a child reach agreement about the
preferred school/s and who will submit the application before a school admission application
is submitted. The local authority will not intervene in disputes between parents/carers over
school applications and will expect that these are resolved privately. If parents/carers cannot
agree and a Court order stating who should be making the application and what the school
preference/s should be has not been obtained, the local authority will proceed to accept the
application from the parent/carer in receipt of Child Benefit for the child.
Applications in respect of post-16 admissions/transfers can be submitted by a parent/carer
or the learner.
How to apply
Applications can be completed online through sign up to ‘My Account’ on the Bridgend County
Borough Council website.
Any parents/carers who do not have access to their own computer/laptop or smart phone,
may use the computers available within the libraries in the county borough to sign up to My
Account and complete a school admission application. A parent/carer who remains unable
to create a My Account and access the relevant online school admission application, may
contact the local authority, and request a hardcopy school admission application.
If parents/carers permit completion and submission of a school admission application for their
child through the My Account of a third party, the My Account holder will be deemed to be
submitting the application on behalf of, and with the full authority of, the parents/carers of the
Page 16 of 48

Page 512

Appendix A
child. In these circumstances, the parents/carers will be considered as accepting
responsibility for the consequence of any errors or deficiencies in the completion of the
application and/or the submission of the application.
The local authority accepts no responsibility for the non-receipt of an application that
is not submitted through the online facility.
If the local authority’s arrangements for submission of admission applications should change
before or during the effective dates of this policy, details will be published on the local
authority’s website.
Late applications
All applications should be submitted in time for receipt by the local authority by the relevant
published closing times and dates.
The local authority will accept late applications that are received after the relevant published
closing date provided that the application is received before the local authority has
commenced its allocation of places in preparation for the admissions offer (this date will be
determined by the local authority at the time but will be at least one month before the
published offer date for places) and the local authority is satisfied as to the parents/carers’
reasons for the late application.
All other late applications will not be accepted for inclusion in the allocation of places that will
be notified to applicants on the relevant published offer dates. Such applications will be
processed by the local authority after the relevant published offer date and in order of date
received. Oversubscription criteria will not apply; if a place is available in the preferred school
at the time the application is processed, it will be offered. Therefore, late applicants may find
that their preferred school is already full, even if the school is their catchment school.
No applications for 2023-2024 admissions rounds that are received by the local authority
after 31 August 2023 will be processed. After this date, an in-year admission/transfer
application is required and all considerations applicable to in-year admission/transfer
applications will be relevant. The local authority does not accept in-year admission/transfer
applications made more than one half term in advance of the start date. Consequently, all
applications for a part-time nursery class in April 2024 that are received after 31 August 2023
will not be processed until the spring term 2024.
Applications in respect of looked after children and previously looked after children, or
children with a statement of SEN or an IDP that names a specific school, will not be treated
as late applications regardless of when the application is received.
13.2

Nursery class admissions rounds

Page 17 of 48

Page 513

Appendix A
Nursery education is non-statutory; however, in Wales, children are entitled to a free, parttime, early-years education place from the start of the term following their third birthday. The
place can either be at a local authority-maintained school (‘LA-maintained’), or within the nonmaintained sector with a registered early year’s provider.
This policy applies only to admissions to nursery classes in LA-maintained schools
for which the local authority is the admission authority. Parents/carers who wish to apply
for a nursery place at a voluntary aided school must approach that school directly.
Places at are part-time for three-year-olds (Nursery Year 1) and full-time for four-year-olds
(Nursery Year 2). Although nursery education is non-statutory, the local authority expects all
children who are offered a part-time place to attend for five half days per school week and all
children who are offered a full-time place to attend for five full days per school week.
A school admission (nursery) application must be completed by the parents/carers of eligible
children for admissions to nursery classes in LA-maintained schools.
A child will only be permitted to attend a nursery class if the relevant application has been
submitted and the local authority has formally offered a place at that school.
Children who are admitted to a part-time nursery class do not have an automatic right to
a full-time nursery place at the same school. All parents/carers of children attending a
part-time nursery class, whether residing within or outside the defined catchment area, must
complete a school admission application for a full-time nursery year place, at the appropriate
time, indicating their school preference/s.
Children who are admitted to a full-time nursery class do not have an automatic right to a
reception year place at the same school. All parents/carers of children attending a fulltime nursery class, whether residing within or outside the defined catchment area, must
complete a school admission application for a reception year place, at the appropriate time,
indicating their school preference/s.
As nursery education is non-statutory, parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of
decisions on nursery class admissions.
Timetable for nursery admissions 2023-2024
The timetable for nursery admissions is not governed by the School Admissions Code 2013.
The local authority’s expected timetable for processing applications for nursery admissions
for 2023-2024is as follows:
Full-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 September 2019 and 31
August 2020, starting in a full-time nursery class in September 2023:

Page 18 of 48

Page 514

Appendix A
Action

Date

Opening date for submission of applications

10am
Monday 9 January 2023

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Friday 24 March 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places
(the ‘offer date’)

Monday 15 May 2023

Part-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 September 2020 and 31
December 2020, starting in a part-time nursery class in January 2024:
Action

Date

Opening date for submission of applications

10am
Monday 9 January 2023

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Thursday 31 August 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places

By 31 October 2023

Part-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 January 2021 and 31
March 2021, starting in a part-time nursery class in April 2024:
Action

Date

Opening date for submission of applications

10am
Monday 9 January 2023

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Thursday 31 August 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places

By 31 October 2023

Allocation of full-time nursery class places in English-medium, non-faith schools
The local authority will normally only admit up to the equivalent of the school’s published
admission number when allocating full-time nursery places.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
Page 19 of 48

Page 515

Appendix A

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence from
a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons
3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment
area.
Where a school is oversubscribed under this criterion, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date
for submission of the relevant school admission applications that the child will be
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the start of the school term to
which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under this criterion, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:
Page 20 of 48

Page 516

Appendix A

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from reception year
to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from place
of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
Allocation of full-time nursery class places in Welsh-medium and faith schools
The local authority will normally only admit up to the equivalent of the school’s published
admission number when allocating full-time nursery places.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence from
a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons
3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception year
to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority
will also admit the other sibling/s.
Allocation of part-time nursery class places in English-medium, non-faith schools
In determining the number of part-time nursery places available for allocation in any school,
the local authority will consider the capacity of the accommodation used for nursery pupils,
the published admission number and the number of full-time nursery pupils already on roll at
the school.

Page 21 of 48

Page 517

Appendix A
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age
of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery place from January 2024 or April 2024) who are looked after or previously
looked after and children for whom the school is the named placement in the statement
of SEN or local authority-maintained IDP.
2. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age
of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024 or April 2024) for whom the local authority has
received and accepted written evidence from a relevant professional/s that the
placement is essential for medical, psychological, or compelling social reasons.
3. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 December 2020 who will attain the
age of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024) and whose place of ordinary residence is within
the school’s defined catchment area.
Where a school is over-subscribed, the local authority will allocate the places in the
following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
4. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 December 2020 who will attain the
age of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024) who are not currently ordinarily resident within
the school’s defined catchment area but whose parents/carers have satisfied the local
authority, by the published closing date for submission of the relevant school
admission applications, that the child will be ordinarily resident within the defined
catchment area by the start of the school term to which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
Page 22 of 48

Page 518

Appendix A
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children born between 1 September 2020 and December 2020 who will attain the age
of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery pace from January 2024) whose place of ordinary residence is outside the
school’s defined catchment area.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
6. Children born between 1 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age of
three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery place from April 2024) whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s
defined catchment area.
Where a school is over-subscribed, the local authority will allocate the places in the
following order of priority:
c) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
d) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
7. Children born between 1 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age of
three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery place from April 2024) who are not currently ordinarily resident within the
school’s defined catchment area but whose parents/carers have satisfied the local
authority, by the published closing date for submission of the relevant school

Page 23 of 48

Page 519

Appendix A
admission applications, that the child will be ordinarily resident within the defined
catchment area by the start of the school term to which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
8. Children born between 1 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age of
three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery pace from April 2024) whose place of ordinary residence is outside the
school’s defined catchment area.
Where a school is over-subscribed, the local authority will allocate the places in the
following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
Allocation of part-time nursery class places in Welsh-medium and faith schools
In determining the number of part-time nursery places available for allocation in any school,
the local authority will consider the capacity of the accommodation used for nursery pupils,
the published admission number and the number of full-time nursery pupils already on roll at
the school.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age
of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery place from January 2024 or April 2024) who are looked after or previously
Page 24 of 48

Page 520

Appendix A
looked after and children for whom the school is the named placement in the statement
of SEN or local authority-maintained IDP.
2. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age
of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024 or April 2024) for whom the local authority has
received and accepted written evidence from a relevant professional/s that the
placement is essential for medical, psychological, or compelling social reasons.
3. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 December 2020 who will attain the
age of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024) who will have a sibling at the school in any age
group from the reception year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
4. Children born between 1 September 2020 and 31 December 2020 who will attain the
age of three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a parttime nursery place from January 2024) on the basis of proximity to school, as
measured by the shortest available walking route from the place of ordinary residence
to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children born between 1 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age of
three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery place from April 2024) who will have a sibling at the school in any age group
from the reception year to Year 6 in the academic year 2023-2024.
6. Children born between 1 January 2021 and 31 March 2021 who will attain the age of
three in the academic year 2023-2024 (these children will be eligible for a part-time
nursery pace from April 2024) on the basis of proximity to school, as measured by the
shortest available walking route from the place of ordinary residence to the nearest
openly accessible school gate.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority
will also admit the other sibling/s.

13.3

Primary/infant school admission round (reception year)

The relevant age group for the reception year is 4-5 years.
Every child is required by law to receive full-time education from the beginning of the school
term after his/her fifth birthday. In the Bridgend County Borough, children are normally
admitted to the reception year in the September following their fourth birthday. However,
parents/carers have the option of deferring their child’s entry to the reception year until later
in the same school year. The deferment cannot continue beyond the beginning of the term
after the child’s fifth birthday, nor beyond the school year for which the original admission
Page 25 of 48

Page 521

Appendix A
application was accepted by the local authority. Where the parent/carer wishes to defer the
child’s entry to the reception year as detailed, the local authority will hold a place for the child.
An application for a reception year place must be submitted. There is no automatic
admission to the reception year at any primary or infant school, regardless of the
school at which the child may be attending a nursery class.
Timetable for reception year admissions for September 2023
The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2018 and 31 August 2019,
entering a reception class in September 2023 is as follows:
Action
Opening date for submission of applications

Date
10am
Monday, 21 November 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Friday, 10 February 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places
(the ‘offer date’)

Monday , 17 April 2023

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal

4pm
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

Allocation of reception year places for September 2023 in English-medium, non-faith
schools
The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and will
only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical,
psychological, or compelling social reasons
3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment
area.
Page 26 of 48

Page 522

Appendix A
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to Year
6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infant schools,
attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date
for submission of the relevant school admission applications, that the child will be
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the start of the school term
to which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to
Year 6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infant
schools, attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from
the place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for
any remaining places in the order of priority set out below:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to
Year 6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infant
schools, attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from
the place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.

Page 27 of 48

Page 523

Appendix A
Allocation of reception year places for September 2023 in Welsh-medium and faith
schools
The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and will
only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence from
a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons.
3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to Year 6
attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority
will also admit the other sibling/s.

13.4

Junior school admission round (Year 3)

In primary schools, the infant and junior sections are simply departments of the same school
and children progress through the school from the infants to juniors without having to transfer
elsewhere. Therefore, parents/carers are not required to complete a school admission
application, since the children are already regarded as registered pupils in the primary school.
Children attending Year 2 in an infant school do not automatically transfer to Year 3 at junior
school. An application for a Year 3 place at junior school must be submitted. There is no
automatic admission to a junior school or any primary school regardless of the infant
school or primary school that a child currently attends.
Children normally enter Year 3 in junior school at the beginning of the academic year following
their seventh birthday.
In Bridgend, there is one junior school, ie Llangewydd Junior School, which is an Englishmedium school.

Page 28 of 48

Page 524

Appendix A
If parents/carers do not wish their child to attend Year 3 at junior school and instead wish for
their child to attend Year 3 at a standard primary school, an in-year admission/transfer
application must be submitted. Parents/carers should note that places in Year 3 in a standard
primary school may be very limited or unavailable. Also, that the local authority will not make
admission decisions in respect of in-year admission/transfer applications for a September
2023 start date until Easter 2023.
Timetable for Year 3 junior school admissions for September 2023
The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2015 and 31 August 2016,
moving from infants school (Year 2) to junior school (Year 3) in September 2023 is as
follows:
Action
Opening date for submission of applications

Date
10am
Monday 21 November 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Friday 10 February 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places
(the ‘offer date’)

Monday 17 April 2023

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal

4pm
Wednesday 17 May 2023

Allocation of Year 3 junior school places for September 2023
The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and will
only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical,
psychological, or compelling social reasons.
3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment
area.

Page 29 of 48

Page 525

Appendix A
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to Year
6 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date
for submission of the relevant school admission applications, that the child will be
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the start of the school term to
which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to Year
6 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to Year
6 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
13.5

Secondary school admission round (Year 7)

Children normally enter Year 7 in secondary school at the beginning of the academic year
following their eleventh birthday.
Page 30 of 48

Page 526

Appendix A
An application for a Year 7 place must be submitted. There is no automatic admission to
any secondary school, regardless of the primary or junior school that a child currently
attends.
In Bridgend, there is one Welsh-medium secondary school, ie Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg
Llangynwyd. There is one faith secondary school, ie Archbishop McGrath Catholic High
School, for which the local authority is not the admission authority. All other secondary
schools are English-medium.
Timetable for Year 7 secondary school admissions for September 2023
The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2011 and 31 August 2012,
transferring from junior/primary school (Year 6) to secondary school (Year 7) in September
2023 is as follows:
Action

Date

Opening date for submission of applications

10am
Monday 17 October 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local
authority

4pm
Friday 20 January 2023

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places
(the ‘offer date’)

Wednesday 1 March 2023

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal

4pm
Friday 31 March 2023

Allocation of Year 7 secondary school places for September 2023 for Englishmedium schools
The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and will
only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence from
a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons.

Page 31 of 48

Page 527

Appendix A
3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment
area.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year
11 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date
for submission of the relevant school admission applications, that the child will be
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the start of the school term to
which the application relates.
Where a school is oversubscribed under these criteria, the local authority will allocate
the places in the following order of priority:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year
11 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:
a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year
11 attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.
b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.

Page 32 of 48

Page 528

Appendix A
Allocation of Year 7 secondary school places for September 2023 for the Welshmedium school, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd
The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and will
only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local authority
will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate the places
available:
1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained
IDP.
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence from
a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons.
3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year 11
attending the school in the academic year 2023-2024.
4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority
will also admit the other sibling/s.

14.

Explanations of oversubscription criteria

14.1

Looked after and previously looked-after children

The local authority is under a duty to prioritise looked-after and previously looked-after
children in the oversubscription criteria.
In the case of a looked after child, the school admission application must be completed and
submitted by the corporate parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for the child) and
supporting evidence must be provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).
In the case of previously looked after children, the school admission application must be
accompanied by supporting evidence from the former corporate parent.
The relevant supporting evidence must be submitted with the application.

Page 33 of 48

Page 529

Appendix A
14.2

Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a local
authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP)

To satisfy this criterion, the child must have a statement of SEN or a local authoritymaintained IDP and the application is in respect of a mainstream place at a preferred
community school.
14.3

Children for whom a placement is essential for medical, psychological, or
compelling social reasons

To satisfy this criterion:
1. applicants must provide supporting written evidence from a relevant professional/s, ie
a registered health professional and/or a social worker, that states the reasons why
the preferred school is the most suitable school and what difficulties would arise if the
child had to attend another school. The evidence must be dated no more than three
months prior to the application submission date; and
2. that written evidence is accepted by the local authority as sufficient to determine that
placement at the preferred school is essential for the child.
Evidence that purely confirms a child’s diagnosis or circumstances does not satisfy
this criterion.
Applications in respect of young carers will be considered under this criterion subject to
provision of the necessary evidence, as set out above.
The local authority expects the applicant to provide the required written evidence at the
time the application is submitted. If this is not possible, the local authority must be advised
of and satisfied as to the reasons and the required written evidence must then be provided
prior to the closing date of the admission round. If the required written evidence is not
provided to the local authority before the closing of the admission round, the application will
not be prioritised under this criterion.
14.4

Child’s address/place of ordinary residence

Applicants must record the current address at which the child is ordinarily resident on a school
admission application.
When considering whether a child lives in a school’s catchment area (English-medium, nonfaith schools) or the proximity to the school (Welsh-medium and faith schools), it is the child’s
place of ordinary residence that the local authority considers to be the home address and
satisfying the relevant admissions criteria.
Where the child’s parents/carers are not living together but have shared responsibility for the
child, and the child lives with each parent/carer for part of the periods during which the child
Page 34 of 48

Page 530

Appendix A
receives education, the child will be considered as being ordinarily resident at the places
where each of the parents/carers is ordinarily resident. Accordingly, the local authority will
accept the address of either parent/carer as being the child’s place of ordinary residence.
Changes to the child’s address/place of ordinary residence
If the child’s place of ordinary residence changes after the school admission application has
been submitted:
1. The local authority must be notified immediately in writing (email or letter).
2. If the change is notified to the local authority before the closing time and date for the
admission round, the change (ie the new place of ordinary residence) will be used in
the application of oversubscription criteria and the allocation of a place.
3. If the change is notified to the local authority after the closing time and date for the
admission round, the place of ordinary residence recorded on the application (ie the
original place of ordinary residence) will be used in the application of oversubscription
criteria and the allocation of a place. The applicant will have the option to complete
and submit a late application if the allocated place is at a school that is no longer the
preferred school, which would be subject to the provisions relevant to late applications
(see section 13.1).
4. If the applicant does not inform the local authority of a change of ordinary residence
prior to the date on which the child would start school, the local authority will take the
action detailed below under ‘provision of false or misleading information’.
Applications made on the basis of a future change in the place of ordinary residence
Where the applicant is in the process of a house move at the time that the application is
submitted and is expressing a preference for a school that is the catchment school for the
future address (English-medium, non-faith schools) or the most proximate school for the
future address (Welsh-medium and faith schools), the applicant must record this on the
application form and must provide the following evidence to the local authority:


written evidence from a solicitor that the house sale has been completed, contracts
have been exchanged and that a moving date has been agreed such that the child will
be resident at the new address by the start of the school term to which the application
relates; or



a written tenancy agreement evidencing that the child will be resident at the new
address by the start of the school term to which the application relates.

All required evidence must be received by the local authority prior to the closing time and
date for the admission round and it is the responsibility of the applicant to provide the
required evidence to the local authority by that deadline. If the required evidence is not
Page 35 of 48

Page 531

Appendix A
received prior to the closing time and date, the application will be treated as an out of
catchment application for the preferred school/s (English-medium, non-faith schools), or the
proximity to the preferred school (Welsh-medium and faith schools) will be calculated using
the current address.
If the evidence does not confirm that the child will be resident at the new address by the start
of the school term to which the application relates, the application will be treated as an out of
catchment application for the preferred school/s.
Provision of false or misleading information regarding the place of ordinary residence
Where there is doubt about the information provided regarding the child’s place of ordinary
residence, the local authority reserves the right to seek further verification from the applicant
in the form of documentary evidence, which may include, but not necessarily be limited to, a
utility bill or council tax statement. The local authority will continue to investigate any school
admission applications where it is not satisfied by any evidence provided by the applicant
and there is ongoing doubt about the child’s place of ordinary residence. Details may be
matched against any council tax records. This will be to assist in the prevention and detection
of address fraud for the purpose of gaining an unfair advantage in the school application
system and under Schedule 2, part 1, 2(1) of the Data Protection Act 2018.
If the local authority concludes that a parent/carer has provided fraudulent or intentionally
misleading information relating to the child’s place of ordinary residence (this includes the
failure to notify the local authority of changes to the place of ordinary residence) in order to
obtain the advantage of a particular school placement to which the child would otherwise not
be entitled, the local authority will act in accordance with paragraphs 3.40 and 3.41 of the
School Admissions Code 2013.
If the local authority withdraws a school place, a new application will be required based on
the accurate place of ordinary residence, and a right of appeal will be offered if a place at the
preferred school/s is refused.
14.5

Siblings

A sibling is classified as a half or full brother/sister, a step-brother/sister, an adopted
brother/sister, or a child living in the same household.
An application will be considered under the sibling criterion if the following conditions are met:
1. the full sibling details are recorded on the application; and
2. the sibling and the child who is the subject of the application will be attending the
same school at the same time and the sibling is of statutory school-age.
This means:

Page 36 of 48

Page 532

Appendix A


for reception year applications, the sibling must be Year 1 to Year 6 in the
academic year for which the application is being made;



for Year 3 junior school applications, the sibling must be in Year 4 to Year 6 in
the academic year for which the application is being made;



for Year 7 secondary school applications, the sibling must be in Year 8 to Year
11 in the academic year for which the application is being made;



for full-time nursery and part-time nursery applications, the sibling must be
reception year to Year 6 in the academic year for which the application is being
made. As there is significant similarity in the timetables for the reception, fulltime nursery and part-time nursery admissions rounds, a parent/carer may not
have been notified of the outcome of a reception application for a child when
completing a full-time or part-time nursery application for another child. The
parent/carer will be able to record the details of the child for whom a reception
application has been submitted but the sibling criterion will not be met if the
local authority does not subsequently offer a reception place at the relevant
school to the sibling.

Provision of false or misleading sibling information
The local authority reserves the right to undertake checks on any sibling information provided.
This will be to assist in the prevention and detection of fraud for the purpose of gaining an
unfair advantage in the school application system and under Schedule 2, part 1, 2(1) of the
Data Protection Act 2018.
If the local authority concludes that a parent/carer has provided fraudulent or intentionally
misleading information relating to the sibling criterion in order to obtain the advantage of a
particular school placement to which the child would otherwise not be entitled, the local
authority will act in accordance with paragraphs 3.40 and 3.41 of the School Admissions
Code 2013.
If the local authority withdraws a school place, a new application will be required based on
the accurate information, and a right of appeal will be offered if a place at the preferred
school/s is refused.
14.6

Multiple birth children

A multiple birth is defined as the birth of more than one baby from a single pregnancy (eg
the birth of twins or triplets).
When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority
will also admit the other sibling/s.
Page 37 of 48

Page 533

Appendix A
14.7

Proximity to school

The measurement will be from the child’s place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly
accessible school gate through which pupils may enter the school grounds.
It will be for the local authority to determine whether any entrance at any school does or does
not constitute an openly accessible school gate.
In respect of residences that are within blocks of flats, the distance will be calculated from the
front entrance of each flat.
The distances will be calculated to four decimal places.
The local authority uses software to measure all distances within the Bridgend County
Borough that takes into account the assessed, available walking routes to the school/s. The
local authority will not consider any other walking routes to a school that a parent/carer may
choose to use.
For applications where the child’s place of ordinary residence is outside the Bridgend County
Borough, the distance will be measured using publicly available web-based services.

15. The offer process for admissions rounds
15.1

Offer dates

The School Admissions Code 2013 sets out how admission authorities in Wales must identify
the offer date for primary school (reception), junior school (Year 3) and secondary school
(Year 7) admissions rounds, reflecting The School Admissions (Common Offer Date) (Wales)
Regulations 2013. The relevant offer dates for all admissions rounds for 2023-2024 are
detailed in section 13.
15.2

Communication of the outcome

Parents/carers who apply by the published closing time and date of an admission round, or
parents/carers whose late application has been accepted by the local authority for inclusion
in the allocation of places for the offer date, will be notified in writing of the outcome of their
school admission or in-year school admission/transfer application.
Parents/carers may not expect that the outcome of their application will be communicated
verbally.
If the application is refused, the notification will set out the reasons for the decision and will
advise parents/carers on the appeal process. As nursery education is non-statutory,
parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of unsuccessful nursery class
applications.

Page 38 of 48

Page 534

Appendix A
15.3

Waiting lists

The local authority maintains waiting lists for oversubscribed schools. If a place at the
preferred school is not offered, the child will be automatically included in the waiting list for
the school unless the parent/carer expressly advises the local authority that this action is not
required.
For the admissions rounds, children will remain on the waiting list, for any school at which
they have been refused a place, until 30 September 2023. Children will automatically be
removed from the waiting list/s after this date.
If additional places become available at a school, they will be allocated to children on the
waiting list on the basis of the published oversubscription criteria (see sections 13 and 14)
and not the length of time a child has been on the waiting list.

16. In-year admissions / transfers
16.1

Circumstances in which an in-year admission/transfer application is required

An in-year admission/transfer application must be completed in any of the following
circumstances:
1. If a child moves into Bridgend County Borough during the course of an academic year
and the parents/carers wish the child to attend a school for which the local authority is
the admission authority.
2. If the parents/carers wish their child/ren to move to a different school within the
Bridgend County Borough during the course of an academic year and the
parents/carers wish the child to move to a school for which the local authority is the
admission authority.
3. If an application for an admission round has not been completed and submitted to the
local authority by 31 August 2023 (ie an application is being submitted on or after the
official start date of the 2023-2024 academic year).
16.2

School transfers

Parents/carers who wish to apply for a place at a different school for reasons other than a
change of ordinary residence are advised to carefully consider the information available on
the local authority’s website.
Parents/carers should talk to the headteacher of the pupil’s current school about the reasons
for a change of school being considered. There is a significant amount of research evidencing
that changing schools is disruptive and can have a negative impact on a pupil’s attainment.
There are many reasons for this. It is particularly important that careful consideration is given
to the impacts of moving pupils in Year 10 and Year 11, who would have already begun to
Page 39 of 48

Page 535

Appendix A
study for their chosen GCSE subjects, as those GCSE subjects may not be available at a
different school.
16.3

‘Advance’ requests

It is not fair and equitable for the local authority to hold places open for children for undue
periods of time. Accordingly, the local authority will only accept ‘advance’ in-year school
admission/transfer applications, ie for a future admission date, where that requested
admission date is in the period up to the end of the following half term and the local authority
is satisfied as to the reasons for the advance request.
16.4

Availability of places

Section 4 provides information regarding school capacities and published admission
numbers, which the local authority uses to determine whether places are available.
As the number of pupils on roll in any school can change on a frequent basis, the local
authority will not provide information on the availability of places in any year group at any
school in advance of an in-year school admission/transfer application being submitted.
16.5

Consideration of applications

In-year school admission/transfer applications are considered by the local authority in strict
order of date received.
For in-year admissions/transfers, whether the child lives in or out of the catchment area of
the requested school (English-medium, non-faith schools) or the proximity to the school
(Welsh-medium and faith schools), is of no relevance to the local authority’s decision on
whether a place at the requested school can be offered. (However, it is of relevance to the
determination of whether there is eligibility or not for the provision of free home-to-school
transport.)
If there is no place available in the relevant year group at the requested school, the local
authority child will refuse admission to that school unless the circumstances are such that the
local authority considers an exception should be made.
16.6

Communication of the outcome

Applicants will be notified in writing of the outcome of their in-year school admission/transfer
application within 15 school days or 28 calendar days of the date of the application being
received, whichever is the sooner.
Parents/carers may not expect that the outcome of their application will be communicated
verbally.

Page 40 of 48

Page 536

Appendix A
If the application is refused, the notification will set out the reasons for the decision and will
advise parents/carers on the appeal process. As nursery education is non-statutory,
parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of unsuccessful nursery class
applications.
16.7

Offer of a place at an alternative school

If a place at the preferred school is refused, the local authority will either offer a place at the
nearest alternative school that has an available place in the relevant year or explain why such
an offer cannot be made (eg where the nearest alternative school is the child’s current
school). The offer of a place at the nearest alternative school will be open for 21 calendar
days from the date of the local authority’s letter and will automatically expire if not accepted
within that period.
If the offer of a place at the nearest alternative school is not accepted, or is expressly refused,
the parent/carer must submit a new application if seeking a place at any other preferred
school.
16.8

Waiting lists

The local authority maintains waiting lists for oversubscribed schools. If a place at the
preferred school is not offered, the child will be automatically included in the waiting list for
the school unless the parent/carer expressly advises the local authority that this action is not
required.
For all in-year admission/transfer applications, children will remain on the waiting list for any
school at which they have been refused for a period of three months from the date of the
refusal letter, or on 31 August 2023, whichever is the sooner. Children will automatically be
removed from the waiting list/s after this period or date.
Submission of a new in-year admission/transfer application for the same school does not
renew a child’s place on a waiting list. If a new in-year admission/transfer application is
submitted and is refused, the child will be recorded as a new entry to the waiting list from the
date of the refusal letter.
Registration of an admission appeal does not extend a child’s time on the waiting list,
irrespective of the date for the admission appeal hearing.
If additional places become available at a school, they will be allocated to children on the
waiting list on the basis of the published oversubscription criteria (see sections 13 and 14)
and not the length of time a child has been on the waiting list.
A place cannot be allocated to a child who is not on the waiting list.

Page 41 of 48

Page 537

Appendix A
17. Admission appeals
17.1

General

School admission appeals are conducted in accordance with Welsh Government’s School
Admission Appeals Code 2013.
Any person who is considering an appeal is strongly recommended to read this School
Admissions Policy 2021-2022, the School Admissions Code 2013, and the School Admission
Appeals Code 2013 in full.
In the vast majority of cases, children are offered places in line with the expressed preference
for a specific school. If, however, a child is unable to gain admission to the preferred school,
parents/carers or post-16 learners may choose to appeal to an independent appeal panel.
Parents/carers/ or post-16 learners may accept a place offered at an alternative school while
pursuing a place at the preferred school. The independent appeal panel will consider the
grounds put forward by appellant/s and determine whether the merits of the case outweigh
the case presented by the local authority.
As nursery education is non-statutory, parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of
decisions on nursery class admissions.
17.2

Registering an appeal

Persons who may register an appeal
In respect of appeal registrations for children of statutory school-age, the appeal must be
registered by the parent/carer, as defined in section 13.
The local authority will only accept an appeal registration from a person who is not a
parent/carer if it is accompanied by an appropriate written authorisation from a parent/carer.
The person registering the appeal will be required to make a declaration of the relationship
to the child and provide such information as the local authority requires, including
documentation, evidencing that relationship, at the time the appeal registration is submitted.
The person registering the appeal will not be required to submit such if it has already been
submitted in support of the admission application.
Appeals in respect of post-16 admissions/transfers can be registered by either a parent/carer
or the learner.
Timescale for registering an appeal
In the case of appeals relating to the refusal of places in an admissions round, the appeal
must be registered with the local authority by the closing date as detailed in section 13.

Page 42 of 48

Page 538

Appendix A
In the case of appeals relating to the refusal of a place following submission of an in-year
admission/transfer application, the appeal must be registered with the local authority within
21 calendar days of the date of the written notification of the refusal.
How to register an appeal
An appeal must be registered in writing.
The notification letter from the local authority regarding the outcome of an admission
application will provide information on the appeal registration process.
17.3

Arrangements for the appeal hearing

The local authority will refer the appeal to an independent appeal panel. The clerk to the
panel will arrange a time and place for the hearing.
Appellants will have the opportunity of attending the panel hearing and making their
representations (oral and/or written).
Appellants are advised that:
1. They may elect not to attend the appeal meeting and, instead, allow the appeal to be
considered on a written statement.
2. The appeal will be decided on the information available if parents/carers have
indicated an intention to attend the appeal but do not do so, and fail to provide a
reasonable explanation.
3. If appellants cannot attend on the scheduled date and it is not reasonably practicable
to offer an adjourned hearing, the appeal will be decided on the information available.
4. Appellants will be given at least 14 calendar days written notice of the meeting of the
appeal panel unless they agree to a shorter period. The appellant should confirm this
in writing to the clerk to the panel.
Appellants may be accompanied at a panel hearing by a friend or adviser or an interpreter,
however, local authority councillors are not permitted to attend. Appellants are requested to
inform the clerk to the independent appeal panel of any representation at least seven days
before the hearing.
17.4

Repeat appeals

Parents/carers and post-16 learners do not have a right to a second appeal in respect of the
same school and the same academic year except where:

Page 43 of 48

Page 539

Appendix A


there were faults in the first appeal process and there is a significant possibility that
the outcome might have been affected by the faults (this may be on the
recommendation of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales); or



a fresh application is accepted because there has been a significant and material
change in the circumstances of the parent/carer or child and that application has also
been refused. Common examples of where a fresh application is considered are where
a family has moved address or there are new medical reasons pertaining to the choice
of school.

Parents/carers and post-16 learners who appeal unsuccessfully may re-apply for a place at
the same school in respect of a later academic year (but subject to the timescales set out in
section 13). Parents/carers and post-16 learners will have a right to appeal if that application
is refused.
Any information provided by an appellant a school admission appeal registration will be held
electronically and used by local authority for the purpose of processing the admission appeal
request.

18. The Bridgend Admission Forum
The local authority is under a statutory duty to establish an admission forum.
The Bridgend Admission Forum is constituted in accordance with Annex D of the statutory
School Admissions Code 2013.
The role of the forum is to help ensure that the school admissions system in Bridgend is fair,
straightforward, and easy for parents/carers to understand. The forum is responsible for
monitoring the local authority’s compliance with the statutory School Admissions Code 2013
and may advise the local authority on ways in which admission arrangements could be
improved.
The terms of reference, meeting agendas, meeting minutes and annual reports of the
Bridgend Admission Forum are published on the local authority’s website.

19. Additional information
In addition to the sources of information already detailed, the local authority’s Starting School
Prospectus for 2023-2024 provides additional information on matters associated with school
admissions and starting school.

Page 44 of 48

Page 540

Appendix A
20. Queries
Queries in relation to this policy and the admissions or appeal registration processes may be
directed to Pupil Services as follows:
E-mail:

pupilservices@bridgend.gov.uk

Tel No:

01656 642622

Address:

Bridgend County Borough Council
Education and Family Support Directorate
Pupil Services
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

This policy is published on the Bridgend County Borough Council website.

Page 45 of 48

Page 541

Appendix A
Appendix A - Admission numbers
Admission numbers for those schools for which the local authority is the admission authority.
The admission number for each school does not apply in respect of nursery classes.
Admission numbers remain under review and may be subject to change prior to the start of
the 2023-2024 academic year.
School

Admission Number

English-medium primary schools
Abercerdin Primary School

30

Afon y Felin Primary School

19

Betws Primary School

30

Blaengarw Primary School

24

Brackla Primary School

45

Bryncethin Primary School

35

Brynmenyn Primary School

60

Bryntirion Infants School

40

Caerau Primary School

45

Cefn Cribwr Primary School

20

Cefn Glas Infants School

66

Coety Primary School

60

Corneli Primary School

46

Coychurch (Llangrallo) Primary School

19

Croesty Primary School

30

Cwmfelin Primary School

30

Ffaldau Primary School

30

Garth Primary School

30

Litchard Primary School

60

Llangewydd Junior School

90

Llangynwyd Primary School

14

Maes yr Haul Primary School

75

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School

60

Nantyffyllon Primary School

40

Page 46 of 48

Page 542

Appendix A
Nantymoel Primary School

30

Newton Primary School

34

Nottage Primary School

60

Ogmore Vale Primary School

53

Oldcastle Primary School

60

Pencoed Primary School

72

Penybont Primary School

45

Pîl Primary School

30

Plasnewydd Primary School

45

Porthcawl Primary School

28

Tondu Primary School

42

Trelales Primary School

30

Tremains Primary School

65

Tynyrheol Primary School

10

West Park Primary School

55

English-medium voluntary controlled schools
Pen y Fai Church in Wales Primary School

30

Welsh-medium primary schools
Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Ogwr

54

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Calon y Cymoedd

30

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Cynwyd Sant

45

Ysgol y Ferch o'r Sgêr

33
English-medium secondary schools

Brynteg School

333

Bryntirion Comprehensive School

210

Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen

276

Cynffig Comprehensive School

180

Maesteg School

228

Pencoed Comprehensive School

214

Porthcawl Comprehensive School

246

Page 47 of 48

Page 543

Appendix A
Welsh-medium secondary schools
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd

165

Page 48 of 48

Page 544

Appendix B
WELSH LANGUAGE IMPACT ASSESSMENT TOOL
This Welsh Language Impact Assessment (WLIS) enables Bridgend County Borough Council to
consider the principles and requirements of the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015
to ensure compliance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
Proposal Name:

School Admissions Policy 2023/2024

Directorate

Education and Family Support

Corporate Director

Corporate Director (Education and Family Support)

Officer responsible

Group Manager Business Support

Brief Description

•
•

The local authority has a statutory responsibility to determine and
publish a school admissions policy each year.
The local authority is the admissions authority for maintained
community and voluntary controlled schools in Bridgend.

Date

28/02/2022

Who does this proposal affect?

Service Users (ie pupils, parents/carers), schools and the wider
community.

What are the aims of the policy,
and how do these relate to the
Welsh Language?

The entry of children to schools is controlled and administered by an
‘admission authority’. In the case of community schools in Bridgend,
the admission authority is Bridgend County Borough Council (the
local authority).
Where the local authority is the admission authority, a school’s
governing body is under a duty to implement the local authority’s
decisions on admission applications, and to act in accordance with
the local authority’s admission arrangements.
The local authority has no arrangements for the provision of
education at schools not maintained by the local authority.
In accordance with statutory requirements, the local authority policy
is that every child should have the opportunity to learn and use the
Welsh language.
With regards to school admissions, provision is made for this in the
following ways:
1. The teaching of Welsh as a second language in Englishmedium schools.
2. Welsh-medium education at four Welsh-medium primary
schools and one Welsh-medium secondary school.

Who will benefit / Could the
policy affect Welsh language
groups?

Page 545

The local authority fully supports the wishes of families for their
children to attend Welsh-medium schools and ensures that if a
school place is not available in the nearest suitable Welsh-medium
school, then subject to the application of the distance criteria
identified in the local authority’s Home-to-School/College Transport
Policy, school transport to the next nearest suitable Welsh-medium
School in Bridgend will be provided.

Current linguistic profile of the
geographical area(s) concerned

The ONS Annual Population Survey (Year ending 31 September
2021) identifies that in Bridgend 24,500 people say that they can
speak Welsh (ie 17.8%). This compares to the all-Wales percentage
of 29.2% of respondents. This can be further broken down to the
data contained in the tables below.
Welsh Language Skills of Residents (%)
Bridgend County
Borough
Can read Welsh
16.9%
Can write Welsh
15.9%
Can understand
21.2%
spoken Welsh

Wales
25.9%
23.8%
33.7%

The data shows that there is a gap in the Welsh language skills of
residents of Bridgend when compared to the whole of Wales.
Welsh Language Skills of Residents (%)
Bridgend County
Borough
Speak Welsh daily
6.3%
Speak Welsh weekly
3.1%
Use it less often or
6.9%
never

Does the
proposal have
any positive,
negative or
neutral
impacts?
Describe why it
will have a
neutral impact
on the Welsh
language.

Wales
15.2%
5.2%
7.3%

Neutral

Admission to the Welsh-medium schools in Bridgend is controlled by the
provisions and criteria specified within the School Admissions Policy for the
relevant year. This applies to nursery, primary and secondary school pupils
applying for school places at any Welsh-medium school in Bridgend.
The local authority will normally only admit up to the school’s published
admission number for a relevant year group eg reception.
Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the
local authority will apply oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate
the places available. This applies to both English and Welsh-medium school
places equally.

What evidence
do you have to
support this
view?

Page 546

The local authority fully supports the wishes of families for their children to
attend Welsh-medium schools and ensures that if a school place is not
available in the nearest suitable school, then subject to the application of the
distance criteria identified in the local authority’s Home-to-School/College
Transport Policy, school transport to the next nearest suitable Welsh-medium
school in Bridgend will be provided.

What action(s)
can you take to
better
contribute to
positive
impacts?

The School Admissions Code does not allow the local authority to treat access
to Welsh-medium school places differently to those in English-medium schools.

Opportunities
for people to
use the Welsh
language.

Increase participation in the Welsh language by offering the opportunity to
parents/carers and other members of the community to attend Welsh classes
and/or other opportunities for community engagement through the medium of
Welsh. In addition, they will be encouraged to signpost parents/carers to Welsh
language classes.

There are, however, opportunities for the promotion of the Welsh language
through engagement with the maintained and non-maintained education
sectors, in particular early engagement activities with parents/carers and
signposting parents/carers to Welsh language classes/courses.

School’s facilities could be used for Welsh language activities that will
increase participation. There is an opportunity to create a partnership with
agencies including ‘Welsh for Adults’, ‘Menter Bro Ogwr’ (Bro Ogwr Welsh
Language Initiative) and Bridgend College for members of the community to
learn Welsh and undertake activities through the medium of Welsh. In
addition, Welsh language courses are offered by Learn Welsh Glamorgan
who deliver courses online and locally in Bridgend, Merthyr Tydfil and
Rhondda Cynon Taf on behalf of the National Centre for Learning
Welsh. They also offer a range of online taster courses that anyone can
access and offer Sadwrn Siarad sessions periodically.
Activities through the medium of Welsh are primarily offered by Menter Bro
Ogwr although Bridgend Learning Partnership also aims to offer learning
activities where they are able to, and where activities prove viable in terms of
numbers.
Learners will have an opportunity to undertake extra-curricular activities
through the medium of Welsh.
Opportunities to The Council is committed to promoting the Welsh language, increasing the
promote the
number of Welsh schools and number of Welsh-medium school places, as
Welsh language. detailed in Bridgend County Borough Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic
Plan (WESP).
Compliance
with the
Council’s Welsh
Language
Standards.

Page 547

The School Admissions Policy is provided bilingually as are the minutes and
reports provided by the School Admissions Forum.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 22
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT TO CABINET
8 MARCH 2022
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION AND FAMILY
SUPPORT
SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME –
HERONSBRIDGE SPECIAL SCHOOL
1.

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to commence a statutory
consultation process to make the following regulated alterations to
Heronsbridge Special School:


to increase the number of pupils for whom the school makes provision to
300; and



to relocate the school from its current location at Ewenny Road, Bridgend
to Island Farm, Bridgend.

1.2

The proposed new school would open from the beginning of the autumn term
2025 (ie September 2025).

2.

Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1

This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:
 Supporting a successful sustainable economy - taking steps to make the
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills,
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.
 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical,
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.

Background

3.1

The Band B Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) was submitted to Welsh
Government (WG) in July 2017. In October 2017, Cabinet was presented with
a report detailing the outcome of the Band B review and gave approval to
discontinue the original Band B schemes identified in the November 2010
Cabinet report and approved the revised SOP.

Page 549

3.2

On 6 December 2017, the WG Department for Education gave ‘approval in
principle’ for Bridgend’s second wave of investment, which at that stage had
an estimated programme envelope cost of £68.2m. Further costs were to be
determined, and these would be associated with additional infrastructure
capacity.

3.3

In January 2018, Council approved, in principle, the financial commitment
required for Band B of the School Modernisation Programme, subject to
sufficient resources being identified and allocated to meet the match funding
commitment.

3.4

In January 2020, Cabinet was presented with the outcome of the extensive
options appraisal relating to each of the approved projects.

3.5

In December 2020, Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) gave
approval to progress the preferred ‘Do maximum’ option for Heronsbridge
Special School (ie a new-build for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorder,
Severe Learning Difficulties and Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulties
plus residential provision). The school would be sized to accommodate 300
pupils. The existing Heronsbridge Special School and the Pencoed College
sites, which had been approved for further consideration in January 2020,
would no longer be considered, and work would focus on the privately owned
site at Island Farm. This was reflected in the Strategic Outline Case, which
was subsequently submitted to WG for consideration.

3.6

In December 2020, Council approval was received to include funding in the
capital programme to deal with payments associated with securing the land.

3.7

In March 2021, Ministerial approval was received in respect of the Strategic
Outline Business Case for a replacement 300-place Heronsbridge Special
School, plus residential provision. Although no capacity calculation is available
for special schools, an assessment of existing teaching spaces based on a
notional 5m2 per pupil (ie less area per pupil than is specified in the Building
Bulletin area guidelines) highlighted the significant overcrowding issue that
exists at the school, producing a capacity of circa 180 pupils. Currently, there
are 236 pupils on roll.

3.8

Although every effort has been made to make best use of the building, the
unprecedented increase in the number of learners with Autistic Spectrum
Disorder (ASD) requiring an education suited to their needs has resulted in an
increased demand for places, which simply cannot be accommodated. The
existing school has a range of specialised facilities. However, it is not fit for
purpose.

3.9

There are significant issues with regard to the size of teaching and nonteaching spaces. Storage and circulation space is extremely poor, and given
the needs of the learners, (many of whom require walking aids/wheelchairs),
this causes issues in managing safe movement around the school. The overall
condition of the school is grade C ((poor - exhibiting major defects and/or not

Page 550

operating as intended) and the backlog maintenance costs (assessed in
October 2020) is £1,248,200.
3.10 A feasibility study was progressed to consider the development of the school
on privately owned land at Island Farm, Bridgend.
4.

Current situation/proposal

4.1

The Outline Business Case in relation to the provision of the school received
Ministerial approval in November 2021. The proposed new school would be
designed based on area guidelines for special schools (thereby providing
improved standards of accommodation), would be fully accessible and all
existing backlog maintenance costs would be eradicated. There are significant
additional qualitative benefits associated with providing a new enlarged
Heronsbridge Special School:







Increased number of places for pupils with additional learning needs
(ALN) available (there has been an unprecedented increase in the
number of learners with ASD in the area).
Reduction in number of learners sent out of county (this practice is both
expensive and imposes often significant travel times on pupils).
Suitable and sufficient accommodation which meets the needs of our
most vulnerable learners.
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant building.
Increased number of residential places.
The proposed site is approximately one mile from the existing school site
and therefore it is not anticipated that there would be any impact on
transportation for the existing pupils.

4.2

Roberts Limbrick Architects were commissioned to carry out a ‘site-fit’
feasibility study which demonstrated that the school can be developed on the
site.

4.3

Local authority technical officers considered the development potential of the
site for the proposed new school. The overall area of the site should allow for
the majority of level changes to be dealt with by using banks, but some small
retaining walls may be necessary, depending upon the final position of the
building, its orientation and configuration.

4.4

The site is of sufficient area to ensure that a sustainable drainage system
strategy is adopted. By using swales and bio-retention areas to carry and slow
down storm water, the strategy will help add biodiversity features within the site
which will also provide opportunities to aid ecology enhancement.

4.5

Overall, the Island Farm area will require some ecology mitigation. However,
the proposed school site will be impacted less so than the remainder of the
site. The area is open land but with boundaries comprising of mature
hedgerows. At this stage, any potential effect to the hedgerows would appear
to be minimal but once detailed proposals are prepared any impact can be
considered in more detail at that time.

Page 551

4.6

Access from Bridgend Science Park, Technology Drive, was identified as the
preferred route for the proposed school.

4.7

From the site investigation reports received, the development of the site does
not present any major risks and there was no need for urgent site
investigation works. However, there will be a need to drill probe holes once
the final layout of the site is known.

4.8

There are known swallow holes in the area which will likely dictate the surface
water disposal method for the development. Sustainable drainage features will
be incorporated into the design to ensure compliance with the sustainable
drainage legislation.

4.9

The land is located within the settlement boundary of Bridgend and allocated
within the existing Local Development Plan (LDP) as part of a Strategic
Employment Site (11ha) under Policy SP9(3). It was allocated on the basis
that it would be protected for high profile employment uses, with an
expectation it would form part of an extension of the existing Bridgend
Science Park. However, outline planning permission (P/08/1114/OUT) was
granted in 2012 on a wider 26ha site for a mixed sport, leisure, commercial
and office development with appropriate access improvements. The
permission was subject to a Section 106 Legal Agreement that controlled
highway works, land dedication, management plans, contributions and
matters relating to travel and management plans associated with the sports
stadia development. A series of reserved matters consents were granted for
an indoor tennis centre (P/14/354/RES refers), landscaping and ecological
works (P/14/823/RES refers), and highway and drainage infrastructure
(P/14/824/RES refers). The outline permission included the standard time limit
conditions for the submission of reserved matters and the commencement of
development, and the final approval of reserved matters was issued in 2015.
Enabling works have been undertaken at the site and constitute a material
operation, meaning that development has commenced. Therefore, the
principle of a change of use of the site from that originally envisioned in the
LDP has already been established.

4.10 As part of the evidence base for the replacement LDP, an economic evidence
base study (EEBS) was undertaken in 2019 and updated in 2021. This
undertook a review of all employment allocations in the existing LDP and
made recommendations as to their suitability for allocation in the replacement
LDP. With regards to the employment land included as part of the Island Farm
site, the EEBS considered there to be no real prospect of the office element of
the permission coming forward, or there to be any known interest in
expanding Bridgend Science Park for any form of B1 uses. As a result, the
EEBS recommends that the site is released from the Employment Land
Supply for the replacement LDP.
4.11 Notwithstanding the extant planning permission, the wider site has been
promoted through the Replacement LDP process as a mixed-use
development scheme (including residential). Allocation of the site for the

Page 552

proposed uses will enable accommodation of sustainable growth enshrined in
placemaking principles, deliver affordable housing in the highest need part of
the county borough, and enable delivery of two schools on the site, potentially
including Heronsbridge Special School. It will also enrich active travel and
green infrastructure networks within Bridgend through the creation of a ‘green
lung’ that will connect the site to the Town Centre via Newbridge Fields.
Development of the site would accord with the Replacement LDP Preferred
Strategy, channel growth to the Primary Key Settlement of the county borough
and make a significant contribution to the housing need identified in the Local
Housing Market Assessment. The site promoter has also provided extensive
supporting information to evidence the site is both viable and deliverable. The
site has been included as a mixed-use strategic development site in the LDP
Deposit Consultation Document which was subject to public consultation in
June – July 2021. It should be stressed that LDP Deposit Consultation
Document does not carry any material weight in the determination of planning
applications.
4.12 The local authority has employed third party consultants (Redstart/Capita) to
undertake a transport assessment (TA). It must be noted that whilst local
authority Highway Development Control officers have not had an opportunity
to assess the TA as no planning application is yet to be submitted, a Strategic
Transportation officer has undertaken an initial review of the TA. The TA will
require a thorough examination in due course. However, initial findings of the
TA demonstrates that within the 2021 baseline scenario the Ewenny
roundabout is able to operate within its theoretical capacity for the AM (ie
school drop-off time in the morning), Inter-Peak, and PM (ie school collection
point in the afternoon) peak periods, with some capacity still remaining. When
assessing the roundabout for the opening year of 2025 and forecast year of
2031, the junction is predicted to operate beyond its theoretical capacity for all
periods (the AM peak, the Inter-Peak and the PM peak periods), where
excessive queuing of vehicles is experienced). This junction starts to operate
beyond its theoretical capacity in the 2025 assessment scenario, when
development trips are added onto the network, continuing to worsen into the
2031 assessment scenario (also due to the increase in background traffic
growth that is already present on the local highway network).
4.13 In order to mitigate the impact of the relocation of the proposed school, the TA
has recommended that a junction improvement is carried out at the Ewenny
roundabout. In this case the TA has shown the introduction of an additional
lane on the northern approach to the roundabout (on Ewenny Road) for left
turn movements only. This high-level design has been incorporated within
adopted highway extents.
4.14 The TA concludes that with this mitigation measure in-place, it may be
determined that the proposed junction improvement mitigates the impact of
the proposed development on the operation of the Ewenny roundabout to an
acceptable standard.
4.15 The TA emphasises that current transport planning policy is not to solely
provide for vehicular demand but to mitigate its impact and promote

Page 553

alternative methods of transport, therefore concluding that the performance of
the junction with the proposed development and junction mitigation measure
in place is satisfactory. Therefore, it is crucial that an effective Travel Plan,
specific to the proposed school, is produced to provide a long-term
management strategy for supporting and enabling sustainable travel to and
from the school, given that, due to the nature of their needs, the majority of
pupils are transported to the school
4.16 It is important to note that the junction improvement/mitigation has been
undertaken based on the proposed school in isolation to other development
that can be expected to be built within the vicinity in the future.
4.17 A School Travel Plan will be developed by the school in order to encourage and
support a whole-school approach to active and sustainable travel.
4.18

The Corporate Landlord Department is in the process of acquiring the Island
Farm site for the proposed school. It is important to note that should a
proposal to relocate the school to that site not proceed, there would be limited
financial risk based upon the likely future onward sales value.

4.19

The existing number of pupils on roll is 236. In order to increase the number of
pupils for whom Heronsbridge Special School makes provision to 300, the
School Organisation Code requires that a consultation exercise with the
school governing body, staff, parents, pupils and interested parties is
undertaken. This is the first step in the statutory process. If carried through to
completion, it is currently anticipated that this proposal will come into effect at
the beginning of the autumn term 2025. The consultation document will set
out the implications of the proposal.

4.20

Following this period of consultation, a further report on the outcome of the
consultation would be submitted to Cabinet to consider the result of that
process. Cabinet would then need to decide whether to authorise the
publication of a statutory notice. If such a notice were issued, it would invite
formal objections during the statutory 28-day period.

5.

Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1

There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6.

Equality Act 2010 implications

6.1

An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh
Language. It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or
proposal. There have been positive impacts identified, including disability and
gender.

Page 554

7.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment provides
a comprehensive summary of the outcomes expected from the implementation
of the service.
Long-term

The proposal fulfils the Council’s statutory duty to provide sufficient
pupil places and will allow teaching and learning to take place in a
building and site which is suited to the needs of the learners and
staff.

Prevention

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure there are a sufficient
supply of school places, and this scheme will safeguard the
Council’s position in terms of any potential legal challenge in this
regard.

Integration

Providing sufficient places at Heronsbridge Special School,
ensures that the curriculum can be delivered and meets the
social, environmental, and cultural objectives of learners and the
community it will serve. This scheme will promote inclusion.
Community use of facilities will be explored and, where
appropriate, will be incorporated into the design. Should the
proposal proceed in the future, construction will be competitively
tendered, via a mini competition through the South East and Mid
Wales Collaborative Construction Framework (SEWSCAP3) or
potential future iterations of the framework. This will potentially
provide opportunities for local companies to engage with the
main contractor for inclusion in their supply chain, via ‘Meet the
Buyer’ events. This would support economic activity in the area.
Community benefits will be maximised.

Collaboration

The local authority will work effectively with the school, Estyn,
Central South Consortium, health, town and community councils
and many internal and external partners to ensure that the building
meets the short-term and future needs of the users and the
community which it will serve. Officers will work with an external
design team in developing the scheme to ensure that the building
design is sustainable and energy efficient and delivers on the
decarbonisation agenda.

Involvement

This scheme was subject to a long list of education and site
options. These were systematically evaluated and have been
reduced from a long list to a short list to confirm the preferred
option. Further work involves the engagement of all potential
stakeholders including Cabinet, members, governors, staff, pupils,
community, internal and external partners which will include third

Page 555

sector organisations, during the consultation exercise. There
would be a full public consultation process undertaken, according
to the WG School Organisation Code, should Cabinet determine to
proceed with the proposal.

As a result of the assessment, it is considered that there will be a positive
impact upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives.
8.

Financial implications

8.1

In December 2018, Council approved a programme envelope of £71.3m,
covering Band B new school builds of £68.2m and potential highways works of
£3.1m (the cost of highway works will have to be met in full by the local authority,
as there is no match funding from WG). Following subsequent amendments to
the capital programme, the current position is that there are budgets of
£49.504m for works and £3.4m for all Band B schools highways infrastructure
within the capital programme, with the remaining Band B school build schemes
funded via the revenue funded Mutual Investment Model (MIM).

8.2

£25m has been allocated within the £49.504m capital budget for this project
and the WG intervention rate is 75%. Contractor inflation and the impact of
Covid-19 and ‘Brexit’ may have a detrimental impact on the scheme costs.
However, this would be monitored and reviewed regularly throughout the
course of the project. The scheme would be tendered as a design and build
contract through the South East Wales and Mid Wales Collaborative
Construction Framework (SEWSCAP3) or potential future iterations of the
framework. Any revenue implications resulting as a consequence of moving
sites, including increases to the schools’ delegated budget to cover a larger
premises areas, and any potential increases in school transport costs, will not
be known until the scheme is developed further. Any changes to the total cost
of the scheme or council contributions will be reported back to Cabinet and
Council as appropriate.

8.3

The cost of the feasibility study has been funded from the Council’s feasibility
funding allocation for Band B school modernisation.

9.

Recommendations

9.1

Cabinet is recommended to give approval to commence a statutory consultation
process to make the following regulated alterations to Heronsbridge Special
School:


to increase the number of pupils for whom the school makes provision to
300; and



to relocate the school from its current location at Ewenny Road, Bridgend
to Island Farm, Bridgend. The proposed new school would open from the
beginning of the autumn term 2025 (ie September 2025).

Page 556

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support
8 March 2022
Contact officer:
Telephone:
E-mail:
Postal address:

Gaynor Thomas
Schools Programme Manager
(01656) 642626
gaynor.thomas@bridgend.gov.uk
Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 557

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 559

Agenda Item 25

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 565

This page is intentionally left blank

